

Post-transcriptional regulation of porin expression in Escherichia coli and its impact on antibiotic resistance Sushovan Dam

▶ To cite this version:

Sushovan Dam. Post-transcriptional regulation of porin expression in Escherichia coli and its impact on antibiotic resistance. Bacteriology. Aix-Marseile Université, 2018. English. NNT: . tel-02566732

HAL Id: tel-02566732 https://hal.science/tel-02566732

Submitted on 7 May 2020

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.







UNIVERSITE D'AIX-MARSEILLE ECOLE DOCTORALE DES SCIENCES DE LA VIE ET DE LA SANTE – ED62 UMR_MD1 Inserm U1261 Membranes et Cibles Thérapeutiques

Thèse présentée pour obtenir le grade universitaire de docteur

Discipline : Pathologies humaines

Spécialité : Maladies infectieuses

Sushovan DAM

Post-transcriptional regulation of porin expression in *Escherichia coli* and its impact on antibiotic resistance

Soutenue le 15/11/2018 devant le jury :

Dr Maude GUILLIER	IBPC CNRS UMR8261 Université Paris 7	Rapporteur
Pr Dirk Bumann	Biozentrum University of Basel	Rapporteur
Pr Sophie BLEVES	LISM CNRS UMR7255 Aix-Marseille Univ	Examinateur
Dr Erwan Gueguen	INSA CNRS5240 Université Lyon 1	Examinateur
Dr Jean-Marie PAGES	Inserm U1261 Aix-Marseille Université	Directeur
Dr Muriel MASI	Inserm U1261 Aix-Marseille Université	Co-directeur

Numéro national de thèse/suffixe local : 2017AIXM0001/001ED62

Résumé

La résistance aux antibiotiques est une menace sérieuse et grandissante pour la santé publique, causant approximativement 700 000 décès annuels. Chez les bactéries à Gramnégatif, l'imperméabilité de la membrane externe et ainsi l'incapacité des antibiotiques à pénétrer l'enveloppe bactérienne pour atteindre leur cible est un facteur majeur contribuant au développement de la résistance. Chez Escherichia coli, les porines OmpF et OmpC sont des protéines de la membrane externe qui forment des canaux pour la diffusion de petites molécules hydrophiles tels que les antibiotiques. Les modifications des porines telles que la diminution de leur expression ou des altérations structurales se retrouvent dans de nombreux isolats cliniques résistants, limitent la translocation des antibiotiques, diminuent leur concentration intracellulaire et leur activité. L'expression des porines est soumise à une régulation complexe à plusieurs niveaux. Notamment, la régulation transcriptionnelle de *ompF* et *ompC* est bien connue et fait intervenir le système à deux composants EnvZ-OmpR en réponse à l'osmolarité du milieu. Au niveau post-transcriptionnel, plusieurs études ont également montré le rôle des petits ARN non-codants (sRNAs, small RNAs). Parmi ceux-ci, MicF et MicC modulent l'expression respective de OmpF et OmpC. Ils fonctionnent par appariement de bases avec le site de liaison du ribosome du messager cible, bloquant ainsi l'initiation de la traduction. De manière intéressante, les gènes codant ces deux sRNAs sont adjacents à deux gènes codant des porines — *micF-ompC* et *micC-ompN* — suggérant une co-régulation.

Dans ce cadre, et en utilisant *E. coli* comme bactérie modèle, les objectifs de mon travail de thèse étaient : (1) de caractériser la régulation du sRNA MicC et la co-régulation putative de la porine quiescente OmpN; (2) d'examiner l'effet global de MicC sur le transcriptome; (3) d'analyser l'impact de l'expression de MicC sur la sensibilité aux antibiotiques. Dans un premier temps, nous ainsi avons étudié le rôle de plusieurs facteurs environnementaux et des voies de régulation connues pouvant conduire à une augmentation de l'expression de MicC. Pour cela, nous avons mesuré l'activité βgalactosidase d'une fusion transcriptionnelle *micC-lacZ* dans de nombreuses conditions de croissance et dans de nombreux contextes génétiques. Nous avons également optimisé le test du gène rapporteur à un format microplaque afin de cribler plusieurs collections de molécules fournis par la compagnie Biolog. Les résultats obtenus montrent l'induction de MicC en présence d'antibiotiques de la famille des β-lactamines (spécifiquement les carbapénèmes et les céphalosporines) ainsi qu'en déplétant le facteur de transcription sigma spécifique au stress de l'enveloppe, σ^{E} . Ces mêmes conditions activent aussi l'activité d'une fusion *ompN-lacZ*, indiquant une régulation transcriptionnelle commune de micC et ompN. De plus, la production de OmpN a été confirmée par une analyse en immunoblot avec des anticorps spécifiques. Ainsi, MicC pourrait agir conjointement avec σ^{E} pour contrôler l'expression de OmpC et OmpN en réponse à la présence de β -lactamines, une famille d'antibiotiques qui cible justement la synthèse du peptidoglycane et l'intégrité de l'enveloppe. Etant donnée la conservation de MicC chez les entérobactéries, nous avons effectué une étude par RNASeq pour déterminer l'impact de la surexpression de MicC sur le transcriptome d'*E. coli* et identifié 60 ARNm régulés par MicC en plus de sa cible initiale *ompC*. L'identification des spectres cibles globaux des sRNAs est importante pour comprendre leur importance dans la physiologie bactérienne, ici celui de MicC dans la résistance aux antibiotiques. Les travaux à venir viseront à étudier cet aspect en détail ainsi que le lien putatif entre la résistance aux β -lactamines, la perte d'OmpC et la surexpression de MicC dans des isolats cliniques d'entérobactéries.

Mots clés : Entérobactéries, enveloppes bactériennes, perméabilité membranaire, résistance aux antibiotiques, porines, petits ARNs régulateurs non-codants.

Abstract

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a serious and growing health threat as it has been estimated that 700,000 people die every year from drug resistant bacteria. A major factor contributing to AMR is the inability of antibiotics to penetrate the bacterial OM (OM) to reach their requisite target for being effective. In Gram-negative bacteria, such as Escherichia coli, the two classical porins OmpF and OmpC are among the most abundant OM proteins and form water filled channels for the diffusion of small hydrophilic molecules including antibiotics. Porin modifications, in the form of decreased expression or structural modifications are found in several resistant clinical isolates, limit antibiotic uptake and decrease their intracellular concentration and activity. Given the importance of the OM, it is not surprising that the expression of porins is under complex regulation at multiple levels. Regulation of *ompF* and *ompC* at the transcriptional level is well studied, and involves the EnvZ-OmpR two component systems in response to external osmolarity changes. Research has also shown that enterobacteria use small regulatory RNAs (sRNAs) to fine tune porin expression at the post-transcriptional level. Among these, MicF and MicC are the two major sRNAs that modulate the expression of OmpF and OmpC, respectively. They suppress porin expression by base pairing with the ribosome binding site of targeted porin mRNA, thereby blocking translation. Interestingly, these two sRNAs are encoded next to porin gene, i.e. *micF-ompC* and *micC-ompN*, suggesting a dual regulation.

In this work, our goals were: (1) to characterize the regulation of the sRNA MicC and the putative co-regulation of the quiescent porin OmpN in *E. coli*; (2) to examine the global effect of MicC on the *E. coli* transcriptome; (3) to analyze the impact of MicC expression on antibiotic susceptibility. First, we have investigated the factors like external growth conditions and regulatory pathways that lead to increased production of MicC by measuring the β -galactosidase activity of a *micC-lacZ* transcriptional fusion. For this search, we optimized the reporter gene assay into a 96-wells format and screened collections of compounds provided by the Biolog phenotype Microarray[™]. Our work shows that the expression of *micC* was increased in the presence of β -lactam antibiotics (specifically carbapenems and cephalosporins) and in an *rpoE* depleted strain. Interestingly, the same conditions enhanced the activity of an *ompN-lacZ* fusion, suggesting a dual transcriptional regulation of micC and ompN. Increased levels of OmpN in the presence of sub-inhibitory concentrations of chemicals could not be confirmed by Western blot analysis, excepting when the sigma factor σ^{E} was depleted. We suggest that the MicC sRNA acts together with the σ^{E} envelope stress response pathway to control the OmpC/N levels in response to β -lactam antibiotics. We also performed RNA sequencing to determine the impact of MicC overexpression on *E. coli* transcriptome. This identified 60 mRNA targets negatively regulated by MicC apart from its original target *ompC*. Identification of the global target spectra of MicC is of importance to understand its importance on the overall bacterial physiology, and more specifically on AMR. Preliminary results showed that *E. coli* $\Delta ompF$ overexpressing MicC exhibit reduced susceptibility to β -lactams, probably due OmpC shutdown. Future studies will aim to investigate the putative connection between β -lactam resistance, loss of OmpC and overexpression of MicC in clinical isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae*.

Keywords: Enterobacteria, bacterial envelopes, membrane permeability, antibiotic resistance, OM porins, small regulatory RNAs.

Acknowledgement

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor and former director of the team Dr. Jean-Marie Pagés for presenting me the opportunity to work on this exciting project. I am very grateful for his intensive support, motivation and the never ending spirit for science that is one of the peak learning points for me in my PhD training. Thank you chef for letting me share your office at the penultimate stage of thesis writing which enabled quick regular discussions.

This thesis wouldn't have reached completion without the constant support and involvement of my co supervisor and mentor Dr. Muriel Masi. Everyday discussions, guidance and the countless proof reading done by her in every piece of work done by me was crucial for this study. She also took care of all the organizational issues when I moved in France from India and ensured a smooth transition for me for which I will be forever indebted.

Constant evaluation of every work ensures its betterment and so I immensely appreciate all my jury members of the thesis for taking out valuable time off their schedule and accepting to evaluate my work. Thank you very much Dr. Maude Guillier from IBPC, Paris University and Dr. Dirk Bumannn from Biozentrum, University of Basel; for agrieing to be my thesis reporters. I am looking forward to hear your suggestions and criticism on the manuscript. I am also very grateful to Dr. Sophie Bleves from Aix-Marseille University and Dr. Erwan Gueguen from INSA, Université Lyon for accepting to be examinator of my thesis defense. Performing under your watchful eyes will ensure deliverance of highest standards, and I feel honored to have you all as part of my jury.

I am also grateful to the entire La Timone team of INSERM U-1261 (UMR-MD1), for the very nice working atmosphere, the practical and theoretical help, and for all the activities outside the lab. My time here has been very positive thanks to the friends I made in Vincent, Erika, Estelle, Ann- Marie and Julia in this lab.

Special thanks to the present director of the team Dr. Jean-Michel Bolla for continuous inputs and discussion on my work. I want to acknowledge all his administrative support too that I needed for the university doctoral school in the last leg of my PhD.

Big thanks to Dr. Susanne Häußler and her team in Helmholtz Centre for Infection Research in Braunschweig, Germany for hosting and teaching me transcriptomics for my PhD work. Thanks to Dr. Matthias Preuße and Dr. Monika Schniederjans, for their constant support in all questions regarding informatics, statistics and transcriptomics. The financial support by the innovative training network (ITN) project "Molecular Basis of Antibiotic Translocation" funded by the European Union's Seventh Framework Program is gratefully acknowledged. Big thanks to Dr. Matthias Winterhalter from Jacobs University, Germany for the successful organization of this program.

My utmost gratitude goes to my whole family, particularly my parents and little brother Tubai, for being very supportive and keeping faith in me since an early stage in my life.

I am grateful to my friends outside lab namely Marco, Farah, Karolina, Sunil, Barry, Sumer, Hari and Michael for being there whenever I needed them. Props to you all for keeping up with me and my not so frequent rants.

Last but not the least; I owe profound thanks to Sissy. Your patience and encouragement at the end has been a huge help that kept me on track.

Sushovan Dam

This is for you mom and dad!

Funding

This thesis was part of the ITN project "Molecular Basis of Antibiotic Translocation" (http://www.itn-translocation.eu/wp/?p=1737), which has received funding from the European Union's Seventh Framework Program for research, technological development and demonstration under grant agreement number 607694.

List of abbreviations

1-Ara4N	4-amino-4-deoxy-l-arabinose
ABC	ATP- binding cassette
AMP	Adenosine Monophosphate
ATB	Antibiotic
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BLM	Black Lipid Membranes
CAP	Covalently Attached Protein
СССР	Cyanide M-Chlorophenyl Hydrazone
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CR	Carbapenem-Resistant
CRE	Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae
DHFR	Dihydrofolate Reductase
DHPS	Dihydropteroate Synthase
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DUV	Deep Ultraviolet
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid
ESBL	Extended Spectrum B-Lactamases
ESR	Envelope Stress Responses
HGT	Horizontal Gene Transfer
H-NS	Histone-like Structuring Nucleoid protein
HTS	High Throughput Screening
IM	Inner Membrane
IMP	Integral Membrane Protein
ISC	Iron-Sulfur Cluster
KCl	Potassium Chloride
LC-MS	Liquid Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry
LP	Lipoprotein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTA	Lipoteichoic Acid
MATE	Multidrug And Toxin Extrusion
MDR	Multidrug-Resistance
MFS	Major Facilitator Superfamily
MIC	Mininmum Inhibitory Concentration
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NADH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Hydrogen
NADPH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Hydrogen
ОМ	Outer Membrane

OMP	Outer Membrane Protein
PABA	P-Aminobenzoic Acid
PACE	Proteobacterial Antimicrobial Compound Efflux
ΡΑβΝ	Phenylalanine-Arginine B-Naphthylamide
PBP	Penicillin-Binding Proteins
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
pETN	Phosphoethanolamine
PMF	Proton Motive Force
PRP	Pentapeptide Repeat Protein
RBS	Ribosome Binding Site
RIP	Regulated Intramembrane Proteolysis
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RND	Resistance- Nodulation-Cell Division
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SMR	Small Multidrug Resistance
SPU	Self-Promoted Uptake
ТА	Teichoic Acids
TCA	Tricarboxylic Acid
TCS	Two-Component Systems
TDR	Totally Drug-Resistant
ТМР	Trimethoprim
tRNA	Transfer RNA
UTR	Untranslated Region
WTA	Wall Teichoic Acids
XDR	Extremely Drug-Resistant

List of Figures

Figure 1: Timeline of antibiotic development and the evolution of antibiotic resistance.
Figure 2: Depiction of the Gram-positive and Gram-negative cell envelopes
Figure 3: Major antibacterial drug targets
Figure 4: Aminoglycosides bind to the 30S subunit of the ribosome and cause
disincorporation of amino acids into elongating peptides22
Figure 5: Quinolone antibiotics interfere with changes in DNA supercoiling by binding
to topoisomerase II or topoisomerase IV24
Figure 6: The peptidoglycan biosynthetic pathway showing sites of action of inhibitors.
Figure 7: Structures of polymyxins B and E (colistin)
Figure 8: Antibacterial mechanisms of polymyxins27
Figure 9: Common mechanism of cell death induced by bactericidal antibiotics
Figure 10: Important mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i>
Figure 11: Epidemiological features of KPC-producing K. pneumoniae
Figure 12: Target protection barrier
Figure 13: Schematic representation of the cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria 36
Figure 14: Schematic representation of regulation of genes involved in polymyxin
resistance in clinical isolates of <i>E. coli</i> and <i>K. pneumoniae</i>
Figure 15: Killing kinetics during treatment with a bactericidal antibiotic
Figure 16: Constitutive pathway for biosynthesis of the Kdo2-lipid A portion of LPS in <i>E.</i>
<i>coli</i> K-12
Figure 17: Overview of OMPs and LPS biogenesis pathways and extracytoplasmic stress
response
Figure 18: Lipoprotein maturation and export pathway
Figure 19: Structure of the OmpF porin of <i>E. coli</i>
Figure 20: Methods for measuring intracellular accumulation and porin-mediated
uptake of antibiotics53
Figure 21 : The <i>E. coli</i> BAM complex and homologous systems

Figure 22: Multidrug resistance mechanisms associated with porin modification
Figure 23: Schematic of representative structures of multidrug transporters and
tripartite assemblies71
Figure 24: Schematic representation of the two main Gram-negative ESRs σ^{E} and Cpx 78
Figure 25: Gene arrangement and regulatory functions of base pairing regulatory RNAs.
Figure 26: Mechanisms of action of sRNAs that modulate protein activity
Figure 27: Major OMP-regulatory sRNAs in enterobacteria
Figure 28: An emerging network of sRNAs that control OMP expression in
enterobacteria
Figure 29: A typical RNA-Seq experiment95
Figure 30: An overview of gene expression quantification with RNA-seq96
Figure 31 : Control of antibiotic resistance by trans-encoded sRNAs149
Figure 32 : Structure of the OmpN porin of E. coli acquired from the protein structure
homology-modelling server SWISS MODEL152
Figure 33 : The response of <i>E. coli</i> to sublethal concentrations of ampicillin involves
small RNAs

Table of contents

Résumé	2		
Abstract	4		
Acknowledgement	6		
Funding	9		
List of abbreviations	10		
List of Figures	12		
Table of contents	14		
Chapter 1: Introduction	18		
1. The antibiotic resistance crisis	18		
1.1. Overview	18		
1.2. Main classes of antibiotics against Gram-negative bacteria and ba	cterial		
adaptation	20		
2. The cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria	40		
2.1. The outer membrane	41		
2.2. The periplasmic space	48		
2.3. The inner membrane	49		
3.Porin channels	50		
3.1. Functional and structural properties of classical porins	50		
3.2. Other porins	57		
4. Antibiotic transport across the cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria	60		
4.1. Porin-mediated uptake across the outer membrane	60		
4.2. Porins and antibiotic resistance	62		
4.3. Non-porin pathways	66		
4.4. Transport across the periplasmic space and the inner membrane	67		
4.5. Multidrug efflux pumps	68		
5.Remodeling of the cell envelope	73		
5.1. Antibiotic stress responses	74		
5.2. Global MDR regulators	76		
5.3. Envelope stress responses	77		
5.4. sRNA regulation	80		
Chapter 2 : Results	<mark>98</mark>		
Aim of our study	98		
Scientific Article: Dual regulation of the small RNA MicC and the quiescent porin			
OmpN in response to antibiotic stress in Escherichia coli	100		
Review article: Stress responses, OM permeability control and antimic	robial		
resistance in Enterobacteriaceae	118		

	Unpublished	results:	RNA-Seq	profiling	of	Escherichia	Coli	MC4100	for
identifying target spectrum of MicC small RNA						128			
Chapter 3: General conclusion					148				
Ref	erences								159

Chapter 1: Introduction

1. The antibiotic resistance crisis

1.1. Overview

In 1900, infectious diseases were the leading cause of death in the world. The selective action exerted on pathogenic bacteria and fundi by "wonder drugs", i. e. microbial secondary metabolites, ushered in the antibiotic era, which has been of great importance of human beings ever since. Antibiotics are low molecular weight compounds, most of which are produced by microorganisms or derived from natural products, which are active at relatively low concentrations against other microorganism. Beginning with the discovery of penicillin by Alexander Fleming in 1928, antibiotics have revolutionized the field of medicine (1). They have saved millions of lives, alleviated pain and suffering, and have been used prophylactically for the prevention of infectious diseases in human and veterinary medicine. Soon after, in the 1940s, Selman Waksman introduced the first simple and successful discovery platform: soil-derived Streptomyces were screened for antimicrobial activity against a susceptible test microorganism by detecting zone of growth inhibition on an overlay plate (2). This systematic screen led to the discovery of streptomycin as the first effective compound against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and the first aminoglycoside. This approach was widely adopted by the pharmaceutical industry and produced the major classes of antibiotics over the next 20 years (3). In parallel to their discovery, resistance to antibiotics by the target microorganisms was also emerging, but chemical modifications to existing antibiotics still produced active analogues. An example is the class of fluoroquinolones, which was developed in the 1960s to optimize nalidixic acid and seemed to limit the spread of resistance. Since then, the platform has been abandoned and no class of broad-spectrum compounds has been reported (Figure 1). Resistance traits to multiple classes of antibiotics, resulting in strains with multidrug-resistance (MDR) phenotypes, have progressively narrowed the available therapeutic options for some pathogens. Although resistance can be associated with decreased fitness and/or virulence, some MDR strains retain a remarkable ability for infected and spreading in the clinical settings, and can experience a rapid epidemic diffusion (the so-called highrisk MDR clones) (4). With some Gram-negative bacteria, resistance may also involve most or even all the available antimicrobial agents, resulting in extremely drug-resistant (XDR) or totally drug-resistant (TDR) phenotypes, which recreate situations typical of the pre-antibiotic era (5). This so-called "antibiotic resistance crisis" has been compounded by the lagging in antibiotic discovery and development programs in recent years. This has recently drawn the attention of scientific societies, public health agencies and political bodies (6-9).



Antibiotic resistance observed

Figure 1: Timeline of antibiotic development and the evolution of antibiotic resistance. The year each antibiotic was deployed is depicted above the timeline, and the year resistance to each antibiotic was observed is depicted below the timeline (figure acquired from Clatworthy *et al.*, 2007).

Infectious diseases are now the second most life threatening cause in the world, number three in developed countries, and four in the United States. Worldwide, 17 million people die each year from bacterial infections. In the United States, each year approximately 2 million people are infected with antibiotic resistant bacteria, of which 23,000 will subsequently die as result of these infections. This global threat challenges decades of progress in medicine, food security and public health. Failure to tackle this problem immediately will have vast implications by 2050 with estimated 10 million lives every year at risk along with a total economic loss of 100 trillion USD (8).

Recent reports using data from hospital-based surveillance studies as well as from the Infectious Diseases Society of America have begun to refer to a group of nosocomial pathogens as "ESKAPE pathogens" (1, 11). ESKAPE is an acronym for the group of bacteria, encompassing both Gram-positive and Gram-negative species, made up of *Enterococcus faecium*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Acinetobacter baumannii*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Enterobacter* spp. These bacteria are common causes of life-threatening nosocomial infections among critically ill and immunocompromised patients and are characterized by drug resistance mechanisms. This situation is especially troubling with respect to the Gram-negative species of the *ESKAPE* pathogens, such as *P. aeruginosa*, *A. baumannii* and members of the *Enterobacteriaceae* family. Improved understanding of the factors that render these pathogens difficult to target is a key step in addressing the rising unmet medical need in this area (13, 14).

1.2. Main classes of antibiotics against Gram-negative bacteria and bacterial adaptation

1.2.1. Introduction to the bacterial cell envelopes

The bacterial cell envelope is a complex multilayered structure that serves to protect these organisms from their unpredictable and often hostile environment. The cell envelopes of most bacteria fall into one of two major groups (**Figure 2**). Gramnegative bacteria are surrounded by a thin peptidoglycan cell wall, which itself is surrounded by an outer membrane (OM) containing lipopolysaccharide (LPS). Grampositive bacteria lack an OM but are surrounded by layers of peptidoglycan many times thicker as compared to that in the Gram-negatives. Threading through these layers of peptidoglycan are long anionic polymers, called teichoic acids (TA). The composition and organization of the Gram-negative envelope layers will be described in details in section 2. However, one can already note that the presence of the OM is a defining feature of Gram-negative bacteria, which acts as an effective barrier that limits penetration of existing antibiotic compounds and explains the paucity of novel penetrating compounds.



Figure 2: Depiction of the Gram-positive and Gram-negative cell envelopes. The various abbreviated components are CAP, covalently attached protein; IMP, integral membrane protein; LP, lipoprotein; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; LTA, lipoteichoic acid; OMP, OM protein; WTA, wall teichoic acid (picture acquired from Silhavy *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.2. Antibiotic classes and their targets

As of now, there are four proven targets presently known for the main antibacterial drugs (**Figure 3**):

- (1) Protein synthesis
- (2) RNA synthesis
- (3) DNA replication and repair
- (4) Envelope structure and synthesis
- (5) Folic acid metabolism



Figure 3: Major antibacterial drug targets. There are three main antibacterial drug targets in bacteria: cell-wall synthesis, DNA replication and repair and protein synthesis. The figure shows the antimicrobial agents that are directed against each of these targets. In the case of protein synthesis, aminoglycosides and tetracyclines inhibit 30S RNA, and macrolides, chloramphenicol and clindamycin inhibit 50S RNA (figure acquired from Lewis, 2013).

1.2.2.1. Protein synthesis

The process of mRNA translation occurs over three sequential steps — initiation, elongation and termination — that involve the ribosome and a range of cytoplasmic accessory factors (16). The ribosome is composed of two ribonucleoprotein subunits;

the 50S and the 30S, which assemble, during the initiation step, following the formation of a complex between the mRNA, the N-formylmethionine-charged aminoacyl tRNA, several initiation factor and a free 30S subunit (17). Drugs that inhibit protein synthesis are among the broadest classes of antibiotics and can be divided in two classes whether they are 50S- or 30S-inhibitors. 50S ribosome inhibitors include macrolides (such as erythromycin), lincosamides (such as clindamycin), streptogramins, phenicols (such as chloramphenicol), and oxazolidinones (such as linezolid) (18, 19). 50S inhibitors function by physically blocking either the initiation of protein translation (as in the case of oxazolidinones) or translocation of peptidyl tRNAs, which serves to inhibit the peptidyltransferase reaction that elongates the nascent peptide chain. The model for this mechanism involves blocking the access of peptidyl tRNAs to the ribosome, subsequent blockage of the peptidyltransferase elongation reaction by steric inhibition and eventually triggering dissociation of the peptidyl tRNA (20, 21). This model also explains the observation that these classes of antibiotics lose their activity when elongation has progressed beyond a crucial length (22). 30S ribosome inhibitor includes tetracyclines and aminocyclitols. Tetracyclines and aminocyclitols targets two different steps of protein synthesis. Tetracyclines work by blocking the access of aminoacyl tRNAs to the ribosome (23). The aminocyclitol class includes spectinomycin and aminoglycosides (such as kanamycin and gentamycin), which binds to the 16S rRNA component of the 30S ribosome subunit and interfere in another step (Figure 4). Spectinomycin interferes with the stability of the peptidyl tRNA binding to the ribosome by inhibiting translocation catalyzed by the elongation factor, but does not cause protein mistranslation (24, 25, 26). By contrast, the interaction between aminoglycosides and the 16S rRNA induces an alteration in the conformation of the complex formed by an mRNA codon and its cognate charger peptidyl tRNA at a ribosome. This promotes tRNA mismatching, which often results in protein mistranslation (27, 28, 29). Among ribosome inhibitors, aminoglycosides are the only class that is broadly bactericidal.



Figure 4: Aminoglycosides bind to the 30S subunit of the ribosome and cause disincorporation of amino acids into elongating peptides. These mistranslated proteins can misfold, and incorporation of misfolded membrane proteins into the cell envelope leads to increased drug uptake. This, together with an increase in ribosome binding, has been associated with cell death (figure acquired from Kohanski *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.2.2. RNA synthesis

Rifamycins are semi-synthetic antibiotics, which were first isolated from the Gram-positive *Streptomyces mediterranei* in the 1950s (31, 32). The rifamycin class of antibiotics inhibits DNA-dependent transcription, by stably binding with high affinity to the β -subunit (encoded by *rpoB*) of a DNA-bound and actively transcribing RNA polymerase (33, 34, 35). The β -subunit is located in the channel that is formed by the RNA polymerase-DNA complex, from which the newly synthesized RNA strand emerges (34). Rifamycins are bactericidal on Gram-positive bacteria but bacteriostatic against Gram-negative bacteria — a difference that has been attributed to drug uptake and not to affinity of the drug with the β -subunit of the RNA polymerase (36). Notably, rifampycins are among the first-line therapies used against mycobacteria, because they efficiently induced cell death (37). However, rapid emergence of rifamycin resistant *rpoB* mutants necessitates its use in combinatorial therapies (38).

1.2.2.3. DNA replication and repair

DNA synthesis, mRNA transcription and cell division require the modulation of chromosomal supercoiling through topoisomerase-catalysed breakage and rejoining reactions (39, 40). These reactions are exploited by the synthetic quinolone class of antibiotics, including the clinically relevant fluoroquinolones, which target DNAtopoisomerase complexes (41, 42, 43). Quinolone interfere with the maintenance of chromosomal topology by targeting topoisomerase II — also known as DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV, trapping these enzymes at the DNA cleavage stage and preventing strand re-joining (43, 44, 45). As a result of quinolone-topoisomerase-DNA complex formation, the DNA replication machinery becomes arrested at blocked replication forks, leading to inhibition of DNA synthesis, which immediately leads to bacteriostasis and eventually cell death (43, 46, 47, 48) (Figure 5). The introduction of doublestranded DNA breaks following topoisomerase inhibition by quinolones also induces the reaction to DNA stress (SOS response), in which RecA is activated by DNA damage. RecA promotes self-cleavage of the LexA SOS repressor protein, inducing the expression of the SOS response genes such as DNA repair enzymes (49). Consistently, preventing the induction of the SOS response enhances killing by quinolones (50, 30).



Figure 5: Quinolone antibiotics interfere with changes in DNA supercoiling by binding to topoisomerase II or topoisomerase IV (picture from Kohanski *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.2.4. Envelope structure and synthesis

Inhibition of cell wall synthesis

Peptidoglycan (also known as murein) is a meshwork of peptide and glycan strands that are covalently cross-linked, which is essential for cell viability and provides a protective barrier against environmental stresses (51, 52). Not surprisingly, it represents a major target for approved antibiotics and the development of new antibacterial molecules (53). Layer of peptidoglycan are maintained by the mutual activity of transglycosylases and penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs; also known as transpeptidases), which add disaccharide pentapeptides to extend the glycan strands of existing peptidoglycan molecules and cross-link adjacent peptide strands of immature peptidoglycan units, respectively (54) (**Figure 6**).

β-lactams and glycopeptides are among the classes of antibiotics that interfere with specific steps in the cell wall biosynthesis (55) (**Figure 6**). On one hand, β-lactams, including penicillins, cephalosporins and carbapenems block the crosslinking of the peptidoglycan units by inhibiting the peptide bound formation, which is normally catalyzed by PBPs (56, 57, 51). β-lactams act as pseudo-substrates, analogous to the terminal D-alanyl-D-alanine dipeptide of the peptidoglycan, by acylating the active site of PBPs, thereby disabling their function (58, 59). This results in changes to cell shape and size, induction of stress responses and ultimately cell lysis. By contrast, glycopeptides such as vancomycin inhibit peptidoglycan synthesis by binding to peptidoglycan units (at the terminal D-alanyl-D-alanine dipeptides) and by blocking transglycosidase and PBP activity (60). As such, glycopeptides generally act as steric inhibitors of peptidoglycan maturation and reduce the mechanical strength of the cell.



Figure 6: The peptidoglycan biosynthetic pathway showing sites of action of inhibitors. The pathway involves three stages: (i) cytoplasmic steps, leading to the peptidoglycan precursor UDPMurNAc-pentapeptide; (ii) lipid-linked steps, involving lipid carrier undecaprenyl phosphate; and (iii) polymerization and crosslinking of the cell wall on the cell surface. Abbreviations: GlcNAc, N-acetyl-glucosamine; MurNAc, N-acetyl-muramic acid (figure from Bugg *et al.*, 2011).

It is worthwhile to note that glycopeptides are only effective against Grampositives due to low permeability, whereas β -lactams can be used to treat infections caused by Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. In particular, the standard antibiotic regimen for treating infections caused by *Enterobacteriaceae* was the latest generation cephalosporins — ceftazidime and cefotaxime; and cefepime are well-known examples of third and fourth generations cephalosporins used in the clinics — and carbapenems as important classes of β -lactam antibiotics. Translocation of β -lactams across OM porins and porin associated mechanisms of resistance, which synergizes the activity of periplasmic β -lactamases, towards this specific class of antibiotics will be discussed in detail throughout subsequent sections of this manuscript.

Polypeptides antibiotics

Colistin (also known as polymyxin E) is a polypeptide antibiotic that was originally isolated in 1947 from the soil bacterium *Paenibacillus polymyxa* subsp. *colistinus* (61). Colistin and polymyxin B belong to the class of polymyxins, which is one of the primary classes of antibiotics with activity against most Gram-negative bacteria. The chemical structure of polymyxins is similar to that of cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs) (defensins and gramicidins), which represent the first line of defense against bacterial colonization in eukaryotic cells (62). Polymyxins are cationic polypeptides that consist of a cyclic heptapeptide possessing a tripeptide side chain acylated at the N terminus by a fatty acid tail (63, 64, 65) (**Figure 7**).



Figure 7: Structures of polymyxins B and E (colistin). Dab, diaminobutyric acid ; Thr, threonine ; Phe, phenylalanine ; L, levogyre ; D, dextrogyre. (figure taken from Yu *et al*, 2015).

The target of polymyxins is the OM of Gram-negative bacteria. The electrostatic interaction that occurs between the α,γ -diaminobutyric acid (Dab) residue of the positively charged polymyxin on one side and the phosphate groups of the negatively charged lipid A membrane on the other side, displaces divalent cations (Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺) from the negatively charged phosphate groups of membrane lipids (67). This facilitates the formation of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) destabilized areas through which polymyxin will cross the OM. Polymyxin then destroys the physical integrity of phospholipid bilayer of inner membrane, leading to leakage of the cytoplasmic content and ultimately causing cell death (Figure 8a). An alternative mechanism called vesicle-vesicle contact has also been proposed (Figure 8b), in which polymyxin can mediate the contacts between periplasmic leaflets of the inner and OMs and promote the exchange of phospholipids between vesicles. The resulting loss of specificity of phospholipid composition potentially causes an osmotic imbalance, leading to cell lysis (68, 69). Finally, another mode of action of polymyxins is the inhibition of essential respiratory enzymes (inhibition of type II NADH-quinone oxidoreductases [NDH-2]) present in the bacterial inner membrane (70).

Polymyxins have a narrow antibacterial spectrum, mainly against common Gramnegative bacteria. They are active against most members of the *Enterobacteriaceae* family, including *E. coli, Enterobacter* spp. and *K. pneumoniae*, and common nonfermentative Gram-negative bacteria such as *A. baumannii* and *P. aeruginosa* (71, 72). Nonetheless, polymyxins have recently regained significant interest as a consequence of the increasing incidence of infections due to MDR Gram-negative bacteria. Of concern, they are being reconsidered as last-resort antibiotics in many areas where MDR is observed in clinical medicine. In parallel, the heavy use of polymyxins in veterinary medicine is currently being reconsidered due to increased reports of polymyxin-resistant bacteria.

Polymyxin resistance in Gram-negative bacteria is primarily due to chemical modifications of the LPS (72). Both intrinsic and transferable mechanisms of polymyxin resistance have been characterized and will be discussed in a following section (1.2.4.3. Permeability barrier).



Figure 8: Antibacterial mechanisms of polymyxins: (a) classic mechanism of membrane lysis; (b) alternative mechanism of vesicle-vesicle contact. The polymyxin is colored as magenta. LPS stands for lipopolysaccharide (figure acquired from Yu *et al.*, 2015).

1.2.2.5. Folic acid metabolism

Bacteria cannot utilize pre formed folic acid (also referred as folate or vitamin B9) so they synthesize their own. Folate is an essential cofactor required for many onecarbon transfer reactions and is a critical precursor for the biosynthesis of purines, pyrimidines, and amino acids. Tetrahydrofolate (the activated form of the vitamin) is a precursor for the synthesis of glycine, methionine, thymidine triphosphate, and purines and and the enzyme dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) maintains its cellular levels. Consequently, the inhibition of DHFR activity depletes the cell of essential metabolites for protein, RNA, and DNA biosynthesis, resulting in bacterial inactivity (73, 74, 75). Trimethoprim (TMP) is a pyrimidine inhibitor of bacterial DHFR by binding with it in complex with nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate hydrogen (NADPH) (76).

The first synthesized antimicrobial agent Prontosil targets dihydropteroate synthase (DHPS) of the folic acid pathway (77). DHPS catalyzes the condensation of ρ -aminobenzoic acid (ρ ABA) with 7, 8-dihydropterin-pyrophosphate to form 7,8-dihydropteroate. Sulfanilmide drugs are structural analogs and competitive inhibitors of ρ ABA at the DHPS active site. Like TMP, the inhibition of DHPS critically depletes cellular folate levels inducing 'thymineless' death which is induced by starving of thymidine triphosphate (78). Today, DHFR-DHPS inhibitor combinations continue to be used as a first-line therapy in the prophylaxis and treatment of HIV-associated pneumonia infections.

1.2.3. How antibiotics kill bacteria?

Understanding the basic mechanism(s) of bacterial death could provide essential guidance for designing new antibacterial compounds and/or improving the efficacy of existing antibiotics.

As described in the above sections, it has been recognized that the different classes of antibiotics have specific targets and that bacterial death results from target inhibition (i. e. the loss of the cell wall integrity by β -lactams through the inhibition of PBPs or the blocking of DNA replication through the inhibition of topoisomerases by fluoroquinolones). Conversely, renowned results from J. J. Collins and colleagues showed that the mode of action of bactericidal antibiotics rather converges to a deadly spiral by the production of free radicals (30, 79-89). This model has generated enormous interest in the community because of its novelty and plausibility. In addition, it offers the opportunity to consider new antibacterial targets. However, this model is not unanimous. Six years after Collins' first publication, results from three independent groups (Imlay and colleagues, Lewis and colleagues, and Barras and colleagues) provided conflicting experimental evidence. Rather than a sterile dialogue, all these studies still show us the complexity of bacterial physiology. These results are a real goldmine for understanding how "pathogenic" bacteria die (or not) from the action of antibiotics.

To identify contributors to bacterial death resulting from topoisomerase poisoning, reconstitution of stress response networks was first carried out following treatment of *E. coli* with lethal concentrations of norfloxacin, a potent fluoroquinolone (79). This primary work identified an oxidative damage-mediated cell death pathway, which involves generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and breakdown in iron regulatory dynamics following norfloxacin-induced DNA damage. Specifically, norfloxacin treatment was found to promote superoxide generation soon after topoisomerase II poisoning and to ultimately result in the generation of highly toxic hydroxyl radicals through the Fenton reaction (Fe²⁺ + H₂O₂ \rightarrow Fe³⁺ + OH⁻ + •OH). Under these conditions, the Fenton reaction was found to fuelled by superoxide destabilization

of Fe-S cluster catalytic sites, repair of these damaged Fe-S clusters, and related changes in iron-related gene expression (79).

Building on this work, it was later shown that all major classes of bactericidal antibiotics (including β -lactams, aminoglycosides and quinolones) promote the generation of lethal hydroxyl radicals formation in both Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria, regardless of the differences in their primary drug to target interactions (30). Stress response network analysis methods used in this study suggested that antibiotic-induced hydroxyl radical formation is the end product of a common mechanism wherein alterations in central metabolism related to NADH consumption, which results from an increased tricarboxylic acid cycle and respiratory activity, are crucial to superoxide-mediated Fe-S cluster destabilization and stimulation of the Fenton reaction. These results were validated by additional phenotypic experiments, biochemical assays and gene expression measurements, confirming that lethal levels of bactericidal antibiotics trigger a common oxidative damage and cell death pathway.

Work by Ling et al. supported this mechanism in that the overexpression of the alkyl hydroperoxide reductase subunit F (a protein defending bacteria against hydrogen peroxide), but not its inactive mutant, suppressed aggregated protein formation upon streptomycin treatment and increased aminoglycoside resistance (90). As such, cellular defense against hydrogen peroxide lowered the toxicity of mistranslation. Further evidence came from the direct correlation between intracellular hydroxyl radical formation and bacterial persistence as reported by Kim et al. (91). Persisters are slowly growing or non-growing phenotypic variants that stochastically emerge in susceptible bacterial populations and that survive in the presence of lethal doses of antibiotics (89, 92). In this study, flow cytometric analysis revealed distinct bacterial populations in terms of intracellular hydroxyl radical levels, morphology and viability. Upon antibiotic treatment, a small sub-population of *E. coli* survivors do not overproduce hydroxyl radicals and maintain normal morphology, whereas most bacterial cells were killed by accumulating hydroxyl radicals and displayed filamentous morphology. These results suggest that, while they probably induce different antibiotic stress responses, bacterial persisters all commonly show lowered hydroxyl radical formation and enhanced tolerance to antibiotics.



Figure 9: Common mechanism of cell death induced by bactericidal antibiotics. The primary drug-target interactions (aminoglycoside with the ribosome, quinolone with topoisomerase, and β -lactam with penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs)) stimulate the oxidation of NADH through the electron transport chain, which is dependent on the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Hyperactivation of the electron transport chain stimulates superoxide (O₂-) formation. Superoxide damages Fe–S clusters, making ferrous iron available for oxidation by the Fenton reaction. The Fenton reaction leads to the formation of hydroxyl radicals (•OH), which damage DNA, lipids and proteins. This contributes to antibiotic-induced cell death. Quinolones, β -lactams and aminoglycosides

also trigger hydroxyl radical formation and cell death through the envelope (Cpx) and redox-responsive (Arc) two-component systems. It is also possible that redox-sensitive proteins, such as those containing disulphides, contribute in undetermined way to the common mechanism (dashed lines). *acnb*, aconitase b; *mdh*, malate dehydrogenase; *uq*, ubiquinone (figure acquired from Kohanski *et al.*, 2010).

However, this unified mechanism of killing was severely challenged by the direct and simple observation that there was no difference in survival of bacteria treated with various antibiotics under aerobic or anaerobic conditions (93, 94). In these two independent studies, the authors show that antibiotic treatment do not accelerate the formation of hydrogen peroxide in *E. coli* and do not elevate the intracellular level of free iron, as an essential substrate for the generation of lethal hydroxyl radicals through the Fenton reaction. Rather, it appears that one should be cautious in interpreting the oxidation of fluorescein-based dyes such as hydroxyphenyl fluorescein used by Collins and coll. as a marker of ROS generation. Finally, work provided by Ezraty et al. also show the ROS response is dispensable upon treatment with bactericidal antibiotics (95). Furthermore, results demonstrate that Fe-S clusters are required for killing only by aminogly cosides but not by fluoroquinolones or β -lactams. In contrast to cells using the major Fe-S cluster biosynthesis machinery, ISC, cells using the alternative machinery, SUF, cannot efficiently mature respiratory complexes I and II, resulting in the breakdown of the proton motive force, which is required for bactericidal aminoglycoside uptake. Similarly, during iron limitation, cells become intrinsically resistant to aminoglycosides by switching from ISC to SUF and down-regulating both respiratory complexes. Therefore, it was concluded that Fe-S proteins promote aminoglycoside killing by enabling their uptake. To date, the role of ROS in killing of bacteria by antibiotics is still under debate.

1.2.4. Bacterial adaptation to antibiotics: resistance versus tolerance

The general bacterial strategies for MDR *Enterobacteriaceae* can be categorized into three types: enzymatic barrier, target protection barrier and membrane barrier (96, 97, 98) (**Figure** 10). In clinical settings, one or more of these strategies working at the same instant are responsible for high level of resistance (99). All of these mechanisms basically accomplish the same goal of preventing the antibiotic to bind to its target.



Figure 10: Important mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in *Enterobacteriaceae*. Porin deficiencies or alterations (A) reduce antibiotic access and efflux pumps (B) may actively transport antibiotics out of the cell. β -lactamases (C) acting in the periplasmic space hydrolyze β -lactam antibiotics and thereby prevent disruption of the cell wall. Intracellular (for example, aminoglycoside modifying) enzymes (D) alter antibiotics. 16S rRNA methylases (E) prevent aminoglycoside binding. Mutations in targeted DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV genes (F) render fluoroquinolones ineffective. Pentapeptide Qnr proteins (G) prevent fluoroquinolones from effectively binding to DNA gyrase through target mimicry (figure acquired from Iredell *et al.*, 2016).

1.2.4.1. Enzymatic barrier

This strategy of resistance consists in the enzymatic destruction or modification of antibiotic. The classic case is the hydrolytic deactivation of the β -lactam ring by β -lactamases produced in resistant bacteria. The β -lactamase producing bacteria secrete this enzymatic weapon into the periplasm to destroy β -lactam antibiotics before they can reach the PBP targets. It is estimated that a single β -lactamase molecule can hydrolyze 1,000 penicillin molecules per second. Therefore, if 10⁵ enzymes are secreted per producing cell, then 100 million molecules of penicillin are destroyed every second, which is clearly an effective strategy.

Hydrolysis of β -lactam antibiotics by β -lactamases is the most common mechanism of resistance for this class of antibacterial agents in clinically important *Enterobacteriaceae*. Because penicillins, cephalosporins, and carbapenems are included in the preferred treatment regimens for many infections, the expression and the

functional features of these enzymes play a critical role in the selection of appropriate therapy. β -lactamase production is most frequently suspected in a Gram-negative bacterial isolate that demonstrates resistance to a β -lactam antibiotic. Due to more sophisticated molecular approaches than were previously available, it has become increasingly easy to obtain nucleotide sequences, with their deduced amino acid sequences, for the genes encoding these enzymes in β -lactam-resistant clinical isolates. Classification of β -lactamases has traditionally been based on either the functional characteristics of the enzymes or their primary structure (100). The simplest classification is by protein sequence, whereby the β -lactamases are classified into four molecular classes, A, B, C, and D, based on conserved and distinguishing amino acid motifs. Classes A, C, and D include enzymes that hydrolyze their substrates by forming an acyl enzyme through an active site serine, whereas class B β -lactamases are metalloenzymes that utilize at least one zinc ion at their active site to facilitate β -lactam hydrolysis. Among typical examples, one can cite:

- Extended spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs), which mostly belong to class A β lactamases, are active against most of penicillins and cephalosporins. ESBLs are carried on plasmids and easily transferable in *Enterobacteriaceae*. This characteristic usually explains the rapid spread of epidemic resistant clones. These enzymes can be inhibited by β -lactamase inhibitors such as tazobactam, clavulanic acid and avibactam, which can restore the activity of the antibiotic when used in combination therapy (*e. g.* piperallicin + tazobactam; amoxicillin + clavulanic acid; ceftazidime + avibactam);

- AmpC cephalosporinases, which belong to class C β -lactamase, are present on the chromosome of many *Enterobacteriaceae* and are active against cephalosporins. AmpC is normally expressed at low levels but can be induced upon exposure to certain β -lactams such as imipenem or cefoxitin. AmpC cephalosporinases cannot be inhibited by approved β -lactamase inhibitors.

- Carbapenemases are metalloenzymes, which belong to class D β -lactamase, are active against all clinically-available β -lactams including carbapenems, one of the most potent subclass of β -lactam antibiotics. Over the past 10 years, the emergence of carbapenem-resistant (CR) *Enterobacteriaceae* (CRE) poses a serious threat to public health worldwide (101). In particular, the increasing prevalence of carbapenem-resistant *K. pneumoniae* is a major source of concern (102). *K. pneumoniae* carbapenemases (KPCs) have been reported worldwide (103), including in Europe with high spreading in Italy and Greece (**Figure 11**). Because CRE are usually MDR, high mortality rates have been reported in patients with bloodstream infections caused by CR *K. pneumoniae* (104). Among novel treatment approaches, the use of β -lactamase inhibitors with broad spectrum activity is the most promising such as relebactam and vaborbactam currently in phase 3 clinical developments in combination with imipenem and meropenem, respectively (105).



Figure 11: Epidemiological features of KPC-producing *K. pneumoniae.* (1) USA; (2) Colombia; (3) Brazil; (4) Argentina; (5) Italy; (6) Greece; (7) Poland; (8) Israel; (9) China; (10) Taiwan; (11) Canada; (12) Spain; (13) France; (14) Belgium; (15) Netherlands; (16) Germany; (17) UK; (18) Ireland; (19) Sweden; (20) Finland; (21) Hungary; (22) India; (23) SouthKorea; (24) Australia; (25) Mexico; (26) Cuba; (27) PuertoRico; (28) Uruguay; (29) Portugal; (30) Switzerland; (31) Austria; (32) CzechRepublic; (33) Denmark; (34) Norway; (35) Croatia; (36) Turkey; (37) Algeria; (38) Egypt; (39) South Africa; (40) Iran; (41) United Arab Emirates; (42) Pakistan; (43) Russia; (44) Japan (picture has been taken from Lee *et al.*, 2016).

Other antibiotic classes, such as the aminoglycosides, do not contain such hydrolytically labile groups. These protein-synthesis inhibitors are still neutralized by deactivating enzymes that decorate the periphery of the aminoglycosides with three types of chemical substituents that interrupt the binding to the RNA targets in the ribosome. Aminoglycoside resistance enzymes can be adenylyl transferases, which add AMP moieties, phosphoryl transferases, which add -PO₃ groups, or acetyl transferases, which acetylate the amino groups of the antibiotic (107).

1.2.4.2. Drug-target interaction barrier

Evasion of drug target interaction is an effective means of antibiotic resistance (Figure 12). This could happen bv three means that includes (i) mutations/modifications of target binding site; (ii) protection/masking of target, or (iii) overexpression of the target. For example, amino acid substitutions of the QRDR in DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV are often found in clinical strains and confer fluoroquinolone resistance. Modification of the target can occur by addition of a chemical group that prevents antibiotic binding without altering the primary protein sequence. An interesting example of target protection by masking is provided by the *qnr* genes that confer quinolone resistance (108). The *qnr* genes encode pentapeptide repeat proteins (PRPs), which bind to and protect DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV from the lethal actions of quinolones. The Qnr families of *qnr* resistance genes have been found on plasmid in various pathogens.



Figure 12: Target protection barrier. a) A susceptible host in which an antibiotic is able to bind tightly to its specific target and exert an inhibitory effect. b) Mutation of the target site (for example, as found in mutations in topoisomerase genes in many species that confer fluoroquinolone resistance) or recombination to provide a mosaic allele (as found in the mosaic penicillin-binding proteins in pneumococci and gonococci that confer β -lactam resistance) results in a functional target with reduced affinity for the antibiotic, which does not bind efficiently and therefore has a reduced or negligible effect. c) Modification of the target by addition of a chemical group can also prevent antibiotic binding without altering the primary protein sequence of the target, which retains its activity. (figure acquired from Blair *et al.*, 2015).

1.2.4.3. Permeability barrier

To be effective, most antibiotics must reach their specific intracellular targets and accumulate at concentrations that can act in some reasonable time frame. In Gramnegative *Enterobacteria*, this implies translocation across the outer and inner membranes (**Figure 13**). Here, changes in the overall ability of drugs to pass through
this diderm envelope due to loss of porins and/or drug removal via upregulation of efflux pumps can lead to MDR (109-112). In addition, this permeability barrier reduces the discovery of new antibiotics effective against Gram-negative bacteria. However, one could expect that the basic principles established by extensive studies of *E. coli* would allow permeation rules, in analogy with Lipinski's rules, and if such existed and were applied to structure-activity relationships or to filtering compound libraries, would yield compounds that permeate some of the Gram-negative barriers. These aspects will be developed in the following sections. Here, I will focus on the exception of polymyxins, which target the LPS of the OM but are also submitted to resistance mechanisms involving modifications of the envelope composition.



Figure 13: Schematic representation of the cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria (**Figure** acquired from Manchester *et al.*, 2012; Silver, 2016).

In most polymyxin-resistant strains, substituents such as 4-amino-4-deoxy-larabinose (l-Ara4N), phosphoethanolamine (pEtN) or galactosamine are enzymatically added to the lipid A or the LPS core; alternatively, the LPS part of the OM may be completely lost in some other isolates (113, 114). By decreasing the net negative charge of phosphate residues, these LPS alterations tend to prevent the binding of polymyxin molecules to the bacterial surface and their further penetration into the cell interior where they are supposed to exert their bactericidal activity. Expression of most of the genes of the LPS modification pathway is under the control of a variety of twocomponent systems (TCSs) such as PhoP–PhoQ (PhoPQ) and PmrA–PmrB (PmrAB). Each of these phosphorelays is composed of a transmembrane sensor histidine kinase (*e.g.* PhoQ, PmrB), which is subject to autophosphorylation under specific stress conditions, and a cognate cytoplasmic response regulator (*e.g.* PhoP, PmrA), which modulates the expression of target genes when phosphorylated by the kinase. Some mutations in the genes encoding these TCSs result in constitutive upregulation of the LPS modification pathway and thus polymyxin resistance because of membrane impermeability (**Figure 14**). Polymyxin resistance rates are still low in many countries but are increasing steadily in some others such as Greece and Italy (8). The recent identification of a plasmidborne colistin resistance gene (*mcr-1*) in human, animal and environmental strains of *Enterobacteriaceae* may potentially worsen this situation at the global scale (115). Indeed, reports from all continents multiply on the isolation of *mcr-1*-positive strains (115).



Figure 14: Schematic representation of regulation of genes involved in polymyxin resistance in clinical isolates of (A) *E. coli* and (B) *K. pneumoniae*. In both species, resistance to polymyxins is induced by cationic compounds such as colistin, low Mg²⁺ concentrations, acidic pH and high Fe³⁺ concentrations, which activate the two-component systems (TCSs) PhoPQ and/or PmrAB. Subsequent activation of operon *arnBCADTEF* (also called *pmrHFIJKLM*), the *eptA* gene or the *pmrC* gene triggers the

synthesis and addition of 4-amino-4-deoxy-l-arabinose (l-Ara4N) and phosphoethanolamine (pEtN) to lipid A, respectively. PmrAB is also activated by PhoPQ via the product of the *pmrD* gene. In *K. pneumoniae* (B), the *arnBCADTEF* operon can be directly activated by PhoP. In *E. coli* only (A), a first small RNA, MgrR, directly represses the expression of *eptB*, a gene required for addition of pEtN to the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) core, whilst a second small RNA, MicA, represses the phoP gene. In both E. coli and *K. pneumoniae* (A and B) clinical isolates, alterations (represented by yellow asterisks) in histidine kinases PhoQ and PmrB or in the response regulator PmrA lead to constitutive activation of the TCSs PmrAB or PhoPQ. Furthermore, in K. pneumoniae (B), inactivation of mgrB results in colistin resistance through activation of PhoPQ, whilst mutations in histidine kinase CrrB activate PmrAB through CrrC. CAPs, cationic antimicrobial peptides (including polymyxins) (Figure acquired from Jeannot et al., 2017).

1.2.4.4. Drug tolerance

Antibiotics shut down or subvert essential cellular functions, and resistance mechanisms appear to exploit every possible strategy of preventing a drug from hitting its target. The major clinically relevant resistance mechanisms described in the above sections have been studied for a long time and are generally well understood. Again, these include destruction of the antibiotic (for example, by β -lactamases, conferring resistance to β -lactams), target modification (for example, mutation of the 30S ribosomal subunit RpsL conferring resistance to streptomycin), as well as restricted penetration and efflux (for example, multiple drug efflux by the AcrAB-TolC pump). The same cannot be said about tolerance. Bacterial tolerance to antibiotics is caused by specialized bacterial survivors called persisters (92, 117). Persisters are not mutants, but phenotypic variants of actively dividing cells produced stochastically in a clonal population as a result of fluctuations in gene expression (117-119) and their relative abundance (around 1 %) rises at the late-exponential phase of growth and in biofilms, where cells incur various forms of stress (120, 121) (Figure 18). Persisters are nongrowing dormant cells. This explains their tolerance to bactericidal antibiotics that depend on the presence of active targets for killing the cells. All of the bacterial pathogens examined so far are able to form persisters, but the mechanism(s) underlying the formation of persisters is still largely unknown. Studies have shown that, in the model organism E. coli, toxin-antitoxin (TA) modules are the principal mechanism of persister formation (118, 120, 122, 123). A TA locus encodes two proteins: a stable toxin that can interrupt essential cellular pathways and induce a dormancy-like state and a labile antitoxin that can conjugate the toxin to nullify such toxicity. TA modules are most likely activated by stress responses through the alarmone guanosine tetraphosphate (ppGpp) pathway (124). Furthermore, in the presence of ciprofloxacin — a potent fluoroquinolone that halts DNA replication — the SOS response induces persister formation through activating TisB overexpression (122), a member of the toxin family. Similar mechanism could explain the dramatic increase of persisters upon pre-treatment of the cells with rifampin and tetracycline, which halt transcription and translation, respectively (125). Screening a complete bacterial knockout library also identified a number of global regulators involved in persister formation, suggesting that pathways of persister formation are highly redundant (126). For example, overexpression of *ygfA* downregulated overall transcription, and overexpression of *relE* led to a decreased protein synthesis rate (127), both of which assist bacterial drug tolerance through inducing a dormant state of the cell. Owing this, a realistic target for drug discovery has yet to be identified.



Figure 15: Killing kinetics during treatment with a bactericidal antibiotic. (1) Lethal dose of a bactericidal antibiotic is added at time zero to a growing population of sensitive, genetically identical bacteria. The experiment reveals a characteristic biphasic killing curve. (2) The slope of the initial phase reveals the susceptibility of the bulk of the population. The initial log-linear relationship reveals an exponential killing kinetics (green line). (3) The slope of the second inactivation phase (red line) reveals the existence of a persister subpopulation that is killed with a much slower kinetics. Killing kinetics for a high persister mutant (*hip*) strain producing a highly elevated number of persisters is also shown (dark dashed line). After removal of the antibiotic (pointed by the arrow flanking the right panels), persister cells resume growth and give rise to progeny cells that are genetically identical to the cells of the original population and, therefore, as drug-sensitive as the original cells. The gray dashed line indicates how a drug-resistant mutant strain would support growth under these conditions (figure acquired from Maisonneuve *et al.*, 2014).

Recent reports have also found that indole signaling contributes to persister formation, possibly via upregulation of the efflux pumps through activation of the twocomponent systems BaeSR or CpxAR and the PspAB (phage shock response) and OxyR (oxidative stress response) pathways as a result of stress response (129, 130). At a population level, indole molecules produced by highly resistant cells have been shown to provide protection to other more susceptible cells by activating their drug efflux pumps and oxidative-stress protective mechanisms (131). This facilitates the survival of the whole population. Since indole increases antibiotic resistance by enhancing antibiotic efflux (130, 132), a likely mechanism for the rise in persistence upon the reduction in indole concentrations (133, 134) is that the cells become less resistant (due to reduced antibiotic efflux) and thereby less fit to withstand antibiotic stress. Additionally, it has been demonstrated that bacterial persisters, obtained under treatment with β -lactams, show less cytoplasmic drug accumulation as a result of enhanced efflux activity (135). This confirms positive correlation between drug efflux and bacterial persistence.

The significance of persisters and drug tolerance is such that they have been observed in clinical cases and may play a role in the recurrence of chronic infections. Their existence is believed to prolong and exacerbate the treatment of diseases, such as tuberculosis and cystic fibrosis associated lung infections (136-138). Therefore, the importance of persisters in the recalcitrance of infectious diseases raises the bar for drug discovery as there is an urgent need to develop therapies that effectively kill both actively dividing and dormant pathogens.

2. The cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria

The bacterial cell envelope contains the membrane(s) and other structures that surround and protect the cytoplasm. Unlike cells of higher organisms, bacteria are faced with an unpredictable, dilute and often hostile environment. To survive, bacteria have evolved sophisticated and complex cell envelopes that protect them, but allow selective passage of nutrients from the outside and waste products from the inside. The following discussion concerns the organization, composition, and the functions of the various layers and compartments that make up this remarkable cellular structure. It is easily appreciated that a living organism cannot do what it does without the ability to establish separate compartments in which components are segregated. Specialized functions occur within different compartments because the types of molecules within the compartment can be restricted. However, membranes do not simply serve to segregate different types of molecules. They also function as surfaces on which reactions can occur. Recent advances in microscopy, which are discussed in other articles on this subject, have revealed strikingly nonrandom localization of envelope components. Here, we will highlight recent advances in our understanding of how these extracellular organelles are assembled.

More than 100 years ago, Christian Gram (1884) developed a staining procedure that classifies nearly all bacteria into two large groups, and this eponymous stain is still in widespread use. One group of bacteria retain the Gram's stain, Gram-positive, and the other do not, Gram-negative. The basis for the Gram's stain lies in fundamental structural differences in the cell envelope of these two groups of bacteria. For our discussion of the Gram-negative bacterial cell envelope we will refer to the model bacterium *E. coli* and closely related Enterobacteria. Care should be taken in generalizing from examples drawn from particular microorganisms. For example, *E. coli* inhabits the mammalian gut. Accordingly, *E. coli* and other enteric bacteria must have a cell envelope that is particularly effective at excluding detergents such as bile salts. This need not be a pressing issue for other Gram-negative bacteria, and their envelopes may differ in species- and environmentally specific ways. Nonetheless, the ability to use the Gram stain to categorize bacteria suggests that the basic organizational principles we present are conserved. In addition, many bacteria express an outermost coat, the S-layer, which is composed of a single protein that totally encases the organism. S-layers and capsules, which are coats composed of polysaccharides, are beyond the scope of this manuscript.

After more than a decade of controversy, techniques of electron microscopy were improved to the point in which they finally revealed a clearly layered structure of the Gram-negative cell envelope (**Figure 2**) (139). There are three principal layers in the envelope; the OM, the peptidoglycan cell wall, and the cytoplasmic or inner membrane. The two concentric membrane layers delimit an aqueous compartment first termed the periplasm (140). At the same time, biochemical methods were developed to isolate and characterize the distinct set of proteins found in the periplasm (141), and to characterize the composition of both the inner and outer membranes (142, 143). Studies since then have only reinforced their basic conclusions.

2.1. The outer membrane

In this section, I will give an overview of the main constituents of the OM, namely the LPS and outer membrane proteins (OMPs) including OM lipoproteins and integral β barrel OMPs. I will also describe their biogenesis, how they are synthetized, transported and assembled at the OM. Porins, a major class of integral β -barrel OMPs, as well as porin biogenesis will be detailed in dedicated subsequent sections.

The OM is a distinguishing feature of Gram-negative bacteria. It is an asymmetric lipid bilayer, where phospholipids are present on the inner leaflet, while the outer leaflet is composed of LPS (**Figure 2**) (144). The lipid A is a glucosamine-based phospholipid, and is one of the three parts of an LPS molecule (**Figure 16**) (145). The other two are a relatively short core oligosaccharide (Kdo) and a distal polysaccharide (O-antigen). Lipid A differs from a typical phospholipid by having six saturated fatty-acyl chains rather than two saturated or unsaturated chains. Lipid A domain of LPS is also responsible for endotoxic shock associated with the septicemia caused by Gram-negative bacteria (146). The Kdo2-lipid A biosynthetic pathway may be viewed as having a conserved and a variable component. The conserved (constitutive) enzymes (**Figure 16**) are

intracellular, present in virtually all Gram-negative bacteria, and not generally subject to regulation (145). In contrast, the lipid A modification enzymes, are mostly extracytoplasmic, not conserved among microorganisms, and induced or repressed by external conditions, such as changes in pH, divalent cation concentrations, or the presence of CAMPs (113, 147, 1, 149, 150). Most modification enzymes reside either on the periplasmic surface of the inner membrane or in the OM (151-157). The systematic elucidation of the constitutive pathway for Kdo2-lipid A biosynthesis (Figure 16) was enabled by the discovery of 2, 3-diacylglucosamine 1-phosphate (lipid X) (158, 159). Although present at very low concentrations in *E. coli* (160, 161), it accumulates as much as 500-fold, or to about 5% to 10% of the total cell lipid content, in some phosphatidylglycerol-deficient mutants (158, 159). The discovery of lipid X agreed with the correct structure determination (162, 163) and chemical synthesis of lipid A (164). As shown in **Figure 16**, LpxA, -C, and -D are soluble proteins (165, 166, 167), whereas LpxB and LpxH are peripheral membrane proteins (168-170). LpxK, KdtA, LpxL, and LpxM are integral inner membrane proteins (171-175). Their active sites are presumed to face the cytoplasmic surface of the inner membrane, given that their water-soluble cosubstrates are cytoplasmic molecules.



Figure 16: Constitutive pathway for biosynthesis of the Kdo2-lipid A portion of LPS in *E. coli* K-12. Each enzyme of the constitutive Kdo2-lipid A pathway is encoded by a single structural gene (2, 69). The glucosamine disaccharide backbone of lipid A and the Kdo disaccharide are shown. LpxA, -C, and -D are soluble cytoplasmic proteins, whereas LpxH and -B are peripheral membrane proteins. The distal enzymes of the pathway, starting with LpxK, are integral inner membrane proteins, the active sites of which face the cytoplasm. The red numbers specify the glucosamine ring positions of lipid A and its precursors. The black numbers indicate the predominant fatty acid chain lengths found in *E. coli* lipid A. The single molecular species shown at the bottom left represents about 90% of the total lipid A in *E. coli*, with most of the rest bearing a C12 secondary acyl chain at position 3'. The O-antigen polysaccharide chain of variable length is the most distal portion of the molecule and is not produced in *E. coli* K-12 (figure acquired from Raetz *et al.*, 2007).

How *E. coli* lipids cross the inner membrane and are transported to the OM is not fully understood (176, 177). A clue to bacterial lipid transport emerged from studies of *lpxL* mutants and their suppression by multiple copies of *msbA* (178, 179, 180). *lpxL* mutants accumulate tetraacylated lipid A accumulates in inner membranes and show growth inhibition at 42°C (180). LpxL is a lauryl transferase of lipid A and MsbA is an essential ABC transporter closely related to eukaryotic Mdr proteins (178). MsbA overexpression restores the growth of *lpxL* mutants at 42°C without restoring laurate addition, resulting in export of LPS with tetraacylated lipid A to the OM. Several structures of the homodimeric MsbA protein determined by X-ray crystallography and cryo-electron-microscopy support the proposed flippase function of MsbA. These studies revealed that LPS binds deeply inside MsbA at the height of the periplasmic leaflet, establishing extensive hydrophilic and hydrophobic interactions with MsbA and suggest the existence of multiple conformational states (181, 182, 183, 184, 185, 186). When reconstituted in proteoliposomes, MsbA is able to bind nucleotides and various putative substrate, behaves as an ATPase and a lipid flippase (187, 188).

In *E. coli* the Lpt (lipopolysaccharide transport) complex is composed of seven essential proteins (LptABCDEFG) (189-191) that are located in every cellular compartments: cytoplasm, inner membrane, periplasm, and OM (**Figure 17**). The Lpt complex provides energy for LPS extraction from the inner membrane and mediates transport across the periplasm, its insertion and assembly at the OM (15, 192, 193). The Lpt machinery may be divided in three sub-complexes: LptBFGC, LptA, and LptDE, which are located at the inner membrane, in the periplasm, and at the OM, respectively. LptBFG (194-196) constitute an inner membrane ABC transporter that is associated to an atypical subunit, the bitopic inner membrane protein LptC (197), whose function in the ABC transporter is still unclear (196) LptB is the ATP binding domain of this transporter (198) and LptF and LptG represent the transmembrane subunits. At the OM, the LptDE translocon composed by the β -barrel protein LptD and the lipoprotein LptE is responsible of the final stage of LPS assembly at the cell surface (199). The periplasmic

protein LptA connects the two sub-complexes, somehow coordinating their functions (195, 200). The Lpt machinery appears to work as a single device as depletion of any components leads to similar phenotypes, i.e. the blockade of LPS transport and its accumulation to the periplasmic side of the inner membrane where it is decorated with colanic acid by the WaaL ligase (194, 197). Overall, the seven Lpt proteins physically interact and form a trans-envelope complex that spans both inner and outer membranes (199).

Because LPS is an amphipathic molecule, its transport across the periplasm requires at least two energy inputs: one for its extraction from the lipid environment of the inner membrane, and one to facilitate the transit of the hydrophobic lipid A portion through the aqueous environment of the periplasm. Two working models have been considered: the chaperone-mediated transit across the periplasm and the transport through a trans-envelope proteinaceous bridge between the inner and the OM. According to the first model, LptA is the soluble carrier that accepts LPS from LptBFGC, forms a soluble complex shielding its hydrophobic moiety during the diffusion across the periplasm and, ultimately, delivers it to the OM complex LptDE. In fact, LptA binds LPS in vitro and in vivo (201, 202) and can displace it from LptC, consistently with protein subcellular locations and the unidirectionality of the transport (201, 202, 203). However, physiologically expressed LptA is not found as a soluble periplasmic protein but fractionates with both inner and outer membranes after sucrose density gradient centrifugation (199), suggesting that the protein does not function as a soluble carrier but form oligomeric structures spanning the width of the periplasm. This agrees with previous evidence that LPS transport occurs in spheroplast, where the periplasmic soluble content has been drained, and that soluble LPS-protein complexes have never been isolated from periplasm (204). The second model for LPS transport suggests the existence of a molecular machine made up of individual protein components located in each cellular compartment thus connecting the inner and OM. These molecular machines are not unusual in Gram-negative bacteria, exemplified by the multidrug efflux pumps and secretion systems. The most important evidence supporting this model is that depletion of any Lpt factor leads to accumulation of *de novo* synthesized LPS at the periplasmic side of the inner membrane (197). This suggests that the Lpt proteins constitute a molecular machine that operates as a single device downstream of MsbAmediated LPS flipping across the inner membrane (see above). This is also in line with the previous observation that Lpt proteins co-fractionate in sucrose density gradient centrifugation in a lighter OM fraction containing inner and OM components and that these proteins all physically interact to form a trans-envelope bridge (199). Interestingly, the trans-envelope model of transport is reminiscent of a model postulated more than 40 years ago by Manfred E. Bayer (205, 1). To date, the two models are still under debate.

LPS plays a critical role in the barrier function of the OM. It is a glucosamine disaccharide with six or seven acyl chains, a polysaccharide core, and an extended

polysaccharide chain that is called the O-antigen (207). The nonfluid continuum formed by the LPS molecules is a very effective barrier for hydrophobic molecules. This coupled with the fact that the porins limit diffusion of hydrophilic molecules larger than 600 Daltons, make the OM a very effective yet, selective permeability barrier (208 and see 3. Porin channels).



Figure 17: Overview of OMPs and LPS biogenesis pathways and extracytoplasmic stress response. (a) OMPs are synthesized in the cytoplasm and translocated across the inner membrane by the Sec translocon. After translocation, the signal sequence (indicated in red) is cleaved. In the periplasm, chaperone proteins such as SurA assist OMPs folding and deliver them to the BamABCDE complex for assembly at the OM. Blue arrows show the sequence of events occurring during OMPs biogenesis. (b) LptD is an OMP and follows the chaperone/Bam folding pathway. Correct LptD folding requires its association with the lipoprotein LptE and interdomain disulfide bridges isomerization. LptD-LptE interaction at the Bam complex is favored by the chaperone/protease BepA. Red dashed arrows show the sequence of events occurring during LptDE complex assembly. (c) LptDE complex is the LPS OM translocon. LPS is synthesized in the cytoplasm by the Lpx pathway, flipped to the periplasmic face of the IM by MsbA and transported through the periplasm to the outer leaflet of the OM by the Lpt machinery.

Continuous red arrows show the sequence of events occurring during LPS biogenesis. (d) Mislocalized or misfolded OMPs and defects in the LPS export pathway trigger the σ^{E} envelope stress response (black arrows). Misassembled porins bind to DegS, cleaving RseA and initiating the σ^{E} stress response. The current model suggests that defects in Lpt assembly/function result in RseB binding to LPS possibly released by the Lpt machinery. RseB bound to LPS frees RseA that can then be cleaved by OMP-activated DegS and by RseP thus activating the σ^{E} stress response (Figure acquired from Alessi & Sperandeo, 2017).

With few exceptions, the proteins of the OM can be divided into two classes, lipoproteins and β-barrel proteins. Lipoproteins contain lipid moieties that are attached to an N-terminal cysteine residue (209). It is generally thought that these lipid moieties embed lipoproteins in the inner leaflet of the OM. There are about 100 OM lipoproteins in *E. coli*, and the functions of most of these are not known (210). As it is the case for all extracytoplasmic proteins, lipoproteins are made in the cytoplasm with an aminoterminal signal sequence, and are translocated across the inner membrane by the Sec machinery (see 2.3 The inner membrane). However, the signal sequence is removed by a different signal peptidase, i.e. signal peptidase II also called LspA (211). Signal sequence processing of lipoproteins requires the formation of a thioether diglyceride at a cysteine residue, which will become the N-terminus of the mature lipoprotein. This step occurs at the periplasmic side of the inner membrane and is catalyzed by the diacylglyceryl transferase called Lgt (212). Once the signal sequence is removed, an additional fatty acyl chain is added to the cysteine amino group by the action of the apolipoprotein Nacyl transferase called Lnt (213, 214). These lipid moieties tether the newly formed lipoprotein to the outer leaflet of the inner membrane. Some lipoproteins remain in the inner membrane, and their biogenesis is complete after signal sequence processing and lipid addition. However, most of the lipoproteins in E. coli are destined for the OM. Inner membrane lipoproteins have a "Lol avoidance" signal, which is the presence of an aspartate residue at position two of the mature lipoprotein (215). The Lol system, comprising five proteins, catalyzes the localization of lipoproteins to the OM of E. coli (216). Briefly, an ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter, LolCDE, releases OM-specific lipoproteins from the inner membrane, causing the formation of a complex between the released lipoproteins and the periplasmic molecular chaperone LolA. When this complex interacts with OM receptor LolB, the lipoproteins are transferred from LolA to LolB and then localized to the OM (Figure 18).



Figure 18: Lipoprotein maturation and export pathway. Lipoprotein (black) is synthesized in the cytoplasm with the N-terminal SS which targets it for translocation across the inner membrane by the Sec translocon. The lipoprotein remains anchored in the inner membrane by its SS and Lgt adds a diacylglyceryl moiety to the Cys residue. LspA cleaves the SS and Lnt adds another acyl chain to the newly formed N-terminus. The lipoprotein is then recognized by inner membrane LolCDE complex which powers extraction of the lipoprotein from the inner membrane using the energy of ATP. The lipoprotein is released to the periplasm in a complex with the chaperone LolA. LolA delivers lipoprotein to the OM acceptor lipoprotein Lol, which inserts it in the inner leaflet of the OM. Empty LolA returns to LolCDE and is recycled.

Nearly all of the integral, transmembrane proteins of the OM assume a β -barrel conformation. These proteins are β -sheets that are wrapped into cylinders, and I will refer to these OM proteins as OMPs (217-219). Not surprisingly, some of these OMPs, such as the classical porins OmpF, and OmpC, function to allow the passive diffusion of small molecules such as mono- and disaccharides and amino acids across the OM. These porins have 16 transmembrane β -strands. They exist as trimers (220, 221) and are abundant, representing approximately 250,000 copies/cell. Other trimeric OMPs such as LamB (18 transmembrane β -strands) and PhoE (16 transmembrane β -strands) function in the diffusion of specific small molecules such as maltose, maltodextrins and phosphate anions respectively (222, 223) and are induced under maltose or phosphate starvation, respectively. OmpA is another abundant OMP. It is monomeric, and it is unusual in that it can exist in two different conformations (222). OmpA has only eight transmembrane β -strands, but also contains a large periplasmic domain that interacts

with the peptidoglycan, thereby performing a structural role. TonB-dependent transporters (TBDTs) are bacterial OM proteins that bind and transport ferric chelates called siderophores (e.g. E. coli FepA, FecA, FhuA and CirA transport enterobactin, citrate, ferrichrome and catecholates, respectively) as well as vitamin B12 (e.g. E. coli BtuB), hemophores (e.g. Serracia marcescens HasR), nickel complexes, and carbohydrates. TBDTs share a common architecture with a large β -barrel made of 22 β strands that spans the OM, large extracellular loops that function in ligand binding. In standard growth conditions the N-terminal plug domain that gates the central pore, while in the presence of iron deficiency, substrate binding induce large conformational changes that eventually lead to the periplasmic release of the TonB-box in the periplasm, which necessary for energy transduction in the form of protonmotive force from the IM complex ExbB-ExbD-TonB (225-227). TBDTs are present at a copy number of 200–400 molecules/cell but subjected multiple levels of regulation (227). Certain enzymes are also present in the OM. Notably, phospholipase (PldA), protease (OmpT) and LPS modifying enzyme (PagP) (228-230). The active site of most of these enzymes is located in the outer leaflet, or it faces the exterior of the cell (OmpT). TolC is a minor but functionally important OMP in *E. coli*. It is a multifunctional protein that is involved in secretion of toxins and efflux of a wide range of xenobiotics including antibiotics, biocides, bile salts and organic solvents (231). Mutants lacking any of these enzymes exhibit no striking phenotypes. The only known function of the OM is to serve as a protective barrier, and it is not immediately obvious why this organelle is essential. But what a barrier it is! Salmonella, another enteric bacterium, can live at the site of bile salt production in the gall bladder (232), and it is generally true that Gram-negative bacteria are more resistant to antibiotics than are their Gram-positive cousins. Indeed, some Gram-negative bacteria, such as Pseudomonas, are notorious in this regard. OMP biogenesis will be developed in subsequent sections as it occurs in different steps including the translocation across the inner membrane *via* the Sec or Tat machineries for (see 2.3 The inner membrane); and a ride from periplasmic chaperones to membrane insertion with the β -barrel protein assembly machinery (BAM) (see 3.1.3) Porin biogenesis).

2.2. The periplasmic space

The outer and inner membranes delimit an aqueous cellular compartment called the periplasm. The periplasm is densely packed with proteins and it is more viscous than the cytoplasm (233). Proteins that inhabit this compartment include the periplasmic binding proteins, which function in sugar and amino acid transport and chemotaxis, as well as chaperone-like molecules that perform quality control and shuttle functions for the Lpt (234), the Bam (235, 236, 237, 237) and the Lol (216) machineries, dedicated to LPS, OMPs and lipoproteins biogenesis. It also contains the peptidoglycan, peptidoglycan-synthases and hydrolases, which are tightly coordinated with elements of the bacterial cytoskeleton including the elongasome and the divisome (238). Noteworthy, the peptidoglycan interacts with other structural proteins such as Lpp, called murein lipoprotein or Braun's lipoprotein (239, 240) and OmpA as well as proteins of the Tol-Pal system (241) for bridging the peptidoglycan to the outer and inner membranes, respectively. Noteworthy, Lpp is the most abundant protein in *E. coli*, with more than 500,000 molecules/cell. The ε -amino group of the carboxyterminal lysine residue of one third of these molecules is covalently attached to the diaminopimelate residue in the peptide crossbridge. Finally, the periplasm contains part of trans-envelope machines such as drug efflux and protein secretion systems, which transport substrates without periplasmic intermediates (178), and some surface appendages, such as flagella, which are required for bacterial mobility (178).

2.3. The inner membrane

The inner membrane separates the periplasm from the cytosol. Also called the plasma or cytoplasmic membrane, the inner membrane is composed of a symmetrical phospholipid bilayer. In *E. coli*, it consists of 70–80% phosphatidylethanolamine, 15–20% phosphatidylglycerol and a small fraction of cardiolipin (244, 245). Inner membrane proteins mostly function in energy production, lipid biosynthesis, molecular transport, including small molecule import and extrusion, protein secretion, extracytoplasmic protein and LPS biogenesis (246).

In this section, I will develop the inner membrane steps of extracytoplasmic protein biogenesis that involve either the Sec or the Tat machinery. All proteins are synthesized in the cytoplasm, but proteins destined for the periplasm or the OM is made initially in a precursor form with a signal sequence at the amino terminus. The signal sequence targets them for translocation from the cytoplasm (242). This translocation reaction is catalyzed by an essential, heterotrimeric inner membrane protein complex called SecYEG (248). The signal sequence and this heterotrimeric membrane protein complex are conserved throughout biology (249). The essential ATPase SecA, together with the proton motive force, drives this translocation reaction (250). Periplasmic and OM proteins are generally translocated in posttranslational fashion (i.e. synthesis and translocation are not coupled). Proteins must be secreted in linear fashion from the amino to the carboxy terminus like spaghetti through a hole as SecYEG cannot handle folded molecules. The cytoplasmic SecB chaperone maintains these secreted proteins in unfolded form until they can be secreted (251). During the secretion process the signal sequence is proteolytically removed by Signal Peptidase I called LepB (211). Other components of the Sec translocon, such as SecD, SecF, and YajC, perform important but nonessential function(s) during translocation, perhaps facilitating release of secreted proteins into the periplasm. Once released, periplasmic proteins are "holded" by chaperones function to prevent misfolding and aggregation before final OM insertion and assembly (see 3.1.3. Porin biogenesis). The other translocation system in the inner membrane is called Tat and translocates folded proteins (252). E. coli uses the Tat system for proteins which have prosthetic groups that must be added in the cytoplasm, and this constitutes a small fraction of the secreted proteins. Other bacteria, such as thermophiles, use the Tat system extensively; presumably because it is easier to fold proteins in the cytoplasm than it is in the hostile environments they live in. In terms of components, the Tat system is remarkable simple; three components. TatB and TatC function to target proteins for translocation by TatA, but how this system recognizes that the substrate is folded, and how it accomplishes the translocation reaction are not yet understood.

3. Porin channels

3.1. Functional and structural properties of classical porins

3.1.1. Structure

As mentioned earlier, classical or general diffusion porins OmpF, OmpC and PhoE of *E. coli* are trimers of 16-stranded β -barrels (220, 221) (**Figure 19**). The large number and configuration of the β -strands allow for the formation of a central hydrophilic pore in each β -barrel. However, the pore is constricted by the inwardly folded extracellular loop L3 (shown in orange in **Figure 19**). This loop, together with the opposite barrel wall, form the so-called eyelet or constriction zone, which determines the size exclusion limit and other permeation properties of the barrel. At this level, the pore size of OmpF is 7 × 10 Å (220). A conserved set of charged residues decorates the eyelet: negatively charged residues (in red in **Figure 19**) are found on the L3 loop itself, and positive charges (in blue in **Figure 19**) form a cluster on the opposite barrel wall, creating a strong transversal electric field. These residues have been shown to play an important role in ion movement and ion selectivity. The β -strands are connected to each other by short turns on the periplasmic side and long loops on the extracellular side. This protruding extracellular domain provides a site for interactions with specific colicins and phages that use porins as surface receptors (208).



Figure 19: Structure of the OmpF porin of *E. coli*: a) View of the trimer from the top, perpendicular to the plane of the OM. Loop 2 (L2; blue) plays a role in interacting with the neighboring monomer. L3 (yellow) narrows the channel. b) View of the monomer

from the side. L2 and L3 are colored as in a. c) View of the monomer from the top, showing the constricted region of the channel, which is formed by E117 and D113 from the L3 loop, as well as four basic residues from the opposing barrel wall, K16, R42, R82 and R132 (figure acquired from Masi *et al.*, 2017).

3.1.2. Pore properties and permeation assays

The functional properties of porins have been the subject of investigation for over 30 years. Initial work established the size exclusion cutoffs of porins by measuring the transport of various size sugars using liposome swelling assays (252). A value of about 600 Daltons was determined for OmpF (254), which implies that ions, amino acids, and small sugars use general diffusion porins for gaining access to the periplasm. Disaccharides, larger sugars and other molecules need to use dedicated pathways for OM transport (208). These early studies established the molecular sieving properties of porins, and provided an explanation for the high diffusion rates of these compounds through the OM (255). The application of electrophysiology to the study of porins, along with computational studies, has permitted a better understanding of porin permeation at the molecular level (see 4.1. Porin mediated uptake across the outer membrane).

The traditional electrophysiological approach is the study of porin-mediated ion currents in planar lipid bilayers (also known as "black lipid membranes" or "BLM"). A lipid bilayer is formed over an aperture pierced through a Teflon film separating two chambers. Each chamber contains a buffered ionic solution and an electrode used to measure electric current due to the flow of ions across the bilayer and to clamp the transmembrane potential required to promote ion movement. Purified detergentsolubilized channel proteins or proteoliposomes are added to one chamber (the socalled cis side), and spontaneously insert in the bilayer over time. The sequential insertions of open channels in the membrane lead to discrete current jumps due to ion movement through the open channels. The conductance (i.e. the amount of current per unit voltage) of a channel can be obtained from measuring the size of these current jumps. In the case of porins, this would represent the trimeric conductance, since porins typically purify and insert in the bilayer as trimers. By manipulating the protein concentration, it is possible to ensure that either many or only one porin trimer inserts, and investigations can be performed on single channels or on populations of channels. After insertion, the channel activity can be studied in various conditions (e.g. in the absence or in the presence of putative permeating molecules) and membrane potentials.

The patch-clamp technique has also been applied to the study of purified porins reconstituted in artificial liposomes. Here, a small patch of liposome membrane is drawn at the tip of a 1 μ M-diameter glass pipette, and the current flowing through this patch is recorded at a fixed membrane potential. Because of the small area of membrane under investigation, the patch clamp technique typically offers a better signal-to-noise ratio than BLM. This technique permitted the discovery that porins flicker between multiple states, whose kinetics and conductance can be affected in mutants and in the presence of

modulators. Studies performed by the Benz and the Rosenbusch groups in the 70's and 80's established some of the hallmark properties of the general diffusion porins, such as high ionic current due to the relatively large pore size, low ionic selectivity (although some porins show preference for cations (OmpC) or anions (PhoE)), and high open probability, in standard bilayer electrophysiology conditions of low voltage, neutral pH and high ionic strength (256-259). Computational modeling studies have suggested that the paths taken by anions and cations are divergent at the eyelet, as cations are drawn close to the negative charges of the L3 loop, and anions flow near the positively charged cluster of the opposite barrel wall (260). This type of work emphasizes the notion that the permeating ions interact with the wall of the channel and that ion movement does not follow simple diffusion. This was demonstrated experimentally by measuring the conductance and selectivity of various general diffusion porins in solutions of varying ionic strength or pH, and in variants with mutations at specific pore exposed residues (261-264). Bezrukov's group showed that the selectivity of OmpF for cations relative to anions increases sharply in solutions of low ionic strength (261). The channel reaches nearly ideal cation selectivity in solutions of < 100 mM KCl. Furthermore, at pH's < 4, the channel reverses its selectivity from preferring cations to preferring anions. The authors combined these experimental observations with calculations of the distribution of charged residues in the pore lumen and concluded that electrostatic interactions exist between the permeating ions and the charges of ionizable residues over the entire channel length. However, shifts in selectivity are detected upon mutations of single residues. Substitution at the pore-exposed D113 residue in OmpF (262) and its homolog in OmpC (264) decrease cation-selectivity. Opposite effects are seen upon charge removal at arginines of the constriction zone (264).

Some of these techniques as well as their applications for studying translocation of antibiotics are shown below (**Figure 20**).



Figure 20: Methods for measuring intracellular accumulation and porin-mediated uptake of antibiotics. (a) DUV methods. Deep Ultraviolet (DUV) methods were developed for studying translocation of fluoroquinolones, which are intrinsically fluorescent, across the envelope of Gram-negative bacteria. Fluoroquinolone accumulation can be investigated in whole cells after cell lysis, or in intact cells by DUV microspectrofluorimetry or DUV fluorescent imaging (265). Fluoroquinolone (ATB, antibiotic) is added to intact cells at a concentration of C_{out} . The drug crosses the two membranes at the net rate Vi, which is a combination of V_i and V''_i corresponding to the influx rates across OM through porins and IM, respectively. This influx is also balanced by two processes: (1) efflux into the external medium through the major transmembrane AcrAB–TolC pump at the rate V'_{e} ; and (2) efflux into the periplasm by several minor inner membrane 'singlet' pumps at the rate V'_{e} . In this model, C_{in} can be measured from the maximum fluorescence intensity. Using mutants and addition of CCCP (cyanide m-chlorophenyl hydrazone, an inhibitor of proton transport), the contribution of efflux by *acrB* or *tolC* has been determined (266, 267, 268). Similar approaches can be used to evaluate the role of specific OM porins on fluoroquinolone influx, assuming that drug diffusion across the inner membrane is not a limiting factor to reach maximal C_{in}. These approaches have shown that the drug resistance characteristics of *E. aerogenes* clinical

isolates probably rely on efflux, as CCCP treatment restores drug accumulation to susceptible strains. *C*p represents the periplasmic concentration. (b) Resazurin-based bacterial viability assay. Actively metabolizing bacterial cells reduce the viability dye resazurin to resofurin, which emits fluorescence at 590 nm. Kinetic assays provide a population-based readout for drug accumulation, which can be used to dissect the impact of different chemical structures and bacterial factors on net influx. In the example below, the use of this assay with different porin mutants can help differentiate their preference for different antibiotics (ATB1, ATB2). (c) Electrophysiology. The planar lipid bilayer technique is one of the electrophysiological approaches used to study the biophysical properties of bacterial pore-forming proteins. In an asymmetrical setup, a single porin is inserted in an artificial membrane which is added to the *cis* side. Addition of porins will produce conductance, while addition of antibiotics will produce ion current fluctuations that can be used to calculate drug on and off rates. Note that these calculations do not reflect specificity of transport (picture taken from Masi *et al.*, 2017).

3.1.3. Porin biogenesis

As described earlier, nascent OMPs are first synthesized in the cytoplasm with an N-terminal signal sequence, which targets them to the Sec translocon for transport across the inner membrane to the periplasm (269).

Periplasmic chaperones function to protect OMPs during their transit through the periplasm. Three such proteins have been well characterized and shown have general chaperone activity: SurA, which also functions as a peptidyl-proline isomerase (270271), Skp (273, 274), and DegP (275, 276). Genetic analysis indicates that these three proteins function in parallel pathways for OMP assembly; SurA functions in one pathway; DegP/Skp function in the other. Mutants lacking either one of these pathways are viable, but cells cannot tolerate loss of both (277). Mutants lacking SurA and Skp, or SurA and DegP are not viable and they show massive defects in OMP assembly. Therefore, these chaperone pathways seem redundant. However, this redundancy does not reflect equal roles in OMP assembly. The major OMPs, which account for most of the protein mass of the OM, show preference for the SurA pathway (278). At present no OMP that prefers the DegP/Skp pathway has been identified. However, the primary role of the DegP/Skp pathway may be to rescue OMPs that have fallen off the normal assembly pathway, particularly under stressful conditions. The periplasmic chaperones deliver OMPs to a multicomponent complex called the β -barrel assembly machinery (BAM) complex, which has been shown to be responsible for folding and inserting OMPs into the OM (279, 280) (Figure 21). In *E. coli*, the BAM complex consists of five components called BamA (aka YaeT/Omp85), BamB (YfgL), BamC (NlpB), BamD (YfiO), and BamE (SmpA) (281-284). BamA, a 16-stranded OMP itself, is the central and essential component of the complex; BamB, BamC, BamD, and BamE are all lipoproteins which are anchored to the OM via lipidation of the N-terminal cysteine residue. BamA and BamD are essential for viability; however, all components are required for efficient OMP folding/insertion (282, 1). Studies have shown that both BamB and BamD interact directly with BamA via non-overlapping binding sites while BamC and BamE interact directly with BamD to stabilize the complex (282, 283). Structures of all the Bam components have now been reported including partial complexes of BamAB and BamCD (284-295). The full-length structure of BamA from Neisseria gonorrhoeae revealed a large periplasmic domain consisting of five polypeptide transport associated (POTRA) domains and a C-terminal 16-stranded β -barrel domain. Subsequent studies showed that lateral opening of the barrel domain was required for function in BamA, strengthening an existing hypothesis that the barrel domain must open laterally in the membrane to allow insertion of the substrate OMPs into the OM (289, 291, 296, 297). It has been proposed that BamB might serve as a scaffold, assisting in the handoff of nascent OMPs by SurA/Skp to BamA, while BamC, BamD, and BamE may serve support roles in regulating the function of BamA (287, 290, 298). The structures have offered clues to how each component may function within the complex; however, the lack of structural information regarding the fully assembled complex has hindered progress towards exploring the mechanism further. To address this, Backelar et al. have solved the structure of the BAM complex from E. coli and showed that the periplasmic domain of BamA in a closed state that prevents access to the barrel lumen from the periplasm. Furthermore, binding of BamCDE to BamA causes an unprecedented conformational change, leading to opening of the top of the barrel domain along the exit pore and structural rearrangement of the lateral opening site. These structural changes suggest that the role of BamCDE may be to modulate the conformational states of BamA, thereby serving as a regulatory step in the function of the BAM complex (299).



Figure 21: The *E. coli* BAM complex and homologous systems. In Gram-negative bacteria, OM β -barrel proteins are first synthesized in the cytosol of the cell and then targeted to the IM. This diagram compares the three pathways as the unfolded substrate protein (yellow curve) is directed by associated translocons (green) to the assembly complex consisting of the core BamA homologue (pink) and accessory proteins (purple), to form the final folded β -barrel (yellow cylinder). For simplicity, other proteins and chaperones involved in the pathways are not shown. A: The *E. coli* β -barrel assembly machinery (BAM) complex consists of membrane embedded BamA, and four accessory lipoproteins: BamB, C, D, and E. Substrate proteins cross the inner membrane via the Sec translocon and travel through the periplasmic space before being assembled by the BAM complex at the OM (picture acquired from Kim *et. al.* 2012).

3.1.4. Regulation of porin expression

The regulation of expression of classical porins in *E. coli* is here summarized and will be further integrated in pathways for remodeling the OM (section 5). PhoE is expressed only under phosphate starvation, since the *phoE* gene is a member of the phosphate regulon (301). The expression of the two major porins, OmpF and OmpC, is exquisitely regulated. The apparent purpose of this regulation became clear when it was discovered that OmpF produces a slightly larger channel than OmpC (302, 179). Thus, noxious agents such as antibiotics and bile acids diffuse far better through the larger OmpF channel, as seen clearly from the observation that low concentrations of antibiotics select for *ompF* mutants but never for *ompC* mutants (303). In its natural habitat, the intestinal tract, E. coli encounters 4 to 16 mM bile salts (304), and it is most important to minimize their influx. The conditions prevailing in the intestinal tract, high osmotic strength and high temperature, both favor the production of OmpC (with its narrower channel) and repress the production of OmpF. On the other hand, the increased production of OmpF under low-temperature, low-osmolarity conditions (for example, in lake water) will benefit *E. coli* by facilitating the influx of scarce nutrients. Although it is now admitted that the electronegativity of the pore interior rather than the pore size determines the permeability of OmpF and OmpC channels (221, 305, 306), this model is still valid. The molecular mechanism of this OmpF/C regulation has been studied extensively (307). Environmental osmotic activity is sensed by the sensor component EnvZ of the archetypal two-component system, EnvZ-OmpR, and high osmolarity results in the phosphorylation of OmpR. The *ompF* gene, with its high affinity OmpR-binding sites, is transcribed even when the phosphorylated OmpR (OmpR~P) is scarce. However, as the concentration of OmpR~P increases, additional binding of these molecules results in increased transcription of *ompC* and repression of *ompF*. High temperature, on the other hand, increases the transcription of an antisense RNA, micF (308, 309). This RNA binds to the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of the *ompF* mRNA and inhibits its translation (310). Finally, oxidative stress and the presence of salicylate also increase *micF* transcription and prevent the production of OmpF porin posttranscriptionally. The intestinal tract, the normal environment of *E. coli*, is thought to be mostly anaerobic. Interestingly, anaerobiosis was found to modify the osmoregulation of OmpF and OmpC (311). Thus, under anaerobiosis, OmpC is expressed at a rather high level even in fairly low-osmolarity media, and the repression of OmpF by osmotic activity occurs more strongly than under aerobic conditions. This modification of the regulatory response, which is expected to favor the survival of *E. coli* in the intestinal tract, occurs through the cross-talk activation of OmpR by the ArcB sensor, which senses the anaerobic condition (311).

Regulation of porin expression also occurs in response to the presence of chemicals in the environment. It was found in 1991 that salicylate in the medium decreased OmpF synthesis (312). This is now known to be a part of the global regulation of porins mediated by three XylS-AraC family regulatory proteins, MarA, SoxS, and Rob (313, 314). Thus, the increased production of MarA (caused by some environmental chemicals, such as salicylate, inactivating its cognate repressor, MarR) or SoxS (caused by the inactivation of its repressor SoxR via its oxidation) or the binding of coregulators such as dipyridyl (315) or some bile salts (316) to Rob activates the transcription of *micF*, thereby decreasing OmpF synthesis. Interestingly, all these environmental signals also result in the increased production of the main multidrug efflux pump, AcrAB. Together, these responses prevent the entry of toxic molecules through porins, a reasonable response for *E. coli*. The benefit is clear from the observation that resistance to several antibiotics is moderately increased in the presence of bile salts (316), a normal component of the environment of *E. coli*.

3.2. Other porins

3.2.1. Other porins in *E. coli* and *Salmonella spp.*

The genome of *E. coli* K12 encodes several general diffusion porins other than OmpF and OmpC. PhoE is another major OMP that is often included with OmpF and OmpC as classical or general diffusion porins but transports inorganic phosphate and is selective for anions (223). The NmpC porin, which belongs to the OmpF-OmpC-PhoE cluster and which is not expressed in K-12 because of the insertion of the IS *5* element close to the distal end of the gene, is similar to the lc porin coded by the genome of a lambdoid phage, PA-2 (317). The transcription of *nmpC* is apparently up-regulated by growth in a slightly alkaline media (318). A survey of the K-12 genome using a program detecting β -barrel proteins indicated that the product of gene *b1377* is a homolog of OmpC that belongs to the classical porin family (319). This trimeric porin, called OmpN, was originally found in *E. coli* B, then in K-12, and was expressed and purified (320). Its channel property was also reported to be very similar to that of OmpC. This protein is

not expressed wild-type strains; only studies have reported the effect of environmental conditions on the production of this porin (321, 322). Mutants expressing the OmpG porin were isolated in E. coli K-12 by Misra and Benson (323) by using a selection procedure that favors mutant cells capable of taking up large nutrients. OmpG is a porin with unusual properties (324). First, it appears to lack, on the basis of its sequence, the large loop 3 that is ubiquitous in classical trimeric porins. Second, it produces an unusually large channel, as expected from its 3D-structure. Third, it appears to exist as a monomer, unlike members of the classical porin family. The large channel size and the monomeric nature of OmpG were confirmed by single-channel conductance and folding studies in another laboratory (325, 326). The protein was made into a two-dimensional crystal, and its study also confirms the monomeric nature of this porin (327). The *ompG* gene appears to be the last gene in a putative 11-gene operon, which contains genes needed for the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter-catalyzed uptake of oligosaccharides, as well as various genes presumably involved in the degradation of such compounds (324). Therefore, it seems likely that it is a large-channel porin needed for the uptake of larger oligosaccharides. OmpG is expressed, at a low level, in Salmonella and Shigella, but only trace levels are seen in wild-type E. coli K-12. E. coli OmpW is a receptor for Colicin S4 (328). It is part of a family of proteins by the same name. It shows high similarity to the OmpW protein in Salmonella typhimurium. The crystal structure of OmpW has been determined to resolutions of 3.5 Å (329) and 2.7 Å, revealing an 8-stranded β -barrel structure with a narrow hydrophobic channel (330). This structure suggests OmpW functions in transport of small, hydrophobic molecules across the OM (330). In vitro studies have investigated the strategies used by a number of OMPs, including OmpW, to efficiently fold into the membrane (331). Expression of OmpW is upregulated in response to tetracycline and ampicillin (332) but downregulated upon induction of the small noncoding RNA, RybB, which is a member of the σ^{E} regulon (333). Xiao et al. also showed that the maximal expression of *ompW* is during the aerobic-to-anaerobic transition, and that seems to be related to cell survival under microaerobic conditions. In these conditions, the repression of *ompW* is mediated by the global anaerobic transcription factor FNR (334). Mutational experiments and gene expression analysis suggest that FNR is an antagonist of the *ompW* repression mediated by the histone-like nucleoid structuring protein H-NS under aerobic conditions (334).

Like *E. coli* K12, *Salmonella enterica* serovars Typhy and Typhimurium produce OmpF and OmpC as abundant proteins in their OMs. In *E. coli* and serovar Typhimurium OmpF and OmpC porins are regulated reciproqually by the osmolarity of the growth medium. The *ompD* gene, which is absent in the genome of serovar Typhi, encodes the most abundant protein of the OM of serovar Typhimurium, a porin similar in primary amino acid sequence to major porins OmpF, OmpC and PhoE (335, 336). It has channel properties comparable to those of OmpF-OmpC as judged from single-channel conductance data (337). Liposome-swelling studies apparently have not been carried out with this porin. The production pattern of this porin on complex agar media and in

synthetic liquid media seems to fit with the idea that OmpD is synthesized in a cyclic AMP-dependent manner (336). Above all, *Salmonella* uses many small regulatory RNAs in order to fine-tune the production of OmpD at the post-transcriptional level (see 5.4. sRNA regulation) (339, 340). Besides, serovars Typhi and Typhimurium also encode porins OmpS1 and OmpS2, which are expressed at low levels under in vitro culture conditions. In particular, these two porins are potent protective immunogens with adjuvant properties (341).

3.2.2. Porins in other Enterobacteriaceae

General diffusion porins are well conserved among *Enterobacteriaceae*. Clinically relevant species such as *E. aerogenes, E. cloacae* and *K. pneumoniae* also produce homologs of OmpF and OmpC — namely, Omp35 and Omp36; OmpE35 and OmpE36; OmpK35 and OmpK36. Of note, an especially large fraction of clinical isolates of *E. aerogenes* were found to have alterations in porins (342, 343, 344); together with the induction of the chromosomal cephalosporinase, this might explain high level of resistance towards β -lactams in this species. *K. pneumoniae* is unusual among the *Enterobacteriaceae* in lacking the ability to produce a chromosomally encoded, inducible class C β -lactamase and instead produces a chromosomally encoded, weak class A enzyme (345). This situation suggests that the loss of porin might play a larger role in the resistance of *K. pneumoniae* to β -lactams. As mentioned above, the crystal structure of all the OmpF and OmpC orthologs are now known (306, 346). Biochemical studies including liposome swelling assays showed pore sizes similar to that of *E. coli* porins and a preference for the more hydrophilic members among cephalosporins (306)

Bacteria	Characterized porins	3D structure of porins	Porin alteration in clinical isolates
E. aerogenes E. cloacae	0mp36*, 0mp35‡	Omp36, Omp35, OmpE36, OmpE35	Omp35 [§] , Omp36 [§]
E. coli	OmpC, OmpF, OmpN¶, PhoE	OmpC, OmpF, PhoE	OmpC [§] , OmpF [§] ,
K. pneumoniae	OmpK36*, OmpK35‡, OmpK37¶	OmpK36, OmpK35	OmpK35§, OmpK36§, OmpK37§
<i>S. enterica</i> serovars <i>Typhimurium</i> and <i>Enteritidis</i>	OmpC*, OmpF‡, OmpD, OmpS2¶	None	Major porins (OmpC§, OmpF§, OmpD§)

Table 1: Main features of porins. *OmpC family. ^{\$}OmpF family. [§]Identification of porin loss in resistant isolate. ^{||}Identification of porin mutations in resistant isolate. [¶]Quiescent porin family.

4. Antibiotic transport across the cell envelope of Gram-negative bacteria

4.1. Porin-mediated uptake across the outer membrane

The permeability of porins to β -lactam antibiotics has been demonstrated by various means. Evidence for a direct role of porins in mediating the diffusion of β lactams was provided by purifying and reconstituting porins into liposomes and using either a liposome swelling assay (252), or measuring the antibiotic degradation rate by an entrapped β -lactamase (347). Measurement of antibiotic flux in whole cells was originally developed by Zimmermann and Rosselet (348) and then extensively used by Nikaido's group to characterize the permeability of cephaloridine and other cephalosporins in various cells types (wildtype and porin mutants), by taking advantage of the fast rate of cephalosporin degradation by periplasmic β -lactamase (252). Rates of the order of ~ $10-50\times10^{-5}$ cm/s were found for the permeation of zwitterionic drugs through OmpF, but were much reduced for anionic compounds. A molecular explanation for these findings has recently emerged from a more detailed view of the interactions of the permeating drugs with the porin channels, obtained from the combination of electrophysiology and computational studies. Bezrukov and colleagues demonstrated that ampicillin acts as a transient open channel blocker of the OmpF porin in a pH dependent manner, with a maximum block in a pH range where the ampicillin molecule is zwitterionic (349). Molecular dynamics calculations explain this pH dependence, as they reveal that the drug molecule perfectly occludes the pore in the zwitterionic form, as it interacts simultaneously with negatively charged residues of L3 and positively charged residues of the barrel wall (Figure 19). Such complementation between the charge distributions on the drug molecule and the narrowest region of the OmpF pore has also been found for another zwitterionic β -lactam, amoxicillin (350). On the contrary, poor interactions were delineated for the di-anionic carbenicillin and the mono-anionic β -lactams azlocillin and piperacillin. This negligible binding correlates with the poor diffusion rates measured from such compounds from liposome swelling assays (351). On the other hand, high diffusion rates were obtained for ampicillin and amoxicillin. Thus, it appears that interactions at the OmpF constriction zone facilitate the drug translocation, and that the nature and position of specific charges on the antibiotic molecule and on OmpF play a major role in these interactions. Experimentally, site-directed mutations of many key charged residues of the porin constriction zone affect β -lactam flux and sensitivity (352-355). The involvement of specific OmpF residues as anchorage points for several cephalosporins has been suggested from computational studies as well (352). Some mutations also involved uncharged residues. For example, the diffusion of radiolabeled cefepime was drastically decreased in the

G119D and G119E mutants (356). The X-ray structure of the G119D mutant OmpF shows that the introduced aspartate residue protrudes in the eyelet and constricts the diameter the pore (357). Consequently, the channel conductance, diffusion rate of various sugars and sensitivity to cephalosporins are greatly reduced (356, 357). On the other hand, mutations at the R132 residues lead to improved growth on maltodextrins relative to wildtype (264) and increased cefepime diffusion (356), possibly due to an increase in pore diameter (358).

Quinolones are believed to use a dual pathway for entry into bacterial cells, because drug flux and susceptibility are both sensitive to the presence of porins (in particular of OmpF) and to modifications of the LPS barrier (359, 360). The relative contribution of the two pathways correlates with the hydrophobicity and the protonation state of the quinolones, in the manners described below. Hydrophobic quinolones are more effective in LPS mutants (361). There is a report that the quinolone fleroxacin induces the same perturbations of the OM as does gentamycin or EDTA, supporting the contention that quinolones might act as chelating agents and use a selfpromoted pathway as aminoglycosides and cationic peptides do (359). However, the sensitivity of cells to less hydrophobic quinolones, such as norfloxacin and ciprofloxacin and other drugs with similar hydrophobicity coefficient of less than 0.1, was not much affected in mutants in LPS structure (360), suggesting that they might use porins for access through the OM. Indeed, a reduced accumulation of radiolabeled norfloxacin was observed in E. coli strains lacking OmpF (362). Moreover, the flux of norfloxacin in E. *cloacae* was inhibited in the presence of spermine or cefepime, both known to use porins for permeation through the OM, thus confirming that norfloxacin diffuses through the porin lumen (363). Nikaido and Thanassi have proposed that quinolones exist in equilibrium with charged and uncharged species depending on the solution pH (364). For example, they calculated that about 10% of norfloxacin exists as an uncharged species at pH 7.4, and this ratio is even higher ($\sim 40\%$ at pH 6.5) for amifloxacin. These authors have argued that the uncharged quinolone molecules cross the OM through the lipid bilayer, while the negatively charged molecules are likely to pass through porin channels as magnesium chelates. Thus, the relative contributions of the porin-mediated and lipid-mediated pathways are likely to depend on the protonation-deprotonation states of the drug, which will themselves be influenced by external pH. In addition, the charged species are proposed to accumulate in the periplasm due to the interiornegative Donnan potential across the OM (364). This accumulation leads to high cytoplasmic levels as well, as the cytoplasm equilibrates very rapidly with the periplasm, even for drugs with oil/water partition coefficient less than 0.1. In porin-deficient mutants, quinolones still permeate through the OM bilayer itself in their uncharged form, but do not accumulate in the periplasm because they are not sensitive to the Donnan potential, thus leading to decreased cytoplasmic concentrations and efficacy.

The uptake of tetracycline by *E. coli* cells was shown to be reduced in a mutant lacking OmpF (365), confirming the suggestion that it uses this pathway based on increased resistance in mutants with decreased *ompF* expression (362). This accumulation, however, is not null in the absence of OmpF, and it positively correlates with pH, i.e. there is less influx of tetracycline at lower pH (pH 6.0) relative to neutral pH, or even 7.8 (365). Tetracycline has a pKa of 7.7, and therefore exists mostly in a protonated form at a pH's under the pKa. In this uncharged form, tetracycline is believed to enter cells by diffusion through the OM lipid barrier (364). Thus, tetracycline, like fluoroquinolones, uses both a porin- and a lipid-mediated pathway, depending on its protonated status.

4.2. Porins and antibiotic resistance

As described in the sections above, porins provide a favored path through the OM to small hydrophilic antibiotics, such as β -lactams, as well as tetracycline, chloramphenicol and fluoroquinolones (208). Any decrease in the ability or rate of entry of these compounds can lead to resistance. There is an abundance of reports of antibiotic resistance acquired through loss or functional changes of porins in a large number of *Enterobacteriaceae*, such as *E. coli*, *E. aerogenes* and *K. pneumoniae* (112, 208, 366-370). Although much of the mechanistic studies described above have focused on OmpF because of its well understood structural and functional properties relative to any other major porins, many of the reports of changes in porin expression often implicated both OmpF and OmpC. The role of minor porins (such as NmpC), or those expressed in specific conditions (such as PhoE), perhaps should not be underestimated, but there are far fewer reports on the involvement of these porins in antibiotic resistance. Still it appears that PhoE can serve as a conduit for entry of β -lactams (and be an even better one than OmpF and OmpC if the drug bears a negative charge) (302), as well as for chloramphenicol and tetracycline (371). It would be impractical in this manuscript to cite all or even most of studies linking antibiotic resistance to general diffusion porins, but we can highlight some of the generally found common themes with specific examples. There are two major porin-based mechanisms for antibiotic resistance that have been reported in clinical isolates: 1) alterations of OM profiles, including either loss/severe reduction of porins or replacement of one or two major porins by another (342, 344, 372, 373); 2) altered function due to specific mutations reducing permeability (374-376). This section provides selected examples from the literature that describe porin modifications and antibiotic resistance. These examples are discussed in light of recent structural and functional studies.



Figure 22: Multidrug resistance mechanisms associated with porin modification. This figure shows the various resistance mechanisms that are associated with porin modification. The β -lactam molecules and porin trimers are represented by blue circles and pink cylinders, respectively. The thickness of the straight arrows reflects the level of β -lactam penetration through porin channels. The curved arrows illustrate the uptake failure that occurs with: a change (decrease) in the level of porin expression; an exchange in the type of porin that is expressed (restricted-channel porin); and mutation or modification that impairs the functional properties of a porin channel (mutated porin). The effect of pore-blocking molecules (black circles) is shown at the bottom of the figure (this diagram was taken from Pagès *et al.*, 2008).

As antibiotic resistance poses a daunting problem in hospital-acquired infections, Pagès and colleagues analyzed the porin content of 45 β -lactam resistant clinical isolates of *E. aerogenes* obtained from French hospitals (342). Of those, 44% were shown to lack porins, as determined by immunodetection. The MIC of four antibiotics (cefepime, imipenem, cefotaxime and moxalactam) was drastically increased. Additionally, many strains displayed high constitutive or inducible β -lactamase activity, but some strains did not, and thus antibiotic resistance appears to originate essentially from the lack of porins. The increase in MIC for those porin-deficient strains was similar to those with robust β -lactamase activity, indicating that a reduction of porin-mediated permeability can be an efficient strategy for antibiotic resistance on its own.

Here, it is worth to note that clinical strains of E. coli, K. pneumoniae and *Enterobacter* spp. preferentially express OmpC- than OmpF-type porins (377). Therefore, it is important to understand the molecular basis of antibiotic transport through OmpC. In two documented cases, β -lactam-resistant clinical isolates of *E*. *aerogenes* contained the OmpC orthologue Omp36, which carried the mutation G112D in L3 (375, 376). The homologous mutation G119D in OmpF of E. coli narrows the size of the channel as the large side chain of Asp protrudes into the channel lumen and confers a drastic reduction in β -lactam susceptibility (356). Recent studies also found a series of OmpC mutants that were isolated from a patient with chronic E. coli infections and additive mutations that conferred increased resistance to a variety of antibiotics, including cefotaxime, ceftazidime, imipenem, meropenem and ciprofloxacin (374). Crystal structures of these mutant proteins showed no major changes in the channel size or ion conductivity, and the authors hypothesized that changes in the electric field at the constriction zone played a role in the channel permeability (378). Molecular dynamics simulations predicted that the mutations changed the vector of the electric field inside the channel, thus trapping antibiotics in an unfavorable orientation above the constriction zone. However, these data are difficult to reconcile with electrophysiology data, which showed that the presumed flux (as measured by ion current fluctuations) of imipenem decreased by 15-fold in the mutant while no significant differences were observed for meropenem (379). This highlights the need for robust assays to evaluate porin-mediated translocation of clinically relevant antibiotics into intact cells. To date, only a few studies have combined cell-based and cell-free assays to analyze the translocation of β-lactams across porins (306, 380). First, James et al. characterized translocation of β -lactams through *E. aerogenes* Omp36 by using electrophysiology and rate killing assays and found that high affinity constant (k_{m}) values for ertapenem and cefepime binding to Omp36 correlated well with the efficacy of killing of cells expressing only Omp36. Conversely, ampicillin and ceftazidime were shown to have low $k_{\rm m}$ values. Although the rate of killing was not reported, other studies have demonstrated that these two antibiotics show a preference for OmpF-type channels (380-384). More recently, Acosta-Gutierez et al. determined the X-ray crystal structures of the principal general porins from three species of *Enterobacteriaceae*, including that of *E. aerogenes* (Omp35 and Omp36), E. cloacae (OmpE35 and OmpE36) and K. pneumoniae (OmpK35 and OmpK36) and determined their antibiotic permeabilities as well as those of the orthologues from *E. coli* (OmpF and OmpC). Starting from the structures of the porins and a set of β -lactam antibiotics, the authors propose a physical mechanism underlying antibiotic translocation and condense it in a computationally efficient scoring function. The scoring function showed good agreement with data from *in vitro* liposome swelling assays and *in vivo* rate killing assays (306). This approach offers a new perspective for predicting permeability through OM porins of Gram-negative bacteria: instead of searching for an energy minimum or a binding site obtained by docking procedures, it assesses how a molecule can compensate the inherent entropic barrier of pores. This approach provides a set of molecular determinants that are easily calculated: size, dipole

moment and net charge. Because the molecular mechanism of antibiotic translocation depends on the porin/antibiotic structural features, the derived scoring function can be readily extended to porin mutants found in resistant clinical strains. Furthermore, this approach is computationally efficient and can be used to screen large virtual libraries of compounds to identify new scaffolds with good permeation through porins as a starting point for developing new antibacterial compounds.

Antibiotic resistance often occurs upon exposing sensitive E. coli cells to progressively increasing concentration of the antibiotic. The treatment, in fact, leads to a chromosome-mediated multiple antibiotic resistance (Mar phenotype), where the cells become insensitive to a variety of hydrophilic and lipophilic antibiotics (385, 386). The response involves the coordinated change in the levels of multiple proteins including porins and drug efflux pumps, through mechanisms involving transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation (387). In particular, the upregulation of marA leads to increased levels of the small RNA micF, which inhibits translation of ompF RNA. Decreased OmpF levels are also postulated to originate from the periplasmic accumulation of other OM proteins, such as TolC and OmpX, which might titrate away the chaperones and assembly proteins required for membrane insertion of OMPs (387). Another example of upregulation of OmpX in coordination with a strong repression of general diffusion porins has also been documented for acquired resistance to a large number of antibiotics of a strain of *S. enterica* serovar Typhimurium after exposure to nalidixic acid (388). In this case, repression also included other porins, besides OmpF, such as NmpC, LamB and Tsx. The substitution of a narrower porin in lieu of the constitutively expressed large general diffusion porins is another strategy for acquiring antibiotic resistance. For example, some clinical isolates from K. pneumoniae lack the large diffusion channels OmpK35 and OmpK36, but express a normally quiescent porin, OmpK37, which appears to form a smaller pore on the basis of sugar permeability (389). This porin is similar to OmpN of *E. coli* and OmpS2 of *S. typhi*, two porin types which are normally strongly down-regulated in laboratory media conditions. The presence of OmpK37 combined with the absence of OmpK35 and OmpK36 lead to a drastic increase in the MIC's of cefotaxime and cefoxitin, but not of carbapenems, indicating that these compounds might still be able to flux through OmpK37. This provides an explanation for the fact that *K. pneumoniae* infections resistant to most β -lactams can still be treated by carbapenems.

Altered porin function leading to reduced permeation rate is another strategy found in antibiotic resistant bacteria. A hot spot for single or multiple mutations leading to such phenotype is the L3 loop, which delineates the constriction zone of general diffusion porins. A clinical isolate of *E. aerogenes* was found to have a glycine to aspartate substitution on the L3 loop of its major porin (375), which might lead to a distortion of the loop or further narrowing of the pore lumen, as in G119D of OmpF (356). This mutant is characterized by a 3-fold decrease in porin conductance and a

drastic reduction in cephalosporin sensitivity. It was found later on that this porin is Omp36, which is highly similar to *E. coli* OmpC (376). This clinical isolate and two others from *E. aerogenes*, in fact, present multiple mutations in the porin gene, and are also highly resistant to cefepime, cefpirome and imipenem.

4.3. Non-porin pathways

4.3.1. Self-promoted uptake:

The concept of self-promoted uptake (SPU) of compounds across the OM of Gram-negative was proposed by Hancock, based on his extensive studies on the uptake of polycationic antibiotics such as the aminoglycosides and polymyxins (390). SPU is a process by which cationic molecules displace the divalent cations (Ca²⁺ or Mg²⁺), which stabilize the phosphate groups of Lipid A and the phosphorylated core sugars (Figure 2). This destroys the LPS cross bridging and resultantly destabilizes the OM. It is similar to treatment with cationic chelators like EDTA that disaggregates the entire OM, enhancing the uptake of lysozyme and β - lactams (391). While in case of SPU, polycations cause localized disruption of LPS. SPU enables polycations such as polymyxin B nonapeptide to sensitize *E. coli* and *S typhimurium* to hydrophobic antibiotics (392). Also, a variety of polycations including gentamicin and poly-L-lysine, could permeabilize *P. aeruginosa* LPS sufficiently to allow passage of nitrocefin into the periplasm. It is noteworthy that SPU is reversible by Mg^{2+} addition (393). Besides polymyxins and aminoglycosides, there are other antibacterial compounds that appear to use the SPU pathway. Work by Hancock *et al* proposed that Mg²⁺ supplementation of azithromycin increased the MIC of the antibiotic against E. coli by 8-fold. MIC is the central concept in antibiotic dosing which is defined as the lowest concentration of the drug that inhibits the visible growth of target bacterial population. So, this improved efficacy of azithromycin over chemically similar erythromycin can be attributed to its better access to the SPU pathway due to the additional positive charges (394). Another study by the same group observed the same phenomenon when the sugar moiety of an active glycopeptide teicoplanin was removed and lipophilic cationic moieties were added (395).

4.3.2. Hydrophobic uptake pathway:

The OM of Gram-negative bacteria does not allow the passage of amphiphilic compounds (not even remotely hydrophobic). The non-fluid continuum formed by the LPS molecules is a very effective barrier for hydrophobic molecules. However, permeabilization to hydrophobic substances can be achieved by addition of compounds that either remove (*e.g.* EDTA by chelation), or completely displace (*e.g.* polycations) divalent cations from their LPS binding sites at the cell surface. Thus, these two factors of stabilizing influence of divalent cations and the LPS at the cell surface are the primary

factor in exclusion of moderately hydrophobic substances. As most of the antibiotics are water soluble at therapeutically relevant concentrations, this mode of uptake has less clinical significance. However, some antibiotics can be considered moderately hydrophobic in that they will partition into organic solvents in two phase partitioning experiments. The high MICs of bacterial species for such antibiotics are indicative of the barrier effect of the OM. In agreement with this, alteration of this barrier by treatment with permeabilizers or by specific OM mutations affecting LPS will decrease MICs for these antibiotics. In some bacterial species such as *Neisseria* and *Haemophilus*, MICs for moderately hydrophobic antibiotics are substantially decreased and it can be assumed that these bacteria present outer surfaces to the environment that are less effectively stabilized (370).

4.4. Transport across the periplasmic space and the inner membrane

The double membrane system of Gram-negative bacteria is designed to be selective for the uptake of "desirable" solutes while discriminating against foreign substances that might be toxic. Lipophilic molecules, which could penetrate the inner membrane are prevented from doing so by OM exclusion and may be substrates for efflux pumps (see 4.4. Multidrug efflux pumps). Small hydrophilic molecules can enter the periplasm through OM porins, and are possibly less subject to efflux, but their entry through the inner membrane is likely to be hindered.

The inner membrane of Gram-negative bacteria can be said as a standard phospholipid bilayer (396) greatly discriminating against polar and highly charged molecules, which diffuse through the bilayer much more slowly than neutral lipophilic solutes. In order for the bacterium to take up the hydrophilic and often strongly charged small molecules required for its metabolism, the inner membrane contains a large number of solute-specific energy-dependent transporters to promote their passage and concentration inside the cell. Despite the preference of the inner membrane for neutral compounds, weakly charged, protonatable molecules with sufficient lipophilicity can penetrate the inner membrane with the aid of the proton motive force (PMF) (365, 397, 398, 399). The proton gradient of the PMF, Δ pH, can promote diffusion of weak acids by neutralization of charge and the membrane potential, $\Delta\Psi$, attracts weak bases.

Antibiotics that are destined for the cytoplasm are required to penetrate the inner membrane and this question is still under debate. This is particularly true as there has been an increase in the studying the mechanism of entry across the envelope of Gram-negative bacteria with the goal for aiding in antibacterial discovery. Translocation across the inner membrane is apparently not challenging for lipophilic antibiotics since the phospholipid bilayer of the inner membrane is largely permeable to them (400). Relatively hydrophobic antibiotics such as the macrolides, lincosamides, oxazolidinones and rifamycins appear to cross the inner membrane by simple diffusion (111). In contrast, the inner membrane is largely impermeable to large, uncharged polar

molecules and all charged molecules including ions (401). The antibiotics belonging to these categories require specific uptake systems to cross the inner membrane. For example, D-cycloserine, an antibiotic for treatment of tuberculosis is transported across the inner membrane via the D-alanine transport system and coupled to the proton motive force (402). Another example is fosfomycin which is transported by using the glycerol-3-phosphate or the hexose phosphate transporters. Finally, transport of aminoglycosides requires both the electrochemical gradient across the inner membrane and the electron flow through the respiratory chain, but whether it requires a specific IM transport system is still unknown.

If rules for translocation across the OM and efflux avoidance could be derived and applied to modification of, for example, compounds directed Gram-positive bacteria, the compounds would likely arrive in the periplasm, but they might be unlikely to retain their ability to cross the inner membrane. Similarly, such rules may be unhelpful in optimization of in vitro inhibitors of cytoplasmic enzymes (obtained as HTS hits, for example) that require properties enabling passage through both membranes while avoiding efflux pumps. As noted above, it seems that chemical characteristics that allow passage through OM porins (hydrophilic and charged) and perhaps avoidance of efflux pumps may prevent diffusion through the cytoplasmic membrane which favors neutral lipophilic compounds (111). Clearly, there are exceptions, compounds which do reach the cytoplasm of Gram-negative bacteria. What are the properties of these successful exceptions and do they represent a compromise or consensus set of physicochemical characteristics that could be emulated? With this in mind, it is crucial to develop methods that allow the quantification of intracellularly accumulated compounds (265-268, 403, 404).

4.5. Multidrug efflux pumps

The susceptibility of Gram-negative bacteria to antibiotics is defined by two opposing fluxes across the two membranes of these species (**Figure 13**) (400, 405, 112). As described in the above sections, the influx of antibiotics is significantly slowed by the elaborate OM (208, 367). The LPS-containing bilayers are more rigid than normal phospholipid bilayers, slowing passive diffusion of hydrophobic compounds, whereas narrow pores limit by size the penetration of hydrophilic drugs. The slow influx of drugs across the OM is further opposed by active efflux mediated by multidrug efflux transporters. Multidrug efflux transporters are structurally and functionally diverse, with some transporters pumping antibiotics across the inner membrane and reducing concentration of antibiotics in the cytoplasm, whereas others expel antibiotics from the periplasm into the external medium. The latter transporters confer resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics by associating with periplasmic and OM accessory proteins to form trans-envelope complexes (**Figure 13**) (366, 405). The clinical relevance of efflux of multiple antibiotics has also been clearly established. For example,

in clinical isolates of *E. aerogenes and K. pneumoniae*, MDR is linked to overproduction of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (363, 366, 406, 407, 408). The interplay between influx and efflux mechanisms, together acting in synergy, defines the steady-state accumulation level of antibiotics at targets (409, 410).

Multidrug efflux pumps encoded on the bacterial genomes commonly belong to the ATP- binding cassette (ABC), major facilitator superfamily (MFS), multidrug and toxin extrusion (MATE), small multidrug resistance (SMR), proteobacterial antimicrobial compound efflux (PACE) and resistance- nodulation-cell division (RND) superfamilies (Figure 23). Apart from the ABC transporters, which utilize the energy of ATP binding and hydrolysis to transport the drugs across the membrane, all known multidrug efflux pumps are H⁺ (or Na⁺)-drug antiporters (411, 412). Most efflux pumps are active as single-component membrane proteins residing in the inner bacterial membrane, and are either functional as monomers (MFS, PACE) or as dimers (ABC, SMR). The drug is collected from either the cytoplasm or the inner leaflet of the inner membrane for transportation into the periplasm. The drug re-entry is prevented back from the periplasm with the help of a tripartite modular system. This tripartite modular system consists of an inner membrane transporter (ABC, MFS or RND), a periplasmic adaptor protein and an OM channel, to fully translocate the drugs from the periplasm across the OM. Whereas drug access into the binding pocket(s) of the tripartite ABC and MFS transporters is considered to be from the cytoplasmic side (or inner membrane inner leaflet), the RND-type multidrug efflux complexes are involved in clearing a multitude of structurally diverse compounds from the periplasm that have either just entered via the OM, or have previously been extruded from the cytoplasm by the single-component transporters (400). Thus, while the RND-type tripartite efflux systems are considered major participants in intrinsic multidrug resistance by Gram-negative bacteria, their resistance capacity is dependent on the single component inner membrane transporters. Examples of structurally and functionally well-studied efflux systems are the E. coli AcrAB-TolC and *P. aeruginosa* MexAB-OprM systems (413). In AcrAB-TolC, AcrB is the inner membrane drug transporter; AcrA is the periplasmic adaptor and TolC is the OM protein channel.

One of the most intriguing aspects of the RND transporters is their substrate polyspecificity (366). They confer resistance towards multiple antibiotics, detergents, bile acids, solvents and dyes, with a wide combination of physicochemical properties; including a diversity of charges, hydrophobicity, and size (with masses ranging from 86 Da (hexane) to 1415 Da (bleomycin)). In addition, many of the paralogues encoded on the bacterial genome display overlapping specificity. AcrB from *E. coli* is one of the most versatile pumps and transports almost the entire palette of harmful substances mentioned in this manuscript, but does not transport aminoglycosides and some of the more hydrophilic β -lactams, which in *E. coli* are transported by the AcrAD–TolC system instead (414, 415). X-ray structures of AcrB (*E. coli*), MexB (*P. aeruginosa*) and MtrD (*N. gonorrhoeae*) RND multidrug efflux components have been solved and have shed some

light on the substrate specificity, as well as on the general mechanism of transport and drug–H⁺ antiport coupling (416-421).

AcrB from E. coli displays a homotrimeric setup arranged into a porter and a funnel domain, with each protomer comprising 12 transmembrane helices and two separate periplasmic loops (416, 422, 423). Each protomer adopts one of three different conformational states, designated loose, tight and open, in analogy with the three states of the F1Fo-ATP synthase, and all are part of a rotational cycle that includes the accessing, binding, and extrusion of the drug towards the TolC channel and thus to the exterior of the cell (412). According to our current understanding, AcrB drug entry pathways can be located at the level of both the outer leaflet of the inner membrane and the periplasm. Crystallographic analysis revealed a rather large access (proximal) pocket where larger drugs such as erythromycin, rifampicin and doxorubicin (as a dimer) bind. Within the same trimer, in the tight protomer, smaller drugs like minocycline, doxorubicin (monomer), rhodamine and а set of pyridopyrimidine/pyranopyridine inhibitors of the pump bind in the deep (distal) binding pocket (422-1). Between these drug-binding pockets, a flexible glycine-rich stretch of 11 amino acids, the switch loop, has been shown as essential for effective transport of drugs, that is, from the access pocket to the deep binding pocket (422, 424). The flexibility of this loop is important for its function, and substitution of particular glycines alter the substrate preference or stall transport completely.

True understanding of the molecular basis of polyspecificity still requires complete sets of co-crystallization data. Alternative structural methods, such as singleparticle cryo-electron microscopy (cryo- EM) analysis could also open up a new avenue for obtaining atomic structures for the RND components or for the entire tripartite systems, including bound drugs. To date, cryo-EM structures have been published for the MexAB-OprM and AcrAB-TolC tripartite systems, both as detergent-solubilized genetically fused complexes and as unmodified proteins in lipid nanodiscs (242, 426, 427). A further challenge will be to reconstitute the entire tripartite setup in two-batch proteoliposomal systems that better model the endogenous two-membrane setup of these systems (428). The recent report of a functional reconstitution of the MexAB-OprM system using this setup made it possible to trace the transport of a drug (a fluorescent dye) and protons (via a pH-sensitive fluorescent reporter) in parallel. Optimization of this system promises insight into the largely unanswered question of H⁺ and drug stoichiometry. Additionally, kinetic studies on the isolated RND systems will also allow more accurate determination of substrate preference and inhibitor properties without pleiotropic and off-target effects, which could complement measurements in whole cells (429-431).



Figure 23: Schematic of representative structures of multidrug transporters and tripartite assemblies. The envelope of Gram- negative bacteria has three principal layers: the OM, the inner membrane and the peptidoglycan cell wall in the interstitial periplasm between the two membranes. In Gram- negative bacteria, all the drug transporters are located in the inner membrane. Structures of representatives of each of the transporter families are presented, including the ATP- binding cassette (ABC), major facilitator superfamily (MFS), multidrug and toxin extrusion (MATE), small multidrug resistance (SMR) and resistance- nodulation-cell division (RND) families. The ABC transporters use ATP to drive transport processes, and the other families depicted use electrochemical gradients for an energy source. The groups differ in architectural features, as described in more detail in the main text. The ligands for the MFS, MATE and SMR representatives are indicated. The RND superfamily drug transporters mostly assemble with their partner proteins to form tripartite pumps, and these bind substrates at the outer leaflet of the inner membrane and periplasm and efflux them to the cell exterior. By contrast, members of the other families of drug transporters usually function as independent units in the inner membrane to translocate substrates across the membrane bilayer. It is likely that these transporter systems cooperate with RNDtype tripartite efflux pumps to deliver substrates across the entire cell envelope as part of a larger drug efflux superorganization. The structures of the proteobacterial antimicrobial compound efflux (PACE) class of transporters have not yet been experimentally elucidated and are therefore not included here. Some ABC superfamily and 14-transmembrane helix MFS transporters can also form tripartite pumps and directly transport substrate from the inner leaflet of the inner membrane and cytoplasm to the exterior. The interactions of the tripartite pumps with the peptidoglycan layer are
not well characterized presently and are depicted speculatively. AcrAB–TolC and MacAB–TolC are RND- based and ABC- based tripartite multidrug efflux pumps, respectively. Sav1866 Protein Databank (PDB) identifier: 2HYD; MdfA PDB: 4ZOW; DinF- BH PDB: 4LZ9; EmrE PDB: 3B5D; AcrA/B/TolC EM Data Bank (EMDB) entry: EMD-8640; MacA-TolC EMDB: EMD-3652; MacB EMDB: EMD-3653. LPS, lipopolysaccharide (picture obtained from Du *et al.*, 2018).

4.5.1. Efflux pump inhibitors

Lack of new antibacterial compounds in the pipeline has pushed for research efforts to rejuvenate and revitalize the old antibiotics for the treatment of Gram-negative infections (432, 433). Old drugs can be used in combination with 'adjuvants or chemosensitizers' to enhance/recover their activities by halting various resistance mechanisms active in clinical pathogens (434, 435, 436, 437). In this context, the drug efflux pumps are of particular interest. A new group of antibacterial molecules called efflux pump inhibitors (EPIs) has been developed to bypass the bacterial antibiotic resistance by blocking the efflux activity in order to restore the normal intracellular concentration for the antibiotic used for clinical treatment (438, 408). The effect of various EPIs on the activity of specific classes of antibiotics against different clinical isolates expressing drug efflux pumps (e.g. E. coli, E. aerogenes, K. pneumoniae, P. aeruginosa, etc.) has been evaluated in different studies. The effectivesness of EPIs depends on their intracellular (or periplasmic) concentration, and thus their uptake through the OM is a key step (408). Studies have shown that, depending on the antibiotic class and the type of EPI used, various discrepancies on the final restored level of antibiotic activity or/and on the amount of EPI needed for restoration can be observed. Different comparative studies have been performed using quinoline derivatives and also PAβN as a reference (439, 440, 441). It has been reported that with the same bacterial strain, for instance a selected *E. aerogenes, K. pneumoniae* or *E. coli* isolate, the activity spectrum of a defined EPI is different regarding the antibiotic tested as a competitive substrate for pump activity. This phenomenon was known since the first EPI was reported: thus, PABN, which decreases drastically the levofloxacin MIC in MexAB-OprMoverproducing *P. aeruginosa*, showed very little effect on the MIC of carbenicillin (442). In a recent study, Chevalier and colleagues demonstrated that PABN and guinazoline derivatives do not have the same enhancer effect on ciprofloxacin, sparfloxacin and erythromycin activity evaluated in an *E. aerogenes* strain overproducing AcrB; a similar difference is also noted with K. pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa strains for other antibiotics (443, 444). This could be associated with the respective affinity of the ligands, for example EPI or antibiotic molecule, for the pump site, but also with the level of expression of the acting pump under the tested conditions. Moreover, some EPIs can be more active on a specific efflux pump: for example, there are EPIs that inhibit only the MexAB-OprM system among several RND pumps that confer drug resistance to P. aeruginosa (445; also for a review, see 408). Regarding this point, it is important to mention that the original screening protocols used to develop and select EPIs, in terms of bacterial efflux target and antibiotic used as a substrate, play an important role in the affinity and activity spectrum of EPI (408). This is illustrated in the case of the two EPI families (peptidomimetics and quinoline derivatives) developed recently (440). Similar comparison studies have been performed between PABN and 1-(1-naphthylmethyl)piperazine (NMP), an original EPI (446). The activity of NMP was different from that of PAβN on a collection of clinical isolates of *E. coli*, in particular regarding the macrolide resistance reversal (447). Moreover, NMP displays a moderate activity in reversing MDR in Citrobacter freundii, E. aerogenes, Serratia marcescens and K. pneumoniae clinical isolates. Its effects on the reversal of resistance depend on bacterial species and drug and are different from those seen with PABN (448). Thus, the selectivity/efficacy of efflux pump and the activity of the respective EPIs on the degree of altered resistance are strongly interconnected. The question remains about the development of molecules that mimic the structure of a specific antibiotic molecule (via the use of appropriate pharmacophoric groups) to favor a directed improvement of the activity on a single antibiotic class. This may be a key question for the development and selection of future 'adjuvants or chemosensitizers' able to restore a significant antibiotic concentration inside the bacterium.

5. Remodeling of the cell envelope

The Gram-negative cell envelope and cytoplasm differ significantly, and separate responses have evolved to combat stress in each compartment. An array of envelope stress responses (ESRs) exists, each of which is focused on different parts of the envelope. In this section, I will provide a detailed overview of the two major ESR pathways, the alternative sigma factor σ^{E} and the two component system CpxA-CpxR, with respect to envelope permeability control and antibiotic resistance. Briefly, the σ^{E} response is conserved in many enterobacteria and is tuned to monitor pathways for the maturation and delivery of OM porins, lipoproteins, and lipopolysaccharide to the OM. It detects perturbations through interactions between either the exposed C-terminus of misfolded OMPs and DegS periplasmic protease, or between the anti-anti-sigma factor RseB and periplasmic LPS molecules, respectively. Both initiate a regulated intramembrane proteolysis cascade ultimately leading to the liberation of σ^{E} from a membrane-bound anti-sigma factor RseA and the upregulation of adaptive factors, including chaperones, proteases, membrane biogenesis proteins, and a set of small RNAs (sRNAs) that downregulate OMP production (339, 340, 426, 449-451). The Cpx ESR comprises the CpxA sensor kinase and response regulator CpxR. Envelope stresses causing protein misfolding, and adhesion, inactivate the periplasmic inhibitory protein CpxP, trigger CpxA-mediated phosphorylation of CpxR, and altered expression of periplasmic foldases and proteases, respiratory complexes, transporters, and cell wall

biogenesis enzymes that impact resistance to a number of antibiotics, particularly aminoglycosides (452, 453). In this section, I will also emphasize on the role of specific antibiotic resistance regulatory pathways such as Mar, Ram and Rob. All these regulatory networks are complex and often interconnected. Nonetheless, their understanding both at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels is important for interpreting resistant phenotypes.

5.1. Antibiotic stress responses

Long term and widespread usage of antibiotics has led to the development of ubiquitous antibiotic concentration gradients. Not just in humans but these gradients also exist in livestock and various environmental outlets like sewage water, sludge, rivers and lakes. As a consequence, bacteria are frequently exposed to lethal or sublethal concentration of drugs. However, the resultant effects of exposure to this antibiotic concentration gradient on the bacterial physiology are not well known. Overall, known effects include genetic (mutational) or phenotypic variability, which generate activation of bacterial resistance or tolerance in bacterial populations.

During a clinical treatment, the basic rationale of antibiotic dosing is to maintain a drug concentration higher than the MIC to clear the infection. Because of the wildly help assumption that most of the clinically relevant resistance emerges as a result of bacterial exposure to antibiotics dosage much higher than their MIC, the potential for sub-lethal antibiotic concentrations to select for resistant mutants has mostly been ignored. Studies have shown that low antibiotic concentrations exert their effects on multiple levels (i) as selectors of resistance, by enriching for pre-existing resistant bacteria and selecting for de novo resistance (ii) as generators of genetic and phenotypic variability, by increasing the rate of adaptive evolution, including resistance development (iii) as signaling molecules, by influencing various physiological activities, including virulence, biofilm formation and gene expression. Enrichment of pre-existing resistant mutants: In a classical work by Gulberg et al., E. coli and S. typhi were competed at a range of antibiotic concentration for determining the minimal selective concentration (MSC) of each antibiotic (454). Interestingly, several of the resistant mutants had MSC values 10-fold lower than the MIC. The strains carrying a transposon *Tn10* encoding tetracycline resistance or S83C mutation in *gyrA* associated with fluoroquinolone resistance had an MSC of 100-fold or 230-fold lower than MIC. This provided the evidence that the bacterial exposure to low antibiotic concentrations in vivo leads to the preferential expansion of resistant subpopulations.

De novo selection of resistance: In the same study, multiple independent lineages of wild-type *E. coli* and *S. typhi* were created under constant exposure of sub MIC levels of ciprofloxacin and streptomycin (454). Not surprisingly in all the evolved lineages the number of resistant sub populations progressively increased throughout the course of the experiment.

Generators of genetic and phenotypic variability: In the 1960s, it was found that sub-MIC concentrations of the aminoglycoside streptomycin causes misreading errors during translation, which result in phenotypic changes, such as reduced growth rate. It was further proposed that these errors in protein synthesis might be propagated to the genome, owing to the production of defective DNA polymerases by error-prone translation. Because of this fact, a growing body of evidence today suggests that several antibiotics at sub-inhibitory concentrations — and not just those that induce translational errors — can increase the rate of resistance. This involves an increase in the rates and frequency of various genetic processes, including horizontal gene transfer (HGT), recombination and mutagenesis (455-457).

Increased mutagenesis: Sub-MIC antibiotic concentrations have been shown to increase mutagenesis, which is also associated with the induction of the SOS response. SOS response refers to a set of co-regulated genes that are induced in response to DNA damage. The system is widespread in bacteria and promotes cell survival by repairing damaged genomes. The key proteins that are involved are RecA and LexA. Inactivation of either RecA or the presence of a non-cleavable LexA repressor -both results in inhibition of the of the SOS response activation which ends this mutagenic effect. A recent study elucidated the mechanism by which sub-inhibitory concentrations of the β -lactam antibiotic ampicillin increases mutagenesis in *E. coli* (457). Mutagenesis induced by sub-MIC levels of ampicillin was caused by the combined activities of both the normal replicative DNA polymerase (in the absence of adequate mismatch repair, owing to MutS depletion because of RpoS induction by antibiotics) and of the error-prone DNA polymerase IV, which is part of the RpoS regulon itself.

Phenotypic variability: The effects of sub-MIC antibiotic concentrations are not only limited to genetic alterations but also affect bacterial phenotypes. This is clearly evident from several studies that show that sublethal antibiotic levels increase the frequency of persisters. The slowly growing nature of bacterial persisters, as a consequence of reduced metabolic activity, is thought to be responsible for their ability to survive exposure to antibiotics (458). Two major differences distinguish persistence from resistance: first, antibiotic tolerance is not heritable as it is not caused by genetic mutation and, second, persistence is a transient state that is reversed following the removal of the antibiotic. Persistence is suggested to have important clinical implications as it is thought to reduce the rate of clearance of bacterial infections and to potentially promote the emergence of genetically resistant mutants.

Low antibiotic levels as intercellular signals: Antibiotics at low, non-inhibitory concentrations can function as signaling molecules between cells of the same species or between cells of different species. Such signaling has a range of functional consequences, including the induction of conjugative transfer, gene expression, quorum sensing, biofilm formation and bacterial virulence (460-462).

5.2. Global MDR regulators

Overall, MDR in *Enterobacteriaceae* is under the positive regulation of global transcriptional regulators and targets are negatively regulated by local repressors. External factors have been shown to trigger one or more of these regulatory pathways, thereby altering the cell envelope permeability and antibiotic susceptibility (**Figure 23**).

Major global regulators include MarA, RamA (absent in *E. coli*) and Rob belong to the Ara/XylS superfamily and coordinate the expression of porin and efflux genes. This family also includes the oxidative stress regulon SoxSR (463). MarA is an important regulator in *E. coli* implicated in adaptation to the environment and protection against external aggressions, by inducing the direct or indirect action of more than 60 genes (464). The Mar (multiple antibiotic resistance) operon is well conserved in Enterobacteriaceae with two divergent transcriptional units comprising marC and marRAB separated by the marO operator (465). The marC gene encodes a putative integral protein of the inner membrane with a function uninvolved in MDR. marR encodes a repressor that binds to marO upstream of an activator encodes by marA. Derepression of *marA* in response to several chemical and antibiotic stresses triggers a cascade of events that results in global control of membrane permeability by the downregulation of porin synthesis and overexpression of efflux pump components (466, 467). The expression (or de-repression) of *marRAB* is the consequence either of (i) mutations in the MarR binding sites, (ii) modification of MarR at the protein level preventing its repressor function, or (iii) the direct action of inductors of the system (468).

Another member of the AraC/XylS family, Rob regulates genes involved in resistance to antibiotics, organic solvents and heavy metals. Over-expression of Rob in *E. coli* produces both increased organic solvent tolerance and low-level resistance to multiple antimicrobial agents, due to the increased expression of the AcrAB efflux pump (469). Rob is constitutively expressed, thus MDR phenotype is observed when its expression is suppressed.

Oxidative stress regulon SoxSR is another positive MDR global transcriptional activator where SoxS is the effector of the regulon. Once SoxR is oxidized by agents like H_2O_2 , NO, paraquat, it triggers the the transcription of the gene *soxS* (470). SoxS is involved in activation of the MDR phenotype in *E. coli* and *S. typhi* and can induce the transcription of *micF* and *acrAB*. The Mar-boxes are also target sequences for the binding of SoxS and the phenotype induced by SoxS is similar to that induced by MarA. SoxS is also able to activate MarA expression and together they activate many of the same genes (471).

Another global regulator of OM permeability, H-NS (histone-like structuring nucleoid protein), was initially described as a transcription factor and plays a role in the structure and functioning of chromosomal DNA. H-NS controls about 5% of *E. coli* genes, most of which are involved in virulence or adaptability to stressful environmental conditions. This protein regulates the expression of porins and several efflux pumps in *E.*

coli and *E. aerogenes* in response to osmotic stress (472). There is evidence that this H-NS also controls expression of OmpX (473).

Negative regulation by repressors of porins and efflux pump also impacts MDR phenotype. OmpX is a small OMP, of which overexpression is associated with a decreased expression of Omp36 (the OmpC ortholog in *E. aerogenes*) and a decreased susceptibility to β -lactams. Studies have indicated that expression of OmpX itself is controlled by number of environmental factors, including salicylate via MarA and paraquat via SoxS (473). A very rapid MarA-dependent response pathway for upregulation of ompX has been shown to occur within 60–120 min upon cell exposure to salicylate. This work by Dupont *et al.* identified a dramatic decrease in OmpF levels, as a first line of defense together with the development of resistance to β -lactams and fluoroquinolones by altering OM permeability (473).

5.3. Envelope stress responses

Gram-negative bacteria possess multiple ESRs to counteract external stress on cell envelope, which includes both cell membranes and cell wall. As mentioned earlier, the major ESRs are in the form of two-component systems such as CpxRA, Rcs, PhoPQ, EnvZ-OmpR and BaeSR. Additionally the stress-responsive alternative sigma factor σ^{E} and the phage shock response also have a key role in *E. coli* and closely related *Enterobacteriaceae* (453). Each of these ESRs is activated following the perturbation of particular components of the envelope and/or by exposure to particular environmental stresses to remodel the cell envelope and maintain cellular homeostasis (474, 475). This is particularly true for the σ^{E} -dependent stress response in *E. coli*, as the *rpoE* gene, which encodes σ^{E} , is essential for viability. Here, I will essentially focus on ESRs that impact on MDR by regulating porin expression together with many other targets (regulons) — namely Cpx and σ^{E} (**Figure 24**). These ESRs are often interconnected, regulate and are regulated by sRNAs in order to control target genes both at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels.

Accumulation of misfolded OMPs in the periplasm, presumably reflecting problems in protein assembly or transport across the IM, can be detected by regulatory sensors that activate either the Cpx TCS or the alternative sigma factor σ^{E} . σ^{E} and Cpx are the two major pathways that control the envelop integrity with overlapping regulon members (476, 477), but respond to different inducing cues (449).



Figure 24: Schematic representation of the two main Gram-negative ESRs σ^{E} (a) and Cpx (b). They are induced by a variety of envelope stresses including antibiotics. In response, they alter the expression of adaptive functions that modify the cell envelope, rid the cell of the toxic compounds, and/or repair the damages caused (figure accquired from Guest & Raivio, 2016).

The σ^{E} pathway of *E. coli* was the first ESR to be identified. In the absence of inducing signals, σ^{E} is held at cytoplasmic side of the inner membrane by the anti-sigma factor RseA, a single-pass membrane protein (478, 479). A periplasmic protein, RseB, binds to the periplasmic domain of RseA and enhances the inhibition of σ^{E} (**Figure 24a**) (478479). Upon cell envelope stress, σ^{E} is released from RseA by a proteolytic cascade whose end result is the complete degradation of RseA and the

proteolytic cascade whose end result is the complete degradation of RseA and the release of σ^{E} to direct transcription (480). The so called regulated intramembrane proteolysis (RIP) proteases of the cascade- DegS and RseP (formerly known as YaeL) act sequentially cleaving RseA first in the periplasmic and then in the transmembrane region (481, 482). The cytoplasmic domain of RseA (RseAcyto) bound to σ^{E} is then released and degraded by cytoplasmic proteases, primarily ClpXP (483-485). The proteolytic cascade is induced by a conserved YxF peptide (where x is any amino acid) found at the C-terminus of OMPs (486). This peptide is normally buried and inaccessible

in folded porin trimers. When porin folding is disrupted, the peptide is exposed and binds to DegS, activating DegS to cleave RseA and initiate the response (486). Proper porin folding and transit to the outer membrane involves a series of steps, and disruption of this pathway at any point may lead to improperly folded porins with exposed C-termini. Therefore, it has been proposed that porins provide a sensitive measure of cell envelope homeostasis (487).

The regulatory pathway is not only designed to have a sensitive trigger specifically tuned to the inducing signal, but also includes a homeostatic mechanism providing a quick and efficient method to reset the switch and deactivate the response. Once σ^{E} is activated it transcribes the genes in its regulon (488). Although the σ^{E} regulon includes genes that affect many aspects of the cell, a significant fraction of its known regulon members encodes chaperones required for the delivery and assembly of porins in the outer membrane, chaperones required for the delivery and assembly of LPS in the outer membrane, proteases to degrade terminally misfolded porins, and at least two small RNAs, RybB and MicA, that target mRNAs encoding porins for degradation (333, 489-491) and one, MicL, that target mRNA of the major outer membrane lipoprotein Lpp (492). Therefore, the activation of the σ^{E} pathway increases the capacity of the cell to deliver proteins to the outer membrane, facilitates the removal of misfolded porins, and reduces new porin synthesis reducing the load on the system. Each of these systems helps to lower the level of unfolded porins, thereby reducing the inducing signal and returning DegS to the inactivated state.

The Cpx two-component system comprises the CpxA sensor kinase and response regulator CpxR (Figure 24b). Envelope stresses including alkaline pH, periplasmic protein misfolding, inner membrane abnormalities such as misfolded transporters or accumulation of the lipid II precursor, induce the dissociation of the accessory protein CpxP from CpxA, trigger CpxA-mediated phosphorylation of CpxR (CpxR~P), and alter the expression of protein foldases and proteases, respiratory complexes, inner membrane transporters and cell wall biogenesis enzymes, all of which materializes resistance to a number of antibiotics, particularly aminoglycosides and β -lactams (493, 452, 453). The Cpx-mediated regulation of porins occurs at several levels. At the transcriptional level, CpxR~P has been shown to bind directly the *ompF* and *ompC* promoters (494). More recently, it has been found that the small IM protein MzrA connects Cpx and EnvZ/OmpR (495). In this pathway and upon the activation of Cpx, MzrA interacts directly with EnvZ, which in turn, stabilizes OmpR~P (496). In sensing different signals, the interconnection between Cpx and EnvZ/OmpR allows cells to adapt to diverse environmental stresses. Finally, although Cpx contributes to antimicrobial resistance by regulating a number of genes, its precise role and that of other two component systems in the development of MDR in clinical isolates is still poorly documented (231, 344).

5.4. sRNA regulation

Bacterial sRNAs are ubiquitous multipurpose regulators present in all domains of life. They act modulating transcription, translation, mRNA stability, and DNA maintenance or silencing, and achieve these diverse outcomes through a variety of mechanisms, including changes in RNA conformation, protein binding, base pairing with other RNAs, and interactions with DNA. In bacteria, transcript size of sRNAs varies from 50 to 300 nucleotides. Base-pairing sRNAs can be either *cis*-acting or *trans*-acting, depending on their genomic location and with respect to their target mRNAs (497, 498) (). Many of these sRNAs function by imperfect base pairing with multiple mRNA targets and often require the help of the RNA chaperone Hfq (497). Base-pairing sRNAs act as major post-transcriptional regulators that can either enhance or repress mRNA decay and/or translation by binding to the 5' untranslated rtegion (UTR) of mRNA targets (497, 498). However, some sRNAs function by the interaction with regulatory proteins, often acting by sequestration. Initially, sRNAs were identified by the analysis of transcription from intergenic regions (499). Extensive RNA-seq analysis of transcriptome of various regulators, identification of RNAs by ligating Hfq-bound sRNAs and sequencing sRNA-RNA interactions (RIL-seq) or by UV-cross-linking sRNA-target RNA duplexes to RNase E (CLASH) or immunoprecipitations with Hfq and ProQ have vastly increased the repertoire of sRNAs and their targets (500-503). These studies have revealed that sRNAs can originate from various genomic regions, including antisense to coding regions (501-503), 3' UTRs (492-506), 5' UTRs (507) and even coding regions (501) (). Specific sRNAs control the expression of sigma factors like the stationary-phase sigma factor RpoS, the envelope stress-responsive sigma factor RpoE and the activity of house-keeping sigma factor RpoD (497, 498, 508). The sRNA-mediated control has also been described for several regulatory factors like FlhDC (motility/flagellar expression), Lrp (amino acid biosynthesis), CRP (catabolite repression) and SoxS (oxidative stress) (509-511). Thus, sRNAs are deployed by each of the major stress-responsive pathways, controlling the expression of crucial regulatory molecules that can rapidly alter gene expression profiles, allowing fast adjustment to different growth conditions. Transcription of most trans-acting sRNAs is controlled by transcriptional factors that include global regulators, two-component systems and specific stress-responsive sigma factors (511, 505). One of the well-studied cases are regulations of ESR by the sigma factor σ^{E} , the two-component system CpxAR and regulatory sRNAs that are members of their respective regulons (505, 506). As previously described in this manuscript, σ^{E} is specifically induced in response to OMP misfolding, defects in the LPS composition and an imbalance between phospholipids and LPS molecules (508). On one hand, RpoS, RpoN, RpoD, RpoE sigma factors and phosphor-relay regulatory systems, like Rcs and QseEF, positively regulate transcription of the *rpoE* gene in response to specific stress conditions (507). On the other hand, availability/activity of σ^{E} is also subjected to a negative regulation by the anti-sigma factor RseA and a feedback control by σ^{E} -regulated sRNAs (479, 508, 512). As several sRNAs, belonging to stress-responsive regulons, also act in a negative feedback mechanism, this suggests functional overlaps and co-integration of signals to achieve homeostasis. Consistent with integration of diverse signals, the expression of many stress-responsive regulators and sigma factors are regulated by sRNAs (505, 511). In this section, I will address how major stress-responsive regulatory systems engage sRNAs to regulate the envelope stress response and co-ordinate the gene expression upon other specific stresses, specifically upon antibiotic stress.

5.4.1. Mode of action of sRNA regulation

5.4.1.1. *Trans*-encoded sRNAs

Most of the identified bacterial sRNAs so far are encoded in different genomic loci than their target mRNAs and share only limited complementarity with their targets. Base pairing between the sRNA and its target mRNA can promote or inhibit translation, and can decrease or increase mRNA stability. Base pairing between the sRNA and its target mRNA usually leads to repression of protein levels through translational inhibition, mRNA degradation, or both (513, 514). Most of the trans-encoded sRNAs have been shown to bind the 5' UTR of mRNAs, thereby inhibiting translation by base pairing with the ribosome-binding site (RBS) and/or upstream of the AUG codon of the mRNA (515) (lower panel A). The sRNA-mRNA duplex is then frequently subject to degradation by RNase E, or RNase III, the two major bacterial endoribonucleases (516) (lower panel B). Activation of the translation of the target mRNAs can also be a common occurrence when base pairing of the sRNA disrupts an inhibitory secondary structure that sequesters the RBS (514, 517) (lower panel C). Few examples are *trans*-encoded sRNAs which increase the stability of mRNAs by inducing cleavage by endonucleases that generates an mRNA with a different 5' structure that either increases stability (518) or by protecting the 5' end of mRNAs from nucleases (519). For example, base pairing between the sRNA and its target mRNA might be able to block an RNase E recognition site, leading to increased stability of the target RNA. Theoretically, base pairing between a trans-encoded sRNA and its target could also promote transcription termination or anti-termination, as has been found for some *cis*-encoded sRNAs.

There is little correlation between the genomic location of *trans*-encoded sRNAs and their target mRNA genes. In fact, several *trans*-encoded sRNAs are known to base pair with multiple mRNAs. This results from the fact that they have limited complementarity with their target mRNAs, usually in discontinuous patches, rather than extended regions of perfect complementarity, as for *cis*-encoded sRNAs. The region of base pairing between *trans*-encoded sRNAs and target mRNAs is typically 10–25 nucleotides, but only some of the nucleotides seem to be critical for regulation. For

example, although the SgrS sRNA can form 23 base pairs with the *ptsG* mRNA, only changes in 4 of these nucleotides in SgrS affects downregulation of *ptsG* (520).

5.4.1.2. *Cis*-encoded sRNAs

A significant number of protein-encoding genes are transcribed from the reverse complementary strand in a wide range of bacterial species (521). In general, overlapping transcription results in the generation of *cis*-encoded anti-sense RNAs (asRNAs) whose size usually varies between tens to hundreds of nucleotides. By 2007, only about 30 bacterial asRNAs had been identified. Indeed, antisense transcription detected in initial tiling array experiments was suspected to be an experimental artifact generated during cDNA synthesis. This problem was overcome by the development of strand-specific cDNA synthesis protocols (522). The number of reported asRNAs has lately exploded due to the use of RNA-seq. However, characterization of the physiological function of individual asRNAs is growing at a much slower speed.

AsRNAs are known to affect the expression of the target gene by different mechanisms (upper panel) (523). (i) One is transcription interference, in which transcription from one promoter is suppressed by a second promoter located in the opposite strand. Transcription interference does not involve base-pairing and does not occur when the asRNA is provided in trans. This effect was first detected in two convergent bacteriophage promoters that produce transcripts which have an overlap of 62 bp at their 5' ends (524). It was observed that the stronger promoter significantly reduced the activity of the weaker promoter. When the promoters were oriented divergently, the transcription from both promoters was not affected despite the transcripts still maintained their regions of complementarity. Moreover, the introduction of a terminator before the convergent weak promoter resulted in reduced interference. These results led to the conclusion that the convergent orientation of the promoters was the source of the interference rather than base pairing. (ii) asRNAs also can alter induce mRNA transcription attenuation, in which base pairing of the asRNA to the target mRNA causes premature transcription termination. In some cases, base pairing of the asRNA to the mRNA has been shown to induce the formation of a terminator structure in the target mRNA. One example of this type of regulation is the asRNA RNAB, encoded opposite to the *fatDCBA-angRT* iron transport-biosynthesis operon in the fish pathogen Vibrio anguillarum (525). Premature transcription termination results in increased levels of the *fatDCBA* fraction of the mRNA compared to the down-stream *angRT*, providing a mechanism for miscoordinated expression within an operon. (iii) asRNAs can promote changes in the target RNA stability by the same mechanism as intergenic sRNAs, where the asRNA either promotes or blocks degradation or cleavage of the mRNA by ribonucleases. As example, RNase III is known to be responsible for the of the plasmid-encoded *copT-copA* and *hok-sok* asRNA pairs (526, 527). The AmgR RNA of Salmonella enterica induces degradation of the matC mRNA in a manner that requires RNase E but not RNase III (413). (iv) Just as transencoded sRNAs, asRNAs whose complementarity extends into the 5' UTR of their target RNA can impact on ribosome binding to the target mRNA (either positively or negatively) by affecting the target RNA structure. In addition, regulating the expression of the opposite gene is not the only function of certain asRNAs. As intergenic sRNAs, some asRNAs encode small proteins, and some have the potential to act on multiple targets in trans. The number of existing asRNAs is far from complete, and other mechanisms of action will probably be found. Some possibilities are that antisense transcription serves to stabilize certain regions of the chromosome or as a defense against plasmids containing complementary regions.



Figure 25: Gene arrangement and regulatory functions of base pairing regulatory RNAs. (A) Two possible configurations of *cis*-encoded antisense sRNAs (red) and their target RNAs (blue) which share extensive complementarity. (Left panel) An sRNA encoded opposite to the 5' UTR of its target mRNA. Base pairing inhibits ribosome binding and often leads to target mRNA degradation. (Right panels) An sRNA encoded opposite to the sequence separating two genes in an operon. Base pairing of the sRNA can target RNases to the region and cause mRNA cleavage, with various regulatory effects, or the sRNA can cause transcriptional termination, leading to reduced levels of downstream genes. (B) Genes encoding *trans*-encoded antisense sRNAs (red) are located separate from the genes encoding their target RNAs (blue) and only have limited complementarity. *Trans*-encoded sRNA can act positively by preventing the formation of an inhibitory structure, which sequesters the ribosome binding site (RBS) (right panel) (igure acquired from Waters & Storz, 2009).

5.4.1.3. Protein-binding sRNAs

The number of sRNAs that directly regulate the activity of proteins is much lower than the number of intergenic sRNAs and asRNAs. However, their regulatory roles are by no means less powerful. sRNAs can regulate RNA binding proteins by containing the protein recognition sequence (molecular mimicry), often in multiple copies. This is the case of *E. coli* CsrB RNA, which has 18 binding sites for the RNA binding protein CsrA, which regulates mRNA translation and stability. The P. aeruginosa CrcZ RNA is another example of this kind of regulation. CrcZ contains 5 CA-rich motifs which can bind up to 5 copies of the translation repressor protein Crc (527). Other sRNAs bind enzymes, and can inhibit, activate or modify protein activity. The most studied example is 6S RNA, which binds to the house-keeping form of RNA polymerase (σ^{70} -RNAP) by mimicking the secondary structure of DNA during transcription initiation (reviewed in 529). The changes on transcription after binding 6S RNA are very complex, which indicates that σ^{70} -RNAP activity is modified rather than simply inhibited (530). It is expected that the number of sRNAs that bind to proteins will increase, and that more modes of regulation will be discovered. For example, it is proposed that sRNA binding to proteins might also modulate proteins by allosteric regulation or by tethering proteins close to each other (Figure 26).



Figure 8. Mechanisms of action of sRNAs that modulate protein activity. Figure adapted from (81).

Figure 26: Mechanisms of action of sRNAs that modulate protein activity (Picture acquired from Storz et. al, 2011).

5.4.2. sRNAs regulating the ESR

5.4.2.1. MicF and MicC regulate the two major classical porins, OmpF and OmpC

As previously described, OmpF and OmpC are amongst the most abundant OMPs. Of the two, OmpC forms the smaller pore, and plays the predominant role under conditions where nutrients, as well as toxins are abundant, whereas the wider OmpF pore is thought to be important under conditions of limiting nutrients and of low toxin levels. The differential expression of these two classical porins underlies a complex regulation at the transcriptional level (307). The post-transcriptional repression of OmpF, by the MicF sRNA, has been matched for OmpC through the discovery of MicC (531) (**Figure 28**).

The 93-nucleotide MicF sRNA is located upstream the *ompC* promoter and was first shown to inhibit OmpF production through the decrease of the *ompF* mRNA (510). The discovery of the post-transcriptional repression of OmpF by MicF revealed a direct base-pairing between MicF and a fragment of the *ompF* mRNA encompassing both the RBS and the start codon (532, 533) (**Figure 27**). The expression of MicF itself is subjected to multiple signals and regulatory pathways (534). Positive regulation occurs via the EnvZ-OmpR two-component system under high osmolarity conditions (535), via SoxS in response to oxidative stress (510) and via MarA in response to antibiotic stress

(536). At high osmolarity, expression of MicF is induced upon the activation of the response regulator OmpR and high level of OmpR~P, which, at the same time negatively regulates the *ompF* transcription but stimulates that of *ompC*.

The 109-nucleotide MicC sRNA has been identified more recently in a computational screen as a sRNA encoded in the *ompN-vdbK* intergenic region, divergent to the *ompN* gene, which encodes a quiescent porin (529). This study first showed that MicC represses OmpC at the post-transcriptional level by direct base-pairing to a 5' UTR of the *ompC* mRNA, thus preventing the formation of a functional translation initiation complex (Figure 27). In addition, Northern blot analysis of MicC and MicF expression profiles from a variety of growth conditions showed the two RNAs to accumulate in almost a mutually exclusive fashion and that these two sRNAs could act in conjunction with the Env-OmpR two-component system to control the OmpF/C porin ration in response to a variety of stresses, including not only the osmolarity but also the growth temperature and medium starvation. Our work has further shown that *ompN* and *micC* are subjected to dual regulation upon exposure to certain antimicrobials such as β lactams in a σ^{E} -dependent manner (299). This is consistent with the fact that *ompN-micC* and *ompC-micF* share similar genetic organization and previous research have shown that *ompC* and *micF* are co-induced under specific conditions too (i.e. high osmolarity via EnvZ- OmpR). The *micC* gene is well-conserved among enterobacteria and its expression is highly regulated. The physiological of MicC is still unclear, although down-regulating OmpC at the post-transcriptional level during an antibiotic could be required for bacterial adaptation. Therefore, the identification of additional MicC targets as well as information of MicC expression in MDR clinical strains could help addressing this question.



Figure 27: Major OMP-regulatory sRNAs in enterobacteria. (a) Genomic location of *E. coli* sRNA genes (*micA, micC, micF, omrAB, rseX* and *rybB*), and of the pathogenicity island borne *invR* gene in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium (+ strand genes above line; – strand genes below line). (b) Inhibitory RNA duplexes formed by Mic sRNAs with the 5' UTRs of their respective target mRNAs. The interactions shown were biochemically mapped by in vitro structure-probing of MicA–*ompA* and MicF–*ompF* complexes (310, 537, 538), or are supported by the successful introduction of compensatory base-pair changes in the case of MicC–*ompC* mRNA (531). The AUG start codon and the ribosome binding site (RBS) of the *omp* mRNAs are highlighted (this diagram was taken from Vogel & Papenfort, 2006).

5.4.2.2. Regulation of the RpoE-dependent ESR by sRNAs

Enterobacteria such as *E. coli* and *Salmonella* are now known to encode at least twelve OMP-regulating sRNAs (InvR, SsdR, MicA, MicL, MicC, MicF, IpeX, OmrAB, RseX, RybB and CyaR) (**Figure 28**). These sRNAs exert their functions under a variety of growth and stress conditions, including the σ^{E} -mediated ESR. An sRNA–OMP network is emerging in which some sRNAs act specifically on a single *omp* mRNA (i.e. *E. coli* MicC and MicF), whereas others control multiple *omp* and non-*omp* mRNA targets (i.e. *E. coli* RybB). Importantly, these sRNAs serve to provide a rapid response and can either amplify the signal or act by a negative feedback.

5.4.2.2.1. RpoE-regulated MicA and RybB control of OMP synthesis

OmpA is highly conserved among enterobacteria. OmpA is abundant OMP as it occurs at approximately 100 000 copies/cell and has no pore but a structural function by anchoring the OM to the murein layer of the periplasmic space. The *ompA* mRNA is abundant and long-lived. However, it was early noted that *ompA* mRNA stability varied greatly depending on the growth rate: specifically, it becomes destabilized at the onset of stationary phase (541). Over the years, several models were invoked to explain this regulation, including a growth-dependent abundance of two factors, RNase E and Hfq, which were shown to affect *ompA* mRNA decay by degradation and competition with the 30S ribosomal subunit, respectively. However, none of these models was fully consistent, and was often in conflict with reports by others, as summarized in (537, 538, 542). The discovery of the sRNA MicA shed new light on this issue. MicA was first identified in a global E. coli sRNA screen, and observed to accumulate as a 70-nucleotide transcript when cells ceased growth (499). Two groups have now demonstrated that MicA accounts for much of the stationary phase specific instability of *ompA* mRNA (537, 538). In wild type cells, MicA levels inversely correlate with *ompA* mRNA levels during growth and the stationary phase specific decrease of *ompA* mRNA levels is abrogated upon micA deletion. Furthermore, overexpression of MicA results in reduction of OmpA protein levels. Overall, the underlying molecular mechanism of MicA is similar to that of MicC and MicF (537, 538). The MicA function does not contradict the previously observed roles of Hfq and RNase E in *ompA* mRNA decay. Indeed, as MicA strongly requires Hfq, both for its own intracellular stability and for annealing to ompA mRNA (537, 538). Furthermore, it is probable that by masking the *ompA* ribosome binding site, MicA accelerates the RNase E-dependent decay of this mRNA, similar to what has recently been demonstrated for other Hfq-dependent *E. coli* sRNAs (539, 540). Therefore, MicA provides a growth rate-specific factor for *ompA* mRNA decay.

In *E. coli*, RybB is a 80-nucleotide sRNA that is also synthesized in a σ^{E} -dependent fashion (333, 543, 489). Transient induction of RybB was first shown to decrease the levels of the mRNAs encoding OmpC and OmpW. Like most *trans*-encoded sRNAs, RybB binds to Hfq and act by base-pairing with targets mRNAs (333, 544, 545). Several groups working with *E. coli* and *Salmonella* reported that both RybB and MicA require σ^{E} for their transcription and down-regulate σ^{E} activity, thereby creating autoregulatory loop (333, 489-491). Interestingly, these studies questioned the primary simplistic model in which the specialized function of σ^{E} -dependent sRNAs is to stop de novo synthesis of abundant OMPs upon σ^{E} induction. In fact, RybB and MicA together target >30 mRNAs of *E. coli*: MicA represses the synthesis of major OMPs by targeting mRNAs of *ompA*, *ompX* and *lamB* and non-OMP targets like *phoP*, *lpxT* and *htrG* (512, 546, 547); RybB has even more *omp* mRNA targets and non-*omp* targets that include *waaR*, *htrG*, *fadL* and *rbsK/B*

(512, 491). Overall, the main function of MicA and RybB sRNAs seems to protect the cell from the loss of viability when σ^{E} activity is inadequate (512).



Figure 28: An emerging network of sRNAs that control OMP expression in enterobacteria. Regulatory sRNAs are shown in yellow circles within a schematic drawing of an *E. coli* cell. InvR and SsdR sRNAs are *Salmonella*-specific and are shown with a star symbol (*). The black lines indicate negative regulations of sRNAs on OMPs; the gray lines represent the impact of ESRs on sRNA expression (figure adapted from Papenfort & Vogel, 2006). See text for more details on the OMP targets, and the input signals of the network.

5.4.2.2.2. RpoE-regulated MicL (SIrA) and repression of Lpp synthesis

MicL was identified independently by two groups, during characterization of suppressors of $\Delta lapB$ mutants that overproduce LPS (508), and during examination of σ^{E} -regulated sRNAs (492). The *lapB* gene is essential and its absence leads to increased synthesis of LPS at the expense of phospholipids, aggregation of proteins involved in LPS biosynthesis and decoupling of LPS synthesis with LPS transport (508). Consequently, $\Delta lapB$ exhibits hyper-elevated levels of σ^{E} and Cpx regulons. The main function of MicL was shown to be the Hfq-dependent inhibition of *lpp* mRNA and repression of the RpoE

activity. In support of these results, overproduction of MicL mimics Δlpp phenotype (508). Since Lpp contains three acyl chains, reduction in Lpp synthesis by MicL can liberate pools of phospholipids that can overcome toxicity due to the excess of LPS and depletion of the common precursor for phospholipids. Interestingly, MicL is encoded within the *cutC* open reading frame and is transcribed from its own σ^{E} -regulated promoter (492, 508). This sRNA is synthesized as a precursor of 308 nucleotides and is processed to a mature 80-nucleotide sRNA located within the 3' UTR of *cutC*. Importantly, overexpression of MicL strongly represses elevated toxic levels of the σ^{E} regulon in $\Delta lapB$ and hence overcomes $\Delta lapB$ defects (508). This negative feedback control of the σ^{E} expression by increased synthesis of MicL is an additional robust mechanism of maintaining cellular homeostasis by the sRNA arm of σ^{E} . Indeed, recent global studies have revealed mRNAs of *rpoE*, *acpP*, *fabF*, *mazF* and *fixA* as additional base-pairing targets of MicL (501). Taken together, three σ^{E} -regulated sRNAs (RybB, MicA and MicL) provide a negative feedback arm.

5.4.2.2.3. Remodeling of LPS and integrated control by RpoE and PhoPQ

Under σ^{E} -inducing conditions, *E. coli* remodels its LPS synthesis that is controlled by σ^{E} -regulated sRNAs, particularly RybB. Upon the σ^{E} induction, the RybB sRNA represses the synthesis of WaaR glycosyltransferase, causing truncation in the outer core of LPS and concomitant incorporation of a third Kdo (WaaZ-dependent) and rhamnose in the inner core (547). Interestingly, under such conditions, the waaZ mRNA accumulation also increases, contributing to the synthesis of LPS with a third Kdo (547). This mode of LPS remodeling could be adaptive in function, as the non-essential waaZ gene becomes essential for the bacterial growth when the LPS is tetraacylated and for interaction with the host, since such an LPS cannot ligate O-antigen due to loss of the attachment site (547). This drastic shift causing the accumulation of a rare form of LPS is accompanied by a nonstoichiometric modification of the second Kdo by phosphoethanolamine (P-EtN). The transfer of P-EtN to the second Kdo is important for resistance to cationic antibiotics like polymyxin B and is mediated by the product of the RpoE-regulated *eptB* gene (548). The *eptB* mRNA synthesis is usually repressed by the PhoPQ-regulated MgrR and by the ArcZ sRNAs (548). However, this silencing by MgrR and ArcZ is overcome when σ^{E} is induced. MicA contributes to remodeling of LPS by inhibiting PhoP and LpxT at the post-transcriptional level by direct base pairing with these target mRNAs (512, 546). The PhoPQ two-component system regulates some LPS alterations and is required for transcription *mgrR*. The MicA-directed repression of LpxT is interesting, since LpxT mediates the phosphorylation of lipid A that causes an increase in the negative charge of LPS. The GcvB sRNA also negatively regulates the phoPQ expression that is independent of MicA (549). Interestingly, SoxS, a global regulator of the oxidative stress response, is a positive regulator of transcription of the waaY gene, whose product phosphorylates heptose II and is itself subjected to a negative regulation by the MgrR sRNA (510). Another sRNA that regulates LPS modification is MicF, since base pairing of MicF within the coding sequence of the *lpxR* mRNA decreases its stability by rendering it susceptible to degradation by RNase E (550). LpxR is a lipid A deacylase and this modification occurs after LPS translocation. Hence, the regulation of LpxR by MicF contributes to the LPS modification event that occurs in the OM, expanding the role of sRNAs at various steps of the LPS biosynthesis (505). Such controls exerted by sRNAs on regulators of the stress response that at the same time regulate LPS structural alterations demonstrate rewiring of networks to cope with envelope stress.

5.4.3. Bacterial adaptation to antibiotics through sRNAs

As described in the sections above, an increasing number of sRNAs has recently been discovered and shown to possess regulatory functions. sRNAs are synthetized under specific environmental conditions (*e.g.* those causing envelope stresses) and play a major role in the regulation of various physiological processes (*e.g.* the maintenance of envelope homeostasis). Most of them act via an imperfect anti-sense base-pairing with their target mRNAs, and duplex formation usually results in the inhibition of mRNA translation. Compared to protein-based regulatory mechanisms, sRNAs requires less energy, act faster, and allow a coordinated response on multiple targets. Owing these characteristics, sRNAs allow efficient bacterial adaptation to changing environments. Therefore, one can argue a possible link between sRNA expression and adaptation to antibiotic exposure. In particular, exposure to sub-inhibitory antibiotic concentrations is not lethal but induces protective stress response(s) to reduce antibiotic activity and impact antimicrobial susceptibility.

Accumulating evidence illustrates that *trans*-encoded sRNAs are key players in regulatory circuits controlling antibiotic resistance (reviewed in 551, 552, 553) in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Typically, antibiotic resistance circuits govern various processes, including functions required for antibiotic uptake (554, 555, 556, 557), modifications of the cell envelope (558, 559), drug efflux pumps expelling antibiotics (560, 561), metabolic enzymes conferring resistance (562), production of biofilms protecting from antibiotics (563) and DNA mutagenesis mechanisms facilitating evolution of novel resistances (564). In this section, I will essentially focus on sRNA controlling the Gram-negative envelope permeability.

5.4.3.1. sRNAs modulating drug uptake

As discussed earlier in this manuscript, antibiotics must first cross the OM of Gram-negative bacteria to reach their intracellular targets through a lipid-mediated pathway (for hydrophobic antibiotics) or via water-filled porins (for hydrophilic antibiotics). To become resistant, bacteria can alter permeation of antibiotics through the OM by modifying these uptake pathways. Interestingly, the expression of some of these macromolecules can be regulated by sRNAs and therefore impacts resistance. In *E. coli*, GcvB sRNA regulates the *sstT*, *oppA*, and *dppA* genes involved in amino acid,

dipeptide, and oligopeptide transport (565). GcvB also negatively regulates *cycA* mRNA, which encodes a permease for glycine, D-alanine, D-serine, and D-cycloserine transport into the bacteria (554). As a consequence, a $\Delta gcvB$ mutant is more susceptible to D-cycloserine than the parental strain, due to increased CycA levels and increased transport of the antibiotic (554). GcvB also negatively regulates the PhoPQ two-component system by translational repression of PhoP and could be involved, through *eptB*, in LPS modifications and resistance to CAMPs (see below).

In *E. coli*, MicF sRNA regulates *ompF* expression by pairing with *ompF* mRNA, inducing translation inhibition and mRNA degradation and in turn reducing permeability with respect to several antibiotics (308). Overexpression of MicF in *E. coli* increases cephalosporin, norfloxacin, and minocycline MICs, whereas depletion of this sRNA reverses those phenotypes, except for minocycline (556).

5.4.3.2. sRNAs modulating drug efflux

DsrA sRNA is a key regulator of essential pathways in *E. coli*, including general stress response (σ^{s}), genome compaction (H-NS), cell wall biosynthesis (MreB), and ribose metabolism (RbsD) (566). DsrA is also involved in antimicrobial resistance by regulating the expression of the MdtEF efflux pump (560). Indeed, when overexpressed in an efflux-defective $\Delta acrB$ mutant, the presence of DsrA results in significantly increased oxacillin MICs (×8), erythromycin MICs (×4), and novobiocin MICs (×4) via an RpoS-dependent pathway.

In *E. coli*, overexpression of RyeB increases susceptibility to quinolones (556). Overexpressing RyeB results in a decrease in the expression level of *tolC* mRNA, whereas *tolC* mRNA expression is upregulated in a $\Delta ryeB$ mutant. Named SdsR in *Salmonella* spp., RyeB is an abundant stationary-phase Hfq-dependent sRNA whose transcription depends on σ^{s} (511). SdsR represses *tolC* mRNA levels by pairing with its 5' UTR, 33 nucleotides upstream of the target mRNA RBS (561). SdsR overexpression also increases susceptibility to other antibiotics such as novobiocin and, to a lesser extent, erythromycin and rifampin. SdsR represses biofilm formation independently of pairing with *tolC* mRNA, suggesting additional targets. SdsR is a conserved sRNA from enterobacteria, and its activity in *tolC* mRNA repression was also found in *Salmonella* (567).

5.4.3.3. sRNAs modulating LPS and cell wall synthesis

In Gram-negative bacteria, LPS and cell wall are the respective targets of CAMPs including polymyxins and β -lactams. A common mechanism of resistance to CAMPs is LPS modifications (568). MgrR, a Hfq-dependent sRNA expressed in *E. coli* and other *Enterobacteriaceae*, is part of the PhoPQ regulon, that has a PhoP- PhoQ two-component system activated under conditions of low Mg²⁺ levels or by CAMPs. MgrR actually

downregulates *eptB* mRNA, which encodes a phosphoethanolamine transferase involved in LPS modifications (558). As mentioned earlier, EptB modifies the core oligosaccharide of the LPS, which reduces the net anion charges and electrostatic repulsion between LPS molecules, leading to polymyxin resistance. An *mgrR*-deleted mutant is 10 times more resistant to polymyxin B than the parental strain, whereas complementation of the *mgrR* mutation restores polymyxin susceptibility. It is noteworthy that the reduction of *eptB* mRNA levels by MgrR was also previously demonstrated in *Salmonella* (559). Additionally, in *E. coli*, the expression of *phoPQ* is directly repressed by the MicA sRNA (546). This may influence CAMP resistance since it downregulates MgrR, via its action on PhoP, which itself represses *eptB* mRNA expression.

Although less documented than LPS modifications, structural modifications of the Gram-negative cell wall contribute to antibiotic resistance. Peptidoglycan synthesis involves an array of enzymes across all cellular compartments (cytoplasm, inner membrane, and periplasm), and the expression of some of these enzymes can be regulated by sRNAs. GlmS catalyzes synthesis of glucosamine-6-phosphate (GlcN6P) from fructose-6-phosphate and glutamine, a key metabolite in cell wall biosynthesis. GlcN6P is further converted by GlmM and GlmU enzymes to UDP-N-acetylglucosamine (UDP-GlcNAc), a common precursor for peptidoglycan and LPS synthesis. Bacilysin [L-lysyl-L-norvalyl-N(3)-(4-methoxyfumaroyl)-L-2,3-(tetaine) and Nva-FMDP diaminopropanoic acid] are dipeptide antibiotics that impair cell envelope synthesis by GlmS inhibition through covalent modification (569). In E. coli and, presumably, in most Enterobacteriaceae species, glmS expression is controlled by GlmY and GlmZ sRNAs (570). GlmZ pairs with and activates *glmS* mRNA translation. Although GlmY is similar to GlmZ with respect to sequence and predicted structure, GlmY lacks a region complementary to *glmS* mRNA and does not directly activate *glmS* translation. Instead, GlmY expression inhibits a GlmZ processing event, disallowing *glmS* translation activation. Thus, GlmY functions by titration of an RNA processing factor away from homologous GlmZ sRNA. The GlmY/GlmZ pair provides resistance to bacilysin. Both E. coli and Salmonella respond to these antibiotics by increasing glmS expression to compensate for GlmS activity inhibition (562). GlmS inhibition by antibiotics leads to GlcN6P deprivation, sensed by GlmY sRNA, triggering its accumulation. Cells adjust GlmS expression levels to overcome growth inhibition by the GlmS inhibitor.

5.4.4. RNA-Seq based transcriptomics

The transcriptome is the complete set of transcripts in a cell, and their quantity, for a specific developmental stage or physiological condition. Understanding the transcriptome is essential for interpreting the functional elements of the genome and revealing the molecular constituents of cells and tissues, and also for understanding development and disease. The key aims of transcriptomics are: to catalogue all species of transcript, including mRNAs, non-coding RNAs and small RNAs; to determine the transcriptional structure of genes, in terms of their start sites, 5' and 3' ends, splicing

patterns and other post-transcriptional modifications; and to quantify the changing expression levels of each transcript during development and under different conditions.

RNA-Seq uses recently developed deep-sequencing technologies. In general, a population of RNA (total or fractionated, such as poly (A)+) is converted to a library of cDNA fragments with adaptors attached to one or both ends (see fig 20). Each molecule, with or without amplification, is then sequenced in a high-throughput manner to obtain short sequences from one end (single-end sequencing) or both ends (pair-end sequencing). The reads are typically 30–400 bp, depending on the DNA-sequencing technology used. In principle, any high-throughput sequencing technology (571) can be used for RNA-Seq, and the Illumina IG (572), Applied Biosystems SOLiD (573) and Roche 454 Life Science (574) systems have already been applied for this purpose. The Helicos Biosciences tSMS system has not yet been used for published RNA-Seq studies, but is also appropriate and has the added advantage of avoiding amplification of target cDNA. Following sequencing, the resulting reads are either aligned to a reference genome or reference transcripts, or assembled de novo without the genomic sequence to produce a genome-scale transcription map that consists of both the transcriptional structure and/or level of expression for each gene.

Although RNA-Seq is still a technology under active development, it offers several key advantages over existing technologies. First, unlike hybridization-based approaches, RNA-Seq is not limited to detecting transcripts that correspond to existing genomic sequence. For example, 454-based RNA-Seq has been used to sequence the transcriptome of the Glanville fritillary butterfly. This makes RNA-Seq particularly attractive for non-model organisms with genomic sequences that are yet to be determined. RNA-Seq can reveal the precise location of transcription boundaries, to a single-base resolution. Furthermore, 30-bp short reads from RNA-Seq give information about how two exons are connected, whereas longer reads or pair-end short reads should reveal connectivity between multiple exons. These factors make RNA-Seq useful for studying complex transcriptomes. In addition, RNA-Seq can also reveal sequence variations (for example, SNPs) in the transcribed regions. A second advantage of RNA-Seq relative to DNA microarrays is that RNA-Seq has very low, if any, background signal because DNA sequences can been unambiguously mapped to unique regions of the genome. RNA-Seq does not have an upper limit for quantification, which correlates with the number of sequences obtained. Consequently, it has a large dynamic range of expression levels over which transcripts can be detected: a greater than 9,000-fold range was estimated in a study that analyzed 16 million mapped reads in Saccharomyces cerevisiae18, and a range spanning five orders of magnitude was estimated for 40 million mouse sequence reads (575). By contrast, DNA microarrays lack sensitivity for genes expressed either at low or very high levels and therefore have a much smaller dynamic range (one-hundredfold to a few-hundredfold). RNA-Seq has also been shown to be highly accurate for quantifying expression levels, as determined using quantitative PCR (qPCR) and spike-in RNA controls of known concentration (575). The results of RNA-Seq also show high levels of reproducibility, for both technical and biological replicates (572). Finally, because there are no cloning steps, and with the Helicos technology there is no amplification step, RNA-Seq requires less RNA sample.

Taking all of these advantages into account, RNA-Seq is the first sequencingbased method that allows the entire transcriptome to be surveyed in a very highthroughput and quantitative manner. This method offers both single-base resolution for annotation and 'digital' gene expression levels at the genome scale, often at a much lower cost than either tiling arrays or large-scale Sanger EST sequencing



Figure 29: A typical RNA-Seq experiment- Briefly, long RNAs are first converted into a library of cDNA fragments through either RNA fragmentation or DNA fragmentation (see main text). Sequencing adaptors (blue) are subsequently added to each cDNA fragment and a short sequence is obtained from each cDNA using high-throughput sequencing technology. The resulting sequence reads are aligned with the reference genome or transcriptome, and classified as three types: exonic reads, junction reads and poly (A) end-reads. These three types are used to generate a base-resolution expression profile for each gene, as illustrated at the bottom; a yeast ORF with one intron is shown (figure acquired from Wang *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 30: An overview of gene expression quantification with RNA-seq. (a) Illustration of transcripts of different lengths with different read coverage levels (left) as well as total read counts observed for each transcript (middle) and FPKM-normalized read counts (right). (b) Reads from alternatively spliced genes may be attributable to a single isoform or more than one isoform. Reads are color-coded when their isoform of origin is clear. Black reads indicate reads with uncertain origin. 'Isoform expression methods' estimate isoform abundances that best explain the observed read counts under a generative model. Samples near the original maximum likelihood estimate (dashed line) improve the robustness of the estimate and provide a confidence interval around each isoform's abundance. (c) For a gene with two expressed isoforms, exons are colored according to the isoform of origin. Two simplified gene models used for quantification

purposes, spliced transcripts from each model and their associated lengths, are shown to the right. The 'exon union model' (top) uses exons from all isoforms. The 'exon intersection model' (bottom) uses only exons common to all gene isoforms. (d) Comparison of true versus estimated FPKM values in simulated RNA-seq data. The x = y line in red is included as a reference (picture taken from Garber *et. al.*, 2011).

Chapter 2 : Results

Aim of our study

Increase in the incidences associated with MDR Gram negative bacteria is alarming. An effective strategy to curb this resistance is by counteracting the bacterial drug impermeability. Gram negative bacteria such as *Escherichia coli* and *Enterobacter spp*. resort to altering their membrane permeability in order to limit the intracellular drug access. In this regard, a specific class of OM proteins (Omps) called porins is among the common targets. As porins function in the formation of water filled channels for movement of small molecules inside the cell, modulating their expression leads to reduced access of the antibiotics. In order to design a better class of drugs with enhanced translocation property across the cell membrane we need to know the molecular regulation of porins. The two classical porins OmpF and OmpC in *E. coli* have been shown to be post transcriptionally regulated by small RNAs *micF* and *micC*, respectively. The various external conditions (stress) responsible for the induction of these small RNAs especially *micC* are essentially unknown.

The objective of our study was to understand the role of MicC on porin including OmpC expression in *E. coli* and how this sRNA is influenced by other factors (external or genetic). One of the other major focuses was to explore the hypothetical regulatory relationship between *micC* and the adjacent *ompN* porin gene. We were further interested in finding out how this regulation impacts the overall antibiotic resistance phenotype of the bacteria.

In this study, we sought to determine the target suite of MicC in *E. coli*. Transcriptomics study was performed to identify previously unknown targets of MicC, which gave us an idea about the far fetching role of this sRNA in cellular physiology, beyond controlling the expression of OmpC. Our work has exhibited the involvement of external stress perpetuated by clinically important class of β - lactam antibiotics and sRNA regulated stress response pathways; those control the composition of porins in outer envelope via *micC* and *ompN*. This work is a stepping stone for understanding the interconnected regulatory mechanisms at play in bacteria when they are exposed to antimicrobials in their environments whether be in nosocomial or *in vivo* settings.

Scientific Article: Dual regulation of the small RNA MicC and the quiescent porin OmpN in response to antibiotic stress in *Escherichia coli*







Dual Regulation of the Small RNA MicC and the Quiescent Porin OmpN in Response to Antibiotic Stress in *Escherichia coli*

Sushovan Dam, Jean-Marie Pagès and Muriel Masi * ᅝ

UMR_MD1, Aix-Marseille Univ & Institut de Recherche Biomédicale des Armées, 27 Boulevard Jean Moulin, 13005 Marseille, France; sushovan.dam@etu.univ-amu.fr (S.D.); jean-marie.pages@univ-amu.fr (J.-M.P.) * Correspondence: muriel masi@univ_amu.fr: Tel : +33-4-91-324-529

* Correspondence: muriel.masi@univ-amu.fr; Tel.: +33-4-91-324-529

Academic Editor: Leonard Amaral Received: 27 October 2017; Accepted: 3 December 2017; Published: 6 December 2017

Abstract: Antibiotic resistant Gram-negative bacteria are a serious threat for public health. The permeation of antibiotics through their outer membrane is largely dependent on porin, changes in which cause reduced drug uptake and efficacy. *Escherichia coli* produces two major porins, OmpF and OmpC. MicF and MicC are small non-coding RNAs (sRNAs) that modulate the expression of OmpF and OmpC, respectively. In this work, we investigated factors that lead to increased production of MicC. *micC* promoter region was fused to *lacZ*, and the reporter plasmid was transformed into *E. coli* MC4100 and derivative mutants. The response of *micC-lacZ* to antimicrobials was measured during growth over a 6 h time period. The data showed that the expression of *micC* was increased in the presence of β -lactam antibiotics and in an *rpoE* depleted mutant. Interestingly, the same conditions enhanced the activity of an *ompN-lacZ* fusion, suggesting a dual transcriptional regulation of *micC* and the quiescent adjacent *ompN*. Increased levels of OmpN in the presence of sub-inhibitory concentrations of chemicals could not be confirmed by Western blot analysis, except when analyzed in the absence of the sigma factor σ^{E} . We suggest that the MicC sRNA acts together with the σ^{E} envelope stress response pathway to control the OmpC/N levels in response to β -lactam antibiotics.

Keywords: *Escherichia coli;* outer membrane porins; regulatory small RNAs; membrane transport; antibiotic susceptibility

1. Introduction

Antibacterial resistance is broadly recognized as a growing threat for human health [1–3]. As such, increasing antibiotic treatment failures due to multidrug resistant (MDR) bacteria have stirred the urgent need to better understand the underlying molecular mechanisms and promote innovation, with the development of new antibiotics and alternative therapies [4,5]. The efficacy of antibacterial compounds depends on their capacity to reach inhibitory concentrations at the vicinity of their target. This is particularly challenging for drugs directed against Gram-negative bacteria, which exhibit a complex envelope comprising two membranes and transmembrane efflux pumps [6]. The Gram-negative envelope comprises an inner membrane (IM), which is a symmetric phospholipid bilayer; a thin peptidoglycan (PG) layer ensuring the cell shape; and an outer membrane (OM) that is an asymmetric bilayer, composed of an inner phospholipid leaflet and an outer leaflet of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [7]. First, the OM is a barrier to both hydrophobic and hydrophilic compounds, including necessary nutrients, metabolic substrates and antibiotics, but access is provided by the water filled β -barrel channels called porins [8,9]. In *Escherichia coli*, the channels of the general porins OmpF and OmpC, are size restricted, and show a preference for passage of hydrophilic charged compounds, including antibiotics such as β -lactams and fluoroquinolones. Second, constitutive

2 of 16

tripartite RND (resistance–nodulation–cell division) efflux pumps, such as the AcrAB–TolC pump of *E. coli*, play a major role in removing antibiotics from the periplasm [10]. Importantly, it has been noted that the efflux pumps are synergized by the OM, since, once ejected into the extracellular space, compounds must re-traverse the restricted-permeability OM barrier [10]. Not surprisingly, MDR clinical isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* generally exhibit porin loss and/or increased efflux, which both contribute to reduce the intracellular accumulation of antibiotics below the threshold that would be efficient for activity [9–11].

Given the importance of the OM in controlling the uptake of beneficial as well as toxic compounds, one can expect that the expression of porins depends on environmental factors, and is well-coordinated at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels. Best studied transcriptional regulators are the IM sensor kinase EnvZ and its cognate response regulator OmpR [12]. EnvZ autophosphorylates in response to a specific envelope stress, such as high osmolarity, then transfers its phosphate group to OmpR. OmpR and OmpR-P have different binding affinities to the porin promoters. At low osmolarity, OmpR activates *ompF* transcription. This differential regulation of OmpF and OmpC is consistent with that in high osmolarity environments, such as in a host where nutrients are abundant, the small pore porin OmpC is predominant, thus limiting the uptake of toxic bile salts; whereas in low osmolarity environments where nutrients are scarce, the large pore porin OmpF is expressed [8]. EnvZ–OmpR [12] and CpxA–CpxR [13] are the main two-component systems involved in the transcriptional control of OmpF and OmpC. Interestingly, the two systems are interconnected [14], and mutations have been found in response to antibiotic stresses [15] (Masi M, Pagès J.-M and Kohler T, personal observations).

The post-transcriptional repression of OmpF by the small regulatory RNA (sRNA) MicF has been discovered in 1984 [16–18]. This 93 nucleotide (nt) RNA is divergent to the *ompC* gene, and acts by direct base-pairing to a region that encompasses the ribosome binding site (RBS) and the start codon of the *ompF* mRNA, thus preventing translation initiation [19]. The expression of the MicF sRNA is subjected to multiple signals and regulatory pathways [20]. Positive regulation includes EnvZ–OmpR in high osmolarity conditions [21], SoxS in response to oxidative stress [22], and MarA in response to antibiotic stress [23]. The 109 nt MicC sRNA has been discovered more recently, and shown to repress OmpC by direct base-pairing to a 5' untranslated region of the ompC mRNA [24]. Interestingly, MicC is transcribed clockwise, and is opposite to the adjacent *ompN* gene that encodes a quiescent porin homologous to OmpF and OmpC [25]. Due to the similar genetic organization of ompN-micC and *ompC–micF*, and the co-induction of *ompC* and *micF* under specific conditions (i.e., high osmolarity via EnvZ–OmpR), it has been suggested that *ompN* and *micC* could also be subjected to dual regulation [24]. With the recent interest in post-transcriptional regulators, additional sRNAs that modulate expression of abundant OM proteins have been found. As yet, the ompC mRNA is targeted by multiple sRNAs MicC [24], RybB [26], RseX [27], and IpeX [28–30]. To date, external growth conditions and regulatory factors that control the expression of MicC and/or OmpN remain largely unknown.

In this work, we first examined the transcription of *micC* and *ompN* in *E. coli* MC4100 cells grown under a series of external conditions by using *lacZ* transcriptional fusions and β -galactosidase assays. We optimized the assay by using 96-well microtiter plates, and screened the entire collection of compounds provided by the Biolog Phenotype MicroArraysTM for bacterial chemical susceptibility, in order to extend the range of putative inducing cues. Results showed that high concentrations of carbapenems and cephalosporins, two clinically relevant classes of β -lactams, induce both *micC* and *ompN*. Then, the impact of carefully chosen inducing conditions on the expression levels of OmpC and OmpN was tested by Western blotting with appropriate antisera. Because the OmpN protein was undetectable in the presence of mild antibiotic stress conditions, we reasoned to investigate the transcription of *micC* and *ompN* in a series of MC4100 derivatives carrying null mutations or multicopy plasmids in order to identify putative transcriptional regulators. Interestingly, we found that OmpN was specifically expressed when the envelope stress sigma factor σ^{E} was depleted by the overexpression of the anti-sigma RseA, or when the *hns* gene encoding the histone nucleoid structuring

protein, H-NS, was inactivated. Finally, we examined the functional relevance of OmpN as compared to OmpC and OmpF, with respect to drug translocation.

All these data are discussed considering the current knowledge on the Gram-negative envelope stress response pathways.

2. Results

2.1. Screening of MicC and OmpN Inducing Conditions Using LacZ Transcriptional Fusions and BiologTM Plates

Changes in porin expression play a major role in the development of antibacterial resistance. Because increased levels of MicC are associated with a decreased expression of OmpC, we aimed to examine the expression profile of the MicC sRNA by using a *micC-lacZ* transcriptional fusion in MC4100 cells grown under a series of growth conditions and β -galactosidase assays. First, we selected a number of representative growth conditions, some of which are sensed by known regulatory factors: growth phase (stationary phase accumulates RpoS), exposure to heat shock, high osmolarity (activates EnvZ–OmpR), iron or nitrogen starvation, or exposure to chemicals, such as salicylate (activates MarA), paraquat (activates SoxR/S), or different classes of antibiotics (β -lactams and fluoroquinolones). To determine whether MicC and OmpN are co-regulated, the β -galactosidase activity of an *ompN*-lacZ transcriptional fusion was also tested in MC4100 grown under the same conditions. These preliminary assays showed that growth conditions that are known to induce specific regulatory factors, such as RpoS, EnvZ–OmpR, MarA and SoxR/S, do not significantly affect the activity of the micC– and ompN-lacZ fusions, suggesting that the expression of MicC and OmpN is not controlled by these regulators. Instead, these assays allowed the identification of β -lactams potent inducers of both the *micC*- and *ompN*-*lacZ* fusions. As an example, Figure 1a shows that increasing concentrations of the carbapenem biapenem were accompanied with increased β-galactosidase activities. In order to extend the range of putative inducing compounds, we optimized the β -galactosidase assay using preloaded 96-well microtiter plates, and then screened Phenotype MicroArraysTM plates (Biolog PM11 to PM19) for bacterial chemical susceptibility (Supplementary Data 1). A total of 18 compounds were found to increase the activity of the *micC*- and *ompN*-*lacZ* fusions more than 10 times, and 6 of them were selected for further investigations. Concentrations of compounds for β -galactosidase assays adapted to microtiter plates were determined with respect to their MICs (Supplementary Data 2). The data showed that the activity of the *micC*- and *ompN*-lacZ fusions were strongly increased when cells were exposed to carbapenems (i.e., biapenem and ertapenem) or cephalosporins (i.e., ceftazidime and cefepime) (Figure 1b). Interestingly, these compounds belong to the most potent subclasses of clinically used β-lactams used for treating Gram-negative infections. Other strong inducers include antiseptics (e.g., benzalkonium chloride and benzethonium chloride) and anesthetics (e.g., chlorpromazine HCl), which are also used in the clinics (Figure 1b).

2.2. Effects of MicC and OmpN Inducing Conditions on the Expression Levels of OmpC and OmpN

The effect of MicC overexpression on *ompC* expression was first examined by monitoring OmpC protein levels directly. MC4100 was transformed with the MicC overexpression plasmid (pSD01) and the corresponding empty vector (pDrive). Cultures were induced with IPTG to allow MicC expression, OM extracts were prepared, and levels of OmpC were analyzed by Western blot (WB) with specific anti-peptide antibodies. As shown in Figure 2a, the overexpression of MicC clearly resulted in reduced OmpC levels, confirming that the MicC sRNA represses *ompC* expression. As noted in the section above, high *micC-lacZ* activities were obtained in the presence of high concentrations of compounds, which were detrimental for the cell growth. Therefore, MC4100 was cultured in the presence of sub-inhibitory concentrations of inducing compounds—namely biapenem, imipenem, ertapenem, ceftazidime, cefepime, and chlorpromazine HCl—in order to obtain exponentially grown cells and

examine their effect on OmpC protein levels. As shown in Figure 2a, these conditions only weakly altered OmpC levels.



Figure 1. (a) Dose dependent *micC-lacZ* activity in presence of increasing concentrations of biapenem (MIC of 0.32 μ g/mL); (b) β -galactosidase activity of the *micC-* and *ompN-lacZ* fusions in the presence of selected compounds. Values are means from three independent determinations, and standard deviation is represented.

Given the co-induction of *micC* and *ompN*, we also tested whether OmpN expression was increased in the same samples. As a control, MC4100 was transformed with the OmpN overexpression plasmid (pSD04) and the corresponding empty vector (pTrc99A). Cultures were induced with IPTG to allow OmpN expression; OM extracts were prepared and tested for OmpN expression by WB. For this, we generated antibodies against a peptide in loop 7 present in OmpN, but absent in OmpF and OmpC. A single protein of about 39 kDa was detected in the OM extracts of MC4100 (pSD04), but not in that of MC4100 (pTrc99A), suggesting that the detected band is OmpN without cross-reactivity to other porins, and that OmpN production from the chromosome is undetectable (Figure 2b). However, OmpN production was also undetectable in OM extracts prepared from cells grown in the presence of sub-inhibitory concentrations of *micC* inducing compounds (Figure 2b).

These results suggest that transient exposure of the cells to sub-inhibitory concentrations of *micC–lacZ* inducing compounds was not sufficient to yield high levels of MicC and concomitant changes in the porin expression profile. Moreover, it is worth to note that Western blot analysis only provides steady-state levels of OmpC and OmpN. Additional reverse transcription PCR and pulse-chase experiments are needed to conclude the effects of *micC* and *ompN* inducing conditions on the expression of OmpC and OmpN at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels, respectively.



Figure 2. Western blot (WB) analysis of outer membrane (OM) proteins. Cells were grown, and OM extracts were prepared as described in the Materials and Methods. OM proteins equivalent to 0.2 OD₆₀₀ units of cultures were separated by SDS-PAGE, electrotransferred on nitrocellulose membranes, and blotted with the appropriate anti-sera. Data show the production of OmpC (**a**) and OmpN (**b**). Both the positive controls pDrive-*micC* and pTrc99A-*ompN* were induced by 0.4 mM IPTG for 3 h. TolC expression was used for normalizing sample loading, and the expression of normalized OmpC has been expressed in mean values from three independent experiments.

2.3. Identification of Genetic Factors That Impact on MicC and OmpN Expression

micC–lacZ and *ompN–lacZ* transcriptional fusions were transformed into MC4100 derivatives carrying either chromosomal null mutations or overexpression plasmids of several regulatory factors, in order to identify putative repressors or activators, respectively. In *Enterobacteriaceae*, global regulators MarA and RamA have been reported to induce MDR associated with an increase in efflux pump production and a decrease in OmpF expression levels [31,32]. We detected no induction of the reporter fusions, either when these factors were overexpressed from multicopy plasmids or when the corresponding genes were inactivated (data not shown). This observation suggests that the *micC–ompN* operon is not part of the MarA and RamA regulatory pathways, or is strongly silenced by an upstream repressor.

Previous Northern blotting analysis showed that the expression of MicF (repressor of OmpF) was opposite to that of MicC (repressor of OmpC) under most of the tested conditions [24]. Because the osmoregulator OmpR is known to modulate MicF and control the opposite expression of OmpF and OmpC, we tested the impact of an *ompR* mutation on *micC* and *ompN* expression. Here, the activity of the *micC–lacZ*, but not that of the *ompN-lacZ* fusion, was slightly increased in the *ompR* null mutant, thus confirming that OmpR represses MicC (Figure 3a). Whether this regulation is direct or indirect is still unknown.

The last decade has been marked by the identification of several sRNAs. These are differentially expressed, and have been assigned to various important regulons of *E. coli* and *Salmonella*. Examples include the RyhB sRNA as a member of the iron-responsive Fur regulon [33]; MicA and RybB, which are activated by the envelope stress sigma factor, σ^{E} [26,34,35]; CyaR, whose transcription is governed by the cAMP-CRP complex [36,37]; ArcZ and FnrS, which respond to oxygen availability via the

ArcA/B or Fnr systems [38,39]; MgrR, which is a member of the Mg²⁺-responsive PhoP/Q regulon [40]; SdsR, which is selectively transcribed by the major stationary phase and stress sigma factor, σ^{S} [41]; and CpxQ, which responds to the CpxA/R two-component envelope stress system [42,43]. Focusing on envelope stress responses and expression of OM proteins, we examined the impact of CpxA/R and σ^{E} on *micC* and *ompN* induction. Constitutive activation of the Cpx stress response, by multicopy plasmids expressing an autoactivated CpxA [15] or the signaling lipoprotein NlpE [44], did not increase the activity of the reporter fusion (data not shown). In the opposing scenario, when cells were depleted of σ^{E} upon the overexpression of its cognate anti-sigma RseA, the activity of both the *micC*- and *ompN*-*lacZ* fusions resulted in a 3–4-fold increase (Figure 3a). Additionally, OmpN was detected in OM extracts of cells grown under the same conditions (Figure 3b). We suggest this regulation is most likely indirect, as the *micC-ompN* intergenic region does not contain a σ^{E} core promoter motif [45]. Because RybB is one of the most abundant sRNA, represses OmpC as well as other OM proteins, and is part of the σ^{E} regulon in *E. coli* [46], we hypothesized that OmpN could be silenced by RybB. However, the activity of the *ompN-lacZ* fusion did not increase in *rybB* and *hfq* mutants, suggesting that the *ompN* mRNA is not targeted by RybB or any other Hfq-dependent sRNA (Figure 3a,b).



Figure 3. (a) β-Galactosidase activity of the *micC*- and *ompN*-*lacZ* fusions in different genetic backgrounds. Envelope stress sigma factor σ^{E} is essential in *Escherichia coli*. Therefore, cells were temporarily depleted of σ^{E} by the overexpression of the anti-sigma factor RseA with 0.4 mM IPTG under heat shock conditions at 42 °C; (b) WB analysis of OM proteins. Cells were grown, and OM extracts were prepared as described in the Materials and Methods. OM proteins equivalent to 0.2 ODU of cultures were separated by SDS-PAGE, electrotransferred on nitrocellulose membranes, and blotted with the appropriate anti-sera. Data show the production of OmpC (upper panel) and OmpN (lower panel). TolC expression was evaluated for normalizing sample loading and the expression of normalized OmpC has been expressed in numerical values below the bands; (c) β-galactosidase activity of a *degP-lacZ* chromosomal fusion in response to various external stresses.
In order to explore the connection between σ^{E} and the MicC/OmpN inducing compounds, we examined the effect of the latter on the expression of DegP, a periplasmic protease/chaperone member of the σ^{E} regulon, by using a *degP–lacZ* fusion [47]. Interestingly, all the compounds that had been identified as inducers of *micC–* and *ompN–lacZ* also activated *degP–lacZ* (Figure 3c). These results suggest a strong link between toxic compounds that target the bacterial envelope, the envelope stress σ^{E} pathway, and MicC/OmpN expression [48].

Previous studies on porin regulation reported that the H-NS nucleoid protein binds to the *micF–ompC* intergenic region. Expression of the major OM proteins, OmpF and OmpC, is affected by *hns* mutations, such that OmpC expression increases via direct effect at the transcriptional level, while OmpF expression decreases via indirect regulation by the MicF sRNA at the post-transcriptional level [49,50]. Comparative transcriptomic and proteomic studies further confirmed the influence of H-NS on the expression of OmpF and OmpC, but also indicated that *ompN* was upregulated in an *hns* mutant [51]. Here, the activity of both the *micC–* and *ompN–lacZ* fusions was significantly increased (approximately by 11- and 6-fold, respectively) in an *hns* mutant (Figure 3a). The OM profile of this mutant is shown and indicates that the expression level of both OmpC and OmpN is increased by 2–3-fold (Figure 3b). Considering that MicC functions as a repressor of OmpC, negative regulation of non-identified OmpC repressors by H-NS could explain upregulation of OmpC in the *hns* mutant.

2.4. Role of OmpN in Antibiotic Translocation

OmpF and OmpC porins represent the preferred route for the uptake of β -lactam antibiotics across the OM of E. coli [6,8,9]. Although OmpN is quiescent porin in E. coli [25], the orthologous OmpK37 of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* has been shown to be expressed at low levels under standard laboratory growth conditions, but highly expressed in β -lactam-resistant clinical isolates [52]. As a first step to investigate the role of MicC/OmpN in antibiotic susceptibility profile, we examined the expression levels of OmpF, OmpC, and OmpN in a collection of *E. coli* β-lactam-resistant clinical isolates by WB analysis. None of these isolates produced detectable OmpF, OmpC, or OmpN (Supplementary Data 3). Here, it should be noted that the anti-OmpN antibodies are directed against amino acid residues of the extracellular loop 7, which are specific of *E. coli* OmpN, but also submitted to variability between strains of this species. The impact of MicC in the downregulation of OmpC in these isolates is not known, and should be further investigated by Northern blot analysis. Second, we used a whole cell-based assay to compare the role of OmpN to that of OmpF and OmpC in the uptake of β -lactam antibiotics. To do this, the metabolic activity of *E. coli* W3100Δ*ompF*(pTrc99A) (OmpF⁻ OmpC⁺), W3100Δ*ompC*(pTrc99A) (OmpF⁺ $OmpC^{-}$), W3100 $\Delta ompF\Delta ompC$ (pTrc99A) (OmpF $^{-}$ OmpC $^{-}$) and W3100 $\Delta ompF\Delta ompC$ (pSD04) (OmpF $^{+}$ $OmpC^{-} OmpN^{+}$) was monitored in the absence and in presence of representative β -lactams added at inhibitory concentrations, with regards to their capacity to inhibit the reduction of the viability dye resazurin [6]. The results showed that the metabolic activity of *E. coli* expressing either OmpF or OmpC, but not OmpN, was significantly inhibited upon exposure to β -lactams, suggesting that OmpN is not competent for translocation of this class of antibiotics (Figure 4). However, other approaches, such as liposome swelling assays with reconstituted OmpN, are necessary to conclude on this point.

OmpF and OmpC channels are also used for the translocation of various colicins across the OM of *E. coli* [53]. We examined the sensitivity of *E. coli* strains expressing OmpF, OmpC, or OmpN to colicins E2 and E3, by spotting serial 2-fold dilutions onto cell lawns. Interestingly, the expression of any of the three porins yields similar sensitivity (titers of 2×10^{-7}), suggesting that OmpN channels are able to bind and transport porin-dependent group A colicins across the OM of *E. coli* (data not shown). This also points to the different mechanism of antibiotic versus colicin translocation through OM porin channels.



Figure 4. Metabolic inhibition of intact cells expressing OmpF, OmpC, or OmpN in the presence of selected β -lactam antibiotics using a resazurin-reduction-based assay. Actively metabolizing bacterial cells are able to reduce blue resazurin into red resofurin, which emits fluorescence at 590 nm. The experiment was performed in a microtiter plate, and fluorescence was measured every 10 min with an excitation wavelength of 530 nm and an emission wavelength of 590 nm. Inhibition of resazurin reduction in the presence of appropriate concentrations of each antibiotic was translated into % metabolic inhibition.

3. Discussion

sRNAs have become important players in bacterial gene regulation. To date, systematic genome-wide searches have led to the identification of approximately 80 sRNAs in *E. coli*, the majority of which are conserved in *Salmonella* and other closely related species. About one-third of the reported sRNAs repress synthesis of OM proteins. Evidence for important roles of sRNAs in this post-transcriptional regulation was previously established by the fact that the loss of Hfq, the sRNA chaperone [54], results in the overproduction of OM proteins [24,26,27,36,37,41].

In *E. coli*, the conserved Hfq-associated sRNA, MicC, was identified as a repressor of the synthesis of OmpC [24,54]. MicC inhibits the 30S ribosome binding through a conserved 22 bp RNA duplex near the start codon of the *ompC* mRNA [24]. Many parallels have been drawn between the MicC and MicF sRNAs. Both repress the expression of abundant porins by base pairing near the RBS, thereby blocking translation. Both are encoded opposite to another porin gene. Both are also conserved, together with their *omp* target sequences in *Salmonella*, *K. pneumoniae*, and *Enterobacter* spp. However, major questions such as (i) environmental conditions and/or intracellular regulatory pathways that promote maximal expression of MicC; (ii) the co-regulation of MicC and OmpN; (iii) the impact of such regulation on antibiotic susceptibility; and (iv) the prevalence of MicC/OmpN in MDR clinical isolates remain unanswered. In this work, we used *lacZ* transcriptional fusions and β -galactosidase assays to show that the expression of *micC* and *ompN* is co-regulated in response to antibiotic stress. In particular, β -lactam antibiotics are among the most potent inducers of both *micC* and *ompN*. Interestingly, we found that expression of OmpN from a plasmid could not restore the susceptibility of an *E. coli* porin-less strain to β -lactams. In addition, other studies have demonstrated that strains expressing OmpN, but not OmpF or OmpC, were less susceptible to β -lactams [52,55].

Our results also identified that envelop stress sigma factor σ^E and H-NS are two major negative regulators of MicC/OmpN. σ^E is widespread among pathogenic and non-pathogenic bacteria, and becomes activated when bacterial envelope homeostasis is perturbed due to misfolding of OM proteins in the periplasm, or severe OM damage by external stresses [56]. In both cases, the bacteria must decrease the synthesis of major OM proteins. It has been shown that MicA and RybB are the two

most abundant sRNAs responsible for the rapid decay of *omp* mRNAs upon activation of the σ^{E} envelope stress response [46,57]. Although β -lactams were found to be potent inducers of the σ^{E} envelope stress response, RybB nor any other Hfq-dependent sRNA could be responsible for *ompN* silencing. This suggests that *ompN* is not subjected to sRNA post-transcriptional regulation. On the other hand, H-NS is a major component of the bacterial nucleoid, and has pleiotropic effects on gene expression, genome stability, and DNA recombination. Previous work has shown that H-NS was required for full expression of OmpF, and that this involves a role for H-NS in repressing the expression of MicF sRNA [48]. Our results also showed that H-NS had a role in repressing the expression of MicC and OmpN.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Plasmids and Bacterial Strains

All the *E. coli* strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 1. *E. coli* MC4100 and derivatives were used for *lacZ* reporter gene assays and protein expression analysis. Knockout mutants were generated by P1 transduction from different sources and cured by using the FLP helper plasmid pCP20 to remove the kanamycin resistance cassette [58]. Strains were routinely grown in Luria Bertani (LB) broth (Sigma, Saint Quentin Fallavier, France), supplemented with the following antibiotics when necessary: ampicillin, 100 μ g/mL (Amp); kanamycin, 50 μ g/mL (Kan); chloramphenicol (Cam), 30 μ g/mL; streptomycin 50 μ g/mL (Str). *E. coli* W3110 and derivatives were used for translocation assays.

4.2. Plasmid Construction

Genomic DNA was extracted from MC4100 by using the Wizard® Genomic purification kit (Promega, Charbonnières-les-Bains, France) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and used as a template for all PCR-amplifications. micC- and ompN-lacZ transcriptional fusions were constructed in the promoter-less lacZ containing vector pFus2K [59]. A 184 nt fragment containing the MicC promoter was amplified by using the primer pair SD1 (5'-TTACGTATCGGATCC TCGGGGAGTGAAAACATCCT-3') and SD2 (5'-GCGGATCCCCGCGCAGAATAACGTAT-3'), which contain BamHI restriction sites (underlined) for classic restriction/ligation cloning into BamHI restricted pFus2K (Supplementary data 4) in the orientation of micC-lacZ (pSD02). Because the transcription start of ompN is only based on promoter prediction, the entire intergenic region between MicC and OmpN was PCR-amplified by using the primer pair SD3 (5'-GAGCTCGCATGC GGATCCTGAATAAATCCTTTAGTTATT-3') and SD4 (5'-CAGGACTCTAGAGGATCCCCGCGC AGAATAACGTAT-3'). This generated a 227 nt fragment, which contained BamHI restriction sites (underlined) and extension homologous to BamHI restricted pFus2K for cloning using the In-Fusion TM cloning kit (Clontech, Saint Germaine n Laye, France), in the orientation of *ompN-lacZ* (pSD03) (Supplementary Data 4). For overexpression of the MicC sRNA, a 410 nt PCR fragment was generated by using the primer pair SD1 and SD5 (5'-AGGCTCGAGAAGCTT AGATGCTGCAGCTGAATTTG-3') inserted into the pDrive vector restricted with BamHI and HindIII under the control of an IPTG inducible promoter by using the In-Fusion [™] cloning kit (pSD01) (Supplementary Data 1). Recombinant plasmids pSD04 and pSD05 were obtained by InFusion cloning of fragments into the pTrc99A vector after digestion with appropriate restriction enzymes. pSD04 contains ompN, which was PCR-amplified by using the primer set SD6 (5'-CATGGAATTCATGAAAAGCAAAGTACTGGCAC-3') and SD7 (5'-CGACTCAGAGGATCCTTAGAACTGATAAACCAGACCTAAAGCG-3') that contain the EcoRI and BamHI restriction sites respectively. pSD05 contains rseA, which was PCR-amplified by using the primer pair SD8 (5'-GGTATTAGCCATGGAGAAAG-3') and SD9 (5'-CTGTGCCGC CCCGGGTACTTTCTG-3') that contain the NcoI and SmaI restriction sites, respectively. All the plasmid constructs were confirmed by sequencing.

Strain or Plasmid	Description	Source or Reference
E. coli strains		
MC4100	F ⁻ [araD139] _{B/r} Δ(argF-lac)169 λ^- e14 flhD5301 Δ(fruK-yeiR)725(fruA25) relA1 rpsL150(Str ^R) rbsR22 Δ(fimB-fimE)632(::IS1) deoC1	[60]
MH1160	MC4100 ompR101	[61]
TR49	MC4100 λRS88[degP–lacZ]	[47]
W3110	$F^- \lambda^- IN(rrnD-rrnE)1$ rph-1	[62]
SR8265	W3110 <i>rybB</i> < > <i>aph</i> , Kan ^R , source for P1 transduction	[63]
PS2209	W3110 ΔlacZ169	[64]
PS2652	Δ <i>lacZ169 zch-506::TnlO hns-1001::</i> Tn <i>seq1</i> , Kan ^R , source for P1 transduction	[64]
AG100	F ⁻ glnX44(AS) galK2(Oc) rpsL704(Str ^R) xylA5 mtl-1 argE3(Oc) thiE1 tfr-3	[65]
CH164	AG100 marA zdd-230::Tn9, Cam ^R , source for P1 transduction	[66]
BW25113	F^- Δ(araD–araB)567 ΔlacZ4787(::rrnB-3) λ^- rph-1 Δ(rhaD–rhaB)568 hsdR514	[67]
JW4130	BW25113 <i>hfq::kan</i> , Kan ^R , source for P1 transduction	GE Healthcare
SD01	MC4100 ΔrybB	This study
SD02	MC4100 marA zdd-230::Tn9, Cam ^R ,	This study
SD03	MC4100 $\Delta h f q$	This study
SD04	MC4100 Δhns	This study
SD05	MC4100 $\Delta rpoS$	This study
W3110∆ompF	W3110 ompF::kan	M.G. Page
W3110∆ompC	W3110 ompC::kan	M.G. Page
$W3110\Delta ompF\Delta ompC$	W3110 $\triangle ompF \triangle ompC$	M.G. Page
Plasmids		
pDrive	PCR cloning vector; Amp ^R , Kan ^R	Qiagen
pRC1	pDrive containing Enterobacter aerogenes MarA	[31]
pRC2	pDrive containing Enterobacter aerogenes RamA	[32]
pSD01	pDrive encoding MicC sRNA	This study
pFus2K	Cloning vector with promoter-less lacZ, Kan ^R	[59]
pSD02	pFus2K containing the <i>micC-lacZ</i> fusion	This study
pSD03	pFus2K containing the <i>ompN-lacZ</i> fusion	This study
pTrc99A	Expression vector with the inducible P_{TRC} promoter, \mbox{Amp}^{R}	Pharmacia
pSD04	pTrc99A containing OmpN	This study
pSD05	pTrc99A containing RseA	This study
pBAD24	Expression vector with the inducible P_{BAD} promoter, \mbox{Amp}^{R}	[68]
pBAD24-NlpE	pBAD24 containing NlpE	M. Masi
pBAD33	Expression vector with the inducible P_{BAD} promoter, Cam^R	[68]
pBAD33-CpxA*	pBAD33 containing an autoactivated (*) CpxA	M. Masi

Table 1. Strains and plasmids used in this study.

4.3. β-Galactosidase Assays

 β -Galactosidase activity was routinely assayed on log-phase bacterial cultures, as described by Miller [69].

4.4. Determination of Minimal Inhibitory Concentrations (MIC)

MIC values of antibiotics were determined by the microdilution method in Mueller Hinton II broth (MHIB) (Sigma). Susceptibilities were determined in 96-well microtiter plates with an inoculum of 2×10^5 cfu in 200 µL containing two-fold serial dilutions of each compound. The MIC was defined as the lowest concentration of each compound for which no visible growth was observed after 18 h of incubation at 37 °C. Each assay was systematically performed in triplicate. The average of three independent assays was considered in µg/mL.

4.5. Preparation of the Microtiter Plates for β -Galactosidase Assays

The standard β -galactosidase assay was adapted for compound screening by using 96-well microtiter plates and a SUNRISETM Tecan for absorbance readings. Briefly, strains were grown to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6. Cultures were diluted to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.2, and added (200 µL) to the Phenotype MicroArrays TM test plates (Biolog plates PM11 to PM19) (Supplementary Data 2). After overnight incubation at 37 °C, cells were centrifuged, washed, and treated with ONPG (2-nitrophenyl β -D-galactoside, Sigma) (4 mg/mL). Curves of OD₄₂₀ were plotted over the time (30 min) to identify optimal inducers (Supplementary data 2). Similar experiments were repeated in 96-well microtiter plates preloaded with a chosen concentration range for each compound: each well was loaded with 20 µL of ONPG (4 mg/mL) and 10 µL of compound dilutions (Supplementary Data 3), then cells (170 µL at an OD₆₀₀ of 0.2) were added. The plates were incubated at 37 °C inside the reader, and curves of OD₄₂₀ were plotted over the time (6 h). The obtained readings in presence of ONPG were used to calculate Miller units and for determining the fold change in *lacZ* activity, relatively to standard growth conditions. Experiments were independently repeated at least three times.

4.6. Preparation of OM Extracts

Bacterial cultures (50 mL), grown in the presence or absence of stress, were incubated according to the optimum *micC/ompN* induction conditions determined by the β -galactosidase assay. The cells were washed and concentrated 12.5 fold in 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), and lysed by one passage through a cell disruptor (Constant Systems) at 2 kbar. After removal of cell debris by centrifugation (7000× *g*, 20 min, 4 °C) the supernatant was ultracentrifuged (100,000× *g*, 60 min, 4 °C) to collect the whole cell envelopes. These were resuspended in 0.3% *N*-laurylsarcosinate, and incubated for 30 min at room temperature to solubilize the IM. The insoluble OM extracts were pelleted by centrifugation (100,000× *g*, 60 min, 4 °C).

4.7. SDS-PAGE and Western Blot Analysis

OM were prepared as described above, resuspended in 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4), and kept at -20 °C until use. All samples were diluted in Laemmli buffer (2×: 4% SDS, 20% glycerol, 10% 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.004% bromophenol blue, 125 mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.8) and heated for 5 min at 100 °C before loading. Samples corresponding to 0.2 OD units were separated on 10% SDS-PAGE. To better resolve OmpF and OmpC, 4 M urea was added to the running gel. Proteins were either visualized after straining with Coomassie Brilliant Blue R250 or transferred onto nitrocellulose blotting membranes (GE Healthcare, Aulnay-sous-Bois, France). Primary rabbit antibodies and dilutions were: TolC (1:5000), OmpFd (1:5000), OmpC1 (1:5000), and OmpN (1:1000). Goat anti-rabbit HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies and Clarity Max[™] Western ECL Blotting substrates (Bio-Rad, Marnes-la-Coquette, France) were used for detection. Protein bands were visualized with a molecular imager Chemidoc-XRS System (Bio-Rad) and quantified using the Image Lab software (Bio-Rad) by using the TolC band as a standard. Peptide-specific antibodies were used to avoid cross-detection of OmpC and OmpN: OmpC1 antibodies are directed against KNGNPSGEGTSGVTNNG amino acid sequence present in loop 4 [70], and OmpN1 antibodies are directed against the GGADNPAGVDDKDLVKYAD amino acid sequence found in loop 7 (Thermo Scientific Pierce custom antibody service, Villebon-sur-Yvette, France).

4.8. Whole Cell-Based Viability Assay

Resazurin-based CellTiter-Blue[®] Cell Viability Assay (Promega) was used to determine the metabolic inhibition of cells expressing single porins in the presence of clinically relevant antibiotics as an indicator of porin permeation properties [6]. These assays were performed on W3110 derivatives, i.e., W3110 Δ F (expressing OmpC), W3110 Δ C (expressing OmpF), and W3110 Δ FC transformed with pTrc99A-*ompN* (expressing OmpN). Overnight cultures were diluted to 1:100 and grown until mid-log

phase in MHIIB. Strain containing pTrc99A-ompN was grown in the presence of Amp, and OmpN expression was induced with 0.1 mM IPTG for 1 h at 37 $^{\circ}$ C. When tested for β -lactam permeation, cultures were diluted to 10⁷ cells/mL in fresh MHIIB containing 10% of CellTiter Viability Reagent. For strains containing pTrc99A-*ompN*, MHIIB was supplemented with 0.1 mM IPTG, and β -lactamase inhibitors tazobactam and clavulanic acid ($4 \mu g/mL$ each), to inhibit the activity of the plasmidic AmpC, but not Amp. Microtiter plates (96 well) with black sides and a clear bottom were preloaded with $10 \,\mu\text{L}$ of $20 \times$ concentrated antibiotic solutions. For each antibiotic, the final concentration in the wells was defined as the maximal concentration that did not alter the metabolism of the porin-less strain, i.e., ertapenem, 0.125 μg/mL; meropenem, 0.125 μg/mL; cefotaxime, 0.0625 μg/mL. Cells (190 μL) were then added to separate wells. Control wells also contained cells with resazurin, but no antibiotic, and resaruzin with antibiotics without cells. Fluorescent signals of resorufin were measured with a TECAN Infinite Pro M200 spectrofluorometer (excitation wavelength 530 nm and emission wavelength 590 nm). Kinetic readings were taken at 37 °C every 10 min for 300 min. The % of metabolic inhibition for each strain exposed to each antibiotic was calculated from the measured difference of relative fluorescence units (RFUs) in the presence (RFU_{ATB}) as compared to in the absence (RFU_{MAX}) of antibiotic. All experiments were performed at least four times.

4.9. Colicin Killing Assays

LB agar plates were overlaid with 4 mL of soft agar (with a final agar concentration of 0.75%) containing 100 μ L of *E. coli* overnight cultures. Serial two-fold dilutions of ColE2 or ColE3 (laboratory collection), were spotted in 5 μ L drops onto the lawns, and the plates were incubated overnight at 37 °C. Efficiencies of killing were taken as the reciprocal of the highest dilution that gave complete clearing of the lawn.

5. Conclusions

Altogether, these data suggest that exposure to β -lactams induce a complex stress response to reduce the translocation of these antibiotics across the OM in *Enterobacteriaceae*. Further work will analyze how external stresses, such as β -lactams, interact with the σ^{E} envelope stress response and H-NS in laboratory strains, as well as in MDR clinical isolates.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at www.mdpi.com/2079-6382/6/4/33/s1, Supplementary Data 1: Screening of *micC* expression by β -galactosidase assay using preloaded 96-well Phenotype MicroArraysTM plates (Biolog PM11 to PM19) for bacterial chemical susceptibility, Supplementary Data 2: Fifteen compounds were selected to investigate their effects on MicC and OmpN, Supplementary Data 3: The expression of OmpN was evaluated in laboratory and clinical strains of *E. coli* by Western blot analysis, Supplementary Data 4: Partial *pfo(ybdK)-micC-ompN* genetic region.

Acknowledgments: We thank E. Dumont, J. Vergalli and members of the laboratory for helpful discussions throughout this work. The research leading to the discussions presented here was conducted as part of the Marie Curie Initial Training Network TRANSLOCATION consortium and has received support from the ITN-2013-607694-Translocation (SD). This work was also supported by Aix-Marseille Univ and Service de Santé des Armées.

Author Contributions: Jean-Marie Pagès and Muriel Masi conceived and designed the experiments; Sushovan Dam performed the experiments; Sushovan Dam, Jean-Marie Pagès and Muriel Masi analyzed the data; Sushovan Dam, Jean-Marie Pagès and Muriel Masi wrote the paper.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest. The founding sponsors had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, and in the decision to publish the results.

References

 The Review on Antimicrobial Resistance Chaired by Jim O'Neill. Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally: Final Report and Recommandations. Available online: https://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/160525_ Final%20paper_with%20cover.pdf (accessed on 3 March 2016).

- 2. World Health Organization (WHO). Antimicrobial Resistance: Global Report on Surveillance. Available online: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/112642/1/9789241564748_eng.pdf (accessed on 3 March 2016).
- 3. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID). NIAID's Antibacterial Resistance Program: Currtent Status and Future Directions. Available online: https://www.niaid.nih.gov/sites/default/files/ arstrategicplan2014.pdf (accessed on 3 March 2016).
- Stavenger, R.A.; Winterhalter, M. Translocation project: How to get good drugs into bad bugs. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 2014, *6*, 228ed7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Laxminarayan, R.; Duse, A.; Wattal, C.; Zaidi, A.K.; Wertheim, H.F.; Sumpradit, N.; Vlieghe, E.; Hara, G.L.; Gould, I.M.; Goossens, H.; et al. Antibiotic resistance-the need for global solutions. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 2013, 13, 1057–1098. [CrossRef]
- 6. Masi, M.; Réfregiers, M.; Pos, K.M.; Pagès, J.-M. Mechanisms of envelope permeability and antibiotic influx and efflux in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nat. Microbiol.* **2017**, *2*, 17001. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Silhavy, T.J.; Kahne, D.; Walker, S. The bacterial cell envelope. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 2010, 2, a000414. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nikaido, H. Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability revisited. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 2003, 67, 593–656. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 9. Pagès, J.-M.; James, C.E.; Winterhalter, M. The porin and the permeating antibiotic: A selective diffusion barrier in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **2008**, *6*, 893–903. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 10. Nikaido, H.; Pagès, J.-M. Broad-specificity efflux pumps and their role in multidrug resistance of Gram-negative bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* **2012**, *36*, 340–363. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Davin-Regli, A.; Bolla, J.-M.; James, C.E.; Lavigne, J.-P.; Chevalier, J.; Garnotel, E.; Molitor, A. Membrane permeability and regulation of drug "influx and efflux" in enterobacterial pathogens. *Curr. Drug Targets* 2008, *9*, 750–759. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Pratt, L.A.; Hsing, W.; Gibson, K.E.; Silhavy, T.J. From acids to *osmZ*: Multiple factors influence synthesis of the OmpF and OmpC porins in *Escherichia coli*. *Mol. Microbiol*. **1996**, *20*, 911–917. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Guest, R.L.; Raivio, T.L. Role of the Gram-negative envelope stress response in the presence of antimicrobial agents. *Trends Microbiol.* **2016**, *24*, 377–390. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Gerken, H.; Charlson, E.S.; Cicirelli, E.M.; Kenney, L.J.; Misra, R. MzrA: A novel modulator of the EnvZ/OmpR two-component regulon. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2009**, *72*, 1408–1422. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Philippe, N.; Maigre, L.; Santini, S.; Pinet, E.; Claverie, J.-M.; Davin-Régli, A.V.; Pagès, J.-M.; Masi, M. In vivo evolution of bacterial resistance in two cases of *Enterobacter aerogenes* infections during treatment with imipenem. *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0138828. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mizuno, T.; Chou, M.Y.; Inouye, M. A unique mechanism regulating gene expression: Translational inhibition by a complementary RNA transcript (micRNA). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1984**, *81*, 1966–1970. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Delihas, N. Discovery and characterization of the first non-coding RNA that regulates gene expression, *micF* RNA: A historical perspective. *World J. Biol. Chem.* **2015**, *6*, 272–280. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Inouye, M. The first demonstration of RNA interference to inhibit mRNA function. *Gene* **2016**, *592*, 332–333. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 19. Andersen, J.; Delihas, N. *micF* RNA binds to the 5' end of *ompF* mRNA and to a protein from *Escherichia coli*. *Biochemistry* **1990**, 29, 9249–9256. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 20. Delihas, N.; Forst, S. *MicF*: An antisense RNA gene involved in response of *Escherichia coli* to global stress factors. *J. Mol. Biol.* **2001**, *313*, 1–12. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 21. Ramani, N.; Hedeshian, M.; Freundlich, M. *micF* antisense RNA has a major role in osmoregulation of OmpF in *Escherichia coli*. *J. Bacteriol*. **1994**, *176*, 5005–5010. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Chou, J.H.; Greenberg, J.T.; Demple, B. Posttranscriptional repression of *Escherichia coli* OmpF protein in response to redox stress: Positive control of the *micF* antisense RNA by the *soxRS* locus. *J. Bacteriol.* **1993**, *175*, 1026–1031. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cohen, S.P.; McMurry, L.M.; Levy, S.B. MarA locus causes decreased expression of OmpF porin in multiple-antibiotic-resistant (Mar) mutants of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 1988, 170, 5416–5422. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Chen, S.; Zhang, A.; Blyn, L.B.; Storz, G. MicC, a second small-RNA regulator of Omp protein expression in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* **2004**, *186*, 6689–6697. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 25. Prilipov, A.; Phale, P.S.; Koebnik, R.; Widmer, C.; Rosenbusch, J.-P. Identification and characterization of two quiescent porin genes, *nmpC* and *ompN*, in *Escherichia coli* B^E. J. Bacteriol. **1998**, 180, 3388–3392. [PubMed]
- Johansen, J.; Rasmussen, A.A.; Overgaard, M.; Valentin-Hansen, P. Conserved small non-coding RNAs that belong to the sigma^E regulon: Role in down-regulation of outer membrane proteins. *J. Mol. Biol.* 2006, 364, 1–8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Douchin, V.; Bohn, C.; Bouloc, P. Down-regulation of porins by a small RNA bypasses the essentiality of the regulated intramembrane proteolysis protease RseP in *Escherichia coli*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2006**, *281*, 12253–12259. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Castillo-Keller, M.; Vuong, P.; Misra, R. Novel mechanism of *Escherichia coli* porin regulation. *J. Bacteriol.* 2006, 188, 576–586. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 29. Vogel, J.; Papenfort, K. Small non-coding RNAs and the bacterial outer membrane. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **2006**, *9*, 605–611. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 30. Guillier, M.; Gottesman, S.; Storz, G. Modulating the outer membrane with small RNAs. *Genes Dev.* **2006**, 20, 2338–2348. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 31. Chollet, R.; Bollet, C.; Chevalier, J.; Malléa, M.; Pagès, J.-M.; Davin-Regli, A. *mar* operon involved in multidrug resistance of *Enterobacter aerogenes*. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. **2002**, *46*, 1093–1097. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chollet, R.; Chevalier, J.; Bollet, C.; Pages, J.-M.; Davin-Regli, A. RamA is an alternate activator of the multidrug resistance cascade in *Enterobacter aerogenes*. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2004, 48, 2518–2523. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Massé, E.; Gottesman, S. A small RNA regulates the expression of genes involved in iron metabolism in *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2002**, *99*, 4620–4625. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Thompson, K.M.; Rhodius, V.A.; Gottesman, S. Sigma^E regulates and is regulated by a small RNA in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 2007, 189, 4243–4256. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Skovierova, H.; Rowley, G.; Rezuchova, B.; Homerova, D.; Lewis, C.; Roberts, M.; Kormanec, J. Identification of the sigma^E regulon of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Microbiology* 2006, 152, 1347–1359. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Johansen, J.; Eriksen, M.; Kallipolitis, B.; Valentin-Hansen, P. Down-regulation of outer membrane proteins by noncoding RNAs: Unraveling the cAMP-CRP- and sigma^E-dependent CyaR-OmpX regulatory case. *J. Mol. Biol.* 2008, 383, 1–9. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Papenfort, K.; Pfeiffer, V.; Lucchini, S.; Sonawane, A.; Hinton, J.C.; Vogel, J. Systematic deletion of *Salmonella* small RNA genes identifies CyaR, a conserved CRP-dependent riboregulator of OmpX synthesis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2008, *68*, 890–906. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 38. Mandin, P.; Gottesman, S. Integrating anaerobic/aerobic sensing and the general stress response through the ArcZ small RNA. *EMBO J.* **2010**, *29*, 3094–3107. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 39. Durand, S.; Storz, G. Reprogramming of anaerobic metabolism by the FnrS small RNA. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2010**, 75, 1215–1231. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Moon, K.; Six, D.A.; Lee, H.J.; Raetz, C.R.; Gottesman, S. Complex transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of an enzyme for lipopolysaccharide modification. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2013, *89*, 52–64. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 41. Fröhlich, K.S.; Papenfort, K.; Berger, A.A.; Vogel, J. A conserved RpoS-dependent small RNA controls the synthesis of major porin OmpD. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2012**, *40*, 3623–3640. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Grabowicz, M.; Koren, D.; Silhavy, T.J. The CpxQ sRNA negatively regulates Skp to prevent mistargeting of β-barrel outer membrane proteins into the cytoplasmic membrane. *mBio* 2016, 7, e00312-16. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. Chao, Y.; Vogel, J. A 3' UTR-derived small RNA provides the regulatory noncoding arm of the inner membrane stress response. *Mol. Cell* **2016**, *61*, 352–363. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Snyder, W.B.; Davis, L.J.; Danese, P.N.; Cosma, C.L.; Silhavy, T.J. Overproduction of NlpE, a new outer membrane lipoprotein, suppresses the toxicity of periplasmic LacZ by activation of the Cpx signal transduction pathway. *J. Bacteriol.* **1995**, *177*, 4216–4223. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Nonaka, G.; Blankschien, M.; Herman, C.; Gross, C.A.; Rhodius, V.A. Regulon and promoter analysis of the *E. coli* heat-shock factor, sigma32, reveals a multifaceted cellular response to heat stress. *Genes Dev.* 2006, 20, 1776–1789. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Gogol, E.B.; Rhodius, V.A.; Papenfort, K.; Vogel, J.; Gross, C.A. Small RNAs endow a transcriptional activator with essential repressor functions for single-tier control of a global stress regulon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2011, 108, 12875–12880. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 47. Raivio, T.L.; Silhavy, T.J. Transduction of envelope stress in *Escherichia coli* by the Cpx two-component system. *J. Bacteriol.* **1997**, *179*, 7724–7733. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Viveiros, M.; Dupont, M.; Rodrigues, L.; Couto, I.; Davin-Regli, A.; Martins, M.; Pagès, J.-M.; Amaral, L. Antibiotic stress, genetic response and altered permeability of *E. coli. PLoS ONE* 2007, *2*, e365. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 49. Deighan, P.; Free, A.; Dorman, C.J. A role for the *Escherichia coli* H-NS-like protein StpA in OmpF porin expression through modulation of *micF* RNA stability. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2000**, *38*, 126–139. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 50. Suzuki, T.; Ueguchi, C.; Mizuno, T. H-NS regulates OmpF expression through *micF* antisense RNA in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* **1996**, *178*, 3650–3653. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 51. Hommais, F.; Krin, E.; Laurent-Winter, C.; Soutourina, O.; Malpertuy, A.; Le Caer, J.P.; Danchin, A.; Bertin, P. Large-scale monitoring of pleiotropic regulation of gene expression by the prokaryotic nucleoid-associated protein, H-NS. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2001**, *40*, 20–36. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 52. Doménech-Sánchez, A.; Hernández-Allés, S.; Martínez-Martínez, L.; Benedí, V.J.; Albertí, S. Identification and characterization of a new porin gene of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: Its role in beta-lactam antibiotic resistance. *J. Bacteriol.* **1999**, *181*, 2726–2732. [PubMed]
- 53. Housden, N.G.; Kleanthous, C. Colicin translocation across the *Escherichia coli* outer membrane. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 2012, 40, 1475–1479. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Zhang, A.; Wassarman, K.M.; Rosenow, C.; Tjaden, B.C.; Storz, G.; Gottesman, S. Global analysis of small RNA and mRNA targets of Hfq. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2003**, *50*, 1111–1124. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Fàbrega, A.; Rosner, J.L.; Martin, R.G.; Solé, M.; Vila, J. SoxS-dependent coregulation of *ompN* and *ydbK* in a multidrug-resistant *Escherichia coli* strain. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **2012**, *332*, 61–67. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Raivio, T.L.; Silhavy, T.J. Periplasmic stress and ECF sigma factors. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **2001**, *55*, 591–624. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Papenfort, K.; Pfeiffer, V.; Mika, F.; Lucchini, S.; Hinton, J.C.; Vogel, J. Sigma^E-dependent small RNAs of *Salmonella* respond to membrane stress by accelerating global *omp* mRNA decay. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2006, 62, 1674–1688. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 58. Datsenko, K.A.; Wanner, B.L. One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in *Escherichia coli* K-12 using PCR products. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2000**, *97*, 6640–6645. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Masi, M.; Pagès, J.-M.; Villard, C.; Pradel, E. The *eefABC* multidrug efflux pump operon is repressed by H-NS in *Enterobacter aerogenes*. J. Bacteriol. 2005, 187, 3894–3897. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 60. Casadaban, M.J. Transposition and fusion of the *lac* genes to selected promoters in *Escherichia coli* using bacteriophage lambda and Mu. *J. Mol. Biol.* **1976**, *104*, 541–555. [CrossRef]
- 61. Sarma, V.; Reeves, P. Genetic locus (*ompB*) affecting a major outer-membrane protein in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *J. Bacteriol.* **1977**, *132*, 23–27. [PubMed]
- 62. Bachmann, B.J. Pedigrees of some mutant strains of *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Bacteriol. Rev.* **1972**, *36*, 525–557. [PubMed]
- Klein, G.; Lindner, B.; Brade, H.; Raina, S. Molecular basis of lipopolysaccharide heterogeneity in *Escherichia coli*: Envelope stress-responsive regulators control the incorporation of glycoforms with a third 3-deoxy-α-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid and rhamnose. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2011, 286, 42787–42807. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Bertin, P.; Terao, E.; Lee, E.H.; Lejeune, P.; Colson, C.; Danchin, A.; Collatz, E. The H-NS protein is involved in the biogenesis of flagella in *Escherichia coli*. *J. Bacteriol*. **1994**, *176*, 5537–5540. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. George, A.M.; Levy, S.B. Amplifiable resistance to tetracycline, chloramphenicol, and other antibiotics in *Escherichia coli*: Involvement of a non-plasmid-determined efflux of tetracycline. *J. Bacteriol.* **1983**, *155*, 531–540. [PubMed]
- 66. Rosner, J.L.; Slonczewski, J.L. Dual regulation of *inaA* by the multiple antibiotic resistance (*mar*) and superoxide (*soxRS*) stress response systems of *Escherichia coli*. *J. Bacteriol*. **1994**, 176, 6262–6269. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Baba, T.; Ara, T.; Hasegawa, M.; Takai, Y.; Okumura, Y.; Baba, M.; Datsenko, K.A.; Tomita, M.; Wanner, B.L.; Mori, H. Construction of *Escherichia coli* K12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: The Keio collection. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 2006. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 68. Guzman, L.M.; Belin, D.; Carson, M.J.; Beckwith, J. Tight regulation, modulation, and high-level expression by vectors containing the arabinose PBAD promoter. *J. Bacteriol.* **1995**, 177, 4121–4130. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 69. Miller, J.H. Experiments in Molecular Genetics; Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory: Cold Spring Harbor, NY, USA, 1972.
- 70. Simonet, V.; Malle, M.; Fourel, D.; Bolla, J.-M.; Pages, J.-M. Crucial domains are conserved in Enterobacteriaceae porins. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **1996**, *136*, 91–97. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



© 2017 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Review article: Stress responses, OM permeability control and antimicrobial resistance in *Enterobacteriaceae*



Stress responses, outer membrane permeability control and antimicrobial resistance in *Enterobacteriaceae*

Sushovan Dam, Jean-Marie Pagès^{*} and Muriel Masi

Abstract

Bacteria have evolved several strategies to survive a myriad of harmful conditions in the environment and in hosts. In Gramnegative bacteria, responses to nutrient limitation, oxidative or nitrosative stress, envelope stress, exposure to antimicrobials and other growth-limiting stresses have been linked to the development of antimicrobial resistance. This results from the activation of protective changes to cell physiology (decreased outer membrane permeability), resistance transporters (drug efflux pumps), resistant lifestyles (biofilms, persistence) and/or resistance mutations (target mutations, production of antibiotic modification/degradation enzymes). In targeting and interfering with essential physiological mechanisms, antimicrobials themselves are considered as stresses to which protective responses have also evolved. In this review, we focus on envelope stress responses that affect the expression of outer membrane porins and their impact on antimicrobial resistance. We also discuss evidences that indicate the role of antimicrobials as signaling molecules in activating envelope stress responses.

INTRODUCTION

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is broadly recognized as a growing threat to human health [1-3]. As such, increasing antibiotic treatment failures due to multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacteria have stirred an urgent need to better understand the underlying molecular mechanisms and promote innovation with the development of new antibiotics and alternative therapies [4, 5]. The efficacy of antibacterial compounds depends on their capacity to reach inhibitory concentrations in the vicinity of their target. This is particularly challenging for drugs directed against Gram-negative bacteria, which exhibit a complex envelope comprising two membranes and transmembrane efflux pumps [6, 7]. The Gram-negative envelope comprises an inner membrane (IM), which is a symmetric phospholipid bilayer; a thin peptidoglycan (PG) layer ensuring the cell shape; and an outer membrane (OM) that is an asymmetric bilayer, composed of an inner leaflet of phospholipids and an outer leaflet of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [8]. The OM is a barrier to both hydrophobic and hydrophilic compounds, including necessary nutrients, metabolic substrates and antimicrobials, but access is provided by the water filled β -barrel channels called porins [6, 9-12]. In Escherichia coli, the channels of the general porins OmpF and OmpC are size restricted and show a preference for passage of hydrophilic charged compounds, including antibiotics such as β -lactams and fluoroquinolones. These porins are conserved throughout the phylum of γ -proteobacteria [13]. Additionally, tripartite RND (Resistance-Nodulation-cell Division) efflux pumps, such as AcrAB-TolC in *E. coli*, play a major role in removing antibiotics from the periplasm [7, 12]. Not surprisingly, MDR clinical isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* generally exhibit porin loss and/or increased efflux, which act in synergy to reduce the intracellular accumulation of antibiotics below the threshold that would be efficient for activity [10].

Given the importance of the OM in controlling the uptake of beneficial as well as toxic compounds, one can expect that the expression of porins depends on environmental stresses and is well coordinated at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels [10, 14–17]. In this review, we will address the porin-mediated influx of antibiotics and give a perspective on the factors, including major regulatory pathways and antibiotic stresses, which control porin expression in *E. coli* and closely relative *Enterobacteriaceae*. Additionally, we will discuss the recent clinical data that illustrate the bacterial strategies using porin modifications to limit antibiotic entry.

ANTIBIOTIC STRESSES

Bacteria are present in a wide range of environments in which they are exposed to diverse toxic compounds or growth-limiting conditions. These include antibiotics used

Received 24 November 2017; Accepted 17 January 2018

Author affiliation: UMR_MD-1, Aix-Marseille Univ. & IRBA, 27 Boulevard Jean Moulin, 13005 Marseille, France.

*Correspondence: Jean-Marie Pagès, jean-marie.pages@univ-amu.fr

Keywords: Enterobacteriaceae; envelope stress responses; outer membrane permeability; porins; drug translocation; multidrug resistance.

Abbreviations: AMR, antimicrobial resistance; ESR, envelope stress response; IM, inner membrane; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; MDR, multidrug resistance; OM, outer membrane; PG, peptidoglycan; sRNA, small regulatory RNA; TCS, two-component system. in the medical environment and agricultural settings. The last few decades have been marked by the constant increase of (multi)drug-resistant clinical isolates to which we have responded by increasing antibiotic dosing. Therefore, antibiotics are present almost everywhere at different concentrations [18]. Although MDR still emerges from bacterial exposure to antibiotic concentrations that are higher than the minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC, defined as the lowest concentration of a drug that inhibits bacterial growth under defined laboratory conditions), the effects of subinhibitory concentrations on bacterial physiology and AMR have mostly been disregarded. Importantly, studies in this field have shown that low antibiotic concentrations affect bacteria at least at four different levels: (i) as selectors of resistance (by enriching resistant bacteria within populations and selecting for *de novo* resistance mutations) [19]; (ii) as contributors of genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity [20]; (iii) as intercellular signals [21]; and (iv) as inducers of persistence [22]. In this regard, Viveiros and colleagues have demonstrated the induction of high-level resistance to tetracycline (TET) in susceptible E. coli K12 obtained by gradual, step-wise increase exposure to subinhibitory concentrations of the antibiotic [23]. Increased expression of the AcrAB efflux pump was found responsible for resistance to TET, which could also be reversed by the use of the efflux pump inhibitor phenylalanine-arginine- β -naphthylamide (PA β N). Interestingly, the TET-resistant strain also exhibited MDR due to repression of OmpF and OmpC expression [24]. Important questions arise from this and other related studies. First is whether the target for signalling resistance is the same as the target that is inhibited by the antibiotic. In the event the antibiotic itself but not a secondary metabolite is the signalling molecule, this could be determined by examining whether the response is alleviated by a target mutation that prevents drug binding. Second is whether and how the antibiotic (or a secondary metabolite) interferes with the ESRs described above. Here, comparative transcriptomics between susceptible and resistant strains would be a valuable tool to answer this question.

GLOBAL REGULATORS

In Enterobacteriaceae, the development of MDR is under positive regulation by global transcriptional activators that include members of the Ara/XylS superfamily such as MarA, RamA (absent in E. coli) and Rob, as well as the oxidative stress regulon SoxSR [10, 25-29]. Mutations in the corresponding genes are well documented and induce the overproduction of efflux pumps with concomitant repression of porin expression both directly and indirectly [10]. These mechanisms are reviewed in detail in Davin-Regli et al. [10]. Negative regulation by repressors of porins also plays a major role. OmpX is a small OM channel [30], of which overexpression is associated with a decreased expression of Omp36 (the OmpC ortholog of Enterobacter aerogenes) and a decreased susceptibility to β -lactams [31, 32]. Studies have indicated that expression of OmpX itself is controlled by a number of environmental factors, including salicylate via MarA and paraquat via SoxS [33] A very rapid MarA-dependent response pathway for upregulation of *ompX* has been shown to occur within 60–120 min upon cell exposure to salicylate [32]. This work by Dupont *et al.* identified a dramatic decrease in OmpF levels, as a first line of defence, with simultaneous development of resistance to β -lactams and fluoroquinolones by altering OM permeability.

ENVELOPE STRESS RESPONSES

All living organisms have stress responses that allow them to sense and respond to environmental damaging conditions by remodelling gene expression. As such, Gramnegative bacteria possess stress responses that are uniquely targeted to the cell envelope, including membranes and cell wall. These envelope stress responses (ESRs) are the EnvZ/ OmpR, CpxAR (Cpx), BaeRS and Rcs phosphorelays, the stress-responsive alternative sigma factor σ^{E} and the phage shock response [34-37] in E. coli and closely related Enterobacteriaceae. Each of these ESRs is activated following the perturbation of particular components of the envelope or exposure to particular environmental stresses. Although ESRs are important in reacting to damaging conditions, stress proteins also play important roles in the maintenance of basic cellular physiology [38, 39]. This is particularly true for the σ^{E} -dependent stress response in *E. coli*, as the *rpoE* gene, which encodes σ^{E} , is essential for viability [40]. Here, we will essentially focus on ESRs that impact on AMR by regulating porin expression together with many other targets (regulons) — namely EnvZ/OmpR, Cpx and σ^{E} (see below and Fig. 1). Additionally, with the recent highlights and advances in RNA-based techniques [41], the repertoire of small regulatory RNAs (sRNAs) has vastly increased and their impact on the OM is continuously emerging [15, 17]. sRNAs alter gene expression, allowing rapid adjustment to different growth conditions [42]. Noteworthy, ESRs are often interconnected, regulate and are regulated by sRNAs in order to control target genes both at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels [15-17, 43, 44] (see below and Fig. 1).

Osmolarity was one of the earliest stresses described as influencing OmpF and OmpC expression via the EnvZ/ OmpR two-component system (TCS) [45, 46]. EnvZ is a membrane-bound sensor kinase, and OmpR is a cytosolic response regulator which binds to the promoter region of the porin genes. Upon activation, EnvZ autophosphorylates and the high-energy phosphoryl group from EnvZ is subsequently transferred to a conserved Asp residue on OmpR. Phosphorylated OmpR (OmpR ~P) serves as a transcription factor that differentially modulates the expression of the ompF and ompC porin genes [45]. At low osmolarity, high levels of OmpR ~P activates ompF transcription, whereas at high osmolarity, low levels of OmpR~P repress ompF transcription and activate ompC transcription [47]. This differential production of OmpF and OmpC is consistent with that in high-osmolarity environments, such as in hosts where nutrients are abundant and the least permeable pore



Fig. 1. Major regulatory pathways of porin regulation in *E. coli*: EnvZ/OmpR [46], CpxAR and sigma E (σ E) [35] stress response systems are shown, along with known inducing cues and targets relevant to porin regulation. Upregulation is denoted by thick green arrows, while downregulation is denoted by red lines. In the EnvZ/OmpR TCS, activation of the response regulator OmpR results in phosphorylation and OmpR~P downregulates the expression of OmpF both at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels, the latter via the MicF sRNA. The mar-sox-rob regulons also downregulate OmpF expression via MicF. Both the CpxAR and σ E responses are activated by a variety of envelope stresses. For clarity, only periplasmic misfolded OMPs are represented here. On one hand, CpxR~P alters the expression of multiple genes, including that of micF. On the other hand, the anti-sigma factor RseA is degraded by the successive action of two proteases, DegS and RseP at the periplasmic and the cytoplasmic site. Another protease, ClpXP specifically degrades the cytoplasmic RseA portion bound to σ E, leading to its release. A number of σ E-regulated sRNAs are indicated: MicC [78] downregulates OmpC and is coupled with *ompN* upregulation [80]; sRNA regulation of porins via CyaR [90], IpeX [111], RseX [86] and RybB [84, 88] are shown accompanied by their activators and porin targets; CyaR negatively regulates the expression of single-channelled porin OmpX [30], which in turn negatively regulates the major porin OmpC. The details of all these interconnected pathways are discussed thoroughly in the text.

channel OmpC is predominant, thus limiting the uptake of toxic bile salts; whereas in low-osmolarity environments where nutrients are scarce, the most permeable pore channel OmpF is expressed [6]. OmpF and OmpC transcriptional regulation by EnvZ/OmpR is also triggered by local anaesthetics, pH and nutrient limitation [46].

Accumulation of misfolded OM proteins in the periplasm, presumably reflecting problems in protein assembly or transport across the IM, can be detected by regulatory sensors that activate either the Cpx TCS or the alternative sigma factor σ^{E} . σ^{E} and Cpx are the two major regulation pathways that control the envelop integrity with overlapping regulon members [48-51], but respond to different inducing cues [35]. It is possible that these poorly defined signals (see below) act by causing accumulation of misfolded proteins. However, misfolded proteins are not the inducing signal per se, as some induce σ^{E} but not Cpx and vice versa. Recent studies rather suggest that Cpx responds to IM perturbations, while σ^{E} is activated by signals at the OM. The Cpx system comprises the CpxA sensor kinase and response regulator CpxR. Envelope stresses including alkaline pH, periplasmic protein misfolding, IM abnormalities such as misfolded transporters or accumulation of the lipid II precursor, induce the dissociation of the accessory protein CpxP from CpxA, trigger CpxA-mediated phosphorylation of CpxR, and alter the expression of protein foldases and proteases, respiratory complexes, IM transporters and cell wall biogenesis enzymes [37, 48, 49], all of which affect resistance to a number of antibiotics, particularly aminoglycosides and β -lactams [37, 49, 52–54]. The Cpx-mediated regulation of porins occurs at several levels. At the transcriptional level, CpxR ~P has been shown to bind directly the *ompF* and *ompC* promoters [55]. More recently, it has been found that the small IM protein MzrA connects Cpx and EnvZ/OmpR [56]. In this pathway and upon the activation of Cpx, MzrA interacts directly with EnvZ, which in turn, stabilizes OmpR~P [57]. In sensing different signals, the interconnection between Cpx and EnvZ/OmpR allows cells to adapt to diverse environmental stresses. Finally, although Cpx contributes to AMR by regulating a number of genes [37, 49, 52-54], its precise role and that of other TCSs in the development of MDR in clinical isolates is still poorly documented [58]. On the other hand, the stressresponsive sigma factor $\sigma^{\rm E}$ is induced by stresses that disturb the OM, and its regulon members comprise genes that facilitate the biogenesis of OM components, including proteins, lipoproteins and LPS [59-67]. In the absence of inducing signals, σ^{E} is held at the cytoplasmic side of the

IM by the anti-sigma factor RseA. At the periplasmic side of the IM, RseB binds to RseA, thus enhancing the inhibition of σ^{E} . Upon activation, σ^{E} is released from RseA by a proteolytic cascade that starts with the sequential degradation of the periplasmic and transmembrane domains of RseA by DegS and RseP, respectively, followed by the degradation of the cytoplasmic domain of RseA by ClpXP [68]. Interestingly, proteolysis of RseA is triggered by the binding of a conserved peptide found at the C-terminus of OM proteins, which is normally buried in folded porin trimers, to DegS in conjunction with the release of RseB from RseA upon binding of LPS intermediates [69, 70]. Of note, the $\sigma^{\rm E}$ -dependent repression of porin synthesis only occurs at the post-transcriptional level, wherein base-paring sRNAs inhibits translation of omp mRNAs (see below) in order to maintain the envelope homeostasis under stress conditions, as porins are major abundant proteins under normal growth conditions [6].

The post-transcriptional repression of OmpF by the sRNA MicF was discovered in 1984 [71-73]. This 93-nucleotide (nt) RNA is transcribed in the opposite direction to the ompC gene and acts by direct base-pairing to a region that encompasses the ribosome binding site (RBS) and the start codon of the *ompF* mRNA, thus preventing translation initiation [74]. The expression of the MicF sRNA itself is subject to multiple signals and regulatory pathways [75]. Positive regulation includes EnvZ/OmpR under highosmolarity conditions [76], SoxS in response to oxidative stress [77] and MarA in response to antibiotic stress [25]. The 109-nt MicC sRNA has been identified more recently and was shown to repress OmpC by direct base-pairing to a 5' untranslated region of the ompC mRNA [78]. Interestingly, *micC* is transcribed in the opposite direction to the ompN gene that encodes a quiescent porin homologous to OmpF and OmpC [79]. We have recently shown that ompN and micC are subjected to dual regulation upon exposure to certain antimicrobials such as β -lactams in a $\sigma^{\rm E}$ -dependent manner [80]. This is consistent with the fact that ompN-micC and ompC-micF share similar genetic organization and that ompC and micF are co-induced under specific conditions (i.e. high osmolarity via EnvZ/ OmpR). The last decade has been marked by the identification and characterization of several sRNAs. These are differentially expressed and have been assigned to various important regulatory pathways in E. coli and Salmonella. Interestingly, many pathways regulate and are regulated by sRNAs [43, 44]. A prime example is EnvZ/OmpR, which activates the expression of MicF (that target ompF), OmrA and OmrB (that target *ompT* and mRNA of OM channels for iron-siderophore complexes) [81]; OmrA and OmrB, in turn, repress the translation of the ompR mRNA, creating a negative feedback loop [82]. Others examples include the well-conserved σ^{E} -regulated sRNAs RybB (that target ompC and lamB in E. coli; ompN and ompW in Salmonella), MicA (ompA), RseX (ompC and ompA), CyaR (*ompX*) and MicL (that represses translation of the major OM lipoprotein Lpp) [43, 66, 83-90] (Fig. 1). Of note, all these sRNAs are *trans*-acting, functioning by imperfect base pairing with multiple mRNA targets and require the help of the RNA chaperone Hfq [15–17].

PORIN ALTERATIONS IN CLINICAL ISOLATES

Combined regulations contributed by different stressors lead to hampering of the drug accumulation inside cells under the threshold for bacterial death. In one such study in K. pneumoniae, preferential expression of OmpK37 was detected in porin-deficient strains [91]. Amino acid sequencing showed that OmpK37 is highly homologous to quiescent porins OmpS2 from Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium and OmpN from E. coli. Liposome swelling assay with purified porins determined that OmpK37 also has a narrower pore, which was responsible for higher MICs of cefotaxime and cefoxitin antibiotics because of lower drug diffusion. A very recent study identified mutation in the pho regulon of an extensively drug-resistant strain of *K. pneumoniae* demonstrating downregulation of *phoE* gene by mutations in phoR and phoB. Here the PhoE porin, which is normally involved in phosphate transport, promotes restoration of cefoxitin and carbapenem resistance [92]. This is an interesting example of a regulatory mutation that effects porin expression, and clinically favours AMR under antibiotic therapy.

A wide array of chemicals including disinfectants and antibiotics has been shown to modulate OM permeability including expression of porins [93]. In addition, several studies have described the effect of imipenem on porin loss or loss of function mutations in clinical isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* [58, 94–99].

Porins are trimers of 16-stranded β -barrels, each monomer formed of a central channel constricted by loop 3 that folds inward, thereby restricting the size of the channel. The presence of acidic residues in loop 3 facing a cluster of basic residues on the opposite side of the pore creates a strong transversal electric field [6, 100, 101]. This so-called eyelet or constriction region determines the channel size and ion selectivity, with OmpF being more permeable than OmpC. This latter observation was first attributed to the OmpC pore being slightly more constricted in this porin compared to OmpF [100, 101]. Although the two porins share high sequence similarity, the pore interior is more negative in OmpC than in OmpF [101]. This can also account for the low permeability of OmpC for anionic β -lactams [102, 103]. Moreover, the replacement of all ten titratable residues that differ between OmpC and OmpF in the pore-lining region leads to the exchange of antibiotic permeation properties [104]. Together, these structural and functional data clearly demonstrate that the charge distribution at pore linings, but not pore size, is a critical parameter that physiologically distinguishes OmpC from OmpF.

Functional mutations in porin genes leading to reduced permeability are another strategy found in MDR bacteria. In two documented cases, β -lactam-resistant clinical isolates of *E. aerogenes* contained Omp36 (an OmpC homologue) that carried the mutation G112D in L3 [96, 105]. The homologous mutation G119D in OmpF of E. coli narrows the size of the channel as the large side chain of Asp protrudes into the channel lumen and confers a drastic reduction in β -lactam susceptibility [106]. Consistently, the Omp36 G112D mutant of E. aerogenes was characterized by a 3-fold decrease in ion conductance and a significant decrease in cephalosporin sensitivity (e.g. MICs of cefotaxime, cefpirome, cefepime and ceftazidime were 7- to 9-fold higher in the clinical isolate as compared to that in a sensitive reference strain) and cross-resistance to carbapenems [96, 105]. Recent studies also found a series of OmpC mutants that were isolated from a patient with chronic E. coli infection and additive mutations that conferred increased resistance to a variety of antibiotics, including cefotaxime, ceftazidime, imipenem, meropenem and ciprofloxacin [107, 108]. Low et al. demonstrated that subtle changes in OmpC in clinical isolates of E. coli altered antibiotic permeability and thus cell viability [107]. Seven isolates collected over a two-year clinical treatment exhibited increased levels of antibiotic resistance. These isolates exhibited the same two mutations (D18E and S274F) in the OmpC porin with increased levels of antibiotic resistance, thus pointing towards the possible functional role of these mutations in antibiotic influx.

It is worthwhile to note that from our knowledge, porin mutations causing reduced permeability have been described only in OmpC-type porins in *E coli* and *E aerogenes*. Interestingly, this type of porin is expressed under high osmolarity, the same environment the bacteria encounter in hosts. This gives an essential outlook on the host-induced modifications that possibly occur in these pathogens during infection. Using this sort of information can be highly beneficial for designing drugs with an improved diffusion across the bacterial outer membrane.

CONCLUSION

It is noteworthy that the sRNA-mediated stress response mechanism has multiple benefits for bacteria as compared to regulation by protein. Since sRNAs are produced during transcription, the later stages of translation and post-translational modification processes in the cell are completely sidestepped proving to be time and energy efficient for the cell. Not to forget the energy saved in porin assembly and discarding of misfolded proteins, which in itself can induce another stress response mechanism.

Decreased porin expression has been observed as a rapid response to toxic molecules and antibiotics within less than 60 min. Many sRNAs act at the post-transcriptional level, which ensures a rapid response to stressful conditions. In addition, the versatility of sRNAs ensures another level of gene regulation along with protein transcriptional regulators, thus contributing to an additional layer of tighter regulation. Taking into account the major role of the CpxAR and EnvZ/OmpR regulators in response to stressors such as antibiotics, it will be interesting to develop some assays allowing the detection of these kinds of mutations inside clinical isolate. This original diagnostic maybe used for determining the prevalence of these regulation events in clinical strain that have undergone antibiotic stress.

Targeting the early transcriptional step of antibiotic stress response regulatory mechanism is much more logical, especially when we have reports of OMP expression being regulated (both up and downregulation) within 60 min of stress appearance [32]. This will especially promote bypassing of aforementioned mutations in porins in clinical strains that are selected during antibiotic treatment. Targeting of sRNA or sRNA regulators such as MicF or Hfq can rejuvenate failing antimicrobial therapies in regards with membrane impermeability. They can be original targets for increasing the efficiency of existing drugs by providing fitness reduction in bacteria. As of now, a cyclic peptide RI20 has been identified to inhibit Hfq-mediated repression of gene, by binding with proximal binding site of Hfq [109]. Another approach will be to inhibit sRNA interfering with porin expression that is involved in drug translocation. Recently, a small molecule was used to target human microRNA (miR)-525 precursors as an anti-cancer strategy [110]. This promising discovery can be repeated in bacteria for manipulating sRNA levels, which may save the failing antibiotic therapies.

Predictability of an efficient drug based on the SICAR (Structure Intracellular Concentration Activity Relationship) concept, is a step up to efficient drug designing. Briefly, SICAR connects the physicochemical drug properties to the efficacy of translocation through the bacterial membrane and the resulting intracellular accumulation. To achieve this goal, an extensive knowledge of the OM permeability control, including the contribution of sRNAs, is required.

Funding information

The research leading to the discussions presented here was conducted as part of the Marie Curie Initial Training Network TRANSLOCATION consortium and has received support from the ITN-2013-607694-Translocation (SD). This work was also supported by Aix-Marseille Univ. and Service de Santé des Armées.

Acknowledgements

We thank all the members of the UMR_MD1, especially Estelle Dumont and Julia Vergalli, for helpful discussions throughout this work.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest. The founding sponsors had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, and in the decision to publish the results.

References

- 1. **O'Neill J.** https://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/160525_Final %20paper_with%20cover.pdf.
- 2. WHO. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/112642/1/ 9789241564748_eng.pdf.
- 3. NIAID. www.niaid.nih.gov/sites/default/files/ arstrategicplan2014.pdf.
- Stavenger RA, Winterhalter M. TRANSLOCATION project: how to get good drugs into bad bugs. Sci Transl Med 2014;6:228ed7.

- Laxminarayan R, Matsoso P, Pant S, Brower C, Røttingen J-A et al. Access to effective antimicrobials: a worldwide challenge. *The Lancet* 2016;387:168–175.
- Nikaido H. Molecular basis of bacterial outer membrane permeability revisited. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 2003;67:593–656.
- Nikaido H, Pagès J-M. Broad-specificity efflux pumps and their role in multidrug resistance of Gram-negative bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2012;36:340–363.
- 8. Silhavy TJ, Kahne D, Walker S. The bacterial cell envelope. *Cold* Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2010;2:a000414.
- Pagès J-M, James CE, Winterhalter M. The porin and the permeating antibiotic: a selective diffusion barrier in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2008;6:893–903.
- Davin-Regli A, Bolla J-M, James C, Lavigne J-P, Chevalier J et al. Membrane permeability and regulation of drug "influx and efflux" in enterobacterial pathogens. *Curr Drug Targets* 2008;9: 750–759.
- 11. **Delcour AH**. Outer membrane permeability and antibiotic resistance. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1794;2009:808–816.
- Masi M, Réfregiers M, Pos KM, Pagès J-M. Mechanisms of envelope permeability and antibiotic influx and efflux in Gramnegative bacteria. *Nat Microbiol* 2017;2:17001.
- Nguyen TX, Alegre ER, Kelley ST. Phylogenetic analysis of general bacterial porins: a phylogenomic case study. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2006;11:291–301.
- Masi M, Pagès JM. Structure, function and regulation of outer membrane proteins involved in drug transport in *Enterobactericeae*: the OmpF/C - TolC Case. Open Microbiol J 2013;7:22–33.
- Guillier M, Gottesman S, Storz G. Modulating the outer membrane with small RNAs. *Genes Dev* 2006;20:2338–2348.
- Vogel J, Papenfort K. Small non-coding RNAs and the bacterial outer membrane. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 2006;9:605–611.
- Valentin-Hansen P, Johansen J, Rasmussen AA. Small RNAs controlling outer membrane porins. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 2007;10: 152–155.
- Andersson DI, Hughes D. Microbiological effects of sublethal levels of antibiotics. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2014;12:465–478.
- Gullberg E, Cao S, Berg OG, Ilbäck C, Sandegren L et al. Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations. *PLoS Pathog* 2011;7:e1002158.
- Gutierrez A, Laureti L, Crussard S, Abida H, Rodríguez-Rojas A et al. β-lactam antibiotics promote bacterial mutagenesis via an RpoS-mediated reduction in replication fidelity. Nat Commun 2013;4:1610.
- Lee HH, Molla MN, Cantor CR, Collins JJ. Bacterial charity work leads to population-wide resistance. *Nature* 2010;467:82–85.
- Pu Y, Zhao Z, Li Y, Zou J, Ma Q et al. Enhanced efflux activity facilitates drug tolerance in dormant bacterial cells. *Mol Cell* 2016;62:284–294.
- Viveiros M, Jesus A, Brito M, Leandro C, Martins M et al. Inducement and reversal of tetracycline resistance in *Escheric-hia coli* K-12 and expression of proton gradient-dependent multidrug efflux pump genes. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2005; 49:3578–3582.
- Viveiros M, Dupont M, Rodrigues L, Couto I, Davin-Regli A et al. Antibiotic stress, genetic response and altered permeability of *E. coli. PLoS One* 2007;2:e365.
- Cohen SP, McMurry LM, Levy SB. marA locus causes decreased expression of OmpF porin in multiple-antibioticresistant (Mar) mutants of *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 1988; 170:5416–5422.
- George AM, Hall RM, Stokes HW. Multidrug resistance in Klebsiella pneumoniae: a novel gene, ramA, confers a multidrug resistance phenotype in Escherichia coli. Microbiology 1995;141: 1909–1920.

- 27. Chubiz LM, Rao CV. Role of the *mar-sox-rob* regulon in regulating outer membrane porin expression. *J Bacteriol* 2011;193: 2252–2260.
- Chollet R, Bollet C, Chevalier J, Malléa M, Pagès JM et al. mar Operon involved in multidrug resistance of Enterobacter aerogenes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002;46:1093–1097.
- Chollet R, Chevalier J, Bollet C, Pages JM, Davin-Regli A. RamA is an alternate activator of the multidrug resistance cascade in *Enterobacter aerogenes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2004;48: 2518–2523.
- Dupont M, Dé E, Chollet R, Chevalier J, Pagès J-M. Enterobacter aerogenes OmpX, a cation-selective channel mar - and osmoregulated. FEBS Lett 2004;569:27–30.
- Gayet S, Chollet R, Molle G, Pagès JM, Chevalier J. Modification of outer membrane protein profile and evidence suggesting an active drug pump in *Enterobacter aerogenes* clinical strains. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2003;47:1555–1559.
- Dupont M, James CE, Chevalier J, Pagès JM. An early response to environmental stress involves regulation of OmpX and OmpF, two enterobacterial outer membrane pore-forming proteins. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007;51:3190–3198.
- Mecsas J, Welch R, Erickson JW, Gross CA. Identification and characterization of an outer membrane protein, OmpX, in *Escherichia coli* that is homologous to a family of outer membrane proteins including Ail of Yersinia enterocolitica. J Bacteriol 1995;177:799–804.
- Majdalani N, Gottesman S. The Rcs phosphorelay: a complex signal transduction system. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2005;59:379– 405.
- Ruiz N, Silhavy TJ. Sensing external stress: watchdogs of the Escherichia coli cell envelope. Curr Opin Microbiol 2005;8:122– 126.
- Rowley G, Spector M, Kormanec J, Roberts M. Pushing the envelope: extracytoplasmic stress responses in bacterial pathogens. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2006;4:383–394.
- Raivio TL. Everything old is new again: an update on current research on the Cpx envelope stress response. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1843;2014:1529–1541.
- 38. Hayden JD, Ades SE. The extracytoplasmic stress factor, σ E, is required to maintain cell envelope integrity in *Escherichia coli*. *PLoS One* 2008;3:e1573.
- Delhaye A, Collet JF, Laloux G. Fine-Tuning of the Cpx envelope stress response is required for cell wall homeostasis in *Escherichia coli*. *MBio* 2016;7:e00047-16.
- de Las Peñas A, Connolly L, Gross CA. SigmaE is an essential sigma factor in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 1997;179:6862–6864.
- Wassarman KM, Kiley PJ. Global approaches for finding small RNA and small open reading frame functions. J Bacteriol 2010; 192:26–28.
- 42. Gottesman S. The small RNA regulators of *Escherichia coli*: roles and mechanisms. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2004;58:303–328.
- Thompson KM, Rhodius VA, Gottesman S. SigmaE regulates and is regulated by a small RNA in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 2007;189:4243–4256.
- 44. Vogt SL, Evans AD, Guest RL, Raivio TL. The Cpx envelope stress response regulates and is regulated by small noncoding RNAs. *J Bacteriol* 2014;196:4229–4238.
- 45. Mizuno T, Mizushima S. Signal transduction and gene regulation through the phosphorylation of two regulatory components: the molecular basis for the osmotic regulation of the porin genes. *Mol Microbiol* 1990;4:1077–1082.
- Pratt LA, Hsing W, Gibson KE, Silhavy TJ. From acids to osmZ: multiple factors influence synthesis of the OmpF and OmpC porins in Escherichia coli. Mol Microbiol 1996;20:911–917.
- 47. Cai SJ, Inouye M. EnvZ-OmpR interaction and osmoregulation in Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem 2002;277:24155–24161.

- Price NL, Raivio TL. Characterization of the Cpx regulon in Escherichia coli strain MC4100. J Bacteriol 2009;191:1798–1815.
- Raivio TL, Leblanc SK, Price NL. The Escherichia coli Cpx envelope stress response regulates genes of diverse function that impact antibiotic resistance and membrane integrity. J Bacteriol 2013;195:2755–2767.
- Guest RL, Wang J, Wong JL, Raivio TL. A bacterial stress response regulates respiratory protein complexes to control envelope stress adaptation. J Bacteriol 2017;199:e00153-17.
- Dartigalongue C, Missiakas D, Raina S. Characterization of the Escherichia coli sigma E regulon. J Biol Chem 2001;276:20866– 20875.
- 52. Guest RL, Raivio TL. Role of the Gram-negative envelope stress response in the presence of antimicrobial agents. *Trends Microbiol* 2016;24:377–390.
- Mahoney TF, Silhavy TJ. The Cpx stress response confers resistance to some, but not all, bactericidal antibiotics. J Bacteriol 2013;195:1869–1874.
- 54. Moreau PL. Protective role of the RpoE (σ E) and Cpx envelope stress responses against gentamicin killing of nongrowing *Escherichia coli* incubated under aerobic, phosphate starvation conditions. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2014;357:151–156.
- Batchelor E, Walthers D, Kenney LJ, Goulian M. The Escherichia coli CpxA-CpxR envelope stress response system regulates expression of the porins ompF and ompC. J Bacteriol 2005;187: 5723–5731.
- Gerken H, Charlson ES, Cicirelli EM, Kenney LJ, Misra R. MzrA: a novel modulator of the EnvZ/OmpR two-component regulon. *Mol Microbiol* 2009;72:1408–1422.
- 57. Gerken H, Misra R. MzrA-EnvZ interactions in the periplasm influence the EnvZ/OmpR two-component regulon. *J Bacteriol* 2010;192:6271–6278.
- Philippe N, Maigre L, Santini S, Pinet E, Claverie JM et al. In vivo evolution of bacterial resistance in two cases of *Enterobacter* aerogenes infections during treatment with imipenem. *PLoS One* 2015;10:e0138828.
- Mecsas J, Rouviere PE, Erickson JW, Donohue TJ, Gross CA. The activity of sigma E, an *Escherichia coli* heat-inducible sigmafactor, is modulated by expression of outer membrane proteins. *Genes Dev* 1993;7:2618–2628.
- Missiakas D, Mayer MP, Lemaire M, Georgopoulos C, Raina S. Modulation of the *Escherichia coli* sigmaE (RpoE) heat-shock transcription-factor activity by the RseA, RseB and RseC proteins. *Mol Microbiol* 1997;24:355–371.
- Rhodius VA, Suh WC, Nonaka G, West J, Gross CA. Conserved and variable functions of the sigmaE stress response in related genomes. *PLoS Biol* 2006;4:e2.
- Noor R, Murata M, Nagamitsu H, Klein G, Raina S et al. Dissection of sigma(E)-dependent cell lysis in *Escherichia coli*: roles of RpoE regulators RseA, RseB and periplasmic folding catalyst PpiD. *Genes Cells* 2009;14:885–899.
- Gogol EB, Rhodius VA, Papenfort K, Vogel J, Gross CA. Small RNAs endow a transcriptional activator with essential repressor functions for single-tier control of a global stress regulon. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2011;108:12875–12880.
- 64. Klein G, Lindner B, Brade H, Raina S. Molecular basis of lipopolysaccharide heterogeneity in *Escherichia coli*: envelope stress-responsive regulators control the incorporation of glycoforms with a third 3-deoxy-α-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid and rhamnose. *J Biol Chem* 2011;286:42787–42807.
- Klein G, Kobylak N, Lindner B, Stupak A, Raina S. Assembly of lipopolysaccharide in *Escherichia coli* requires the essential LapB heat shock protein. *J Biol Chem* 2014;289:14829–14853.
- 66. Guo MS, Updegrove TB, Gogol EB, Shabalina SA, Gross CA *et al.* MicL, a new σ E-dependent sRNA, combats envelope stress by repressing synthesis of Lpp, the major outer membrane lipoprotein. *Genes Dev* 2014;28:1620–1634.

- 67. Klein G, Stupak A, Biernacka D, Wojtkiewicz P, Lindner B *et al.* Multiple transcriptional factors regulate transcription of the *rpoE* gene in *Escherichia coli* under different growth conditions and when the lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis is defective. *J Biol Chem* 2016;291:22999–23019.
- 68. Ades SE. Regulation by destruction: design of the σ E envelope stress response. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 2008;11:535–540.
- Walsh NP, Alba BM, Bose B, Gross CA, Sauer RT. OMP peptide signals initiate the envelope-stress response by activating DegS protease via relief of inhibition mediated by its PDZ domain. *Cell* 2003;113:61–71.
- Lima S, Guo MS, Chaba R, Gross CA, Sauer RT. Dual molecular signals mediate the bacterial response to outer-membrane stress. *Science* 2013;340:837–841.
- Mizuno T, Chou MY, Inouye M. A unique mechanism regulating gene expression: translational inhibition by a complementary RNA transcript (micRNA). *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 1984;81:1966– 1970.
- Delihas N. Discovery and characterization of the first non-coding RNA that regulates gene expression, *micF* RNA: a historical perspective. *World J Biol Chem* 2015;6:272–280.
- Inouye M. The first demonstration of RNA interference to inhibit mRNA function. *Gene* 2016;592:332–333.
- Andersen J, Delihas N. micF RNA binds to the 5' end of ompF mRNA and to a protein from Escherichia coli. Biochemistry 1990; 29:9249–9256.
- Delihas N, Forst S. MicF: an antisense RNA gene involved in response of *Escherichia coli* to global stress factors. *J Mol Biol* 2001;313:1–12.
- Ramani N, Hedeshian M, Freundlich M. micF antisense RNA has a major role in osmoregulation of OmpF in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 1994;176:5005–5010.
- Chou JH, Greenberg JT, Demple B. Posttranscriptional repression of *Escherichia coli* OmpF protein in response to redox stress: positive control of the *micF* antisense RNA by the *soxRS* locus. *J Bacteriol* 1993;175:1026–1031.
- Chen S, Zhang A, Blyn LB, Storz G. MicC, a second small-RNA regulator of Omp protein expression in *Escherichia coli*. *J Bacteriol* 2004;186:6689–6697.
- Prilipov A, Phale PS, Koebnik R, Widmer C, Rosenbusch JP. Identification and characterization of two quiescent porin genes, *nmpC* and *ompN*, in *Escherichia coli* BE. J Bacteriol 1998;180: 3388–3392.
- Dam S, Pagès JM, Masi M. Dual regulation of the small RNA MicC and the quiescent porin OmpN in response to antibiotic stress in *Escherichia coli*. *Antibiotics* 2017;6:33.
- Guillier M, Gottesman S. Remodelling of the Escherichia coli outer membrane by two small regulatory RNAs. *Mol Microbiol* 2006;59:231–247.
- Guillier M, Gottesman S. The 5' end of two redundant sRNAs is involved in the regulation of multiple targets, including their own regulator. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2008;36:6781–6794.
- Rasmussen AA, Eriksen M, Gilany K, Udesen C, Franch T et al. Regulation of ompA mRNA stability: the role of a small regulatory RNA in growth phase-dependent control. Mol Microbiol 2005;58:1421–1429.
- Johansen J, Rasmussen AA, Overgaard M, Valentin-Hansen P. Conserved small non-coding RNAs that belong to the sigmaE regulon: role in down-regulation of outer membrane proteins. *J Mol Biol* 2006;364:1–8.
- Skovierova H, Rowley G, Rezuchova B, Homerova D, Lewis C et al. Identification of the sigmaE regulon of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Microbiology* 2006;152:1347–1359.
- Douchin V, Bohn C, Bouloc P. Down-regulation of porins by a small RNA bypasses the essentiality of the regulated intramembrane proteolysis protease RseP in *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 2006;281:12253–12259.

Downloaded from www.microbiologyresearch.org by

- Papenfort K, Pfeiffer V, Mika F, Lucchini S, Hinton JC et al. SigmaE-dependent small RNAs of *Salmonella* respond to membrane stress by accelerating global *omp* mRNA decay. *Mol Microbiol* 2006;62:1674–1688.
- Bossi L, Figueroa-Bossi N. A small RNA downregulates LamB maltoporin in *Salmonella*. *Mol Microbiol* 2007;65:799–810.
- Udekwu KI, Wagner EGH. Sigma E controls biogenesis of the antisense RNA MicA. Nucleic Acids Res 2007;35:1279–1288.
- Johansen J, Eriksen M, Kallipolitis B, Valentin-Hansen P. Down-regulation of outer membrane proteins by noncoding RNAs: unraveling the cAMP-CRP- and sigmaE-dependent CyaRompX regulatory case. J Mol Biol 2008;383:1–9.
- Doménech-Sánchez A, Hernández-Allés S, Martínez-Martínez L, Benedí VJ, Albertí S. Identification and characterization of a new porin gene of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: its role in beta-lactam antibiotic resistance. *J Bacteriol* 1999;181:2726–2732.
- Knopp M, Andersson DI. Amelioration of the fitness costs of antibiotic resistance due to reduced outer membrane permeability by upregulation of alternative porins. *Mol Biol Evol* 2015; 32:3252–3263.
- Pomposiello PJ, Bennik MH, Demple B. Genome-wide transcriptional profiling of the *Escherichia coli* responses to superoxide stress and sodium salicylate. *J Bacteriol* 2001;183:3890–3902.
- Bornet C, Davin-Régli A, Bosi C, Pagès JM, Bollet C. Imipenem resistance of *Enterobacter aerogenes* mediated by outer membrane permeability. *J Clin Microbiol* 2000;38:1048–1052.
- Bornet C, Chollet R, Malléa M, Chevalier J, Davin-Regli A et al. Imipenem and expression of multidrug efflux pump in Enterobacter aerogenes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003;301:985– 990.
- Thiolas A, Bornet C, Davin-Régli A, Pagès J-M, Bollet C. Resistance to imipenem, cefepime, and cefpirome associated with mutation in Omp36 osmoporin of *Enterobacter aerogenes*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;317:851–856.
- Thiolas A, Bollet C, La Scola B, Raoult D, Pagès JM. Successive emergence of *Enterobacter aerogenes* strains resistant to imipenem and colistin in a patient. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2005;49:1354–1358.
- Lavigne J-P, Sotto A, Nicolas-Chanoine M-H, Bouziges N, Pagès J-M et al. An adaptive response of Enterobacter aerogenes to imipenem: regulation of porin balance in clinical isolates. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2013;41:130–136.

- Pavez M, Vieira C, de Araujo MR, Cerda A, de Almeida LM et al. Molecular mechanisms of membrane impermeability in clinical isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae* exposed to imipenem selective pressure. *Int J Antimicrob Agents* 2016;48:78–85.
- Cowan SW, Schirmer T, Rummel G, Steiert M, Ghosh R et al. Crystal structures explain functional properties of two *E. coli* porins. *Nature* 1992;358:727–733.
- Baslé A, Rummel G, Storici P, Rosenbusch JP, Schirmer T. Crystal structure of osmoporin OmpC from *E. coli* at 2.0 A. J Mol Biol 2006;362:933–942.
- Nikaido H, Rosenberg EY. Porin channels in *Escherichia coli*: studies with liposomes reconstituted from purified proteins. *J Bacteriol* 1983;153:241–252.
- Nikaido H, Rosenberg EY, Foulds J. Porin channels in *Escheric-hia coli*: studies with beta-lactams in intact cells. J Bacteriol 1983;153:232–240.
- Kojima S, Nikaido H. High salt concentrations increase permeability through OmpC channels of *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 2014;289:26464–26473.
- 105. Dé E, Baslé A, Jaquinod M, Saint N, Malléa M et al. A new mechanism of antibiotic resistance in Enterobacteriaceae induced by a structural modification of the major porin. *Mol Microbiol* 2001;41:189–198.
- Simonet V, Malléa M, Pagès JM. Substitutions in the eyelet region disrupt cefepime diffusion through the *Escherichia coli* OmpF channel. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2000;44:311–315.
- Low AS, MacKenzie FM, Gould IM, Booth IR. Protected environments allow parallel evolution of a bacterial pathogen in a patient subjected to long-term antibiotic therapy. *Mol Microbiol* 2001;42:619–630.
- Lou H, Chen M, Black SS, Bushell SR, Ceccarelli M et al. Altered antibiotic transport in OmpC mutants isolated from a series of clinical strains of multi-drug resistant *E. coli. PLoS One* 2011;6: e25825.
- El-Mowafi SA, Alumasa JN, Ades SE, Keiler KC. Cell-based assay to identify inhibitors of the Hfq-sRNA regulatory pathway. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2014;58:5500–5509.
- Childs-Disney JL, Disney MD. Small molecule targeting of a microRNA associated with hepatocellular carcinoma. ACS Chem Biol 2016;11:375–380.
- Castillo-Keller M, Vuong P, Misra R. Novel mechanism of Escherichia coli porin regulation. J Bacteriol 2006;188:576–586.

Five reasons to publish your next article with a Microbiology Society journal

- 1. The Microbiology Society is a not-for-profit organization.
- 2. We offer fast and rigorous peer review average time to first decision is 4–6 weeks.
- 3. Our journals have a global readership with subscriptions held in research institutions around the world.
- 4. 80% of our authors rate our submission process as 'excellent' or 'very good'.
- 5. Your article will be published on an interactive journal platform with advanced metrics.

Find out more and submit your article at microbiologyresearch.org.

On: Mon. 16 Apr 2018 15:07:17

Unpublished results: RNA-Seq profiling of *Escherichia coli* MC4100 for identifying target spectrum of MicC small RNA

RNA-Seq profiling of *Escherichia Coli* MC4100 for identifying target spectrum of MicC small RNA

Sushovan Dam, Jean-Marie Pagès and Muriel Masi^{*}

UMR-MD-1, Aix-Marseille Université & IRBA, 27 Bd Jean Moulin, 13005 Marseille, France.

Contact details of corresponding author: muriel.masi@univ-amu.fr

Abstract

Small RNAs are efficient gene regulators. This is because of their rapid synthesis requiring lesser energy for production as compared to proteins, especially under taxing stressful conditions. One of the previously identified sRNA MicC, is conserved in *Shigella*, *Salmonella*, and *Klebsiella*, and is primarily known to inhibit *ompC* expression at the posttranscriptional level in *Escherichia coli*. Their existence in multiple enterobacterial genomes suggests the possible presence of multiple sRNA targets. Here we have used whole genome transcriptomics to identify previously unknown candidate targets of MicC. The MicC overexpressing cells were found to differentially express 177 genes, out of which 117 were upregulated and 60 were downregulated. Furthermore, MicC has been discovered to be co regulated with OmpN porin transcription under carbapenem stress. So we also analyzed the bacterial transcriptome under stress by different carbapenems to understand the regulatory mechanism at play leading to the MicC induction.

Keywords: Small RNA, MicC, porins, carbapenems.

Introduction

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a major global public health threat that requires immediate attention effective prevention and treatment (1, 2, 3). A major factor contributing to MDR is the inability of antibiotics to penetrate bacteria and reach their requisite target to be effective (4, 5, 6). In Gram-negative bacteria, such as *Escherichia coli*, the two porins OmpF and OmpC are among the most abundant outer membrane proteins ($>10^5$ copies/cell) and form water-filled channels for the diffusion of small hydrophilic molecules including nutrients and antibiotics (6, 8). In resistant clinical isolates, porin defects (i.e. down-regulation of their expression and structural modifications) limit antibiotic uptake, thereby decreasing their intracellular concentration and activity (5, 6, 9, 10). Given the importance of the outer membrane, it is not surprising that the expression of porins is under complex regulation (6, 11). Recent research has shown that enterobacteria use several small regulatory RNAs (sRNAs) to fine-tune porin expression at the post-transcriptional level. Among these, MicF and MicC are the two major sRNAs that negatively regulate OmpF and OmpC, respectively (12, 13, 14). MicF and MicC exhibit similarities in that both repress the expression of porins by base pairing near the ribosome binding site, thereby blocking the translation, and both are encoded opposite to another porin gene (i.e. the *micF-ompC* and *micC-ompN* regions). Noteworthy, OmpC the only porin is expressed in clinical isolates — a lack of OmpC is often associated to AMR (15) — and ompN encodes a homolog of the trimeric porins, but the OmpN protein has not yet been characterized (16).

micC is present in almost all enterobacterial genomes, suggesting that conserved targets exist to serve a wide range of cellular functions (12). Our recent work has shown that MicC sRNA acts together with the σE envelope stress response pathway to control the OmpC/N levels in response to carbapenems and cephalosporins (17). To further expand our knowledge of the

3

MicC target spectrum apart from OmpC expression, we have performed transcriptomics analysis to understand how it impacts the bacterial physiology of *E. coli*.

We used RNA sequencing in combination to susceptibility assays to determine the impact of the MicC overexpression on the *E. coli* transcriptome and phenotype regarding antibiotic resistance. This study has shown about 60 previously unknown genes to be MicC targets. They are negatively regulated apart from its original target *ompC*. These targets were compared with the list of all MicC RNA targets predicted by the 'IntaRNA - RNA-RNA interaction tool' (18, 19). Selected mRNAs with binding property similar to *micC-ompC* mRNA screened using IntaRNA tool. Identification of the global target spectra of *micC* is important to understand its impact on the overall bacterial physiology, and more specifically on AMR.

Our work has shown that carbapenems and cephalosporins, two clinically relevant classes of β -lactam antibiotics, are potent inducers of both *micC* and *ompN* (17). So we further extended this work by performing transcriptome analysis of cells exposed to five clinically relevant carbapenems to understand the common regulatory pathway of *micC* induction. Are there any common signals or genetic factors activated by this particular class of β -lactams in the cells?

Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains, plasmids, and antibiotic susceptibility testing: *E. coli* MC4100 was used for analysis in all the studies and was grown in Luria Bertani (LB) broth (Sigma, Saint Quentin Fallavier, France). For MicC sRNA overexpression, MC4100 harboring pSD01 was used, and they were supplemented with 100 μ g/mL ampicillin (Amp) for growth (17). MIC values of antibiotics were determined by the microdilution method in Mueller Hinton II broth (MHIIB) (Sigma) as described in our previous work (20). Susceptibilities were determined in 96-well microtiter plates with an inoculum of 2X10⁵ cfu in 200 μ L containing two-fold serial dilutions of each compound. The MIC was defined as the lowest concentration of each compound for which no visible growth was observed after 18 h of incubation at 37°C. Each assay was systematically performed in triplicates. The average of three independent assays was considered in μ g/mL.

RNA isolation and cDNA labeling: Bacterial cultures were centrifuged for 5 min at 2500 g. After removing the supernatant, the pellets were frozen on dry ice and stored at -80 °C. Total RNA was harvested using TRIzol (Invitrogen) and an RNeasy kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions, including a DNase digestion step. The RNA samples were redissolved to produce a final concentration of 300- 500 ng/L. For every RNA sample, 120 L was sent to Shanghai Bio Co., Ltd. and further examined through a quality and quantity test based on electrophoresis before microarray hybridization. Fluorescently labeled cRNA, transcribed from cDNA, was produced using a Quick Amp Kit, PLUS, Two-Color (Agilent p/n 5190-0444) in Agilent's SureHyb Hybridization Chambers. The cRNA was labeled with the fluorescent dyes Cy5 and Cy3-CTP. Double-stranded cDNA was synthesized from 1 g of total RNA using a cDNA synthesis kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Quick Amp Kit, Agilent). T7 promoter primers were used instead of the poly-T primer provided in the kit. The Cy3- and Cy5-labeled products were purified using an RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). An aliquot of 1 μ L of purified cRNA was used to determine the yield and specific activity with a NanoDrop ND-1000. The amount of Cy3- or Cy5- labeled cRNA was determined by measuring the absorbance at A260 nm, A280 nm, A550 nm (Cy3) and A650 (Cy5). The specific activity (pmol dye per g cRNA) of the cRNA can be obtained from the following calculation: specific activity = (concentration of Cy3/Cy5)/[(concentration of cRNA) * 1000] = pmol Cy3/Cy5 per g cRNA. If the yield is < 825 ng and the specific activity is < 8.0 pmol Cy3/Cy5 per g of cRNA, the experiment does not proceed to the hybridization step. cRNA was repeatedly prepared.

RNA sequencing and analysis: Whole-transcriptome sequencing of the isolates were performed by a custom-made protocol with barcoded RNA libraries to enable pooled sequencing of several samples (10). The bacterial isolates had been grown under standard conditions (LB broth; 37°C) and harvested in RNAprotect (Qiagen) at an optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) of 2 before the transcriptome sequencing (RNA-seq) was performed (21, 22). The reads were mapped to the *E. coli K-12* wild type reference genome, which is available for download from NCBI. Mapping was performed using stampy, a short-read aligner that allows for gapped alignments (23), and SAMtools (24) was utilized for sequence variation calling. The reads per gene (rpg) values of all genes were calculated from the SAM output files. Testing for differential expression against the MC4100 (three biological replicates) was performed with DESeq (25), an R software package that uses a statistical model based on the negative binomial distribution.

6

Result and discussion

Impact of MicC overexpression on *E. coli* transcriptome: *E coli* cells harboring pSD01 that overexpresses MicC on induction with 0.4 mM for 2hrs were harvested along with its respective control (cells containing empty pDRIVE). The adjusted P value 5 (FDR) of the genes were selected with a cutoff of 0.05, and arranged accordingly. As expected, a substantial reduction in *ompC* mRNA (~64%) was observed as has been reported in previous studies. Moreover, 59 other targets were identified which an expression profile of less than 50% as had compared to the control cells which are enlisted in Table 1. Downregulation of all the genes of CysH operon (*cysH*, *cysP*, *cysB*, *cysC*, *cysD*, *cysE*, and *cysF*) points towards the involvement of MicC in sulphur starvation (26). *cysH*operon expression is dependent on the promoter and is independent of the leader region terminator, indicating that the operon is regulated at the level of transcription initiation rather than controlled at the level of premature termination of transcription. In vitro experiments to conclude the binding of MicC to *cysH* promoter will shed more light in the intricate sulphur starvation stress induced mechanism.

We further ran the REVIGO protocol that uses a simple clustering algorithm that relies on semantic similarity measures to summarize long, unintelligible lists of gene ontology (GO) terms by finding a representative subset of the terms (27, 28). As seen in Figure 1(b), the bubble size indicates the frequency of the GO term in the underlying GOA list of genes downregulated by MicC. Highly similar GO terms are linked by edges in the graph, where the line width indicates the degree of similarity.

The downregulated 60 genes were used to carry out GO enrichment analysis. There are approximately 37 GO terms were assigned, and the fraction percentages for biological process (30), cellular component (2) and molecular function (5) were 81.1%, 5.4% and 13.5%

7

respectively (Figure 1(b)). Of 30 terms in the biological process, there were terms, such as transmembrane transport, sulphate transport, stress response, protein transport, superoxide metabolism, copper ion homeostasis and response to heat that were directly related to Outer membrane stress response.

Impact of carbapenems on E. coli transcriptome:

Our work with sRNA micC and carbapenems inspired us to look for the *E. coli* transcriptome under the effect of sub lethal concentrations of five clinically relevant carbapenems namely doripenem, ertapenem, meropenem, imipenem and biapenem. The concentrations of antibiotics were decided with respect to their respective MIC. The cells were treated with half of MIC values for 300 minutes as this was the peak time observed to have highest micC promoter induction in β -galactosidase experiments (17). The objective was to have an understanding of any common sRNA regulatory pathways that is being trigerred by this specific class of β - lactams. An unforeseen clumping of cells was observed repeatedly when the cells were being stored in RNAprotect® Cell Reagent solution. This possibly led to an error prone collection of total RNA and the subsequent transcriptomic analysis was not conclusive. A refined protocol of a balanced antibiotic concentration enough for producing a stress response at the sRNA level and non-reactiveness of RNA stabilizing solution will possibly allow a more successful transcriptomic analysis.

RNA-RNA interaction using IntaRNA program

We further compared our list of MicC putative targets from DESeq analysis to the pre computed list of MicC targets available on IntaRNA website. IntaRNA predicts RNA-RNA interactions by an energy-based approach that is based on two assumptions: (i) the accessibility of the interaction sites is important for the interaction formation, and (ii) a seed region is required to initiate the interaction (e.g. the 5' seed region for miRNAs). Gene target *iadA* was one of the candidates found to be common in both the lists, which encodes for a proteolytic enzyme Isoaspartyl dipeptidase (29, 30). Figure 2 shows a comparision between MicC binding to *ompC* mRNA and *iadA* mRNA. As seen in our work, MicC induction takes place in response to envelope stress; so modulation of peptidase activity by this sRNA is not surprising. The interaction energy between MicC- OmpC RNA-RNA binding was predicted to be -17.28810 kcal/mol and for MicC- IadA it was -11.96510 kcal/mol.

Conclusion

In summary, by using genome wide comparative transcriptome analysis, a global gene expression change profiles was detected when MicC sRNA was overexpressed in *E. coli* cells. Among 176 differentially expressed genes, 60 were downregulated and are putative MicC targets. GO enrichment analysis showed that the differentially downregulated GO terms are involved in different pathways including stress response, trans membrane transport and chemical stimulus, indicating the OMP modulating sRNA has a much diverse and global role in the bacterial physiology. Further validation of these targets using quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR) and reporter fusions will solidify its role in mechanisms of target regulation beyond porins.

9

References

- 1. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, *et al. Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance*. World Health Organization, 2014. (URL: http://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/10665/112642/1/9789241564748_eng.pdf).
- 2. US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, *et al*. Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2013. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*, 2013. (URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/ar-threats-2013-508.pdf</u>).
- 3. O'NEILL, Jim. Antimicrobial resistance: tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations. *Rev. Antimicrob. Resist*, 2014, vol. 20, p. 1-16.*URL:* <u>https://amr-</u>

 $\underline{review.org/sites/default/files/160518_Final\%20 paper_with\%20 cover.pdf}.$

- 4. BLAIR, Jessica MA, WEBBER, Mark A., BAYLAY, Alison J., *et al*.Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2015, vol. 13, no 1, p. 42 DOI 10.1038/nrmicro3380.
- DAVIN-REGLI, Anne, BOLLA, Jean-Michel, JAMES, Chloë E., et al. Membrane permeability and regulation of drug "influx and efflux" in enterobacterial pathogens. *Current drug targets*, 2008, vol. 9, n° 9, pp. 750-759 DOI 10.2174/138945008785747824.
- 6. NIKAIDO, Hiroshi et PAGÈS, Jean-Marie. Broad-specificity efflux pumps and their role in multidrug resistance of Gram-negative bacteria. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 2012, vol. 36, no 2, p. 340-363. DOI 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00290.x.
- 7. PAGÈS, Jean-Marie, JAMES, Chloë E., et WINTERHALTER, Mathias. The porin and the permeating antibiotic: a selective diffusion barrier in Gramnegative bacteria. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2008, vol. 6, n° 12, pp. 893. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro1994.
- 8. ACOSTA-GUTIÉRREZ, Silvia, FERRARA, Luana, PATHANIA, Monisha, et al. Getting drugs into Gram-negative bacteria: Rational rules for permeation through general porins. *ACS infectious diseases*, 2018. DOI 10.1021/acsinfecdis.8b00108.
- MASI, Muriel et PAGÈS, Jean-Marie. Structure, Function and Regulation of OM Proteins Involved in Drug Transport in Enterobactericeae: the OmpF/C– TolC Case. *The open microbiology journal*, 2013, vol. 7, pp. 22. DOI 10.2174/1874285801307010022.
- 10. MASI, Muriel, RÉFREGIERS, Matthieu, POS, Klaas M., *et al.* Mechanisms of envelope permeability and antibiotic influx and efflux in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nature microbiology*, 2017, vol. 2, n° 3, pp. 17001. DOI 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.
- 11. DAM, Sushovan, PAGÈS, Jean-Marie, et MASI, Muriel. Stress responses, OM permeability control and antimicrobial resistance in Enterobacteriaceae. *Microbiology*, 2018. DOI 10.1099/mic.0.000613.

- CHEN, Shuo, ZHANG, Aixia, BLYN, Lawrence B., *et al.* MicC, a second small-RNA regulator of Omp protein expression in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2004, vol. 186, n° 20, pp. 6689-6697. DOI 10.1128/JB.186.20.6689-6697.2004.
- 13. ANDERSEN, Janet, DELIHAS, Nicholas, IKENAKA, Kazuhiro, *et al.* The isolation and characterization of RNA coded by the micF gene in Escherichia coli. *Nucleic acids research*, 1987, vol. 15, no 5, p. 2089-2101. DOI 10.1093/nar/15.5.2089.
- 14. STORZ, Gisela, VOGEL, Jörg, et WASSARMAN, Karen M. Regulation by small RNAs in bacteria: expanding frontiers. *Molecular cell*, 2011, vol. 43, no 6, p. 880-891. DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.08.022.
- 15. BORNET, Charléric, DAVIN-REGLI, Anne, BOSI, Claude, *et al.*Imipenem resistance of Enterobacter aerogenes mediated by outer membrane permeability. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 2000, vol. 38, no 3, p. 1048-1052.
- 16. PRILIPOV, Alexej, PHALE, Prashant S., KOEBNIK, Ralf, *et al.*Identification and Characterization of Two Quiescent Porin Genes, nmpC and ompN, inEscherichia coli BE. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1998, vol. 180, n° 13, pp. 3388-3392.
- 17. DAM, Sushovan, PAGÈS, Jean-Marie, et MASI, Muriel. Dual regulation of the small RNA MicC and the quiescent porin OmpN in response to antibiotic stress in Escherichia coli. *Antibiotics*, 2017, vol. 6, no 4, p. 33. DOI 10.3390/antibiotics6040033.
- 18. BUSCH, Anke, RICHTER, Andreas S., et BACKOFEN, Rolf. IntaRNA: efficient prediction of bacterial sRNA targets incorporating target site accessibility and seed regions. Bioinformatics, 2008, vol. 24, no 24, p. 2849-2856. DOI 10.1093/bioinformatics/btn544.
- 19. MANN, Martin, WRIGHT, Patrick R., et BACKOFEN, Rolf. IntaRNA 2.0: enhanced and customizable prediction of RNA–RNA interactions. *Nucleic acids research*, 2017, vol. 45, no W1, p. W435-W439. DOI 10.1093/nar/gkx279.
- 20. PHILIPPE, Nadège, MAIGRE, Laure, SANTINI, Sébastien, *et al.*In vivo evolution of bacterial resistance in two cases of Enterobacter aerogenes infections during treatment with imipenem. *PLoS One*, 2015, vol. 10, no 9, p. e0138828. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0138828.
- 21. WANG, Zhong, GERSTEIN, Mark, et SNYDER, Michael. RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nature reviews genetics*, 2009, vol. 10, n° 1, pp. 57. DOI 10.1038/nrg2484.
- GARBER, Manuel, GRABHERR, Manfred G., GUTTMAN, Mitchell, *et al.* Computational methods for transcriptome annotation and quantification using RNA-seq. *Nature methods*, 2011, vol. 8, no 6, p. 469. DOI 10.1038/nmeth.1613.

- LUNTER, Gerton et GOODSON, Martin. Stampy: a statistical algorithm for sensitive and fast mapping of Illumina sequence reads. *Genome research*, 2011, vol. 21, no 6, p. 936-939. DOI 10.1101/gr.111120.110
- 24. LI, Heng, HANDSAKER, Bob, WYSOKER, Alec, *et al.* The sequence alignment/map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics*, 2009, vol. 25, no 16, p. 2078-2079. DOI 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp352.
- 25. LOVE, Michael I., HUBER, Wolfgang, et ANDERS, Simon. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome biology*, 2014, vol. 15, no 12, p. 550. 10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8.
- MANSILLA, Maria Cecilia, ALBANESI, Daniela, et DE MENDOZA, Diego. Transcriptional Control of the Sulfur-RegulatedcysH Operon, Containing Genes Involved inl-Cysteine Biosynthesis in Bacillus subtilis. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2000, vol. 182, no 20, p. 5885-5892. DOI 10.1128/JB.182.20.5885-5892.2000.
- 27. SUPEK, Fran, BOŠNJAK, Matko, ŠKUNCA, Nives, *et al*.REVIGO summarizes and visualizes long lists of gene ontology terms. *PloS one*, 2011, vol. 6, no 7, p. e21800. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0021800
- PRIMMER, C. R., PAPAKOSTAS, S., LEDER, E. H., *et al*. Annotated genes and nonannotated genomes: cross-species use of Gene Ontology in ecology and evolution research. *Molecular ecology*, 2013, vol. 22, no 12, p. 3216-3241. DOI 10.1111/mec.12309.
- 29. GARY, Jonathan D. et CLARKE, Steven. Purification and characterization of an isoaspartyl dipeptidase from Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1995, vol. 270, no 8, p. 4076-4087.
- 30. MARTÍ-ARBONA, Ricardo, FRESQUET, Vicente, THODEN, James B., *et al.* Mechanism of the reaction catalyzed by isoaspartyl dipeptidase from Escherichia coli. *Biochemistry*, 2005, vol. 44, no 19, p. 7115-7124. DOI 10.1021/bi050008r

Gene	FDR	Log2 expression	Gene product
name		change	
			protein refolding molecular co-chaperone Hsp90, Hsp70-dependent; heat-shock protein; ATPase [E. coli str. K-12
htpG	0,043	-1,219	substr. MG1655]
ybiM	0,033	-1,223	hypothetical protein [E. coli IAI39]
glgS	0,049	-1,241	motility and biofilm regulator [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
yhcO	0,017	-1,252	putative barnase inhibitor [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
marC	0,027	-1,292	UPF0056 family inner membrane protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
appB	0,041	-1,298	cytochrome bd-II oxidase subunit II [E. coli IAI39]
yifK	0,041	-1,304	putative APC family amino acid transporter [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
ydcJ	0,038	-1,312	putative metalloenzyme [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
yebV	0,017	-1,319	uncharacterized protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
ycaP	0,017	-1,336	UPF0702 family putative inner membrane protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
nhaA	0,047	-1,368	sodium-proton antiporter [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
			heat shock protein involved in degradation of mutant DnaA; hemimethylated oriC DNA-binding protein [E. coli
hspQ	0,008	-1,375	str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cutC	0,019	-1,376	cutC copper transporter homolog (E. coli) [Danio rerio(zebrafish)]
fic	0,033	-1,401	stationary phase-induced protein, putative toxin [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
dnaK	0,022	-1,425	chaperone Hsp70, with co-chaperone DnaJ [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
dppB	0,012	-1,436	dipeptide/heme ABC transporter permease [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
iadA	0,008	-1,463	isoaspartyl dipeptidase [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
zapA	0,023	-1,469	FtsZ stabilizer [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
ompC	0,021	-1,469	Outer membrane protein (porin) [Cell wall/membrane/envelope biogenesis][E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]

lysA	0,023	-1,480	diaminopimelate decarboxylase, PLP-binding [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
adhP	0,032	-1,482	ethanol-active dehydrogenase/acetaldehyde-active reductase [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
vffR	0,008	-1,502	uncharacterized protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
vgaU	0,023	-1,517	uncharacterized protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
vibT	0,026	-1,541	uncharacterized protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
			dipeptide/heme ABC transporter periplasmic binding protein; dipeptide chemotaxis receptor [E. coli str. K-12
dppA	0,040	-1,556	substr. MG1655]
			hydrogen peroxide and cadmium resistance periplasmic protein; stress-induced OB-fold protein [E. coli str. K-12
ygiW	0,016	-1,574	substr. MG1655]
yohC	0,011	-1,596	Yip1 family inner membrane protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
yjbJ	0,006	-1,655	stress-induced protein, UPF0337 family [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
rybA	0,009	-1,723	miscRNA [<i>E. coli</i> UMN026]
ybiI	0,009	-1,735	DksA-type zinc finger protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
sodA	0,034	-1,757	superoxide dismutase, Mn [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
ymdF	0,004	-1,780	KGG family protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
yjfO	0,008	-1,813	putative biofilm stress and motility protein A [E. coli IAI39]
yjiG	0,002	-1,820	SpmB family inner membrane protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
yncL	0,002	-1,858	stress-induced small inner membrane enterobacterial protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
exbD	0,003	-1,879	membrane spanning protein in TonB-ExbB-ExbD complex [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
exbB	0,000	-1,919	membrane spanning protein in TonB-ExbB-ExbD complex [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
bfd	0,011	-1,944	bacterioferritin-associated ferredoxin [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
			uncharacterized protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655], NAD(P)H nitroreductase [Bacillus subtilis subsp.
yodC	0,001	-1,970	subtilis str. 168]
yiaG	0,000	-1,989	HTH_CROC1 family putative transcriptional regulator [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
------	-------	--------	---
cbl	0,048	-2,031	ssuEADCB/tauABCD operon transcriptional activator [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
ivv	0.000	-2,053	inhibitor of c-type lysozyme, periplasmic [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysM	0,043	-2,055	cysteine synthase B (O-acetylserine sulfhydrolase B) [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
fhuA	0,011	-2,133	ferrichrome outer membrane transporter [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysP	0,023	-2,354	thiosulfate-binding protein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
			nucleoside recognition pore and gate family putative inner membrane transporter [E. coli str. K-12 substr.
yjiH	0,004	-2,409	MG1655]
cysW	0,029	-2,424	sulfate/thiosulfate ABC transporter permease [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysK	0,011	-2,425	cysteine synthase A, O-acetylserine sulfhydrolase A subunit [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysU	0,011	-2,445	sulfate/thiosulfate ABC transporter permease [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
ryjA	0,000	-2,574	ncRNA [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysA	0,023	-2,609	sulfate/thiosulfate transporter subunit [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysJ	0,004	-2,749	sulfite reductase, alpha subunit, flavoprotein [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
			phosphoadenosine phosphosulfate reductase; PAPS reductase, thioredoxin dependent [E. coli str. K-12 substr.
cysH	0,006	-2,958	MG1655]
cysN	0,007	-2,990	sulfate adenylyltransferase, subunit 1 [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
sbp	0,003	-2,998	sulfate transporter subunit [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysI	0,006	-3,029	HTH-type transcriptional regulator CysL [Bacillus subtilis subsp. subtilis str. 168]
cysD	0,007	-3,096	sulfate adenylyltransferase, subunit 2 [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
cysC	0,008	-3,124	adenosine 5'-phosphosulfate kinase [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
fhuF	0,000	-3,252	ferric iron reductase involved in ferric hydroximate transport [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]
yciW	0,001	-3,262	putative oxidoreductase [E. coli str. K-12 substr. MG1655]

Table 1: Differently downregulated genes (FDR cut-off = 0.05) identified in E. coli cells overexpressing MicC compared to E. coli WT MC4100.



(a) Fraction distribution of downregulated DEGs related GO terms based on molecular function, biological process, and cellular component. (b) Interactive graph of biological process of downregulated DEGs as a result of MicC overexpression in *E. coli* MC4100. The sizes of the circles are proportional to the number of genes associated with the specific term. The interactive network were summarized and plotted following published REVIGO protocol (<u>http://revigo.irb.hr</u>). **(a)**



(b)



Figure 2: Comparision showing MicC binding to (a) IadA mRNA (b) OmpC mRNA. IntaRNA tool was used to predict the RNA interactions.

Chapter 3: General conclusion

General discussion

The recent discovery of sRNAs as a class of powerful regulators has revolutionized our understanding of gene regulation. They impact almost every aspect of the bacterial physiology. Advantage of RNA-based regulation over protein-based regulation is multifold. Reduced metabolic cost, additional levels of regulation, faster regulation and unique regulatory properties are some, to name a few (reviewed in 578). Furthermore the ability of regulation at two levels with both a transcription regulator and basepairing sRNA, offers reduced leakiness of target gene expression. The expanding knowledge about these sRNA's particularly after the advent of advanced sequencing techniques will clarify if these molecules have multiple targets or roles in regulatory pathways.

Owing to the aforementioned advantages, sRNAs allows efficient adaptation of bacteria to their ever changing environment. Therefore, the involvement of sRNAs in antibiotic resistance is vital. There is accumulating evidence that *trans*-encoded sRNAs play an important role in regulatory circuits controlling antibiotic resistance. Adserschs they generate an immediate response, which is beneficial when antibiotic concentration increases rapidly. As illustrated in the review by Dersch *et.al*, 2017 (552), these circuits govern various processes, including functions required for antibiotic uptake, modifications of the cell envelope shielding against antimicrobials, drug efflux pumps expelling antibiotics, metabolic enzymes conferring resistance, production of biofilms protecting from antibiotics and DNA mutagenesis mechanisms facilitating evolution of novel resistances. The different *trans*-encoding sRNAs may regulate expression of resistance genes either directly by base-pairing or indirectly as members of regulatory cascades coordinating the response to antibiotics.



Figure 31: Control of antibiotic resistance by trans-encoded sRNAs. (A) A well known example of control of polymyxin resistance in *E. coli*. Enzyme EptB provides resistance to polymyxin B by modification of LPS with phosphoethanolamine. Translation of *eptB* mRNA is inhibited by sRNA MgrR, which is itself repressed by base pairing with the sponge sRNA SroC. Consequently, loss of MgrR increases and loss of SroC decreases resistance to polymyxin B. In addition, eptB is repressed by sRNA ArcZ (548), whose levels are controlled by the aerobic/anaerobic-sensing ArcA-ArcB two-component system (579). Counterintuitively, deletion of Hfq, which is required for activity of these sRNAs increases susceptibility to polymyxin B. This might be explained by a defective cell envelope stress response executed by RpoE. RpoE not only activates transcription of eptB but also of further Hfq-dependent sRNAs, which control LPS biogenesis and modification. Complexity is further increased by the fact that mgrR transcription is activated by the two-component system PhoPQ, which is repressed by sRNAs MicA and GcvB. (B) sRNA-mediated resistance to antibiotics targeting the cell wall biosynthesis enzyme GlmS. In Enterobacteriaceae small RNAs GlmY and GlmZ feedback-regulate GlmS synthesis to achieve homeostasis of the essential metabolite GlcN6P. Inhibition of GlmS by bacilysin and other antibiotics depletes GlcN6P, which is sensed by sRNA GlmY triggering its accumulation. By a mimicry mechanism GlmY counteracts degradation of the homologous sRNA GlmZ, which in turn selectively activates translation of glmS encoded within the glmUS operon. As a result, higher GlmS levels are produced compensating for its inhibition (figure acquired from Dersch et.al, 2017).

To date, systematic genome-wide searches have led to the identification of approximately 80 sRNAs in *E. coli*, the majority of which are conserved in *Salmonella* and other closely related species. Alteration of OM composition, particularly OMPs, represents one of the major mechanisms for antibiotic resistance. Interestingly about one-third of the reported sRNAs repress synthesis of OM proteins. So sRNAs influencing bacterial membrane synthesis or permeability could lead to antibiotic resistance. sRNAs such as MicF or MicC, which target the major porins OmpF and OmpC respectively, are probable to mediate antibiotic resistance. A few other known sRNA regulators of OMPs are InvR, MicA, OmrA/B, RseX, and RybB. Many parallels have been drawn between the

MicC and MicF sRNAs. Both repress the expression of porins by base pairing near the ribosome binding site, thereby blocking the translation, and both are encoded opposite to another porin gene (i.e. the *micF-ompC* and *micC-ompN* regions). Both the sRNAs are also conserved, together with their omp target sequences in *Salmonella, K. pneumoniae,* and *Enterobacter spp*. However, major questions such as (i) environmental conditions and/or intracellular regulatory pathways that promote maximal expression of MicC; (ii) the co-regulation of MicC and OmpN; (iii) the impact of such regulation on antibiotic susceptibility; and (iv) the prevalence of MicC/OmpN in MDR clinical isolates remain unanswered.

In this work, I had first set up a reporter gene assay by constructing *micC-lacZ* and *ompN-lacZ* translational fusions and evaluated their promoter activities under numerous stress conditions and in multiple genetic backgrounds. We optimized the assay by using 96-well microtiter plates, and screened the entire collection of compounds provided by the Biolog Phenotype MicroArrays[™] for bacterial chemical susceptibility, in order to extend the range of putative inducing cues. The response of micC-lacZ to antimicrobials was measured during growth over a 6 h time period. As seen in our work, we identified carbapenems and cephalosporins along with rpoE depleted mutant background to induce the *micC-lacZ* induction maximally. This data is significant as activation of *micC* promoter by carbapenems points towards a potential porin based antibiotic resistance response that is possibly prevalent in strains exposed to this drug. Carbapenems, among the β -lactams, is a broad spectrum antimicrobial prescribed for treatment of both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. Carbapenems are considered to be the most reliable last-resort treatment for bacterial infections, presenting fewer adverse effects, and are safer to use than other last-line drugs such as the polymyxins. However, *Enterobacteriaceae* have become increasingly resistant to carbapenems owing to extensive and irrational use in clinical practice. Well known mechanisms of carbapenem resistance includes the enzyme-mediated resistance by production of β -lactamases such as carbapenemases (101), or by the production of ESBL or AmpC. Another bacterial strategy is to limit the drug entry by porin modification. OprD for example, is an OMP of *P. aeruginosa* through which carbapenems enter its periplasmic space where PBPs are located (580). Liposome swelling assays have also exhibited carbapenems such as meropenem and imipenem to be of high relative permeability through porins (306). So the induction of MicC promoter in presence of these β-lactams for suppressing the major porin OmpC to limit drug entry is possibly a viable mechanism for limiting drug entry and hence evading antibiotic mediated killing. Porin loss alone has also been implicated in causing carbapenem resistance in few studies (344, 581). The effect of MicC overexpression on ompC expression was examined by monitoring OmpC protein levels directly by western blot analysis. E. coli MC4100 cells were transformed with MicC overexpression plasmid and OM extracts were prepared from cultures collected at exponential phase. The levels of OmpC were analyzed by Western blot with specific anti-peptide antibodies. Downregulation of *ompC* expression was confirmed by MicC sRNA. Although sub inhibitory concentrations of antimicrobial compounds identified for *micC* induction by reporter assays were not able to decrease *ompC* expression by a large margin, 10-30% reduction were observed in presence of imipenem and ertapenem. A recent work by Hao *et. al.* has confirmed the involvement of MicC in carbapenem resistance among clinical *E. aerogenes* isolates (581). They studied CRE isolates and evaluated the contribution of the major OMPs to carbapenem resistance. A two fold increase in MIC against carbapenems in clinically carbapenem susceptible isolate was observed when *micC*was overexpressed. The minor impact on the MIC results demonstrates the play of other unknown regulatory mechanisms.

We also employed Digoxigenin (DIG) labelled RNA probes for evaluating the MicC expression in the conditions inducing *micC* fusion. The total RNA extracted from the cells was transferred using Northern blot and the RNA expression was detected using an anti-DIG alkaline-phosphatase conjugated antibody. MC4100 cells overexpressing *micC* under IPTG inducible promoter harvested in the exponential phase was taken as a positive control. The analysis could not detect MicC in the total RNA extracted from cells grown under different stress condition, except in the positive control. We believe the DIG labeling system is not amply sensitive for identifying sRNAs in total RNA extracts and a more appropriate tool would be to use radiolabeled probes. Enriching the mRNA in total RNA sample as used for transcriptomics experiments might also be helpful in increasing the sensitivity.

Due to similar genetic organization of ompN-micC and ompC-micF, and the coinduction of ompC and micF under specific conditions (i.e., high osmolarity via EnvZ– OmpR), it has been suggested that ompN and micC could also be subjected to dual regulation. In our study the 18 compounds that were found to induce micC-lacZ fusions, also maximally induced the ompN-lacZ fusions. This hinted the possible existence of a dual co-regulation of micC and ompN in specific conditions. OmpN is a quiescent porin in *E. coli*, and has the same trimeric structure as OmpC and OmpF (320). It has a ~70% sequence identity to OmpC which is one of the preferred route for the uptake of β -lactam antibiotics across the OM of *E. coli* (368). Furthermore, the orthologous OmpK37 of *K. pneumoniae* has been shown to be expressed at low levels under standard laboratory growth conditions, but highly expressed in a β -lactam-resistant clinical isolate (389).



Figure 32 : Structure of the OmpN porin of *E. coli* acquired from the protein structure homology-modelling server SWISS MODEL. View of the trimer from the top. The range of color from blue to red represents the length of the peptide from blue being the N-terminus and red being the C-terminus of the peptide. The regions depicted in red color are also the ones which are most hydrophobic. The color scheme is as follows:



In the course of this study we have generated peptide specific antibodies for detection of OmpN with the help from Thermo Scientific Pierce custom antibody service, France. These specific antibodies were directed against the GGADNPAGVDDKDLVKYAD amino acid sequence found in the loop 7, and did not have cross reaction with the other major OMPs. Hence this can be a very useful tool for screening porin less MDR clinical isolates for examining expression of OmpN or its orthologs. This will shed light on existing but unknown porin based MDR mechanisms. Co-induction of *ompN-lacZ* as *micC-lacZ* fusions with the selected compounds led us to question the actual protein level of OmpN in the cells. However, OmpN production was undetectable in OM extracts prepared from cells grown in the presence of the sub- inhibitory concentrations of *micC* inducing compounds. It is worthy to note that Western blot analysis only provides steady-state levels of OmpC and OmpN. Additional reverse transcription PCR and pulse chase experiments are needed to conclude the effects of *micC* and *ompN* inducing conditions on the expression of OmpC and OmpN at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels, respectively.

To further discover the genetic factors and corresponding regulatory pathways that promotes the expression of MicC and their impact on OmpC/OmpN expression, we used chromosomal null mutants or overexpressing plasmids of various regulatory

factors in *E. coli* MC4100 background. Global regulators such as EnvZ-OmpR or MarA did not appear to play any role in *micC/ompN-lacZ* fusion activation. Meanwhile, envelope stress response regulator σ^{E} had an effect on them. When cells were depleted of σ^{E} upon the overexpression of its cognate anti-sigma RseA, the activity of both the micC- and *ompN–lacZ* fusions resulted in a 3–4-fold increase. Additionally, OmpN was also detected in OM extracts of cells grown under the same conditions. We suggest this regulation is most likely indirect, as the *micC-ompN* intergenic region does not contain a σ^{E} core promoter motif (582). As we have discussed above, σ^{E} is widespread among pathogenic and non-pathogenic bacteria, and becomes activated when bacterial envelope homeostasis is perturbed due to the misfolding of OMPs in the periplasm or severe OM damage by external stresses. *degP*, which encodes a periplasmic protease required for viability at high temperatures was also found to be activated in these conditions. Our data has shown a connection between antimicrobials impacting the OM, the envelope stress σ^{E} pathway, and MicC/OmpN expression. Our working hypothesis for explaining this phenomenon is that in the event of antibiotic exposure (carbapenems) and in the absence of the σ^{E} envelope stress response pathway, the cell uses sRNA based mechanism to maintain membrane integrity by possibly reducing the translation of misfolded porins. Translation of the major porin is overall reduced by Deep posttranscriptional regulation through MicC which also reduces the chances of antibiotic uptake, as this channel has been shown to do so. Meanwhile the cell simultaneously activates the *ompN* expression which has been found in our study to have no antibiotic translocation properties, but keeping the influx of nutrient intact for survival of the bacteria.

Our results have also showed that H-NS has a role in repressing the expression of MicC and OmpN. The expression of approximately 5% of the genes and/or the accumulation of their protein in *E. coli* is directly or indirectly controlled by H-NS. H-NS is a major component of the bacterial nucleoid and is known to have pleiotropic effects on gene expression, genome stability, and DNA recombination. A genomic study by Hommais *et. al.* on H-NS deleted mutants found that one third of the genes controlled by H-NS were predicted to encode cell envelope components or proteins that are usually involved in bacterial adaptation to changes in environmental conditions (583). So it is not surprising that it is connected with *micC/ompN* induction.

An interesting observation was made during our *lacZ* fusion experiments. The concentration of the compounds exhibiting highest Miller units for *micC/ompN* promoter activity was way beyond the MIC values (2X-8X) for the respective compound against the *lacZ* fusion strains. As a consequence the data was representing a fraction of the sub population of bacteria that was surviving the bacterial killing at such a high concentration. This led us to ponder about the possible involvement of persister cells (see 1.2.4.4). Persisters are suggested to arise either stochastically and continuously during population growth (so-called type II or stochastic), or are formed in response to an external (i.e. environmental) trigger (type I or determinative). So it is a possible

scenario that the envelope stress perpetuated by our screened compounds promotes persister formation. ESBLs and carbapepnemase producing strains have been implicated in biofilm formation and cause chronic infections which are known indicators of persisters. A recent work with *P. aeruginosa* clinical strains has demonstrated a change from a sensitive strain to a persister while applying carbapenems (Imipenem and meropenem) treatment (584). Interestingly at the same time porin OprD2 expression was lost which has been reported to be a prominent phenotype observed to evolve in 34 clinically isolated carbapenems resistant *P. aeruginosa* strains in a study done by the same group (584). This goes with our line of hypothesis of carbapenem treatment leading to suppression of major porin OmpC via MicC expression. Further studies looking for connection between carbapenem exposure and persister formation in *E. coli* will enable more understanding of these interconnected regulatory pathways in MDR.

Deep sequencing transcriptomics have been a godsend to understand the role of sRNAs as crucial elements for the bacterial response to antibiotics. Antibiotics are found to elicit much more extensive significant changes in the bacterial sRNA repertoire than previously thought. Many antisense RNAs are upregulated in methicillin-resistant S. *aureus* as well as in *M. tuberculosis* upon exposure to antibiotics frequently used to treat corresponding infections (585, 586). Similarly, in a MDR Pseudomonas putida strain 140 candidate sRNAs were detected, which responded to at least one of multiple tested antibiotics (587). Of note, each antibiotic generated a unique sRNA expression profile. All these observations are also in favor of a bacterial program in which sRNAs orchestrate responses to antibiotics. Further work is required to discriminate direct from indirect effects and to determine whether provoked sRNA profile changes contribute to drug tolerance. Our work with sRNA micC and carbapenems inspired us to look for the E. coli transcriptome under the effect of sub lethal concentrations of five clinically relevant carbapenems namely doripenem, ertapenem, meropenem, imipenem and biapenem. The objective was to have an understanding of any common sRNA regulatory pathways that is being trigerred by this class of β - lactams. An unforeseen clumping of cells was observed repeatedly when the cells were being stored in RNAprotect[®] Cell Reagent solution. This possibly led to an error prone collection of total RNA and the subsequent transcriptomic analysis was not conclusive. A refined protocol of a balanced antibiotic concentration enough for producing a stress response at the sRNA level and non-reactiveness of RNA stabilizing solution will possibly allow a more successful transcriptomic analysis.

As *micC* exists in almost all the enterobacterial genomes, it suggests that conserved targets exist to serve a wide range of cellular functions. I used RNA sequencing to determine the impact of the MicC overexpression on *E. coli* transcriptome and phenotype regarding antibiotic resistance. We discovered about 60 mRNA targets negatively regulated by MicC apart from its original target *ompC*. These targets were involved in diverse cellular functions ranging from protein processing, amino acid

metabolism, biofilm formation and motility to stress response. Many membrane proteins were also found to be transcriptionally inhibited along with OmpC. A further validation of these transcriptional targets by reporter fusions will help us in connecting stress response pathways with unknown bacterial physiology via MicC.

Antibiotics at sub-MIC concentrations not only trigger adaptive responses that enables bacteria to survive successive exposures to higher antibiotic concentrations and other lethal stresses (588, 589), but even have effects beyond. They increase mutation rates promoting emergence of novel antibiotic resistances and also stimulate the spread of resistance genes by horizontal transfer (590, 591). In E. coli, sub-MICs of antibiotics activate the master regulator of the general stress response, RpoS, which holds a key role in the latter processes. The *rpoS* mRNA represents a hub for post-transcriptional regulation as it is positively and negatively controlled by base pairing with multiple sRNAs including RprA (592, 593). One of these sRNAs apparently contributes to the induction of RpoS in response to ampicillin (Figure 33) (207). The cell wall damages caused by β -lactam antibiotics are sensed by the Rcs phosphorelay signal transduction system, which triggers activation of RpoS (Figure 33). However, upregulation of RpoS is indirect and occurs through an Hfq-dependent sRNA. The likely sRNA candidate is RprA because its expression is positively controlled by the Rcs system. Induction of RpoS not only activates genes counteracting stress, but also upregulates the error-prone DNA polymerase IV (PolIV), which incorporates spontaneous mutations (Figure 33) (564, 588). Moreover, RpoS activates expression of sRNA SdsR, which down-regulates the DNA mismatch repair protein MutS, thereby favoring fixation of the mutations introduced by PolIV (564). This mechanism increases genetic diversity, which could lead to mutations conferring antibiotic resistance (Figure 33). According to a study in Salmonella, RpoS and the sRNA RprA are also important for plasmid conjugation and could potentially have an impact on horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes (594).



Figure 33 : The response of *E. coli* to sublethal concentrations of ampicillin involves small RNAs. Sub-MIC concentrations of ampicillin induce the stress regulons controlled by RpoS, RpoE, RpoH, and the alarmone ppGpp (588). The resulting response renders cells resistant to higher ampicillin concentrations and other stresses. Induction of the RpoS-regulated general stress response occurs via accumulation of ppGpp and the Rcs phospho-relay system. Rcs senses peptidoglycan damage caused by ampicillin and activates RpoS via an Hfq-dependent sRNA, presumably RprA (595). Induction of the RpoS regulon also increases the level of the error-prone polymerase IV, which generates base-substitutions in the DNA (564). The introduced mutations become fixed because the levels of the mismatch repair protein MutS decrease upon ampicillin treatment. RpoS represses *mutS* indirectly by activating expression of sRNA SdsR, which downregulates *mutS* by base pairing. This mechanism leads to increased mutagenesis, which can generate mutations conferring antibiotic resistance.

General conclusion

The relationship between sRNAs and antibiotic resistance is very straightforward. As discussed in length in section 1.2.2, antibiotics can use miscellaneous mechanisms of action to target vital cellular processes such as nucleic acid and protein synthesis, as well as envelope integrity. All the while, sRNAs are strongly involved in these functions. As a consequence, perturbation of sRNA activity may lead to alteration of cellular processes, and a potential outcome is modulation of bacterial antibiotic resistance. As Hfq and CsrA are essential for the activity of numerous sRNAs, their inhibition was shown to down-regulate sRNA networks controlling multiple virulence relevant processes, which eventually can render bacteria not only non-infective but also more susceptible to antibiotics.

Importantly, inactivation of Hfq not only attenuates virulence but also increases susceptibility to antibiotics (596), which could also reflect the roles of Hfq-dependent trans-encoded sRNAs in this process. However, the effect of Hfq inactivation on individual resistance genes is difficult to predict, because they are often controlled by extensive regulatory networks involving multiple sRNAs (Figure 31). For instance, *eptB*, which provides resistance to polymyxin B, is repressed by the Hfq-dependent sRNA MgrR (Figure 31). However, deletion of Hfq counterintuitively increases susceptibility of uropathogenic *E. coli* to polymyxin B (597). The reason for this opposing effect is unclear, but might be attributable to the influence of Hfgdependent sRNAs on the RpoEdependent cell envelope stress response and thus envelope integrity, or the control of the MgrR sRNA by the two-component system PhoP/PhoQ, which is also regulated by Hfq-dependent sRNAs (Figure 31) (492, 512, 548). One of these sRNAs is GcvB (549), which is repressed by basepairing with the sponge sRNA SroC, similar to MgrR (598). However, whether downregulation of GcvB by SroC affects eptB expression remains to be clarified. This example illustrates that thorough knowledge of the complex regulatory network governing a resistance gene is a prerequisite to avoid unpredictable effects of this class of inhibitors.

As of now, a cyclic peptide RI20 has been identified to inhibit Hfq-mediated repression of gene, by binding with proximal binding site of Hfq (599). Another approach will be to inhibit sRNA interfering with porin expression that is involved in drug translocation. Recently, a small molecule was used to target human microRNA (miR)-525 precursors as an anti-cancer strategy (600). This promising discovery can be repeated in bacteria for manipulating sRNA levels, which may save the failing antibiotic therapies.

Emerging data has confirmed the fast and efficient translocation of antibiotics of different classes through bacterial membranes via OM pores or transporters (porins or efflux pumps). The concept of Structure Intracellular Concentration Activity

Relationship (SICAR) for explaining the physiochemical drug properties to the efficacy of translocation through membrane and the resulting intracellular accumulation will be an essential tool for designing new drugs. In addition to this, the knowledge of underlying regulatory mechanism objecting this intracellular mechanism will be a big benefit to counteract MDR. Antibiotic efficacy could be improved by manipulating the levels of sRNAs involved in resistance. Targeting the regulatory RNAs provides the opportunity to increase efficacy of existing antibiotics by rapid silencing of corresponding resistance genes in combined therapy. Recent progress in targeting microRNAs as discussed above (600), which are the eukaryotic counterparts of sRNAs, is in favor of this idea.

Altogether, our work has given compelling evidence that exposure to β -lactams induce a complex stress response to reduce the translocation of these antibiotics across the OM in *Enterobacteriaceae*. Further work will analyze how external stresses, such as β -lactams, interact with the σ^{E} envelope stress response and H-NS in laboratory strains, as well as in MDR clinical isolates. A refined knowledge of this pathway now awaits further optimization and evaluation with appropriate infection models.

References

- 1. HIBBING, Michael E., FUQUA, Clay, PARSEK, Matthew R., *et al.* Bacterial competition: surviving and thriving in the microbial jungle. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2010, vol. 8, n° 1, pp. 15. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro2259.
- SCHATZ, Albert, BUGIE, Elizabeth, WAKSMAN, Selman A. Streptomycin, a substance exhibiting antibiotic activity against gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. 1944. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research. 2005, vol. 437, pp. 3-6. PubMed PMID: 16056018.
- 3. LEWIS, Kim. "Platforms for antibiotic discovery." *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 2013, vol. 12, n° 5, pp. 371. DOI 10.1038/nrd3975.
- 4. WOODFORD, Neil, TURTON, Jane F., et LIVERMORE, David M. Multiresistant Gram-negative bacteria: the role of high-risk clones in the dissemination of antibiotic resistance. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 2011, vol. 35, no 5, p. 736-755. DOI 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00268.x.
- 5. MAGIORAKOS, A.-P., SRINIVASAN, A., CAREY, R. B., *et al.*Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clinical microbiology and infection*, 2012, vol. 18, no 3, p. 268-281.doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x.
- 6. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, et al. Antimicrobial resistance: global report on surveillance. World Health Organization, 2014. (URL: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/112642/1/9789241564748_eng.pdf).
- US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, *et al.*Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2013. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*, 2013. (URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/ar-threats-2013-508.pdf</u>).
- 8. O'NEILL, Jim. Antimicrobial resistance: tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations. *Rev. Antimicrob. Resist*, 2014, vol. 20, p. 1-16.URL: <u>https://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/160518 Final%20paper with%20cover.pdf</u>).
- 9. TACCONELLI, Evelina, CARRARA, Elena, SAVOLDI, Alessia, *et al.* Discovery, research, and development of new antibiotics: the WHO priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 2018, vol. 18, no 3, p. 318-327. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30753-3.
- 10. CLATWORTHY, Anne E., PIERSON, Emily, et HUNG, Deborah T. Targeting virulence: a new paradigm for antimicrobial therapy. *Nature chemical biology*, 2007, vol. 3, no 9, p. 541. doi:10.1038/nchembio.2007.24.
- 11. Boucher HW, Talbot GH, Bradley JS, Edwards JE, Gilbert D, Rice LB, Scheld M, Spellberg B, Bartlett J. Bad bugs, no drugs: no ESKAPE! An update from the

Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2009 Jan 1; 48(1):1-12. doi:10.1086/595011.

- 12. RICE, Louis B. Progress and challenges in implementing the research on ESKAPE pathogens. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 2010, vol. 31, no S1, p. S7-S10. doi:10.1086/655995.
- 13. RICE, Louis B. Federal funding for the study of antimicrobial resistance in nosocomial pathogens: no ESKAPE. 2008. doi:10.1086/533452.
- 14. BOUCHER, Helen W., TALBOT, George H., BENJAMIN JR, Daniel K., *et al.* 10×'20 progress—development of new drugs active against gram-negative bacilli: an update from the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 2013, vol. 56, no 12, p. 1685-1694.
- 15. SILHAVY, Thomas J., KAHNE, Daniel, et WALKER, Suzanne. The bacterial cell envelope. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, 2010, vol. 2, n° 5, pp. a000414. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a000414.
- 16. GARRETT, Roger A. The ribosome: structure, function, antibiotics, and cellular interactions. 2000.
- 17. NISSEN, Poul, HANSEN, Jeffrey, BAN, Nenad, *et al.* The structural basis of ribosome activity in peptide bond synthesis. *Science*, 2000, vol. 289, no 5481, p. 920-930. DOI: 10.1126/science.289.5481.920.
- KATZ, Leonard et ASHLEY, Gary W. Translation and protein synthesis: macrolides. *Chemical reviews*, 2005, vol. 105, no 2, p. 499-528 DOI: 10.1021/cr030107f.
- 19. MUKHTAR, Tariq A. et WRIGHT, Gerard D. Streptogramins, oxazolidinones, and other inhibitors of bacterial protein synthesis. *Chemical reviews*, 2005, vol. 105, no 2, p. 529-542 DOI: 10.1021/cr030110z.
- 20. VANNUFFEL, Pascal et COCITO, Carlo. Mechanism of action of streptogramins and macrolides. *Drugs*, 1996, vol. 51, no 1, p. 20-30.
- 21. MENNINGER, JOHN R. et OTTO, D. P. Erythromycin, carbomycin, and spiramycin inhibit protein synthesis by stimulating the dissociation of peptidyl-tRNA from ribosomes. *Antimicrobial agents and Chemotherapy*, 1982, vol. 21, no 5, p. 811-818.
- 22. TENSON, Tanel, LOVMAR, Martin, et EHRENBERG, Måns. The mechanism of action of macrolides, lincosamides and streptogramin B reveals the nascent peptide exit path in the ribosome. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2003, vol. 330, no 5, p. 1005-1014 DOI 10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00662-4.
- 23. CHOPRA, Ian et ROBERTS, Marilyn. Tetracycline antibiotics: mode of action, applications, molecular biology, and epidemiology of bacterial resistance. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews*, 2001, vol. 65, no 2, p. 232-260. DOI 10.1128/MMBR.65.2.232-260.2001.
- 24. DAVIS, Bernard D. Mechanism of bactericidal action of aminoglycosides. *Microbiological reviews*, 1987, vol. 51, no 3, p. 341.

- 25. WEISBLUM, BERNARD et DAVIES, JULIAN. Antibiotic inhibitors of the bacterial ribosome. *Bacteriological reviews*, 1968, vol. 32, no 4 Pt 2, p. 493.
- 26. HANCOCK, Robert EW. Aminoglycoside uptake and mode of action—with special reference to streptomycin and gentamicin: I. Antagonists and mutants. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 1981, vol. 8, no 4, p. 249-276.
- 27. KARIMI, Reza et EHRENBERG, Måns. Dissociation rate of cognate peptidyl-tRNA from the A-site of hyper-accurate and error-prone ribosomes. *European journal of biochemistry*, 1994, vol. 226, no 2, p. 355-360.
- 28. FOURMY, Dominique, RECHT, Michael I., BLANCHARD, Scott C., *et al.* Structure of the A site of Escherichia coli 16S ribosomal RNA complexed with an aminoglycoside antibiotic. *Science*, 1996, vol. 274, no 5291, p. 1367-1371.
- 29. PAPE, Tillmann, WINTERMEYER, Wolfgang, et RODNINA, Marina V. Conformational switch in the decoding region of 16S rRNA during aminoacyl-tRNA selection on the ribosome. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, 2000, vol. 7, no 2, p. 104. DOI doi.org/10.1038/72364.
- 30. KOHANSKI, Michael A., DWYER, Daniel J., HAYETE, Boris, *et al.* A common mechanism of cellular death induced by bactericidal antibiotics. *Cell*, 2007, vol. 130, no 5, p. 797-810. DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.049.
- 31. SENSI, P., MARGALITH, P., et TIMBAL, M. T. Rifomycin, a new antibiotic; preliminary report. *Il Farmaco; edizione scientifica*, 1959, vol. 14, no 2, p. 146.
- 32. SENSI, P. History of the development of rifampin. *Reviews of infectious diseases*, 1983, vol. 5, no Supplement_3, p. S402-S406.
- 33. HARTMANN, Guido. The specific inhibition of DNA-directed RNA synthesis by rifamycin. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta*, 1967, vol. 145, p. 843-844.
- 34. CAMPBELL, Elizabeth A., KORZHEVA, Nataliya, MUSTAEV, Arkady, *et al.* Structural mechanism for rifampicin inhibition of bacterial RNA polymerase. *Cell*, 2001, vol. 104, no 6, p. 901-912 DOI 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00286-0.
- 35. NARYSHKINA, Tatyana, MUSTAEV, Arkady, DARST, Seth, *et al.*The b'subunit of E. coli RNA polymerase is not required for interaction with initiating nucleotide but is necessary for interaction with Rifampicin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2001 10.1074/jbc.M011041200.
- 36. WEHRLI, Walter. Rifampin: mechanisms of action and resistance. *Reviews of infectious diseases*, 1983, vol. 5, no Supplement_3, p. S407-S411.
- 37. BURMAN, William J., GALLICANO, Keith, et PELOQUIN, Charles. Comparative pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the rifamycin antibacterials. *Clinical pharmacokinetics*, 2001, vol. 40, no 5, p. 327-341 DOI 10.2165/00003088-200140050-00002.
- 38. HOBBY, Gladys L. et LENERT, Tulita F. The action of rifampin alone and in combination with other antituberculous drugs. *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, 1970, vol. 102, no 3, p. 462-465.

- 39. ESPELI, Olivier et MARIANS, Kenneth J. Untangling intracellular DNA topology. *Molecular microbiology*, 2004, vol. 52, no 4, p. 925-931 DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04047.x.
- 40. GELLERT, Martin, MIZUUCHI, Kiyoshi, O'DEA, Mary H., *et al*.DNA gyrase: an enzyme that introduces superhelical turns into DNA. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1976, vol. 73, no 11, p. 3872-3876.
- 41. SUGINO, Akio, PEEBLES, Craig L., KREUZER, Kenneth N., *et al.* Mechanism of action of nalidixic acid: purification of Escherichia coli nalA gene product and its relationship to DNA gyrase and a novel nicking-closing enzyme. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1977, vol. 74, no 11, p. 4767-4771.
- 42. GELLERT, Martin, MIZUUCHI, Kiyoshi, O'DEA, Mary H., *et al*.Nalidixic acid resistance: a second genetic character involved in DNA gyrase activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1977, vol. 74, no 11, p. 4772-4776.
- 43. DRLICA, Karl, MALIK, Muhammad, KERNS, Robert J., *et al*.Quinolone-mediated bacterial death. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2008, vol. 52, no 2, p. 385-392 DOI 10.1128/AAC.01617-06.
- 44. CHEN, Chang-Rung, MALIK, Muhammad, SNYDER, Michael, *et al.* DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV on the bacterial chromosome: quinolone-induced DNA cleavage. *Journal of molecular biology*, 1996, vol. 258, no 4, p. 627-637.
- 45. DRLICA, Karl et ZHAO, Xilin. DNA gyrase, topoisomerase IV, and the 4quinolones. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews*, 1997, vol. 61, no 3, p. 377-392.
- 46. YOSHIDA, Hiroaki, BOGAKI, MAYUMI, NAKAMURA, M. I. K. A., *et al.* Quinolone resistance-determining region in the DNA gyrase gyrA gene of Escherichia coli. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1990, vol. 34, no 6, p. 1271-1272.
- 47. CABRAL, Joo H. Morais, JACKSON, Andrew P., SMITH, Clare V., *et al.* Crystal structure of the breakage–reunion domain of DNA gyrase. *Nature*, 1997, vol. 388, no 6645, p. 903.
- 48. HEDDLE, Jonathan et MAXWELL, Anthony. Quinolone-binding pocket of DNA gyrase: role of GyrB. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2002, vol. 46, no 6, p. 1805-1815 DOI 10.1128/AAC.46.6.1805-1815.2002.
- 49. COURCELLE, Justin et HANAWALT, Philip C. RecA-dependent recovery of arrested DNA replication forks. *Annual review of genetics*, 2003, vol. 37, no 1, p. 611-646. DOI 10.1146/annurev.genet.37.110801.142616.
- 50. HOWARD, B. M. A., PINNEY, R. J., et SMITH, J. T. Function of the SOS Process in Repair of DNA Damage Induced by Modern 4-Quinolones. *Journal of pharmacy and pharmacology*, 1993, vol. 45, no 7, p. 658-662.
- 51. HÖLTJE, Joachim-Volker. Growth of the stress-bearing and shape-maintaining murein sacculus of Escherichia coli. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews*, 1998, vol. 62, no 1, p. 181-203.

- 52. BUGG, T. D. H. et WALSH, C. T. Intracellular steps of bacterial cell wall peptidoglycan biosynthesis: enzymology, antibiotics, and antibiotic resistance. Natural product reports, 1992, vol. 9, n° 3, pp. 199-215.
- 53. BUGG, Timothy DH, BRADDICK, Darren, DOWSON, Christopher G., *et al.* Bacterial cell wall assembly: still an attractive antibacterial target. *Trends in biotechnology*, 2011, vol. 29, no 4, p. 167-173 DOI 10.1016/j.tibtech.2010.12.006.
- 54. PARK, James T. et UEHARA, Tsuyoshi. How bacteria consume their own exoskeletons (turnover and recycling of cell wall peptidoglycan). *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 2008, vol. 72, no 2, p. 211-227 DOI 10.1128/MMBR.00027-07.
- 55. TOMASZ, Alexander. The mechanism of the irreversible antimicrobial effects of penicillins: how the beta-lactam antibiotics kill and lyse bacteria. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 1979, vol. 33, no 1, p. 113-137.
- 56. WISE, Edmund M. et PARK, James T. Penicillin: its basic site of action as an inhibitor of a peptide cross-linking reaction in cell wall mucopeptide synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1965, vol. 54, no 1, p. 75-81.
- 57. TIPPER, Donald J. et STROMINGER, Jack L. Mechanism of action of penicillins: a proposal based on their structural similarity to acyl-D-alanyl-D-alanine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1965, vol. 54, no 4, p. 1133-1141.
- 58. WAXMAN, D. J., YOCUM, R. R., et STROMINGER, J. L. Penicillins and cephalosporins are active site-directed acylating agents: evidence in support of the substrate analogue hypothesis. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B*, 1980, vol. 289, no 1036, p. 257-271.
- 59. JOSEPHINE, Helen R., KUMAR, Ish, et PRATT, R. F. The perfect penicillin? Inhibition of a bacterial DD-peptidase by peptidoglycan-mimetic βlactams. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 2004, vol. 126, no 26, p. 8122-8123 DOI 10.1021/ja048850s.
- 60. KAHNE, Dan, LEIMKUHLER, Catherine, LU, Wei, *et al.*Glycopeptide and lipoglycopeptide antibiotics. *Chemical reviews*, 2005, vol. 105, no 2, p. 425-448 DOI 10.1021/cr030103a.
- 61. BENEDICT, R. G. et LANGLYKKE, A. F. Antibiotic activity of Bacillus polymyxa. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1947, vol. 54, no 1, p. 24.
- 62. HANCOCK, Robert EW. Peptide antibiotics. *The Lancet*, 1997, vol. 349, no 9049, p. 418-422 DOI 10.1016/S0140-6736(97)80051-7.
- 63. LI, Jian, RAYNER, Craig R., NATION, Roger L., *et al*.Heteroresistance to colistin in multidrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2006, vol. 50, no 9, p. 2946-2950 DOI 10.1128/AAC.00103-06.
- 64. FALAGAS, Matthew E., RAFAILIDIS, Petros I., et MATTHAIOU, Dimitrios K. Resistance to polymyxins: mechanisms, frequency and treatment options. *Drug*

resistance updates, 2010, vol. 13, no 4-5, p. 132-138 DOI 10.1016/j.drup.2010.05.002.

- 65. POIREL, Laurent, JAYOL, Aurélie, et NORDMANN, Patrice. Polymyxins: antibacterial activity, susceptibility testing, and resistance mechanisms encoded by plasmids or chromosomes. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 2017, vol. 30, no 2, p. 557-596 DOI 10.1128/CMR.00064-16.
- 66. YU, Zhiliang, QIN, Wangrong, LIN, Jianxun, *et al.* Antibacterial mechanisms of polymyxin and bacterial resistance. *BioMed research international*, 2015, vol. 2015 DOI 10.1155/2015/679109.
- 67. DIXON, Ronald A. et CHOPRA, Ian. Polymyxin B and polymyxin B nonapeptide alter cytoplasmic membrane permeability in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 1986, vol. 18, no 5, p. 557-563.
- 68. CAJAL, Yolanda, ROGERS, Joseph, BERG, Otto G., *et al*.Intermembrane molecular contacts by polymyxin B mediate exchange of phospholipids. *Biochemistry*, 1996, vol. 35, no 1, p. 299-308.
- 69. CLAUSELL, Adrià, GARCIA-SUBIRATS, Maria, PUJOL, Montserrat, *et al.* Gramnegative outer and inner membrane models: insertion of cyclic cationic lipopeptides. *The journal of physical chemistry B*, 2007, vol. 111, no 3, p. 551-563 DOI: 10.1021/jp064757+.
- 70. DERIS, Zakuan Z., AKTER, Jesmin, SIVANESAN, Sivashangarie, *et al.* A secondary mode of action of polymyxins against Gram-negative bacteria involves the inhibition of NADH-quinone oxidoreductase activity. *The Journal of antibiotics*, 2014, vol. 67, no 2, p. 147 DOI 10.1038/ja.2013.111.
- 71. FALAGAS, Matthew E., KASIAKOU, Sofia K., et SARAVOLATZ, Louis D. Colistin: the revival of polymyxins for the management of multidrug-resistant gram-negative bacterial infections. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 2005, vol. 40, no 9, p. 1333-1341 10.1086/429323.
- 72. JEANNOT, Katy, BOLARD, Arnaud, et PLÉSIAT, Patrick. Resistance to polymyxins in Gram-negative organisms. *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 2017, vol. 49, no 5, p. 526-535 DOI 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2016.11.029.
- 73. BUSHBY, S. R. M. et HITCHINGS, G. H. Trimethoprim, a sulphonamide potentiator. *British journal of pharmacology and chemotherapy*, 1968, vol. 33, no 1, p. 72-90.
- 74. KWON, Yun Kyung, HIGGINS, Meytal B., et RABINOWITZ, Joshua D. Antifolateinduced depletion of intracellular glycine and purines inhibits thymineless death in E. coli. *ACS chemical biology*, 2010, vol. 5, no 8, p. 787-795 DOI 10.1021/cb100096f.
- 75. MIERT, ASJPAM van. The sulfonamide-diaminopyrimidine story. *Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics*, 1994, vol. 17, no 4, p. 309-316.
- 76. BACCANARI, D. P. et KUYPER, L. F. Basis of selectivity of antibacterial diaminopyrimidines. *Journal of chemotherapy*, 1993, vol. 5, no 6, p. 393-399.

- 77. DOMAGK, Gerhard. Chemotherapy of bacterial infections. *Angewandte Chemie*, 1935, vol. 48, no. 42, p. 657-667.
- 78. THEN, R. et ANGEHRN, P. Sulphonamide-induced 'thymineless death'in Escherichia coli. *Microbiology*, 1973, vol. 76, no 2, p. 255-263.
- 79. DWYER, Daniel J., KOHANSKI, Michael A., HAYETE, Boris, *et al.* Gyrase inhibitors induce an oxidative damage cellular death pathway in Escherichia coli. *Molecular systems biology*, 2007, vol. 3, no 1, p. 91 DOI 10.1038/msb4100135.
- 80. KOHANSKI, Michael A. et COLLINS, James J. Rewiring bacteria, two components at a time. *Cell*, 2008, vol. 133, no 6, p. 947-948 10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.035.
- 81. DWYER, Daniel J., KOHANSKI, Michael A., et COLLINS, James J. Role of reactive oxygen species in antibiotic action and resistance. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2009, vol. 12, no 5, p. 482-489 DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2009.06.018.
- KOHANSKI, Michael A., DWYER, Daniel J., et COLLINS, James J. How antibiotics kill bacteria: from targets to networks. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2010, vol. 8, n° 6, pp. 423. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro2333.
- 83. BELENKY, Peter et COLLINS, James J. Antioxidant strategies to tolerate antibiotics. *Science*, 2011, vol. 334, no 6058, p. 915-916 DOI: 10.1126/science.1214823.
- 84. FOTI, James J., DEVADOSS, Babho, WINKLER, Jonathan A., *et al.* Oxidation of the guanine nucleotide pool underlies cell death by bactericidal antibiotics. *Science*, 2012, vol. 336, no 6079, p. 315-319 DOI: 10.1126/science.1219192.
- 85. DWYER, Daniel J., CAMACHO, Diogo M., KOHANSKI, Michael A., *et al.* Antibioticinduced bacterial cell death exhibits physiological and biochemical hallmarks of apoptosis. *Molecular cell*, 2012, vol. 46, no 5, p. 561-572 DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.04.027.
- 86. BRYNILDSEN, Mark P., WINKLER, Jonathan A., SPINA, Catherine S., *et al.* Potentiating antibacterial activity by predictably enhancing endogenous microbial ROS production. *Nature biotechnology*, 2013, vol. 31, no 2, p. 160 DOI 10.1038/nbt.2458.
- 87. DWYER, Daniel J., BELENKY, Peter A., YANG, Jason H., *et al*. Antibiotics induce redox-related physiological alterations as part of their lethality. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2014, vol. 111, no 20, p. E2100-E2109 DOI 10.1073/pnas.1401876111.
- 88. LOBRITZ, Michael A., BELENKY, Peter, PORTER, Caroline BM, *et al.* Antibiotic efficacy is linked to bacterial cellular respiration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2015, p. 201509743 DOI 10.1073/pnas.1509743112.
- 89. BELENKY, Peter, JONATHAN, D. Ye, PORTER, Caroline BM, *et al.* Bactericidal antibiotics induce toxic metabolic perturbations that lead to cellular damage. *Cell reports*, 2015, vol. 13, no 5, p. 968-980 DOI 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.09.059.
- 90. LING, Jiqiang, CHO, Chris, GUO, Li-Tao, *et al.* Protein aggregation caused by aminoglycoside action is prevented by a hydrogen peroxide scavenger. *Molecular cell*, 2012, vol. 48, no 5, p. 713-722 DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.10.001.

- 91. KIM, Jun-Seob, HEO, Paul, YANG, Tae-Jun, *et al.* Bacterial persisters tolerate antibiotics by not producing hydroxyl radicals. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 2011, vol. 413, no 1, p. 105-110 DOI 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.08.063.
- 92. LEWIS, Kim. Persister cells. *Annual review of microbiology*, 2010, vol. 64, p. 357-372 DOI 10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134306.
- 93. LIU, Yuanyuan et IMLAY, James A. Cell death from antibiotics without the involvement of reactive oxygen species. *Science*, 2013, vol. 339, no 6124, p. 1210-1213 DOI 10.1126/science.1232751.
- 94. KEREN, Iris, WU, Yanxia, INOCENCIO, Julio, *et al.* Killing by bactericidal antibiotics does not depend on reactive oxygen species. *Science*, 2013, vol. 339, no 6124, p. 1213-1216 DOI 10.1126/science.1232688.
- 95. EZRATY, Benjamin, VERGNES, Alexandra, BANZHAF, Manuel, *et al.* Fe-S cluster biosynthesis controls uptake of aminoglycosides in a ROS-less death pathway. *Science*, 2013, vol. 340, no 6140, p. 1583-1587 DOI 10.1126/science.1238328.
- 96. WALSH, Christopher. Molecular mechanisms that confer antibacterial drug resistance. Nature, 2000, vol. 406, n° 6797, pp. 775. DOI 10.1038/35021219.
- 97. IREDELL, Jon, BROWN, Jeremy, et TAGG, Kaitlin. Antibiotic resistance in *Enterobacteriaceae*: mechanisms and clinical implications. *Bmj*, 2016, vol. 352, pp. h6420. DOI 10.1136/bmj.h6420.
- 98. BLAIR, Jessica MA, WEBBER, Mark A., BAYLAY, Alison J., *et al*.Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2015, vol. 13, no 1, p. 42 DOI 10.1038/nrmicro3380.
- 99. DAVIN-REGLI, Anne, BOLLA, Jean-Michel, JAMES, Chloë E., et al. Membrane permeability and regulation of drug "influx and efflux" in enterobacterial pathogens. *Current drug targets*, 2008, vol. 9, n° 9, pp. 750-759 DOI 10.2174/138945008785747824.
- 100. BUSH, Karen. Alarming β-lactamase-mediated resistance in multidrug-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2010, vol. 13, no 5, p. 558-564 DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2010.09.006.
- 101. NORDMANN, Patrice, NAAS, Thierry, et POIREL, Laurent. Global spread of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 2011, vol. 17, no 10, p. 1791 DOI 10.3201/eid1710.110655.
- 102. JEON, Jeong Ho, LEE, Jung Hun, LEE, Jae Jin, *et al.* Structural basis for carbapenemhydrolyzing mechanisms of carbapenemases conferring antibiotic resistance. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 2015, vol. 16, no 5, p. 9654-9692 DOI 10.3390/ijms16059654.
- 103. LEE, Chang-Ro, LEE, Jung Hun, PARK, Kwang Seung, *et al.*Global dissemination of carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae: epidemiology, genetic context, treatment options, and detection methods. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2016, vol. 7, p. 895 DOI 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00895.

- 104. MUNOZ-PRICE, L. Silvia, POIREL, Laurent, BONOMO, Robert A., *et al.* Clinical epidemiology of the global expansion of Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemases. *The Lancet infectious diseases*, 2013, vol. 13, no 9, p. 785-796 DOI 10.1016/S1473-3099(13)70190-7.
- 105. WRIGHT, Hugh, BONOMO, Robert A., et PATERSON, David L. New agents for the treatment of infections with Gram-negative bacteria: restoring the miracle or false dawn?. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 2017 DOI 10.1016/j.cmi.2017.09.001.
- 106. LEE, Chang-Ro, LEE, Jung Hun, PARK, Kwang Seung, *et al*.Antimicrobial resistance of hypervirulent Klebsiella pneumoniae: epidemiology, hypervirulenceassociated determinants, and resistance mechanisms. *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology*, 2017, vol. 7, p. 483 DOI 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00483.
- 107. SMITH, Clyde A. et BAKER, Edward N. Aminoglycoside antibiotic resistance by enzymatic deactivation. *Current Drug Targets-Infectious Disorders*, 2002, vol. 2, no 2, p. 143-160 DOI 10.2174/1568005023342533.
- 108. HOOPER, David C. et JACOBY, George A. Mechanisms of drug resistance: quinolone resistance. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 2015, vol. 1354, n° 1, pp. 12-31. DOI 10.1111/nyas.12830.
- 109. MANCHESTER, John I., BUURMAN, Ed T., BISACCHI, Gregory S., et al. Molecular Determinants of AcrB-Mediated Bacterial Efflux Implications for Drug Discovery: Miniperspective. Journal of medicinal chemistry, 2012, vol. 55, no 6, p. 2532-2537 DOI 10.1021/jm201275d.
- 110. ZGURSKAYA, Helen I., BAVRO, Vassiliy N., WEEKS, Jon W., *et al.* Multidrug Efflux in the Context of Two-Membrane Cell Envelopes. In: *Efflux-Mediated Antimicrobial Resistance in Bacteria*. Adis, Cham, 2016. p. 99-128 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-39658-3_5.
- 111. SILVER, Lynn L. A Gestalt approach to Gram-negative entry. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry*, 2016, vol. 24, n° 24, pp. 6379-6389. DOI 10.1016/j.bmc.2016.06.044.
- 112. MASI, Muriel, RÉFREGIERS, Matthieu, POS, Klaas M., *et al.* Mechanisms of envelope permeability and antibiotic influx and efflux in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nature microbiology*, 2017, vol. 2, n° 3, pp. 17001. DOI 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.
- 113. GROISMAN, Eduardo A. The pleiotropic two-component regulatory system PhoP-PhoQ. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2001, vol. 183, no 6, p. 1835-1842 DOI 10.1128/JB.183.6.1835-1842.2001.
- 114. CHEN, H. Deborah et GROISMAN, Eduardo A. The biology of the PmrA/PmrB twocomponent system: the major regulator of lipopolysaccharide modifications. *Annual review of microbiology*, 2013, vol. 67, p. 83-112. DOI 10.1146/annurev-micro-092412-155751.
- 115. LIU, Yi-Yun, WANG, Yang, WALSH, Timothy R., et al. Emergence of plasmidmediated colistin resistance mechanism MCR-1 in animals and human beings in

China: a microbiological and molecular biological study. The Lancet infectious diseases, 2016, vol. 16, n° 2, pp. 161-168. DOI 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00424-7.

- SKOV, Robert L. et MONNET, Dominique L. Plasmid-mediated colistin resistance (mcr-1 gene): three months later, the story unfolds. *Eurosurveillance*, 2016, vol. 21, no 9, p. 30155 DOI 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.9.30155.
- 117. LEWIS, Kim. Persister cells, dormancy and infectious disease. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2007, vol. 5, no 1, p. 48 DOI 10.1038/nrmicro1557.
- 118. BALABAN, Nathalie Q., MERRIN, Jack, CHAIT, Remy, *et al*.Bacterial persistence as a phenotypic switch. *Science*, 2004, vol. 305, no 5690, p. 1622-1625 DOI 10.1126/science.1099390.
- 119. SHAH, Devang, ZHANG, Zhigang, KHODURSKY, Arkady B., et al. Persisters: a distinct physiological state of E. coli. BMC microbiology, 2006, vol. 6, no 1, p. 53 DOI 10.1186/1471-2180-6-53.
- 120. KEREN, Iris, KALDALU, Niilo, SPOERING, Amy, et al. Persister cells and tolerance to antimicrobials. FEMS microbiology letters, 2004, vol. 230, no 1, p. 13-18 DOI 10.1016/S0378-1097(03)00856-5.
- STEWART, Philip S. et FRANKLIN, Michael J. Physiological heterogeneity in biofilms. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2008, vol. 6, no 3, p. 199 DOI 10.1038/nrmicro1838.
- DÖRR, Tobias, VULIĆ, Marin, et LEWIS, Kim. Ciprofloxacin causes persister formation by inducing the TisB toxin in Escherichia coli. *PLoS biology*, 2010, vol. 8, no 2, p. e1000317 DOI 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000317.
- 123. VÁZQUEZ-LASLOP, Nora, LEE, Hyunwoo, et NEYFAKH, Alexander A. Increased persistence in Escherichia coli caused by controlled expression of toxins or other unrelated proteins. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2006, vol. 188, no 10, p. 3494-3497 DOI 10.1128/JB.188.10.3494-3497.2006.
- 124. MAISONNEUVE, Etienne, CASTRO-CAMARGO, Manuela, et GERDES, Kenn. (p) ppGpp controls bacterial persistence by stochastic induction of toxin-antitoxin activity. *Cell*, 2013, vol. 154, no 5, p. 1140-1150 DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.048.
- 125. KWAN, Brian W., VALENTA, John A., BENEDIK, Michael J., et al. Arrested protein synthesis increases persister-like cell formation. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2013, p. AAC. 02135-12 DOI 10.1128/AAC.02135-12.
- 126. HANSEN, Sonja, LEWIS, Kim, et VULIĆ, Marin. Role of global regulators and nucleotide metabolism in antibiotic tolerance in Escherichia coli. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2008, vol. 52, no 8, p. 2718-2726 DOI 10.1128/AAC.00144-08.
- 127. MAISONNEUVE, Etienne, SHAKESPEARE, Lana J., JØRGENSEN, Mikkel Girke, *et al.* Bacterial persistence by RNA endonucleases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2011, vol. 108, no 32, p. 13206-13211 DOI 10.1073/pnas.1100186108.

- 128. MAISONNEUVE, Etienne et GERDES, Kenn. Molecular mechanisms underlying bacterial persisters. *Cell*, 2014, vol. 157, no 3, p. 539-548 DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.050.
- 129. VEGA, Nicole M., ALLISON, Kyle R., KHALIL, Ahmad S., *et al.*Signaling-mediated bacterial persister formation. *Nature chemical biology*, 2012, vol. 8, no 5, p. 431DOI 10.1038/nchembio.915.
- 130. HIRAKAWA, Hidetada, INAZUMI, Yoshihiko, MASAKI, Takeshi, *et al.* Indole induces the expression of multidrug exporter genes in Escherichia coli. *Molecular microbiology*, 2005, vol. 55, no 4, p. 1113-1126 DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04449.x.
- 131. LEE, Jin-Hyung et LEE, Jintae. Indole as an intercellular signal in microbial communities. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 2010, vol. 34, no 4, p. 426-444 DOI 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2009.00204.x.
- 132. KOBAYASHI, Asuka, HIRAKAWA, Hidetada, HIRATA, Takahiro, *et al.* Growth phase-dependent expression of drug exporters in Escherichia coli and its contribution to drug tolerance. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2006, vol. 188, no 16, p. 5693-5703 DOI 10.1128/JB.00217-06.
- 133. HU, Ying, KWAN, Brian W., OSBOURNE, Devon O., *et al.* Toxin YafQ increases persister cell formation by reducing indole signalling. *Environmental microbiology*, 2015, vol. 17, no 4, p. 1275-1285 DOI 10.1111/1462-2920.12567.
- 134. KWAN, Brian W., OSBOURNE, Devon O., HU, Ying, *et al*.Phosphodiesterase DosP increases persistence by reducing cAMP which reduces the signal indole. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 2015, vol. 112, no 3, p. 588-600 DOI 10.1002/bit.25456.
- 135. PU, Yingying, ZHAO, Zhilun, LI, Yingxing, et al. Enhanced efflux activity facilitates drug tolerance in dormant bacterial cells. Molecular cell, 2016, vol. 62, no 2, p. 284-294 DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2016.03.035.
- 136. CHAO, Michael C. et RUBIN, Eric J. Letting sleeping dos lie: does dormancy play a role in tuberculosis?. *Annual review of microbiology*, 2010, vol. 64, p. 293-311 DOI 10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134043.
- 137. MULCAHY, Lawrence R., BURNS, Jane L., LORY, Stephen, *et al.* Emergence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa strains producing high levels of persister cells in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2010, vol. 192, no 23, p. 6191-6199 DOI 10.1128/JB.01651-09.
- 138. FAUVART, Maarten, DE GROOTE, Valerie N., et MICHIELS, Jan. Role of persister cells in chronic infections: clinical relevance and perspectives on anti-persister therapies. *Journal of medical microbiology*, 2011, vol. 60, no 6, p. 699-709 DOI 10.1099/jmm.0.030932-0.
- 139. GLAUERT, Audrey M. et THORNLEY, Margaret J. The topography of the bacterial cell wall. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 1969, vol. 23, no 1, p. 159-198.
- 140. MITCHELL, Peter. Approaches to the analysis of specific membrane transport. *Biological structure and function*, 1961, vol. 2, p. 581-599.

- 141. HEPPEL, LEON A. The concept of periplasmic enzymes. In : *Structure and function of biological membranes*. 1971. p. 223-247.
- 142. MIURA, Takashi et MIZUSHIMA, Shoji. Separation by density gradient centrifugation of two types of membranes from spheroplast membrane of Escherichia coli K12. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1968, vol. 150, no 1, p. 159-161.
- 143. OSBORN, M. J., GANDER, J. E., PARISI, E., *et al.* Mechanism of assembly of the OM of Salmonella typhimurium isolation and characterization of cytoplasmic and OM. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1972, vol. 247, no 12, p. 3962-3972.
- 144. KAMIO, Yoshiyuki et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. OM of Salmonella typhimurium: accessibility of phospholipid head groups to phospholipase c and cyanogen bromide activated dextran in the external medium. *Biochemistry*, 1976, vol. 15, no 12, p. 2561-2570.
- 145. RAETZ, Christian RH, REYNOLDS, C. Michael, TRENT, M. Stephen, *et al.* Lipid A modification systems in gram-negative bacteria. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 2007, vol. 76, p. 295-329 DOI 10.1146/annurev.biochem.76.010307.145803.
- 146. SCHLETTER, Jens, HEINE, Holger, ULMER, Artur J., et al. Molecular mechanisms of endotoxin activity. Archives of microbiology, 1995, vol. 164, n° 6, pp. 383-389.
- 147. GUNN, John S., LIM, Kheng B., KRUEGER, Jackie, *et al.* PmrA–PmrB-regulated genes necessary for 4-aminoarabinose lipid A modification and polymyxin resistance. *Molecular microbiology*, 1998, vol. 27, no 6, p. 1171-1182, DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.00757.x.
- 148. GUO, Lin, LIM, Kheng B., GUNN, John S., et al. Regulation of lipid A modifications by Salmonella typhimurium virulence genes phoP-phoQ. Science, 1997, vol. 276, no 5310, p. 250-253 10.1126/science.276.5310.250.
- 149. GIBBONS, Henry S., KALB, Suzanne R., COTTER, Robert J., *et al.* Role of Mg2+ and pH in the modification of Salmonella lipid A after endocytosis by macrophage tumour cells. *Molecular microbiology*, 2005, vol. 55, no 2, p. 425-440 DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04409.x.
- 150. BADER, Martin W., SANOWAR, Sarah, DALEY, Margaret E., *et al.* Recognition of antimicrobial peptides by a bacterial sensor kinase. *Cell*, 2005, vol. 122, no 3, p. 461-472 10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.030.
- 151. TRENT, M. Stephen, RIBEIRO, Anthony A., LIN, Shanhua, et al.An Inner Membrane Enzyme in Salmonellaand Escherichia coli That Transfers 4-Amino-4-deoxylarabinose to Lipid A INDUCTION IN POLYMYXIN-RESISTANT MUTANTS AND ROLE OF A NOVEL LIPID-LINKED DONOR. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2001, vol. 276, no 46, p. 43122-43131 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M106961200.
- 152. TRENT, M. Stephen, PABICH, Wendy, RAETZ, Christian RH, et al. A PhoP/PhoQinduced Lipase (PagL) That Catalyzes 3-O-Deacylation of Lipid A Precursors in Membranes of Salmonella typhimurium. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2001, vol. 276, no 12, p. 9083-9092 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M010730200.

- 153. TRENT, M. S. et RAETZ, C. R. H. Cloning of EptA, the lipid A phosphoethanolamine transferase associated with polymyxin resistance. *J Endotoxin Res*, 2002, vol. 8, p. 159.
- 154. TRAN, An X., KARBARZ, Mark J., WANG, Xiaoyuan, *et al*.Periplasmic cleavage and modification of the 1-phosphate group of Helicobacter pylori lipid A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2004 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M406480200.
- 155. LEE, Hyunwoo, HSU, Fong-Fu, TURK, John, *et al.* The PmrA-regulated pmrC gene mediates phosphoethanolamine modification of lipid A and polymyxin resistance in Salmonella enterica. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2004, vol. 186, no 13, p. 4124-4133 DOI 10.1128/JB.186.13.4124-4133.2004.
- 156. REYNOLDS, C. Michael, KALB, Suzanne R., COTTER, Robert J., *et al.* A phosphoethanolamine transferase specific for the outer 3-deoxy-D-manno-octulosonic acid residue of Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide. Identification of the eptB gene and Ca++ hypersensitivity of an eptB deletion mutant. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2005 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M500964200.
- 157. REYNOLDS, C. Michael, RIBEIRO, Anthony A., MCGRATH, Sara C., *et al.* An OM enzyme encoded by Salmonella typhimurium lpxR that removes the 3'-acyloxyacyl moiety of lipid A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2006 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M603527200.
- 158. NISHIJIMA, M. et RAETZ, C. R. Membrane lipid biogenesis in Escherichia coli: identification of genetic loci for phosphatidylglycerophosphate synthetase and construction of mutants lacking phosphatidylglycerol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1979, vol. 254, no 16, p. 7837-7844.
- 159. TAKAYAMA, K., QURESHI, N., MASCAGNI, P., *et al*.Glucosamine-derived phospholipids in Escherichia coli. Structure and chemical modification of a triacyl glucosamine 1-phosphate found in a phosphatidylglycerol-deficient mutant. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1983, vol. 258, no 23, p. 14245-14252.
- 160. GUAN, Ziqiang, BREAZEALE, Steven D., et RAETZ, Christian RH. Extraction and identification by mass spectrometry of undecaprenyl diphosphate-MurNAcpentapeptide-GlcNAc from Escherichia coli. *Analytical biochemistry*, 2005, vol. 345, no 2, p. 336-339 DOI 10.1016/j.ab.2005.07.002.
- 161. BULAWA, Ch E. et RAETZ, C. R. The biosynthesis of gram-negative endotoxin. Identification and function of UDP-2, 3-diacylglucosamine in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1984, vol. 259, no 8, p. 4846-4851.
- 162. IMOTO, M., KUSUMOTO, S., SHIBA, T., *et al.* Chemical structure of E. coli lipid A: linkage site of acyl groups in the disaccharide backbone. *Tetrahedron letters*, 1983, vol. 24, no 37, p. 4017-4020.
- 163. STRAIN, S. Michael, FESIK, Stephen W., et ARMITAGE, Ian M. Structure and metalbinding properties of lipopolysaccharides from heptoseless mutants of Escherichia coli studied by 13C and 31P nuclear magnetic resonance. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1983, vol. 258, no 22, p. 13466-13477.

- 164. ANDERSON, DOUGLAS K., SAUNDERS, ROYAL D., DEMEDIUK, PAUL, *et al.* Lipid hydrolysis and peroxidation in injured spinal cord: partial protection with methylprednisolone or vitamin E and selenium. *Central Nervous System Trauma*, 1985, vol. 2, no 4, p. 257-267.
- 165. ANDERSON, M. S., BULL, H. G., GALLOWAY, S. M., *et al.* UDP-N-acetylglucosamine acyltransferase of Escherichia coli. The first step of endotoxin biosynthesis is thermodynamically unfavorable. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1993, vol. 268, no 26, p. 19858-19865.
- 166. KELLY, T. M., STACHULA, S. A., RAETZ, C. R., *et al.* The firA gene of Escherichia coli encodes UDP-3-O-(R-3-hydroxymyristoyl)-glucosamine N-acyltransferase. The third step of endotoxin biosynthesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1993, vol. 268, no 26, p. 19866-19874.
- 167. YOUNG, Katherine, SILVER, Lynn L., BRAMHILL, David, *et al.*The envA permeability/cell division gene of Escherichia coli encodes the second enzyme of lipid A biosynthesis UDP-3-O-(R-3-hydroxymyristoyl)-N-acetylglucosamine deacetylase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1995, vol. 270, no 51, p. 30384-30391 DOI 10.1074/jbc.270.51.30384.
- 168. RADIKA, K. et RAETZ, C. R. Purification and properties of lipid A disaccharide synthase of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1988, vol. 263, no 29, p. 14859-14867.
- 169. BABINSKI, Kristen J., KANJILAL, Suparna J., et RAETZ, Christian RH. Accumulation of the lipid A precursor UDP-2, 3-diacylglucosamine in an Escherichia coli mutant lacking the lpxH gene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2002, vol. 277, no 29, p. 25947-25956 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M204068200.
- 170. BABINSKI, Kristen J., RIBEIRO, Anthony A., et RAETZ, Christian RH. The Escherichia coli gene encoding the UDP-2, 3-diacylglucosamine pyrophosphatase of lipid A biosynthesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2002, vol. 277, no 29, p. 25937-25946 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M204067200.
- 171. GARRETT, Teresa A., KADRMAS, Julie L., et RAETZ, Christian RH. Identification of the gene encoding the Escherichia coli lipid A 4'-kinase facile phosphorylation of endotoxin analogs with recombinant LpxK. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1997, vol. 272, no 35, p. 21855-21864 DOI 10.1074/jbc.272.35.21855.
- 172. CLEMENTZ, Tony, BEDNARSKI, Jeffrey J., et RAETZ, Christian RH. Function of the htrB high temperature requirement gene of Escherichia coli in the acylation of lipid a HtrB catalyzed incorporation of laurate. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1996, vol. 271, no 20, p. 12095-12102 DOI 10.1074/jbc.271.20.12095.
- 173. CLEMENTZ, Tony, ZHOU, Zhimin, et RAETZ, Christian RH. Function of the Escherichia coli msbB gene, a multicopy suppressor of htrB knockouts, in the acylation of lipid A acylation by MsbB follows laurate incorporation by HtrB. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1997, vol. 272, no 16, p. 10353-10360 DOI 10.1074/jbc.272.16.10353.

- 174. CARTY, Sherry M., SREEKUMAR, Kodangattil R., et RAETZ, Christian RH. Effect of Cold Shock on Lipid A Biosynthesis inEscherichia coli INDUCTION AT 12° C OF AN ACYLTRANSFERASE SPECIFIC FOR PALMITOLEOYL-ACYL CARRIER PROTEIN. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1999, vol. 274, no 14, p. 9677-9685 DOI 10.1074/jbc.274.14.9677.
- 175. VORACHEK-WARREN, Mara K., RAMIREZ, Suzanne, COTTER, Robert J., *et al.* A triple mutant of Escherichia coli lacking secondary acyl chains on lipid A. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2002 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M200409200.
- 176. DOERRLER, William T., GIBBONS, Henry S., et RAETZ, Christian RH. MsbAdependent translocation of lipids across the inner membrane of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2004 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M408106200.
- 177. DOERRLER, William T., REEDY, Mary C., et RAETZ, Christian RH. An Escherichia coli mutant defective in lipid export. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2001 DOI 10.1074/jbc.C100091200.
- 178. KAROW, Margaret et GEORGOPOULOS, Costa. The essential Escherichia coli msbA gene, a multicopy suppressor of null mutations in the htrB gene, is related to the universally conserved family of ATP-dependent translocators. *Molecular microbiology*, 1993, vol. 7, no 1, p. 69-79 DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1993.tb01098.x.
- 179. POLISSI, Alessandra et GEORGOPOULOS, Costa. Mutational analysis and properties of the msbA gene of Escherichia coli, coding for an essential ABC family transporter. *Molecular microbiology*, 1996, vol. 20, no 6, p. 1221-1233 DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1996.tb02642.x.
- 180. ZHOU, Zhimin, WHITE, Kimberly A., POLISSI, Alessandra, *et al*.Function of Escherichia coli MsbA, an essential ABC family transporter, in lipid A and phospholipid biosynthesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1998, vol. 273, no 20, p. 12466-12475 DOI 10.1074/jbc.273.20.12466.
- 181. HO, Hoangdung, MIU, Anh, ALEXANDER, Mary Kate, *et al*.Structural basis for dualmode inhibition of the ABC transporter MsbA. *Nature*, 2018, vol. 557, no 7704, p. 196 DOI 10.1038/s41586-018-0083-5.
- 182. MI, Wei, LI, Yanyan, YOON, Sung Hwan, *et al.* Structural basis of MsbA-mediated lipopolysaccharide transport. *Nature*, 2017, vol. 549, no 7671, p. 233 DOI 10.1038/nature23649.
- 183. MORADI, Mahmoud et TAJKHORSHID, Emad. Mechanistic picture for conformational transition of a membrane transporter at atomic resolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2013, vol. 110, no 47, p. 18916-18921 DOI 10.1073/pnas.1313202110.
- 184. DAWSON, Roger JP et LOCHER, Kaspar P. Structure of a bacterial multidrug ABC transporter. *Nature*, 2006, vol. 443, no 7108, p. 180.DOI 10.1038/nature05155.
- 185. REYES, Christopher L. et CHANG, Geoffrey. Structure of the ABC transporter MsbA in complex with ADP vanadate and lipopolysaccharide. *Science*, 2005, vol. 308, no 5724, p. 1028-1031 DOI 10.1126/science.1107733.

- 186. CHANG, Geoffrey et ROTH, Christopher B. Structure of MsbA from E. coli: a homolog of the multidrug resistance ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporters. *Science*, 2001, vol. 293, no 5536, p. 1793-1800 DOI 10.1126/science.293.5536.1793.
- 187. ECKFORD, Paul DW et SHAROM, Frances J. Interaction of the P-glycoprotein multidrug efflux pump with cholesterol: effects on ATPase activity, drug binding and transport. *Biochemistry*, 2008, vol. 47, no 51, p. 13686-13698 DOI 10.1021/bi801409r.
- 188. ECKFORD, Andrew W., FARSAD, Nariman, HIYAMA, Satoshi, et al. Microchannel molecular communication with nanoscale carriers: Brownian motion versus active transport. In : Nanotechnology (IEEE-NANO), 2010 10th IEEE Conference on. IEEE, 2010. p. 854-858 DOI 10.1109/NANO.2010.5697990.
- 189. SPERANDEO, Paola, POZZI, Clarissa, DEHÒ, Gianni, *et al*.Non-essential KDO biosynthesis and new essential cell envelope biogenesis genes in the Escherichia coli yrbG–yhbG locus. *Research in microbiology*, 2006, vol. 157, no 6, p. 547-558 DOI 10.1016/j.resmic.2005.11.014.
- 190. BRAUN, Martin et SILHAVY, Thomas J. Imp/OstA is required for cell envelope biogenesis in Escherichia coli. *Molecular microbiology*, 2002, vol. 45, no 5, p. 1289-1302. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03091.x.
- 191. WU, Tao, MCCANDLISH, Andrew C., GRONENBERG, Luisa S., *et al.* Identification of a protein complex that assembles lipopolysaccharide in the OM of Escherichia coli. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2006, vol. 103, no 31, p. 11754-11759. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0604744103.
- 192. RUIZ, Natividad, GRONENBERG, Luisa S., KAHNE, Daniel, *et al.* Identification of two inner-membrane proteins required for the transport of lipopolysaccharide to the OM of Escherichia coli. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2008, vol. 105, no 14, p. 5537-5542. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0801196105.
- 193. SPERANDEO, Paola, DEHÒ, Gianni, et POLISSI, Alessandra. The lipopolysaccharide transport system of Gram-negative bacteria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, 2009, vol. 1791, no 7, p. 594-602. DOI 10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.01.011.
- 194. RUIZ, Natividad, KAHNE, Daniel, et SILHAVY, Thomas J. Transport of lipopolysaccharide across the cell envelope: the long road of discovery. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2009, vol. 7, no 9, p. 677. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro2184.
- 195. SPERANDEO, Paola, CESCUTTI, Rachele, VILLA, Riccardo, *et al.* Characterization of lptA and lptB, two essential genes implicated in lipopolysaccharide transport to the OM of Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2007, vol. 189, no 1, p. 244-253. DOI 10.1128/JB.01126-06.
- 196. NARITA, Shin-ichiro et TOKUDA, Hajime. Biochemical characterization of an ABC transporter LptBFGC complex required for the OM sorting of lipopolysaccharides. *FEBS letters*, 2009, vol. 583, no 13, p. 2160-2164. DOI 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.05.051.

- 197. SPERANDEO, Paola, LAU, Fion K., CARPENTIERI, Andrea, *et al.* Functional analysis of the protein machinery required for transport of lipopolysaccharide to the OM of Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2008, vol. 190, no 13, p. 4460-4469. DOI 10.1128/JB.00270-08.
- 198. SAURIN, William, HOFNUNG, Maurice, et DASSA, Elie. Getting in or out: early segregation between importers and exporters in the evolution of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. *Journal of molecular evolution*, 1999, vol. 48, no 1, p. 22-41. DOI 10.1007/PL00006442.
- 199. CHNG, Shu-Sin, GRONENBERG, Luisa S., et KAHNE, Daniel. Proteins required for lipopolysaccharide assembly in Escherichia coli form a transenvelope complex. *Biochemistry*, 2010, vol. 49, no 22, p. 4565-4567. DOI 10.1021/bi100493e.
- 200. FREINKMAN, Elizaveta, OKUDA, Suguru, RUIZ, Natividad, *et al*.Regulated assembly of the transenvelope protein complex required for lipopolysaccharide export. *Biochemistry*, 2012, vol. 51, no 24, p. 4800-4806. DOI 10.1021/bi300592c
- 201. TRAN, An X., TRENT, M. Stephen, et WHITFIELD, Chris. The LptA protein of Escherichia coli is a periplasmic lipid A binding protein involved in the lipopolysaccharide export pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2008. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M802503200.
- 202. OKUDA, Suguru, FREINKMAN, Elizaveta, et KAHNE, Daniel. Cytoplasmic ATP hydrolysis powers transport of lipopolysaccharide across the periplasm in E. coli. *Science*, 2012, p. 1228984. DOI 10.1126/science.1228984.
- 203. TRAN, An X., DONG, Changjiang, et WHITFIELD, Chris. Structure and functional analysis of LptC, a conserved membrane protein involved in the lipopolysaccharide export pathway in Escherichia coll. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2010, p. jbc. M110. 144709. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M110.144709.
- 204. TEFSEN, B., GEURTSEN, J., BECKERS, F., *et al*.Lipopolysaccharide transport to the bacterial OM in spheroplasts. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 2005, vol. 280, no 6, p. 4504. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M409259200.
- 205. BAYER, M. E. Areas of adhesion between wall and membrane of Escherichia coli. *Microbiology*, 1968, vol. 53, no 3, p. 395-404.
- 206. BAYER, M. E. Zones of membrane adhesion in the cryofixed envelope of Escherichia coli. *Journal of structural biology*, 1991, vol. 107, no 3, p. 268-280.
- 207. RAETZ, Christian RH et WHITFIELD, Chris. Lipopolysaccharide endotoxins. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 2002, vol. 71, no 1, p. 635-700. DOI 10.1146/annurev.biochem.71.110601.135414.
- 208. NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. Molecular basis of bacterial OM permeability revisited. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews, 2003, vol. 67, n° 4, pp. 593-656. DOI 10.1128/MMBR.67.4.593-656.2003.
- 209. TOKUDA, Hajime et MATSUYAMA, Shin-ichi. Sorting of lipoproteins to the OM in E. coli. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research, 2004, vol. 1693, n° 1, pp. 5-13. DOI 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2004.02.005.

- 210. MIYADAI, Hidenori, TANAKA-MASUDA, Kimie, MATSUYAMA, Shin-ichi, *et al.* Effects of lipoprotein overproduction on the induction of DegP (HtrA) involved in quality control in the Escherichia coli periplasm. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2004, vol. 279, no 38, p. 39807-39813. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M406390200.
- 211. PAETZEL, Mark, KARLA, Andrew, STRYNADKA, Natalie CJ, *et al.* Signal peptidases. *Chemical reviews*, 2002, vol. 102, no 12, p. 4549-4580. DOI 10.1021/cr010166y.
- 212. SANKARAN, Krishnan et WU, Henry C. Lipid modification of bacterial prolipoprotein. Transfer of diacylglyceryl moiety from phosphatidylglycerol. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1994, vol. 269, no 31, p. 19701-19706.
- 213. HILLMANN, Falk, ARGENTINI, Manuela, et BUDDELMEIJER, Nienke. Kinetics and phospholipid specificity of apolipoprotein N-acyltransferase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2011, p. jbc. M111. 243519 DOI 10.1074/jbc.M111.243519.
- 214. WIKTOR, Maciej, WEICHERT, Dietmar, HOWE, Nicole, *et al*.Structural insights into the mechanism of the membrane integral N-acyltransferase step in bacterial lipoprotein synthesis. *Nature communications*, 2017, vol. 8, p. 15952. DOI 10.1038/ncomms15952.
- 215. HARA, Takashi, MATSUYAMA, Shin-ichi, et TOKUDA, Hajime. Mechanism underlying the inner membrane retention of Escherichia coli lipoproteins caused by Lol avoidance signals. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2003, vol. 278, no 41, p. 40408-40414. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M307836200.
- 216. NARITA, S. I. et TOKUDA, H. Bacterial lipoproteins; biogenesis, sorting and quality control. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*, 2017, vol. 1862, no 11, p. 1414-1423. DOI 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.11.009.
- 217. DELCOUR, Anne H. Solute uptake through general porins. *Front. Biosci*, 2003, vol. 8, pp. 1055-1071. DOI 10.2741/1132.
- 218. SCHULZ, Georg E. The structure of bacterial OM proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes,* 2002, vol. 1565, n° 2, pp. 308-317. DOI 10.1016/S0005-2736(02)00577-1.
- 219. KOEBNIK, Ralf, LOCHER, Kaspar pp., et VAN GELDER, Patrick. Structure and function of bacterial OM proteins: barrels in a nutshell. , 2000, vol. 37, n° 2, pp. 239-253. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.01983.x.
- 220. COWAN, S. W., SCHIRMER, T., RUMMEL, G., et al. Crystal structures explain functional properties of two E. coli porins. Nature, 1992, vol. 358, no 6389, p. 727.
- 221. BASLÉ, Arnaud, RUMMEL, Gabriele, STORICI, Paola, *et al*.Crystal structure of osmoporin OmpC from E. coli at 2.0 Å. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2006, vol. 362, no 5, p. 933-942. DOI 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.08.002.
- 222. GARCÍA-SUREDA, Laura, JUAN, Carlos, DOMÉNECH-SÁNCHEZ, Antonio, *et al.* Role of Klebsiella pneumoniae LamB Porin in antimicrobial resistance. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2011, vol. 55, n° 4, pp. 1803-05. DOI 10.1128/AAC.01441-10.

- 223. KACZMAREK, Frank M., DIB-HAJJ, Fadia, SHANG, Wenchi, et al. High-level carbapenem resistance in a Klebsiella pneumoniae clinical isolate is due to the combination of blaACT-1 β-lactamase production, porin OmpK35/36 insertional inactivation, and down-regulation of the phosphate transport porin PhoE. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 2006, vol. 50, n° 10, pp. 3396-3406. DOI 10.1128/AAC.00285-06.
- 224. SUGAWARA, Etsuko et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. OmpA protein of *Escherichia coli* OM occurs in open and closed channel forms. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1994, vol. 269, n° 27, pp. 17981-17987.
- 225. LIU, Jun, RUTZ, Jeanette M., FEIX, Jimmy B., *et al.* Permeability properties of a large gated channel within the ferric enterobactin receptor, FepA. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1993, vol. 90, n° 22, pp. 10653-10657.
- 226. KADNER, R. J. Vitamin B12 transport in *Escherichia coli*: energy coupling between membranes. *Molecular microbiology*, 1990, vol. 4, n° 12, pp. 2027-2033.
- 227. NOINAJ, Nicholas, GUILLIER, Maude, BARNARD, Travis J., *et al.* TonB-dependent transporters: regulation, structure, and function. *Annual review of microbiology*, 2010, vol. 64, p. 43-60. DOI 10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134247.
- 228. HOMMA, Hiroshi, KOBAYASHI, Tetsuyuki, CHIBA, Nobuyoshi, *et al.* The DNA sequence encoding pldA gene, the structural gene for detergent-resistant phospholipase A of E. coli. *The Journal of Biochemistry*, 1984, vol. 96, n° 6, pp. 1655-1664.
- 229. GRODBERG, Jennifer, LUNDRIGAN, Michael D., TOLEDO, Diana L., *et al.* Complete nucleotide sequence and deduced amin^o acid sequence of the ompT gene of *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Nucleic acids research*, 1988, vol. 16, n^o 3, pp. 1209.
- 230. BISHOP, Russell E., GIBBONS, Henry S., GUINA, Tina, *et al.* Transfer of palmitate from phospholipids to lipid A in OMs of Gram-negative bacteria. *The EMBO journal*, 2000, vol. 19, n° 19, pp. 5071-5080. DOI 10.1093/emboj/19.19.5071.
- 231. MASI, Muriel et PAGÈS, Jean-Marie. Structure, Function and Regulation of OM Proteins Involved in Drug Transport in Enterobactericeae: the OmpF/C–TolC Case. *The open microbiology journal*, 2013, vol. 7, pp. 22. doi: 10.2174/1874285801307010022.
- 232. SINNOTT, C. R. et TEALL, A. J. Persistent gallbladder carriage of Salmonella typhi. *The Lancet*, 1987, vol. 329, no 8539, p. 976.
- 233. MULLINEAUX, Conrad W., NENNINGER, Anja, RAY, Nicola, *et al.* Diffusion of green fluorescent protein in three cell environments in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2006, vol. 188, no 10, p. 3442-3448. DOI 10.1128/JB.188.10.3442-3448.2006.
- 234. SPERANDEO, Paola, MARTORANA, Alessandra M., et POLISSI, Alessandra. The lipopolysaccharide transport (Lpt) machinery: a non-conventional transporter for lipopolysaccharide assembly at the OM of Gram-negative bacteria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2017, p. jbc. R117. 802512. DOI 10.1074/jbc.R117.802512.

- 235. BAKELAR, Jeremy, BUCHANAN, Susan K., et NOINAJ, Nicholas. The structure of the β -barrel assembly machinery complex. *Science*, 2016, vol. 351, no 6269, p. 180-186. DOI 10.1126/science.aad3460.
- 236. NOINAJ, Nicholas, MAYCLIN, Stephen, STANLEY, Ann M., *et al*.From Constructs to Crystals–Towards Structure Determination of β-barrel OM Proteins. *Journal of visualized experiments: JoVE*, 2016, no 113. DOI 10.3791/53245.
- 237. NOINAJ, Nicholas, GUMBART, James C., et BUCHANAN, Susan K. The β-barrel assembly machinery in motion. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2017, vol. 15, no 4, p. 197. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.191.
- 238. TYPAS, Athanasios et SOURJIK, Victor. Bacterial protein networks: properties and functions. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2015, vol. 13, no 9, p. 559. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro3508.
- 239. BRAUN, VOLKMAR et WOLFF, HELGA. Attachment of lipoprotein to murein (peptidoglycan) of Escherichia coli in the presence and absence of penicillin FL 1060. Journal of bacteriology, 1975, vol. 123, no 3, p. 888-897.
- 240. CHOI, Dong-Seong, YAMADA, Hisami, MIZUNO, Takeshi, et al. Trimeric structure and localization of the major lipoprotein in the cell surface of Escherichia coli. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1986, vol. 261, no 19, p. 8953-8957.
- 241. CASCALES, Eric, BERNADAC, Alain, GAVIOLI, Marthe, *et al*.Pal lipoprotein of Escherichia coli plays a major role in OM integrity. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2002, vol. 184, no 3, p. 754-759. DOI 10.1128/JB.184.3.754-759.2002.
- 242. DU, Dijun, WANG, Zhao, JAMES, Nathan R., *et al.* Structure of the AcrAB–TolC multidrug efflux pump. *Nature*, 2014, vol. 509, no 7501, p. 512. DOI 10.1038/nature13205.
- 243. JARRELL, Ken F. et MCBRIDE, Mark J. The surprisingly diverse ways that prokaryotes move. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2008, vol. 6, no 6, p. 466-476. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro1900.
- 244. YAMAGAMI, Akira, YOSHIOKA, Tieko, et KANEMASA, Yasuhiro. Differences in phospholipid composition between wild strains and streptomycin resistant mutants of certain enteric bacteria. *Microbiology and Immunology*, 1970, vol. 14, n° 2, pp. 174-176.
- 245. YASUHIRO, Kanemasa, YUZURU, Akamatsu, et SHOSHICHI, Nojima. Composition and turnover of the phospholipids in *Escherichia coli*. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Lipids and Lipid Metabolism*, 1967, vol. 144, n° 2, pp. 382-390.
- 246. FACEY, Sandra J. et KUHN, Andreas. Biogenesis of bacterial inner-membrane proteins. *Cellular and molecular life sciences*, 2010, vol. 67, n° 14, pp. 2343-2362. DOI 10.1007/s00018-010-0303-0.
- 247. DRIESSEN, Arnold JM et NOUWEN, Nico. Protein translocation across the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 2008, vol. 77, p. 643-667. DOI 10.1146/annurev.biochem.77.061606.160747.

- 248. VAN DEN BERG, Bert, CLEMONS JR, William M., COLLINSON, Ian, *et al.* X-ray structure of a protein-conducting channel. *Nature*, 2004, vol. 427, no 6969, p. 36. DOI 10.1038/nature02218.
- 249. RAPOPORT, Tom A. Protein translocation across the eukaryotic endoplasmic reticulum and bacterial plasma membranes. *Nature*, 2007, vol. 450, no 7170, p. 663. DOI 10.1038/nature06384.
- 250. ZIMMER, Jochen, NAM, Yunsun, et RAPOPORT, Tom A. Structure of a complex of the ATPase SecA and the protein-translocation channel. Nature, 2008, vol. 455, no 7215, p. 936. DOI 10.1038/nature07335.
- 251. RANDALL, L. L. et HARDY, S. J. S. SecB, one small chaperone in the complex milieu of the cell. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 2002, vol. 59, no 10, p. 1617-1623. DOI 10.1007/PL00012488
- 252. SARGENT, Frank, BERKS, Ben C., et PALMER, Tracy. Pathfinders and trailblazers: a prokaryotic targeting system for transport of folded proteins. *FEMS microbiology letters*, 2006, vol. 254, no 2, p. 198-207. DOI 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2005.00049.x.
- 253. NIKAIDO, Hiroshi et ROSENBERG, EMIKO Y. Porin channels in Escherichia coli: studies with liposomes reconstituted from purified proteins. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1983, vol. 153, no 1, p. 241-252.
- 254. NAKAE, T. et NIKAIDO, H. OM as a diffusion barrier in Salmonella typhimurium. Penetration of oligo-and polysaccharides into isolated OM vesicles and cells with degraded peptidoglycan layer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1975, vol. 250, no 18, p. 7359-7365.
- 255. NIKAIDO, Hiroshi et ROSENBERG, Emiko Y. Effect on solute size on diffusion rates through the transmembrane pores of the OM of Escherichia coli. The Journal of general physiology, 1981, vol. 77, no 2, p. 121-135.
- 256. BENZ, R., JANKO, K., BOOS, W., *et al.* Formation of large, ion-permeable membrane channels by the matrix protein (porin) of Escherichia coli. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1978, vol. 511, no 3, p. 305-319.
- 257. BENZ, R., JANKO, K., et LÄUGER, P. Ionic selectivity of pores formed by the matrix protein (porin) of Escherichia coli. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1979, vol. 551, no 2, p. 238-247.
- 258. BENZ, Roland, SCHMID, Angela, et HANCOCK, R. E. W. Ion selectivity of gramnegative bacterial porins. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1985, vol. 162, no 2, p. 722-727.
- 259. SCHINDLER, Hansgeorg et ROSENBUSCH, Jurg P. Matrix protein from Escherichia coli OMs forms voltage-controlled channels in lipid bilayers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1978, vol. 75, no 8, p. 3751-3755.
- 260. IM, Wonpil et ROUX, Benoît. Ions and counterions in a biological channel: a molecular dynamics simulation of OmpF porin from Escherichia coli in an explicit membrane with 1 M KCl aqueous salt solution. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2002, vol. 319, no 5, p. 1177-1197. DOI 10.1016/S0022-2836(02)00380-7.
- 261. ALCARAZ, Antonio, NESTOROVICH, Ekaterina M., AGUILELLA-ARZO, Marcel, *et al.* Salting out the ionic selectivity of a wide channel: the asymmetry of OmpF. *Biophysical journal*, 2004, vol. 87, no 2, p. 943-957. DOI 10.1529/biophysj.104/043414.
- 262. BREDIN, Jérôme, SAINT, Nathalie, MALLÉA, Monique, *et al*.Alteration of pore properties of Escherichia coli OmpF induced by mutation of key residues in antiloop 3 region. *Biochemical Journal*, 2002, vol. 363, no 3, p. 521-528. DOI 10.1042/bj3630521.
- 263. PHALE, Prashant S., PHILIPPSEN, Ansgar, WIDMER, Christine, *et al.* Role of charged residues at the OmpF porin channel constriction probed by mutagenesis and simulation. *Biochemistry*, 2001, vol. 40, no 21, p. 6319-6325. DOI 10.1021/bi010046k.
- 264. SAINT, Nathalie, LOU, Kuo-Long, WIDMER, Christine, *et al*.Structural and functional characterization of OmpF porin mutants selected for larger pore size II. Functional characterization. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1996, vol. 271, no 34, p. 20676-20680.
- 265. VERGALLI, Julia, DUMONT, Estelle, PAJOVIĆ, Jelena, *et al*.Spectrofluorimetric quantification of antibiotic drug concentration in bacterial cells for the characterization of translocation across bacterial membranes. *Nature protocols*, 2018, vol. 13, no 6, p. 1348. DOI 10.1038/nprot.2018.036.
- 266. KAŠČÁKOVÁ, Slávka, MAIGRE, Laure, CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, *et al.* Antibiotic transport in resistant bacteria: synchrotron UV fluorescence microscopy to determine antibiotic accumulation with single cell resolution. *PLoS One*, 2012, vol. 7, no 6, p. e38624. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0038624.
- 267. CINQUIN, Bertrand, MAIGRE, Laure, PINET, Elizabeth, *et al.*Microspectrometric insights on the uptake of antibiotics at the single bacterial cell level. *Scientific reports*, 2015, vol. 5, p. 17968. DOI 10.1038/srep17968.
- 268. VERGALLI, Julia, DUMONT, Estelle, CINQUIN, Bertrand, *et al*.Fluoroquinolone structure and translocation flux across bacterial membrane. *Scientific reports*, 2017, vol. 7, no 1, p. 9821. DOI 10.1038/s41598-017-08775-4.
- 269. PUGSLEY, Anthony P. et POSSOT, Odile. The general secretory pathway of Klebsiella oxytoca: no evidence for relocalization or assembly of pilin-like PulG protein into a multiprotein complex. *Molecular microbiology*, 1993, vol. 10, no 3, p. 665-674.
- 270. BEHRENS, Susanne, MAIER, Raimund, DE COCK, Hans, *et al.*The SurA periplasmic PPIase lacking its parvulin domains functions in vivo and has chaperone activity. *The EMBO journal*, 2001, vol. 20, no 1-2, p. 285-294. DOI 10.1093/emboj/20.1.285.
- 271. BITTO, Eduard et MCKAY, David B. The periplasmic molecular chaperone protein SurA binds a peptide motif that is characteristic of integral OM proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2003, vol. 278, no 49, p. 49316-49322. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M308853200.

- 272. SHEN, Qing-Tao, BAI, Xiao-Chen, CHANG, Lei-Fu, *et al.* Bowl-shaped oligomeric structures on membranes as DegP's new functional forms in protein quality control. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2009, p. pnas. 0811780106. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0811780106. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0811780106.
- 273. CHEN, Robert et HENNING, Ulf. Aperiplasmic protein (Skp) of Escherichia coli selectively binds a class of OM proteins. *Molecular microbiology*, 1996, vol. 19, no 6, p. 1287-1294. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1996.tb02473.x.
- WALTON, Troy A. et SOUSA, Marcelo C. Crystal structure of Skp, a prefoldin-like 274. chaperone that protects soluble and membrane proteins from aggregation. *Molecular* cell, 2004, vol. 15, no 3, p. 367-374. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0809275106.
- 275. KROJER, Tobias, SAWA, Justyna, SCHÄFER, Eva, *et al*.Structural basis for the regulated protease and chaperone function of DegP. *Nature*, 2008, vol. 453, no 7197, p. 885. DOI 10.1038/nature07004.
- 276. SHEN, Qing-Tao, BAI, Xiao-Chen, CHANG, Lei-Fu, *et al.* Bowl-shaped oligomeric structures on membranes as DegP's new functional forms in protein quality control. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2009, p. pnas. 0811780106. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0811780106.
- 277. RIZZITELLO, Amy E., HARPER, Jill R., et SILHAVY, Thomas J. Genetic evidence for parallel pathways of chaperone activity in the periplasm of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 2001, vol. 183, no 23, p. 6794-6800. DOI 10.1128/JB.183.23.6794-6800.2001.
- 278. SKLAR, Joseph G., WU, Tao, KAHNE, Daniel, *et al.* Defining the roles of the periplasmic chaperones SurA, Skp, and DegP in Escherichia coli. *Genes & development*, 2007, vol. 21, no 19, p. 2473-2484. DOI 10.1101/gad.1581007.
- 279. HAGAN, Christine L., SILHAVY, Thomas J., et KAHNE, Daniel. β-Barrel membrane protein assembly by the Bam complex. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 2011, vol. 80, p. 189-210. DOI 10.1146/annurev-biochem-061408-144611.
- 280. RICCI, Dante P. et SILHAVY, Thomas J. The Bam machine: a molecular cooper. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 2012, vol. 1818, no 4, p. 1067-1084. DOI 10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.08.020.
- 281. WU, Tao, MALINVERNI, Juliana, RUIZ, Natividad, *et al*.Identification of a multicomponent complex required for OM biogenesis in Escherichia coli. *Cell*, 2005, vol. 121, no 2, p. 235-245. DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.015.
- 282. MALINVERNI, Juliana C., WERNER, John, KIM, Seokhee, *et al*.YfiO stabilizes the YaeT complex and is essential for OM protein assembly in Escherichia coli. *Molecular microbiology*, 2006, vol. 61, no 1, p. 151-164. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05211.x.
- 283. SKLAR, Joseph G., WU, Tao, GRONENBERG, Luisa S., *et al*.Lipoprotein SmpA is a component of the YaeT complex that assembles OM proteins in Escherichia coli. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2007, vol. 104, no 15, p. 6400-6405. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0701579104.

- 284. KIM, Seokhee, MALINVERNI, Juliana C., SLIZ, Piotr, *et al.* Structure and function of an essential component of the OM protein assembly machine. *Science*, 2007, vol. 317, n° 5840, pp. 961-964. DOI: 10.1126/science.1143993.
- 285. HAGAN, Christine L., KIM, Seokhee, et KAHNE, Daniel. Reconstitution of OM protein assembly from purified components. *Science*, 2010, vol. 328, no 5980, p. 890-892. DOI 10.1126/science.1188919.
- 286. KIM, Kelly H., AULAKH, Suraaj, et PAETZEL, Mark. Crystal structure of β-barrel assembly machinery BamCD protein complex. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2011, vol. 286, no 45, p. 39116-39121. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M111.298166.
- 287. JANSEN, Katarina Bartoš, BAKER, Susan Lynn, et SOUSA, Marcelo Carlos. Crystal structure of BamB bound to a periplasmic domain fragment of BamA, the central component of the β-barrel assembly machine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2015, vol. 290, no 4, p. 2126-2136. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M114.584524.
- 288. ALBRECHT, Reinhard et ZETH, Kornelius. Structural basis of OM protein biogenesis in bacteria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2011, p. jbc. M111. 238931. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M111.238931.
- 289. ALBRECHT, Reinhard, SCHÜTZ, Monika, OBERHETTINGER, Philipp, *et al.* Structure of BamA, an essential factor in OM protein biogenesis. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 2014, vol. 70, no 6, p. 1779-1789. DOI 10.1107/S1399004714007482.
- 290. NOINAJ, Nicholas, FAIRMAN, James W., et BUCHANAN, Susan K. The crystal structure of BamB suggests interactions with BamA and its role within the BAM complex. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2011, vol. 407, no 2, p. 248-260. DOI 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.01.042.
- 291. NOINAJ, Nicholas, KUSZAK, Adam J., GUMBART, James C., *et al.* Structural insight into the biogenesis of β-barrel membrane proteins. *Nature*, 2013, vol. 501, no 7467, p. 385. DOI 10.1038/nature12521.
- 292. HEUCK, Alexander, SCHLEIFFER, Alexander, et CLAUSEN, Tim. Augmenting βaugmentation: structural basis of how BamB binds BamA and may support folding of OM proteins. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2011, vol. 406, no 5, p. 659-666. DOI 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.01.002.
- 293. DONG, Cheng, HOU, H.-F., YANG, Xue, *et al.* Structure of Escherichia coli BamD and its functional implications in OM protein assembly. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 2012, vol. 68, no 2, p. 95-101. DOI 10.1107/S0907444911051031.
- 294. NI, Dongchun, WANG, Yan, YANG, Xu, *et al.* Structural and functional analysis of the β-barrel domain of BamA from Escherichia coli. *The FASEB Journal*, 2014, vol. 28, no 6, p. 2677-2685. DOI 10.1096/fj.13-248450.
- 295. KNOWLES, Timothy J., BROWNING, Douglas F., JEEVES, Mark, *et al.* Structure and function of BamE within the OM and the β-barrel assembly machine. *EMBO reports*, 2011, vol. 12, no 2, p. 123-128. DOI 10.1038/embor.2010.202.

- 296. NOINAJ, Nicholas, KUSZAK, Adam J., BALUSEK, Curtis, *et al*.Lateral opening and exit pore formation are required for BamA function. *Structure*, 2014, vol. 22, no 7, p. 1055-1062. DOI 10.1016/j.str.2014.05.008.
- 297. NOINAJ, Nicholas, ROLLAUER, Sarah E., et BUCHANAN, Susan K. The β-barrel membrane protein insertase machinery from Gram-negative bacteria. *Current opinion in structural biology*, 2015, vol. 31, p. 35-42. DOI 10.1016/j.sbi.2015.02.012.
- 298. JANSEN, Katarina Bartoš, BAKER, Susan Lynn, et SOUSA, Marcelo Carlos. Crystal structure of BamB from Pseudomonas aeruginosa and functional evaluation of its conserved structural features. *PLoS One*, 2012, vol. 7, no 11, p. e49749. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0049749.
- 299. BAKELAR, Jeremy, BUCHANAN, Susan K., et NOINAJ, Nicholas. The structure of the β -barrel assembly machinery complex. *Science*, 2016, vol. 351, no 6269, p. 180-186. DOI 10.1126/science.aad3460.
- 300. KIM, Kelly H., AULAKH, Suraaj, et PAETZEL, Mark. The bacterial OM β-barrel assembly machinery. *Protein Science*, 2012, vol. 21, n° 6, pp. 751-768. DOI 10.1002/pro.2069.
- 301. TOMMASSEN, J., OVERDUIN, P. I. E. T., LUGTENBERG, B., *et al.* Cloning of phoE, the structural gene for the Escherichia coli phosphate limitation-inducible OM pore protein. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1982, vol. 149, no 2, p. 668-672.
- 302. NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. Proteins forming large channels from bacterial and mitochondrial OMs: Porins and phage lambda receptor protein. In : *Methods in enzymology*. Academic Press, 1983. p. 85-100.
- 303. HARDER, Karen J., NIKAIDO, Hiroshi, et MATSUHASHI, Michio. Mutants of Escherichia coli that are resistant to certain beta-lactam compounds lack the ompF porin. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1981, vol. 20, no 4, p. 549-552.
- 304. BORGSTRÖM, Bengt. Bile salts—their physiological functions in the gastrointestinal tract. *Acta medica Scandinavica*, 1974, vol. 196, no 1-6, p. 1-10.
- 305. KOJIMA, Seiji et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. High salt concentrations increase permeability through OmpC channels of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2014, p. jbc. M114. 585869. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M114.585869.
- 306. ACOSTA-GUTIÉRREZ, Silvia, FERRARA, Luana, PATHANIA, Monisha, *et al.* Getting drugs into Gram-negative bacteria: Rational rules for permeation through general porins. *ACS infectious diseases*, 2018. DOI 10.1021/acsinfecdis.8b00108.
- 307. PRATT, Leslie A., HSING, Weihong, GIBSON, Katherine E., *et al.* From acids to osmZ: multiple factors influence synthesis of the OmpF and OmpC porins in Escherichia coli. *Molecular microbiology*, 1996, vol. 20, n° 5, pp. 911-917.
- 308. DELIHAS, Nicholas et FORST, Steven. MicF: an antisense RNA gene involved in response of Escherichia coli to global stress factors1. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2001, vol. 313, no 1, p. 1-12. DOI 10.1006/jmbi.2001.5029.

- 309. INOUYE, Masayori. The first demonstration of RNA interference to inhibit mRNA function. *Gene*, 2016, vol. 592, no 2, p. 332-333. DOI 10.1016/j.gene.2016.07.024.
- 310. SCHMIDT, Matthew, ZHENG, Ping, et DELIHAS, Nicholas. Secondary structures of Escherichia coli antisense micF RNA, the 5'-end of the target ompF mRNA, and the RNA/RNA duplex. *Biochemistry*, 1995, vol. 34, no 11, p. 3621-3631. DOI 10.1021/bi00011a017.
- 311. MATSUBARA, Masahiro et MIZUNO, Takeshi. EnvZ-independent phosphotransfer signaling pathway of the OmpR-mediated osmoregulatory expression of OmpC and OmpF in Escherichia coli. *Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry*, 1999, vol. 63, no 2, p. 408-414. DOI 10.1271/bbb.63.408.
- 312. ROSNER, J. L., CHAI, T. J., et FOULDS, J. Regulation of ompF porin expression by salicylate in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1991, vol. 173, no 18, p. 5631-5638.
- 313. DEMPLE, Bruce. Redox signaling and gene control in the Escherichia coli soxRS oxidative stress regulon—a review. *Gene*, 1996, vol. 179, no 1, p. 53-57. DOI 10.1016/S0378-1119(96)00329-0.
- 314. ALEKSHUN, Michael N. et LEVY, Stuart B. Regulation of chromosomally mediated multiple antibiotic resistance: the mar regulon. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1997, vol. 41, no 10, p. 2067.
- 315. ROSNER, Judah L., DANGI, Bindi, GRONENBORN, Angela M., *et al.* Posttranscriptional activation of the transcriptional activator Rob by dipyridyl in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2002, vol. 184, no 5, p. 1407-1416. DOI 10.1128/JB.184.5.1407-1416.2002.
- 316. ROSENBERG, Emiko Y., BERTENTHAL, Dan, NILLES, Matthew L., *et al.* Bile salts and fatty acids induce the expression of Escherichia coli AcrAB multidrug efflux pump through their interaction with Rob regulatory protein. *Molecular microbiology*, 2003, vol. 48, no 6, p. 1609-1619. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03531.x.
- 317. BLASBAND, Andrew J., MARCOTTE, W. R., et SCHNAITMAN, C. A. Structure of the lc and nmpC OM porin protein genes of lambdoid bacteriophage. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1986, vol. 261, no 27, p. 12723-12732.
- 318. COLL, J. L., HEYDE, M., et PORTALIER, R. Expression of the nmpC gene of Escherichia coli K-12 is modulated by external pH. Identification of cis-acting regulatory sequences involved in this regulation. *Molecular microbiology*, 1994, vol. 12, no 1, p. 83-93.
- ZHAI, Yufeng et SAIER JR, Milton H. The β-barrel finder (BBF) program, allowing 319. identification of OM β-barrel proteins encoded within prokaryotic genomes. Protein Science, 2002, vol. 11, no 9, 2196-2207. DOI p. 10.1110/ps.0209002.
- 320. PRILIPOV, Alexej, PHALE, Prashant S., KOEBNIK, Ralf, *et al.*Identification and Characterization of Two Quiescent Porin Genes, nmpC and ompN, inEscherichia coli BE. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1998, vol. 180, n° 13, pp. 3388-3392.

- 321. FÀBREGA, Anna, ROSNER, Judah L., MARTIN, Robert G., et al. SoxS-dependent coregulation of ompN and ydbK in a multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli strain. FEMS microbiology letters, 2012, vol. 332, no 1, p. 61-67. DOI 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2012.02577.x.
- 322. DAM, Sushovan, PAGÈS, Jean-Marie, et MASI, Muriel. Stress responses, OM permeability control and antimicrobial resistance in Enterobacteriaceae. *Microbiology*, 2018. DOI 10.1099/mic.0.000613.
- 323. MISRA, RAJEEV et BENSON, SPENCER A. A novel mutation, cog, which results in production of a new porin protein (OmpG) of Escherichia coli K-12. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1989, vol. 171, no 8, p. 4105-4111.
- 324. FAJARDO, Daniel A., CHEUNG, Joyce, ITO, Chikako, *et al*.Biochemistry and Regulation of a NovelEscherichia coli K-12 Porin Protein, OmpG, Which Produces Unusually Large Channels. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1998, vol. 180, no 17, p. 4452-4459.
- 325. CONLAN, Sean, ZHANG, Yong, CHELEY, Stephen, *et al*.Biochemical and biophysical characterization of OmpG: a monomeric porin. *Biochemistry*, 2000, vol. 39, no 39, p. 11845-11854. DOI 10.1021/bi001065h.
- 326. CONLAN, Sean et BAYLEY, Hagan. Folding of a monomeric porin, OmpG, in detergent solution. *Biochemistry*, 2003, vol. 42, no 31, p. 9453-9465. DOI 10.1021/bi0344228.
- 327. BEHLAU, Matthias, MILLS, Deryck J., QUADER, Hartmut, *et al*.Projection structure of the monomeric porin OmpG at 6 å resolution1. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2001, vol. 305, no 1, p. 71-77. DOI 10.1006/jmbi.2000.4284.
- 328. PILSL, Holger, SMAJS, David, et BRAUN, Volkmar. Characterization of colicin S4 and its receptor, OmpW, a minor protein of the Escherichia coli outer membrane. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1999, vol. 181, no 11, p. 3578-3581.
- 329. ALBRECHT, Reinhard, ZETH, Kornelius, SÖDING, Johannes, *et al.* Expression, crystallization and preliminary X-ray crystallographic studies of the OM protein OmpW from Escherichia coli. *Acta Crystallographica Section F: Structural Biology and Crystallization Communications*, 2006, vol. 62, no 4, p. 415-418. DOI 10.1107/S1744309106010190.
- 330. HONG, Heedeok, PATEL, Dimki R., TAMM, Lukas K., *et al.* The OM protein OmpW forms an eight-stranded β-barrel with a hydrophobic channel. *Journal of biological chemistry*, 2006, vol. 281, no 11, p. 7568-7577. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M512365200.
- 331. BURGESS, Nancy K., DAO, Thuy P., STANLEY, Ann Marie, *et al.* β-Barrel proteins that reside in the Escherichia coli OM in vivo demonstrate varied folding behavior in vitro. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2008, vol. 283, no 39, p. 26748-26758. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M802754200.
- 332. XU, Changxin, LIN, Xiangmin, REN, Haixia, *et al.* Analysis of OM proteome of Escherichia coli related to resistance to ampicillin and tetracycline. *Proteomics*, 2006, vol. 6, no 2, p. 462-473. DOI 10.1002/pmic.200500219.

- 333. JOHANSEN, Jesper, RASMUSSEN, Anders Aamann, OVERGAARD, Martin, *et al.* Conserved small non-coding RNAs that belong to the σE regulon: role in down-regulation of OM proteins. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2006, vol. 364, no 1, p. 1-8. DOI 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.09.004.
- 334. XIAO, Minfeng, LAI, Yong, SUN, Jian, *et al.* Transcriptional regulation of the OM porin gene ompW reveals its physiological role during the transition from the aerobic to the anaerobic lifestyle of Escherichia coli. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2016, vol. 7, p. 799. DOI 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00799.
- 335. SANTIVIAGO, Carlos A., TORO, Cecilia S., BUCAREY, Sergio A., *et al.* A chromosomal region surrounding the ompD porin gene marks a genetic difference between Salmonella typhi and the majority of Salmonella serovars. *Microbiology*, 2001, vol. 147, no 7, p. 1897-1907. DOI 10.1099/00221287-147-7-1897.
- 336. SANTIVIAGO, Carlos A., FUENTES, Juan A., BUENO, Susan M., *et al.* The Salmonella enterica sv. Typhimurium smvA, yddG and ompD (porin) genes are required for the efficient efflux of methyl viologen. *Molecular microbiology*, 2002, vol. 46, no 3, p. 687-698. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03204.x
- 337. BENZ, Roland et BÖHME, Herbert. Pore formation by an OM protein of the cyanobacterium Anabaena variabilis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1985, vol. 812, no 1, p. 286-292.
- 338. SANTIVIAGO, Carlos A., TORO, Cecilia S., HIDALGO, Alejandro A., *et al.* Global regulation of the Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium major porin, OmpD. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2003, vol. 185, no 19, p. 5901-5905. DOI 10.1128/JB.185.19.5901-5905.2003.
- 339. VOGEL, Jörg et PAPENFORT, Kai. Small non-coding RNAs and the bacterial OM. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2006, vol. 9, no 6, p. 605-611. DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2006.10.006.
- 340. VALENTIN-HANSEN, Poul, JOHANSEN, Jesper, et RASMUSSEN, Anders A. Small RNAs controlling OM porins. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2007, vol. 10, no 2, p. 152-155. DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2007.03.001.
- 341. MORENO-EUTIMIO, Mario A., TENORIO-CALVO, Alejandra, PASTELIN-PALACIOS, Rodolfo, et al. S almonella T yphi O mp S 1 and O mp S 2 porins are potent protective immunogens with adjuvant properties. Immunology, 2013, vol. 139, no 4, p. 459-471. DOI 10.1111/imm.12093.
- 342. CHARREL, Remi Noel, PAGÈS, Jean-Marie, DE MICCO, PHILIPPE, *et al.* Prevalence of OM porin alteration in beta-lactam-antibiotic-resistant Enterobacter aerogenes. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1996, vol. 40, no 12, p. 2854-2858.
- 343. MALLEA, Monique, CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, BORNET, Charleric, *et al.* Porin alteration and active efflux: two in vivo drug resistance strategies used by Enterobacter aerogenes. *Microbiology*, 1998, vol. 144, no 11, p. 3003-3009. DOI 10.1099/00221287-144-11-3003.

- 344. PHILIPPE, Nadège, MAIGRE, Laure, SANTINI, Sébastien, *et al*.In vivo evolution of bacterial resistance in two cases of Enterobacter aerogenes infections during treatment with imipenem. *PLoS One*, 2015, vol. 10, no 9, p. e0138828. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0138828.
- 345. PETIT, A., BEN YAGHLANE-BOUSLAMA, H., SOFER, L., *et al.* Does high level production of SHV-type penicillinase confer resistance to ceftazidime in Enterobacteriaceae?. *FEMS microbiology letters*, 1992, vol. 92, no 1, p. 89-94.
- 346. DUTZLER, R., RUMMEL, G., ALBERTÍ, Sebastián, *et al.* Crystal structure and functional characterization of OmpK36, the osmoporin of Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Structure*, 1999, vol. 7, no 4, p. 425-434. DOI 10.1016/S0969-2126(99)80055-0.
- 347. KOBAYASHI, Y., TAKAHASHI, I., et NAKAE, T. Diffusion of beta-lactam antibiotics through liposome membranes containing purified porins. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1982, vol. 22, no 5, p. 775-780.
- 348. ZIMMERMANN, Willy et ROSSELET, Armel. Function of the OM of Escherichia coli as a permeability barrier to beta-lactam antibiotics. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1977, vol. 12, no 3, p. 368-372.
- 349. NESTOROVICH, Ekaterina M., DANELON, Christophe, WINTERHALTER, Mathias, *et al.* Designed to penetrate: time-resolved interaction of single antibiotic molecules with bacterial pores. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2002, vol. 99, no 15, p. 9789-9794. DOI 10.1073/pnas.152206799.
- 350. DANELON, Christophe, NESTOROVICH, Ekaterina M., WINTERHALTER, Mathias, *et al.* Interaction of zwitterionic penicillins with the OmpF channel facilitates their translocation. *Biophysical journal*, 2006, vol. 90, no 5, p. 1617-1627. DOI 10.1529/biophysj.105.075192.
- 351. YOSHIMURA, Fuminobu et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. Diffusion of beta-lactam antibiotics through the porin channels of Escherichia coli K-12. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1985, vol. 27, no 1, p. 84-92.
- 352. VIDAL, Stéphanie, BREDIN, Jérôme, PAGES, Jean-Marie, *et al.*β-Lactam screening by specific residues of the OmpF eyelet. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 2005, vol. 48, no 5, p. 1395-1400. DOI 10.1021/jm049652e.
- 353. BENSON, S. A., OCCI, J. L. L., et SAMPSON, B. A. Mutations that alter the pore function of the OmpF porin of Escherichia coli K12. *Journal of molecular biology*, 1988, vol. 203, no 4, p. 961-970.
- 354. MISRA, RAJEEV et BENSON, SPENCER A. Genetic identification of the pore domain of the OmpC porin of Escherichia coli K-12. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1988, vol. 170, no 8, p. 3611-3617.
- 355. MISRA, R. et BENSON, S. A. Isolation and characterization of OmpC porin mutants with altered pore properties. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1988, vol. 170, no 2, p. 528-533.
- 356. SIMONET, Valérie, MALLÉA, Monique, et PAGÈS, Jean-Marie. Substitutions in the eyelet region disrupt cefepime diffusion through the Escherichia coli OmpF

channel. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2000, vol. 44, no 2, p. 311-315. DOI 10.1128/AAC.44.2.311-315.2000.

- 357. JEANTEUR, Denis, SCHIRMER, Tilman, FOUREL, Didier, *et al*.Structural and functional alterations of a colicin-resistant mutant of OmpF porin from Escherichia coli. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1994, vol. 91, no 22, p. 10675-10679. DOI 10.1073/pnas.91.22.10675.
- 358. LOU, Kuo-Long, SAINT, Nathalie, PRILIPOV, Alexej, *et al*.Structural and functional characterization of OmpF porin mutants selected for larger pore size I. Crystallographic analysis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1996, vol. 271, no 34, p. 20669-20675. DOI 10.1074/jbc.271.34.20669.
- 359. CHAPMAN, A. J., ADLER, B., et FAINE, S. Antigens recognised by the human immune response to infection with Leptospira interrogans serovar hardjo. Journal of medical microbiology, 1988, vol. 25, no 4, p. 269-278.
- 360. HIRAI, Keiji, AOYAMA, Hiroshi, IRIKURA, Tsutomu, et al. Differences in susceptibility to quinolones of OM mutants of Salmonella typhimurium and Escherichia coli. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy, 1986, vol. 29, no 3, p. 535-538.
- 361. HIRAI, K., AOYAMA, H., SUZUE, S., *et al.* Isolation and characterization of norfloxacin-resistant mutants of Escherichia coli K-12. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 1986, vol. 30, no 2, p. 248-253.
- 362. COHEN, Seth P., HOOPER, D. C., WOLFSON, J. S., *et al*.Endogenous active efflux of norfloxacin in susceptible Escherichia coli. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1988, vol. 32, no 8, p. 1187-1191.
- 363. CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, MALLEA, Monique, et PAGES, Jean-Marie. Comparative aspects of the diffusion of norfloxacin, cefepime and spermine through the F porin channel of Enterobacter cloacae. *Biochemical Journal*, 2000, vol. 348, no 1, p. 223-227.
- 364. NIKAIDO, H. et THANASSI, D. G. Penetration of lipophilic agents with multiple protonation sites into bacterial cells: tetracyclines and fluoroquinolones as examples. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1993, vol. 37, no 7, p. 1393.
- 365. THANASSI, David G., SUH, G. S., et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. Role of OM barrier in effluxmediated tetracycline resistance of Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1995, vol. 177, no 4, p. 998-1007.
- 366. NIKAIDO, Hiroshi et PAGÈS, Jean-Marie. Broad-specificity efflux pumps and their role in multidrug resistance of Gram-negative bacteria. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 2012, vol. 36, no 2, p. 340-363. DOI 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00290.x.
- 367. DELCOUR, Anne H. OM permeability and antibiotic resistance. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics*, 2009, vol. 1794, no 5, p. 808-816. DOI 10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.11.005.
- 368. PAGÈS, Jean-Marie, JAMES, Chloë E., et WINTERHALTER, Mathias. The porin and the permeating antibiotic: a selective diffusion barrier in Gram-negative bacteria.

Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2008, vol. 6, n° 12, pp. 893. DOI 10.1038/nrmicro1994.

- 369. POOLE, K. Resistance to β-lactam antibiotics. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 2004, vol. 61, no 17, p. 2200-2223. DOI 10.1007/s00018-004-4060-9
- 370. HANCOCK, Robert EW et BELL, A. Antibiotic uptake into gram-negative bacteria. In : *Perspectives in Antiinfective Therapy*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1989. p. 42-53.
- 371. MORTIMER, Peter GS et PIDDOK, Laura JV. The accumulation of five antibacterial agents in porin-deficient mutants of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 1993, vol. 32, no 2, p. 195-213. DOI 10.1093/jac/32.2.195.
- 372. HERNÁNDEZ-ALLÉS, Santiago, BENEDÍ, Vicente J., MARTÍNEZ-MARTÍNEZ, Luis, *et al.* Development of resistance during antimicrobial therapy caused by insertion sequence interruption of porin genes. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1999, vol. 43, no 4, p. 937-939.
- 373. LAVIGNE, Jean-Philippe, SOTTO, Albert, NICOLAS-CHANOINE, Marie-Hélène, et al. An adaptive response of Enterobacter aerogenes to imipenem: regulation of porin balance in clinical isolates. *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 2013, vol. 41, no 2, p. 130-136. DOI 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2012.10.010.
- 374. LOW, Alison S., MACKENZIE, Fiona M., GOULD, Ian M., *et al.*Protected environments allow parallel evolution of a bacterial pathogen in a patient subjected to long-term antibiotic therapy. *Molecular microbiology*, 2001, vol. 42, n° 3, pp. 619-630.
- 375. DÉ, Emmanuelle, BASLÉ, Arnaud, JAQUINOD, Michel, *et al.* A new mechanism of antibiotic resistance in Enterobacteriaceae induced by a structural modification of the major porin. *Molecular microbiology*, 2001, vol. 41, n° 1, pp. 189-198.
- 376. THIOLAS, Aurélie, BOLLET, Claude, LA SCOLA, Bernard, *et al*.Successive emergence of Enterobacter aerogenes strains resistant to imipenem and colistin in a patient. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2005, vol. 49, n° 4, pp. 1354-1358.
- 377. GIRAUD, Antoine, AROUS, Safia, DE PAEPE, Marianne, *et al*.Dissecting the genetic components of adaptation of Escherichia coli to the mouse gut. *PLoS genetics*, 2008, vol. 4, no 1, p. e2. DOI 10.1371/journal.pgen.0040002.
- 378. LOU, Hubing, CHEN, Min, BLACK, Susan S., *et al.* Altered antibiotic transport in OmpC mutants isolated from a series of clinical strains of multi-drug resistant E. coli. *PLoS One*, 2011, vol. 6, no 10, p. e25825. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0025825.
- 379. BAJAJ, Harsha, SCORCIAPINO, Mariano A., MOYNIÉ, Lucile, *et al.* Molecular basis of filtering carbapenems by porins from β-lactam-resistant clinical strains of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2016, vol. 291, no 6, p. 2837-2847. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M115.690156.
- 380. JAMES, Chloë E., MAHENDRAN, Kozhinjampara R., MOLITOR, Alexander, *et al.* How β-lactam antibiotics enter bacteria: a dialogue with the porins. *PLoS One*, 2009, vol. 4, no 5, p. e5453. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0005453.

- 381. MARTÍNEZ-MARTÍNEZ, Luis, PASCUAL, Alvaro, HERNÁNDEZ-ALLÉS, Santiago, *et al.* Roles of β-lactamases and porins in activities of carbapenems and cephalosporins against Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1999, vol. 43, no 7, p. 1669-1673.
- 382. RASHEED, J. Kamile, ANDERSON, Gregory J., YIGIT, Hesna, *et al.* Characterization of the extended-spectrum β-lactamase reference strain, Klebsiella pneumoniae K6 (ATCC 700603), which produces the novel enzyme SHV-18. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2000, vol. 44, no 9, p. 2382-2388. DOI 10.1128/AAC.44.9.2382-2388.2000.
- 383. ZIERVOGEL, Brigitte K. et ROUX, Benoît. The binding of antibiotics in OmpF porin. *Structure*, 2013, vol. 21, no 1, p. 76-87. DOI 10.1016/j.str.2012.10.014.
- 384. PAGÈS, Jean-Marie, PESLIER, Sabine, KEATING, Thomas A., *et al.* Role of the OM and porins in susceptibility of β-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae to ceftazidime-avibactam. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2016, vol. 60, no 3, p. 1349-1359. DOI 10.1128/AAC.01585-15.
- 385. GEORGE, Anthony M. et LEVY, STUART B. Amplifiable resistance to tetracycline, chloramphenicol, and other antibiotics in Escherichia coli: involvement of a non-plasmid-determined efflux of tetracycline. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 1983, vol. 155, no 2, p. 531-540.
- 386. GEORGE, A. M. et LEVY, S. B. Gene in the major cotransduction gap of the Escherichia coli K-12 linkage map required for the expression of chromosomal resistance to tetracycline and other antibiotics. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1983, vol. 155, no 2, p. 541-548.
- 387. VIVEIROS, Miguel, DUPONT, Myrielle, RODRIGUES, Liliana, *et al.* Antibiotic stress, genetic response and altered permeability of E. coli. *PloS one*, 2007, vol. 2, no 4, p. e365. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0000365.
- 388. DOWD, Scot E., KILLINGER-MANN, Karen, BRASHEARS, Mindy, *et al.* Evaluation of Gene Expression in a Single Antibiotic Exposure–Derived Isolate of Salmonella enterica Typhimurium 14028 Possessing Resistance to Multiple Antibiotics. *Foodborne pathogens and disease*, 2008, vol. 5, no 2, p. 205-221. DOI 10.1089/fpd.2007.0062.
- 389. DOMÉNECH-SÁNCHEZ, Antonio, HERNÁNDEZ-ALLÉS, Santiago, MARTÍNEZ-MARTÍNEZ, Luis, *et al.* Identification and characterization of a new porin gene of Klebsiella pneumoniae: its role in β-lactam antibiotic resistance. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1999, vol. 181, no 9, p. 2726-2732.
- 390. HANCOCK, Ri EW. Alterations in OM permeability. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 1984, vol. 38, n° 1, pp. 237-264.
- 391. LEIVE, Loretta. The barrier function of the Gram-negative envelope. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1974, vol. 235, n° 1, pp. 109-129.
- 392. VAARA, Martti et VAARA, T. I. M. O. Polycations sensitize enteric bacteria to antibiotics. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1983, vol. 24, n° 1, pp. 107-113.

- 393. HANCOCK, R. E. et WONG, pp. G. Compounds which increase the permeability of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa OM. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1984, vol. 26, n° 1, pp. 48-52.
- 394. FARMER, Susan, LI, Zusheng, et HANCOCK, Robert EW. Influence of OM mutations on susceptibility of Escherichia coli to the dibasic macrolide azithromycin. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 1992, vol. 29, n° 1, pp. 27-33.
- 395. HANCOCK, R. E. et FARMER, SUSAN W. Mechanism of uptake of deglucoteicoplanin amide derivatives across OMs of Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1993, vol. 37, n° 3, pp. 453-456.
- 396. EPAND, Richard M. et EPAND, Raquel F. Lipid domains in bacterial membranes and the action of antimicrobial agents. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 2009, vol. 1788, no 1, p. 289-294. DOI 10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.08.023.
- 397. PAGLIARA, Alessandra, CARRUPT, Pierre-Alain, CARON, Giulia, *et al.* Lipophilicity profiles of ampholytes. *Chemical reviews*, 1997, vol. 97, no 8, p. 3385-3400. DOI 10.1021/cr9601019.
- 398. TRAPP, Stefan et HOROBIN, Richard W. A predictive model for the selective accumulation of chemicals in tumor cells. *European Biophysics Journal*, 2005, vol. 34, no 7, p. 959-966. DOI 10.1007/s00249-005-0472-1.
- 399. ZARFL, Christiane, MATTHIES, Michael, et KLASMEIER, Jörg. A mechanistical model for the uptake of sulfonamides by bacteria. *Chemosphere*, 2008, vol. 70, no 5, p. 753-760. DOI 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.07.045.
- 400. ZGURSKAYA, Helen I., LÓPEZ, Cesar A., et GNANAKARAN, Sandrasegaram. Permeability barrier of Gram-negative cell envelopes and approaches to bypass it. *ACS infectious diseases*, 2015, vol. 1, n° 11, pp. 512-522. DOI 10.1021/acsinfecdis.5b00097.
- 401. YANG, Nicole J. et HINNER, Marlon J. Getting across the cell membrane: an overview for small molecules, peptides, and proteins. In: *Site-Specific Protein Labeling*. Humana Press, New York, NY, 2015. pp. 29-53. DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-2272-7_3.
- 402. WARGEL, Robert J., SHADUR, Craig A., et NEUHAUS, Francis C. Mechanism of Dcycloserine action: transport mutants for D-alanine, D-cycloserine, and glycine. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1971, vol. 105, n° 3, pp. 1028-1035.
- 403. DAVIS, Tony D., GERRY, Christopher J., et TAN, Derek S. General platform for systematic quantitative evaluation of small-molecule permeability in bacteria. *ACS chemical biology*, 2014, vol. 9, no 11, p. 2535-2544. DOI 10.1021/cb5003015.
- 404. IYER, Ramkumar, YE, Zhengqi, FERRARI, Annette, *et al*.Evaluating LC–MS/MS To Measure Accumulation of Compounds within Bacteria. *ACS infectious diseases*, 2018. DOI 10.1021/acsinfecdis.8b00083.

- 405. LI, Xian-Zhi, PLÉSIAT, Patrick, et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. The challenge of effluxmediated antibiotic resistance in Gram-negative bacteria. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 2015, vol. 28, n° 2, pp. 337-418. DOI 10.1128/CMR.00117-14.
- 406. MALLEA, Monique, CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, BORNET, Charleric, *et al.* Porin alteration and active efflux: two in vivo drug resistance strategies used by Enterobacter aerogenes. *Microbiology*, 1998, vol. 144, no 11, p. 3003-3009. DOI 10.1099/00221287-144-11-3003.
- 407. PRADEL, Elizabeth et PAGÈS, Jean-Marie. The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump contributes to multidrug resistance in the nosocomial pathogen Enterobacter aerogenes. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2002, vol. 46, no 8, p. 2640-2643. DOI 10.1128/AAC.46.8.2640-2643.2002.
- 408. PAGÈS, Jean-Marie et AMARAL, Leonard. Mechanisms of drug efflux and strategies to combat them: challenging the efflux pump of Gram-negative bacteria. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics*, 2009, vol. 1794, no 5, p. 826-833. DOI 10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.12.011.
- 409. KRISHNAMOORTHY, Ganesh, LEUS, Inga V., WEEKS, Jon W., *et al.* Synergy between active efflux and OM diffusion defines rules of antibiotic permeation into Gram-negative bacteria. *Mbio*, 2017, vol. 8, no 5, p. e01172-17. DOI 10.1128/mBio.01172-17.
- 410. ZGURSKAYA, Helen I., RYBENKOV, Valentin V., KRISHNAMOORTHY, Ganesh, *et al.* Trans-envelope multidrug efflux pumps of Gram-negative bacteria and their synergism with the OM barrier. *Research in microbiology*, 2018. DOI 10.1016/j.resmic.2018.02.002.
- 411. DU, Dijun, VAN VEEN, Hendrik W., et LUISI, Ben F. Assembly and operation of bacterial tripartite multidrug efflux pumps. *Trends in microbiology*, 2015, vol. 23, no 5, p. 311-319. DOI 10.1016/j.tim.2015.01.010.
- 412. DU, Dijun, WANG-KAN, Xuan, NEUBERGER, Arthur, *et al.*Multidrug efflux pumps: structure, function and regulation. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2018, p. 1. DOI 10.1038/s41579-018-0048-6.
- 413. YAMAGUCHI, Akihito, NAKASHIMA, Ryosuke, et SAKURAI, Keisuke. Structural basis of RND-type multidrug exporters. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2015, vol. 6, pp. 327. DOI 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00327.
- 414. POS, Klaas M. Drug transport mechanism of the AcrB efflux pump. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics*, 2009, vol. 1794, no 5, p. 782-793. DOI 10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.12.015.
- 415. NIKAIDO, Hiroshi et TAKATSUKA, Yumiko. Mechanisms of RND multidrug efflux pumps. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Proteins and Proteomics*, 2009, vol. 1794, no 5, p. 769-781. DOI 10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.10.004.
- 416. MURAKAMI, Satoshi, NAKASHIMA, Ryosuke, YAMASHITA, Eiki, *et al.* Crystal structure of bacterial multidrug efflux transporter AcrB. *Nature*, 2002, vol. 419, no 6907, p. 587. DOI 10.1038/nature01050.

- 417. MURAKAMI, Satoshi, NAKASHIMA, Ryosuke, YAMASHITA, Eiki, *et al.* Crystal structures of a multidrug transporter reveal a functionally rotating mechanism. *Nature*, 2006, vol. 443, no 7108, p. 173. DOI 10.1038/nature05076.
- 418. SEEGER, Markus A., SCHIEFNER, André, EICHER, Thomas, *et al.* Structural asymmetry of AcrB trimer suggests a peristaltic pump mechanism. *Science*, 2006, vol. 313, no 5791, p. 1295-1298. DOI 10.1126/science.1131542.
- 419. SENNHAUSER, Gaby, AMSTUTZ, Patrick, BRIAND, Christophe, *et al.* Drug export pathway of multidrug exporter AcrB revealed by DARPin inhibitors. *PLoS biology*, 2006, vol. 5, no 1, p. e7. DOI 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050007.
- 420. SENNHAUSER, Gaby, BUKOWSKA, Magdalena A., BRIAND, Christophe, *et al.* Crystal structure of the multidrug exporter MexB from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Journal of molecular biology*, 2009, vol. 389, no 1, p. 134-145. DOI 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.04.001.
- 421. BOLLA, Jani Reddy, SU, Chih-Chia, DO, Sylvia V., *et al.* Crystal structure of the Neisseria gonorrhoeae MtrD inner membrane multidrug efflux pump. *PLoS One*, 2014, vol. 9, no 6, p. e97903. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0097903.
- 422. EICHER, Thomas, CHA, Hi-jea, SEEGER, Markus A., *et al.*Transport of drugs by the multidrug transporter AcrB involves an access and a deep binding pocket that are separated by a switch-loop. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2012, vol. 109, no 15, p. 5687-5692. DOI 10.1073/pnas.1114944109.
- 423. EICHER, Thomas, SEEGER, Markus A., ANSELMI, Claudio, *et al.* Coupling of remote alternating-access transport mechanisms for protons and substrates in the multidrug efflux pump AcrB. *Elife*, 2014, vol. 3, p. e03145. DOI 10.7554/eLife.03145.
- 424. NAKASHIMA, Ryosuke, SAKURAI, Keisuke, YAMASAKI, Seiji, *et al.* Structures of the multidrug exporter AcrB reveal a proximal multisite drug-binding pocket. *Nature*, 2011, vol. 480, no 7378, p. 565. DOI 10.1038/nature10641.
- 425. NAKASHIMA, Ryosuke, SAKURAI, Keisuke, YAMASAKI, Seiji, *et al.* Structural basis for the inhibition of bacterial multidrug exporters. *Nature*, 2013, vol. 500, no 7460, p. 102. DOI 10.1038/nature12300.
- KIM, Jin-Sik, JEONG, Hyeongseop, SONG, Saemee, et al. Structure of the tripartite 426. multidrug efflux pump AcrAB-TolC alternative suggests an assembly mode. Molecules and cells, vol. 180. DOI 2015, 38, no 2, p. 10.14348/molcells.2015.2277.
- 427. DAURY, Laetitia, ORANGE, François, TAVEAU, Jean-Christophe, *et al.* Tripartite assembly of RND multidrug efflux pumps. *Nature communications*, 2016, vol. 7, p. 10731. DOI 10.1038/ncomms10731.
- 428. ENGUÉNÉ, Ntsogo, YVETTE, Véronique, VERCHÈRE, Alice, *et al.* Catch me if you can: a biotinylated proteoliposome affinity assay for the investigation of assembly of the MexA-MexB-OprM efflux pump from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2015, vol. 6, p. 541. DOI 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00541.

- 429. NAGANO, Keiji et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. Kinetic behavior of the major multidrug efflux pump AcrB of Escherichia coli. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2009, vol. 106, no 14, p. 5854-5858. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0901695106.
- 430. LIM, Siew Ping et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. Kinetic parameters of efflux of penicillins by the multidrug efflux transporter AcrAB-TolC of Escherichia coli. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2010, vol. 54, no 5, p. 1800-1806. DOI 10.1128/AAC.01714-09.
- 431. KOJIMA, Seiji et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. Permeation rates of penicillins indicate that Escherichia coli porins function principally as nonspecific channels. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2013, vol. 110, no 28, p. E2629-E2634. DOI 10.1073/pnas.1310333110.
- 432. JONES, Dan. The antibacterial lead discovery challenge: a recent report provides a rare example of a potential new class of antibiotics. Dan Jones investigates the difficulties of finding such drugs. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 2010, vol. 9, no 10, p. 751-753.
- 433. SILVER, Lynn L. Challenges of antibacterial discovery. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 2011, vol. 24, no 1, p. 71-109. DOI 10.1128/CMR.00030-10
- 434. FISCHBACH, Michael A. et WALSH, Christopher T. Antibiotics for emerging pathogens. *Science*, 2009, vol. 325, no 5944, p. 1089-1093. DOI 10.1126/science.1176667.
- 435. BAL, A. M., KUMAR, A., et GOULD, I. M. Antibiotic heterogeneity: from concept to practice. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 2010, vol. 1213, no 1, p. 81-91. DOI 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05867.x.
- 436. HAJJAR, Eric, BESSONOV, Andrey, MOLITOR, Alexander, *et al*.Toward screening for antibiotics with enhanced permeation properties through bacterial porins. *Biochemistry*, 2010, vol. 49, no 32, p. 6928-6935. DOI: 10.1021/bi100845x.
- 437. VAN BAMBEKE, Françoise, BALZI, Elisabetta, et TULKENS, Paul M. Antibiotic efflux pumps. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 2000, vol. 60, no 4, p. 457-470. DOI 10.1016/S0006-2952(00)00291-4.
- 438. LOMOVSKAYA, Olga et BOSTIAN, Keith A. Practical applications and feasibility of efflux pump inhibitors in the clinic—a vision for applied use. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 2006, vol. 71, no 7, p. 910-918. DOI 10.1016/j.bcp.2005.12.008.
- 439. MALLÉA, Monique, MAHAMOUD, Abdallah, CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, *et al.* Alkylaminoquinolines inhibit the bacterial antibiotic efflux pump in multidrug-resistant clinical isolates. *Biochemical Journal*, 2003, vol. 376, no 3, p. 801-805. DOI: 10.1042/bj20030963.
- 440. CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, BREDIN, Jérôme, MAHAMOUD, Abdallah, *et al.* Inhibitors of antibiotic efflux in resistant Enterobacter aerogenes and Klebsiella pneumoniae strains. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2004, vol. 48, no 3, p. 1043-1046. DOI 10.1128/AAC.48.3.1043-1046.2004.

- 441. GHISALBERTI, Didier, MAHAMOUD, Abdallah, CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, *et al.* Chloroquinolines block antibiotic efflux pumps in antibiotic-resistant Enterobacter aerogenes isolates. *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 2006, vol. 27, no 6, p. 565-569. DOI 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2006.03.010.
- 442. LOMOVSKAYA, O. et WATKINS, W. J. Efflux pumps: their role in antibacterial drug discovery. *Current medicinal chemistry*, 2001, vol. 8, no 14, p. 1699-1711. DOI 10.2174/0929867013371743.
- 443. CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, MAHAMOUD, Abdallah, BAITICHE, Milad, *et al.* Quinazoline derivatives are efficient chemosensitizers of antibiotic activity in Enterobacter aerogenes, Klebsiella pneumoniae and Pseudomonas aeruginosa resistant strains. *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 2010, vol. 36, no 2, p. 164-168. DOI 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2010.03.027.
- 444. MAHAMOUD, Abdallah, CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, BAITICHE, Milad, *et al.* An alkylaminoquinazoline restores antibiotic activity in Gram-negative resistant isolates. *Microbiology*, 2011, vol. 157, no 2, p. 566-571. DOI 10.1099/mic.0.045716-0.
- 445. NAKAYAMA, Kiyoshi, ISHIDA, Yohei, OHTSUKA, Masami, *et al*.MexAB-OprMspecific efflux pump inhibitors in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Part 1: discovery and early strategies for lead optimization. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters*, 2003, vol. 13, no 23, p. 4201-4204. DOI 10.1016/j.bmcl.2003.07.024.
- 446. BOHNERT, Jürgen A. et KERN, Winfried V. Selected arylpiperazines are capable of reversing multidrug resistance in Escherichia coli overexpressing RND efflux pumps. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2005, vol. 49, no 2, p. 849-852. DOI 10.1128/AAC.49.2.849-852.2005.
- 447. PANNEK, Stefanie, HIGGINS, Paul G., STEINKE, Petra, *et al*.Multidrug efflux inhibition in Acinetobacter baumannii: comparison between 1-(1-naphthylmethyl)-piperazine and phenyl-arginine-β-naphthylamide. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 2006, vol. 57, no 5, p. 970-974. DOI 10.1093/jac/dkl081.
- 448. SCHUMACHER, Anja, TRITTLER, Rainer, BOHNERT, Jürgen A., *et al.* Intracellular accumulation of linezolid in Escherichia coli, Citrobacter freundii and Enterobacter aerogenes: role of enhanced efflux pump activity and inactivation. *Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, 2006, vol. 59, no 6, p. 1261-1264. DOI 10.1093/jac/dkl380.
- 449. RUIZ, Natividad et SILHAVY, Thomas J. Sensing external stress: watchdogs of the Escherichia coli cell envelope. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2005, vol. 8, n° 2, pp. 122-126. DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2005.02.013.
- 450. ADES, Sarah E. Control of the alternative sigma factor σE in Escherichia coli. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2004, vol. 7, no 2, p. 157-162. DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2004.02.010.

- 451. LIMA, Bruno P. Going Beyond Phosphorylation: Acetylphosphate-Mediated Ran Polymerase Acetylation and Caper Phosphorylation Co-Regulate Transcription of Escherichia Coli Stress-Responsive Gene cpxP. 2013.
- 452. RAIVIO, Tracy L. Everything old is new again: an update on current research on the Cpx envelope stress response. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 2014, vol. 1843, no 8, p. 1529-1541. DOI 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.10.018.
- 453. GUEST, Randi L. et RAIVIO, Tracy L. Role of the Gram-negative envelope stress response in the presence of antimicrobial agents. *Trends in microbiology*, 2016, vol. 24, n° 5, pp. 377-390. DOI 10.1016/j.tim.2016.03.001.
- 454. GULLBERG, Erik, CAO, Sha, BERG, Otto G., *et al.* Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations. *PLoS pathogens*, 2011, vol. 7, n° 7, pp. e1002158. DOI 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002158.
- 455. PRUDHOMME, Marc, ATTAIECH, Laetitia, SANCHEZ, Guillaume, *et al.* Antibiotic stress induces genetic transformability in the human pathogen Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Science*, 2006, vol. 313, n° 5783, pp. 89-92. DOI 10.1126/science.1127912.
- 456. LÓPEZ, Elena, ELEZ, Marina, MATIC, Ivan, *et al.* Antibiotic-mediated recombination: ciprofloxacin stimulates SOS-independent recombination of divergent sequences in Escherichia coli. *Molecular microbiology*, 2007, vol. 64, n° 1, pp. 83-93. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05642.x.
- 457. WU, Y. L., SCOTT, E. M., PO, A. Li Wan, *et al.* Development of resistance and crossresistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa exposed to subinhibitory antibiotic concentrations. *Apmis*, 1999, vol. 107, n° 1-6, pp. 585-592. DOI 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1999.tb01596.x.
- 458. GUTIERREZ, A., LAURETI, L., CRUSSARD, S., *et al.* β-Lactam antibiotics promote bacterial mutagenesis via an RpoS-mediated reduction in replication fidelity. *Nature communications*, 2013, vol. 4, pp. 1610. DOI 10.1038/ncomms2607.
- 459. ALLISON, Kyle R., BRYNILDSEN, Mark pp., et COLLINS, James J. Metaboliteenabled eradication of bacterial persisters by aminoglycosides. *Nature*, 2011, vol. 473, n° 7346, pp. 216. DOI 10.1038/nature10069.
- 460. YIM, Grace et WANG, Helena Huimi. Antibiotics as signalling molecules. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 2007, vol. 362, n° 1483, pp. 1195-1200. DOI 10.1098/rstb.2007.2044.
- 461. FAJARDO, Alicia et MARTÍNEZ, José L. Antibiotics as signals that trigger specific bacterial responses. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2008, vol. 11, n° 2, pp. 161-167. DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2008.02.006.
- 462. DAVIES, Julian, SPIEGELMAN, George B., et YIM, Grace. The world of subinhibitory antibiotic concentrations. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2006, vol. 9, n° 5, pp. 445-453. DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2006.08.006.

- 463. GALLEGOS, Maria-Trinidad, MICHAN, Carmen, et RAMOS, Juan L. The XylS/AraC family of regulators. *Nucleic acids research*, 1993, vol. 21, n° 4, pp. 807-810. DOI 10.1093/nar/21.4.807.
- 464. JAIR, Kam-Wing, YU, Xin, SKARSTAD, Kirsten, *et al*.Transcriptional activation of promoters of the superoxide and multiple antibiotic resistance regulons by Rob, a binding protein of the Escherichia coli origin of chromosomal replication. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1996, vol. 178, n° 9, pp. 2507-2513. DOI 10.1128/jb.178.9.2507-2513.1996
- 465. GOLDMAN, John D., WHITE, David G., et LEVY, Stuart B. Multiple antibiotic resistance (mar) locus protects Escherichia coli from rapid cell killing by fluoroquinolones. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 1996, vol. 40, no 5, p. 1266-1269.
- 466. GAMBINO, Laura, GRACHECK, STEPHEN J., et MILLER, PAUL F. Overexpression of the MarA positive regulator is sufficient to confer multiple antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1993, vol. 175, no 10, p. 2888-2894. DOI 10.1128/jb.175.10.2888-2894.1993.
- 467. OKUSU, Haruko, MA, Dzwokai, et NIKAIDO, Hiroshi. AcrAB efflux pump plays a major role in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of Escherichia coli multipleantibiotic-resistance (Mar) mutants. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1996, vol. 178, no 1, p. 306-308. DOI 10.1128/jb.178.1.306-308.1996.
- 468. WARNER, Douglas M. et LEVY, Stuart B. Different effects of transcriptional regulators MarA, SoxS and Rob on susceptibility of Escherichia coli to cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs): Rob-dependent CAMP induction of the marRAB operon. *Microbiology*, 2010, vol. 156, no 2, p. 570-578. DOI 10.1099/mic.0.033415-0.
- 469. BARBOSA, Teresa M. et LEVY, Stuart B. Differential expression of over 60 chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli by constitutive expression of MarA. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2000, vol. 182, n° 12, pp. 3467-3474. DOI 10.1128/JB.182.12.3467-3474.2000.
- 470. GAUDU, Philippe, MOON, Namdoo, et WEISS, Bernard. Regulation of the soxRS oxidative stress regulon reversible oxidation of the Fe-S centers of SoxR in vivo. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1997, vol. 272, n° 8, pp. 5082-5086. DOI 10.1074/jbc.272.8.5082.
- 471. MICHÁN, Carmen, MANCHADO, Manuel, et PUEYO, Carmen. SoxRS downregulation of rob transcription. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2002, vol. 184, n° 17, pp. 4733-4738. DOI 10.1128/JB.184.17.4733-4738.2002.
- 472. SUZUKI, Tomomi, UEGUCHI, Chiharu, et MIZUNO, Takeshi. H-NS regulates OmpF expression through micF antisense RNA in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 1996, vol. 178, n° 12, pp. 3650-3653. DOI 10.1128/jb.178.12.3650-3653.1996.
- 473. DUPONT, Myrielle, JAMES, Chloë E., CHEVALIER, Jacqueline, *et al.* An early response to environmental stress involves regulation of OmpX and OmpF, two

enterobacterial OM pore-forming proteins. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2007, vol. 51, n° 9, pp. 3190-3198. DOI 10.1128/AAC.01481-06.

- 474. HAYDEN, Jennifer D. et ADES, Sarah E. The extracytoplasmic stress factor, σE, is required to maintain cell envelope integrity in Escherichia coli. *PLoS One*, 2008, vol. 3, n° 2, pp. e1573. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0001573.
- 475. DELHAYE, Antoine, COLLET, Jean-François, et LALOUX, Géraldine. Fine-tuning of the Cpx envelope stress response is required for cell wall homeostasis in Escherichia coli. *MBio*, 2016, vol. 7, n° 1, pp. e00047-16. DOI 10.1128/mBio.00047-16.
- 476. PRICE, Nancy L. et RAIVIO, Tracy L. Characterization of the Cpx regulon in Escherichia coli strain MC4100. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2009, vol. 191, n° 6, pp. 1798-1815. DOI: 10.1128/JB.00798-08.
- 477. RAIVIO, Tracy L., LEBLANC, Shannon KD, et PRICE, Nancy L. The *Escherichia coli* Cpx envelope stress response regulates genes of diverse function that impact antibiotic resistance and membrane integrity. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2013, vol. 195, n° 12, pp. 2755-2767. DOI 10.1128/JB.00105-13.
- 478. DE LAS PEÑAS, Alejandro, CONNOLLY, Lynn, et GROSS, Carol A. The σE-mediated response to extracytoplasmic stress in Escherichia coli is transduced by RseA and RseB, two negative regulators of σE. *Molecular microbiology*, 1997, vol. 24, no 2, p. 373-385. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.3611718.x.
- 479. MISSIAKAS, Dominique, MAYER, Matthias P., LEMAIRE, Marc, *et al.* Modulation of the Escherichia coliσE (RpoE) heat-shock transcription-factor activity by the RseA, RseB and RseC proteins. *Molecular microbiology*, 1997, vol. 24, no 2, p. 355-371. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.3601713.x.
- 480. ADES, Sarah E., CONNOLLY, Lynn E., ALBA, Benjamin M., *et al.* The Escherichia coli ςE-dependent extracytoplasmic stress response is controlled by the regulated proteolysis of an anti-ς factor. *Genes & development*, 1999, vol. 13, no 18, p. 2449-2461.
- 481. RUDNER, David Z., FAWCETT, Paul, et LOSICK, Richard. A family of membraneembedded metalloproteases involved in regulated proteolysis of membraneassociated transcription factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1999, vol. 96, no 26, p. 14765-14770. DOI 10.1073/pnas.96.26.14765.
- 482. ALBA, Benjamin M., LEEDS, Jennifer A., ONUFRYK, Christina, *et al.* DegS and YaeL participate sequentially in the cleavage of RseA to activate the ςE-dependent extracytoplasmic stress response. *Genes & development*, 2002, vol. 16, no 16, p. 2156-2168. DOI 10.1101/gad.1008902.
- 483. CHABA, Rachna, GRIGOROVA, Irina L., FLYNN, Julia M., *et al*.Design principles of the proteolytic cascade governing the σE-mediated envelope stress response in Escherichia coli: keys to graded, buffered, and rapid signal transduction. *Genes & development*, 2007, vol. 21, no 1, p. 124-136. DOI 10.1101/gad.1496707.
- 484. FLYNN, Julia M., NEHER, Saskia B., KIM, Yong-In, *et al*.Proteomic discovery of cellular substrates of the ClpXP protease reveals five classes of ClpX-recognition

signals. *Molecular cell*, 2003, vol. 11, no 3, p. 671-683. DOI 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00060-1.

- 485. FLYNN, Julia M., LEVCHENKO, Igor, SAUER, Robert T., *et al*.Modulating substrate choice: the SspB adaptor delivers a regulator of the extracytoplasmic-stress response to the AAA+ protease ClpXP for degradation. *Genes & development*, 2004, vol. 18, no 18, p. 2292-2301. DOI 10.1101/gad.1240104.
- 486. WALSH, Nathan P., ALBA, Benjamin M., BOSE, Baundauna, *et al.* OMP peptide signals initiate the envelope-stress response by activating DegS protease via relief of inhibition mediated by its PDZ domain. *Cell*, 2003, vol. 113, no 1, p. 61-71. DOI 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00203-4.
- 487. ALBA, Benjamin M. et GROSS, Carol A. Regulation of the Escherichia coliσEdependent envelope stress response. *Molecular microbiology*, 2004, vol. 52, no 3, p. 613-619. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2003.03982.x.
- 488. RHODIUS, Virgil A., SUH, Won Chul, NONAKA, Gen, *et al.*Conserved and variable functions of the σE stress response in related genomes. *PLoS biology*, 2005, vol. 4, no 1, p. e2. DOI 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040002.
- 489. THOMPSON, Karl M., RHODIUS, Virgil A., et GOTTESMAN, Susan. σE regulates and is regulated by a small RNA in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2007. DOI 10.1128/JB.00020-07.
- 490. UDEKWU, Klas I. et WAGNER, E. Gerhart H. Sigma E controls biogenesis of the antisense RNA MicA. *Nucleic acids research*, 2007, vol. 35, no 4, p. 1279-1288. DOI 10.1093/nar/gkl1154.
- 491. PAPENFORT, Kai, PFEIFFER, Verena, MIKA, Franziska, *et al.*σE-dependent small RNAs of Salmonella respond to membrane stress by accelerating global omp mRNA decay. *Molecular microbiology*, 2006, vol. 62, no 6, p. 1674-1688. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05524.x.
- 492. GUO, Monica S., UPDEGROVE, Taylor B., GOGOL, Emily B., *et al.* MicL, a new σEdependent sRNA, combats envelope stress by repressing synthesis of Lpp, the major OM lipoprotein. *Genes & development*, 2014, vol. 28, no 14, p. 1620-1634. DOI 10.1101/gad.243485.114.
- 493. MIZUNO, T. et MIZUSHIMA, S. Signal transduction and gene regulation through the phosphorylation of two regulatory components: the molecular basis for the osmotic regulation of the porin genes. *Molecular microbiology*, 1990, vol. 4, n° 7, pp. 1077-1082. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1990.tb00681.x.
- 494. BATCHELOR, Eric, WALTHERS, Don, KENNEY, Linda J., *et al.*The Escherichia coli CpxA-CpxR envelope stress response system regulates expression of the porins ompF and ompC. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2005, vol. 187, n° 16, pp. 5723-5731. DOI 10.1128/JB.187.16.5723-5731.2005.
- 495. GERKEN, Henri, CHARLSON, Emily S., CICIRELLI, Elisha M., *et al.* MzrA: a novel modulator of the EnvZ/OmpR two-component regulon. *Molecular microbiology*, 2009, vol. 72, n° 6, pp. 1408-1422. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06728.x.

- 496. GERKEN, Henri et MISRA, Rajeev. MzrA-EnvZ interactions in the periplasm influence the EnvZ/OmpR two-component regulon. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2010, vol. 192, n° 23, pp. 6271-6278. DOI 10.1128/JB.00855-10.
- 497. STORZ, Gisela, VOGEL, Jörg, et WASSARMAN, Karen M. Regulation by small RNAs in bacteria: expanding frontiers. *Molecular cell*, 2011, vol. 43, no 6, p. 880-891. DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.08.022.
- 498. WAGNER, E. Gerhart H. et ROMBY, Pascale. Small RNAs in bacteria and archaea: who they are, what they do, and how they do it. In : *Advances in genetics*. Academic Press, 2015. p. 133-208. DOI 10.1016/bs.adgen.2015.05.001.
- 499. ARGAMAN, Liron, HERSHBERG, Ruth, VOGEL, Jörg, *et al*.Novel small RNAencoding genes in the intergenic regions of Escherichia coli. *Current Biology*, 2001, vol. 11, no 12, p. 941-950. DOI 10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00270-6.
- 500. HOLMQVIST, Erik, WRIGHT, Patrick R., LI, Lei, *et al.* Global RNA recognition patterns of post-transcriptional regulators Hfq and CsrA revealed by UV crosslinking in vivo. *The EMBO journal*, 2016, p. e201593360. DOI 10.15252/embj.201593360.
- 501. MELAMED, Sahar, PEER, Asaf, FAIGENBAUM-ROMM, Raya, *et al.* Global mapping of small RNA-target interactions in bacteria. *Molecular cell*, 2016, vol. 63, no 5, p. 884-897. DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2016.07.026.
- 502. SMIRNOV, Alexandre, FÖRSTNER, Konrad U., HOLMQVIST, Erik, *et al.* Grad-seq guides the discovery of ProQ as a major small RNA-binding protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2016, vol. 113, no 41, p. 11591-11596. DOI 10.1073/pnas.1609981113.
- 503. WATERS, Shafagh A., MCATEER, Sean P., KUDLA, Grzegorz, *et al.* Small RNA interactome of pathogenic E. coli revealed through crosslinking of RNase E. *The EMBO journal*, 2016, p. e201694639. DOI 10.15252/embj.201694639.
- 504. CHAO, Yanjie, PAPENFORT, Kai, REINHARDT, Richard, *et al.*An atlas of Hfq-bound transcripts reveals 3' UTRs as a genomic reservoir of regulatory small RNAs. *The EMBO journal*, 2012, vol. 31, no 20, p. 4005-4019. DOI 10.1038/emboj.2012.229.
- 505. KLEIN, Gracjana et RAINA, Satish. Regulated control of the assembly and diversity of LPS by noncoding sRNAs. *BioMed research international*, 2015, vol. 2015. DOI 10.1155/2015/153561.
- 506. CHAO, Yanjie et VOGEL, Jörg. A 3' UTR-derived small RNA provides the regulatory noncoding arm of the inner membrane stress response. *Molecular cell*, 2016, vol. 61, no 3, p. 352-363. DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2015.12.023.
- 507. KLEIN, Gracjana, STUPAK, Anna, BIERNACKA, Daria, *et al.*Multiple transcriptional factors regulate transcription of the rpoE gene in Escherichia coli under different growth conditions and when the lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis is defective. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2016, p. jbc. M116. 748954. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M116.748954.
- 508. KLEIN, Gracjana, KOBYLAK, Natalia, LINDNER, Buko, *et al*. Assembly of lipopolysaccharide in Escherichia coli requires the essential LapB heat shock

protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2014, vol. 289, n° 21, pp. 14829-14853. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M113.539494.

- 509. THOMASON, Maureen K., FONTAINE, Fanette, DE LAY, Nicholas, *et al.* A small RNA that regulates motility and biofilm formation in response to changes in nutrient availability in Escherichia coli. *Molecular microbiology*, 2012, vol. 84, no 1, p. 17-35. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2012.07965.x.
- 510. LEE, Hyun-Jung et GOTTESMAN, Susan. sRNA roles in regulating transcriptional regulators: Lrp and SoxS regulation by sRNAs. *Nucleic acids research*, 2016, vol. 44, no 14, p. 6907-6923. DOI 10.1093/nar/gkw358.
- 511. FRÖHLICH, Kathrin S. et PAPENFORT, Kai. Interplay of regulatory RNAs and mobile genetic elements in enteric pathogens. *Molecular microbiology*, 2016, vol. 101, no 5, p. 701-713. DOI 10.1111/mmi.13428.
- 512. GOGOL, Emily B., RHODIUS, Virgil A., PAPENFORT, Kai, *et al.*Small RNAs endow a transcriptional activator with essential repressor functions for single-tier control of a global stress regulon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2011, vol. 108, no 31, p. 12875-12880. DOI 10.1073/pnas.1109379108.
- 513. AIBA, Hiroji. Mechanism of RNA silencing by Hfq-binding small RNAs. *Current opinion in microbiology*, 2007, vol. 10, n° 2, pp. 134-139. DOI 10.1016/j.mib.2007.03.010.
- 514. GOTTESMAN, Susan. Micros for microbes: non-coding regulatory RNAs in bacteria. *TRENDS in Genetics*, 2005, vol. 21, n° 7, pp. 399-404. DOI 10.1016/j.tig.2005.05.008.
- 515. SHARMA, Cynthia M., DARFEUILLE, Fabien, PLANTINGA, Titia H., *et al.* A small RNA regulates multiple ABC transporter mRNAs by targeting C/A-rich elements inside and upstream of ribosome-binding sites. *Genes & development*, 2007, vol. 21, n° 21, pp. 2804-2817. DOI 10.1101/gad.447207.
- 516. HUI, Monica P., FOLEY, Patricia L., et BELASCO, Joel G. Messenger RNA degradation in bacterial cells. *Annual review of genetics*, 2014, vol. 48, p. 537-559. DOI 10.1146/annurev-genet-120213-092340.
- 517. PRÉVOST, Karine, SALVAIL, Hubert, DESNOYERS, Guillaume, *et al.* The small RNA RyhB activates the translation of shiA mRNA encoding a permease of shikimate, a compound involved in siderophore synthesis. *Molecular microbiology*, 2007, vol. 64, n° 5, pp. 1260-1273. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05733.x.
- 518. OBANA, Nozomu, SHIRAHAMA, Yu, ABE, Kimihiro, *et al*.Stabilization of Clostridium perfringens collagenase mRNA by VR-RNA-dependent cleavage in 5' leader sequence. *Molecular microbiology*, 2010, vol. 77, n° 6, pp. 1416-1428. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07258.x.
- 519. RAMIREZ-PEÑA, Esmeralda, TREVIÑO, Jeanette, LIU, Zhuyun, *et al.* The group A Streptococcus small regulatory RNA FasX enhances streptokinase activity by increasing the stability of the ska mRNA transcript. *Molecular microbiology*, 2010, vol. 78, n° 6, pp. 1332-1347. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07427.x.

- 520. KAWAMOTO, Hiroshi, KOIDE, Yukari, MORITA, Teppei, *et al*.Base-pairing requirement for RNA silencing by a bacterial small RNA and acceleration of duplex formation by Hfq. *Molecular microbiology*, 2006, vol. 61, n° 4, pp. 1013-1022. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05288.x.
- 521. ALBRECHT, Marco, SHARMA, Cynthia M., REINHARDT, Richard, *et al.* Deep sequencing-based discovery of the Chlamydia trachomatis transcriptome. *Nucleic acids research*, 2009, vol. 38, n° 3, pp. 868-877. DOI 10.1093/nar/gkp1032.
- 522. PEROCCHI, Fabiana, XU, Zhenyu, CLAUDER-MÜNSTER, Sandra, *et al.* Antisense artifacts in transcriptome microarray experiments are resolved by actinomycin D. *Nucleic acids research*, 2007, vol. 35, n° 19, pp. e128. DOI 10.1093/nar/gkm683.
- 523. THOMASON, Maureen Kiley et STORZ, Gisela. Bacterial antisense RNAs: how many are there, and what are they doing?. *Annual review of genetics*, 2010, vol. 44, pp. 167-188. DOI 10.1146/annurev-genet-102209-163523.
- 524. CALLEN, Benjamin pp., SHEARWIN, Keith E., et EGAN, J. Barry. Transcriptional interference between convergent promoters caused by elongation over the promoter. *Molecular cell*, 2004, vol. 14, n° 5, pp. 647-656. DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2004.05.010.
- 525. BLOMBERG, Pontus, WAGNER, E. G., et NORDSTRÖM, K. Control of replication of plasmid R1: the duplex between the antisense RNA, CopA, and its target, CopT, is processed specifically in vivo and in vitro by RNase III. *The EMBO journal*, 1990, vol. 9, n° 7, pp. 2331-2340. DOI 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1990.tb07405.x.
- 526. GERDES, Kenn, NIELSEN, Allan, THORSTED, Peter, *et al*.Mechanism of killer gene activation. Antisense RNA-dependent RNase III cleavage ensures rapid turn-over of the stable hok, srnB and pndA effector messenger RNAs. *Journal of molecular biology*, 1992, vol. 226, n° 3, pp. 637-649. DOI 10.1016/0022-2836(92)90621-P.
- 527. SONNLEITNER, Elisabeth, ABDOU, Laetitia, et HAAS, Dieter. Small RNA as global regulator of carbon catabolite repression in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2009, vol. 106, n° 51, pp. 21866-21871. DOI 10.1073/pnas.0910308106.
- 528. WATERS, Lauren S. et STORZ, Gisela. Regulatory RNAs in bacteria. *Cell*, 2009, vol. 136, n° 4, pp. 615-628. DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.043.
- 529. WASSARMAN, Karen M. 6S RNA: a regulator of transcription. *Molecular microbiology*, 2007, vol. 65, n° 6, pp. 1425-1431. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05894.x.
- 530. NEUSSER, Thomas, POLEN, Tino, GEISSEN, René, *et al*.Depletion of the non-coding regulatory 6S RNA in E. coli causes a surprising reduction in the expression of the translation machinery. *BMC genomics*, 2010, vol. 11, n° 1, pp. 165. DOI 10.1186/1471-2164-11-165.
- 531. CHEN, Shuo, ZHANG, Aixia, BLYN, Lawrence B., *et al.* MicC, a second small-RNA regulator of Omp protein expression in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2004, vol. 186, n° 20, pp. 6689-6697. DOI 10.1128/JB.186.20.6689-6697.2004.

- 532. ANDERSEN, Janet, DELIHAS, Nicholas, IKENAKA, Kazuhiro, *et al.* The isolation and characterization of RNA coded by the micF gene in Escherichia coli. *Nucleic acids research*, 1987, vol. 15, no 5, p. 2089-2101. DOI 10.1093/nar/15.5.2089.
- 533. ANDERSEN, Janet et DELIHAS, Nicholas. micF RNA binds to the 5'end of ompF mRNA and to a protein from Escherichia coli. *Biochemistry*, 1990, vol. 29, no 39, p. 9249-9256. DOI 10.1021/bi00491a020.
- 534. ANDERSEN, J., FORST, S. A., ZHAO, Kun, *et al.* The function of micF RNA. micF RNA is a major factor in the thermal regulation of OmpF protein in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 1989, vol. 264, n° 30, pp. 17961-17970. DOI
- 535. CAI, Sheng Jian et INOUYE, Masayori. EnvZ-OmpR interaction and osmoregulation in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2002, vol. 277, n° 27, pp. 24155-24161.
- 536. COHEN, S. pp., MCMURRY, L. M., et LEVY, S. B. *marA* locus causes decreased expression of OmpF porin in multiple-antibiotic-resistant (Mar) mutants of *Escherichia coli. Journal of bacteriology*, 1988, vol. 170, n° 12, pp. 5416-5422.
- 537. UDEKWU, Klas I., DARFEUILLE, Fabien, VOGEL, Jörg, *et al*.Hfq-dependent regulation of OmpA synthesis is mediated by an antisense RNA. *Genes & development*, 2005, vol. 19, n° 19, pp. 2355-2366. DOI 10.1101/gad.354405.
- 538. RASMUSSEN, Anders Aamann, ERIKSEN, Maiken, GILANY, Kambiz, *et al.* Regulation of ompA mRNA stability: the role of a small regulatory RNA in growth phase-dependent control. *Molecular microbiology*, 2005, vol. 58, no 5, p. 1421-1429. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04911.x.
- 539. MASSÉ, Eric, ESCORCIA, Freddy E., et GOTTESMAN, Susan. Coupled degradation of a small regulatory RNA and its mRNA targets in Escherichia coli. *Genes & development*, 2003, vol. 17, no 19, p. 2374-2383. DOI 10.1101/gad.1127103.
- 540. MORITA, Teppei, MAKI, Kimika, et AIBA, Hiroji. RNase E-based ribonucleoprotein complexes: mechanical basis of mRNA destabilization mediated by bacterial noncoding RNAs. *Genes & development*, 2005, vol. 19, no 18, p. 2176-2186. DOI 10.1101/gad.1330405.
- 541. NILSSON, G., BELASCO, J. G., COHEN, SNt, *et al.* Growth-rate dependent regulation of mRNA stability in Escherichia coli. *Nature*, 1984, vol. 312, no 5989, p. 75.
- 542. VYTVYTSKA, Oresta, MOLL, Isabella, KABERDIN, Vladimir R., *et al.* Hfq (HF1) stimulates ompA mRNA decay by interfering with ribosome binding. *Genes & development*, 2000, vol. 14, no 9, p. 1109-1118. DOI 10.1101/gad.14.9.1109.
- 543. WASSARMAN, Karen M., REPOILA, Francis, ROSENOW, Carsten, *et al.* Identification of novel small RNAs using comparative genomics and microarrays. *Genes & development*, 2001, vol. 15, no 13, p. 1637-1651. DOI 10.1101/gad.901001.
- 544. BOUVIER, Marie, SHARMA, Cynthia M., MIKA, Franziska, *et al*.Small RNA binding to 5' mRNA coding region inhibits translational initiation. *Molecular cell*, 2008, vol. 32, no 6, p. 827-837. DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2008.10.027.

- 545. BALBONTÍN, Roberto, FIORINI, Francesca, FIGUEROA-BOSSI, Nara, *et al.* Recognition of heptameric seed sequence underlies multi-target regulation by RybB small RNA in Salmonella enterica. *Molecular microbiology*, 2010, vol. 78, no 2, p. 380-394. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07342.x.
- 546. COORNAERT, Audrey, LU, Alisa, MANDIN, Pierre, *et al.* MicA sRNA links the PhoP regulon to cell envelope stress. *Molecular microbiology*, 2010, vol. 76, no 2, p. 467-479. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07115.x.
- 547. KLEIN, Gracjana, LINDNER, Buko, BRADE, Helmut, *et al*.Molecular basis of lipopolysaccharide heterogeneity in Escherichia coli: Envelope stress responsive regulators control the incorporation of glycoforms with a third 3-deoxy-α-D-manno-oct-2-ulosonic acid and rhamnose. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2011, p. jbc. M111. 291799. DOI 10.1074/jbc.M111.291799.
- 548. MOON, Kyung, SIX, David A., LEE, Hyun-Jung, *et al.* Complex transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of an enzyme for lipopolysaccharide modification. *Molecular microbiology*, 2013, vol. 89, no 1, p. 52-64. DOI 10.1111/mmi.12257.
- 549. COORNAERT, Audrey, CHIARUTTINI, Claude, SPRINGER, Mathias, *et al.* Post-transcriptional control of the Escherichia coli PhoQ-PhoP two-component system by multiple sRNAs involves a novel pairing region of GcvB. *PLoS genetics*, 2013, vol. 9, no 1, p. e1003156. DOI 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003156.
- 550. CORCORAN, Colin P., PODKAMINSKI, Dimitri, PAPENFORT, Kai, *et al.* Superfolder GFP reporters validate diverse new mRNA targets of the classic porin regulator, MicF RNA. *Molecular microbiology*, 2012, vol. 84, no 3, p. 428-445. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2012.08031.x.
- 551. HOLMQVIST, Erik et WAGNER, E. Gerhart H. Impact of bacterial sRNAs in stress responses. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 2017, vol. 45, no 6, p. 1203-1212. DOI 10.1042/BST20160363.
- 552. DERSCH, Petra, KHAN, Muna A., MÜHLEN, Sabrina, *et al*.Roles of regulatory RNAs for antibiotic resistance in bacteria and their potential value as novel drug targets. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2017, vol. 8, p. 803. DOI 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00803.
- 553. FELDEN, Brice et CATTOIR, Vincent. Bacterial adaptation to antibiotics through regulatory RNAs. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2018, p. AAC. 02503-17. DOI 10.1128/AAC.02503-17.
- 554. PULVERMACHER, Sarah C., STAUFFER, Lorraine T., et STAUFFER, George V. Role of the sRNA GcvB in regulation of cycA in Escherichia coli. *Microbiology*, 2009, vol. 155, no 1, p. 106-114. DOI 10.1099/mic.0.023598-0.
- 555. SALVAIL, Hubert, CARON, Marie-Pier, BÉLANGER, Justine, *et al.* Antagonistic functions between the RNA chaperone Hfq and an sRNA regulate sensitivity to the antibiotic colicin. *The EMBO journal*, 2013, vol. 32, no 20, p. 2764-2778. DOI 10.1038/emboj.2013.205.

- 556. KIM, Taeyeon, BAK, Geunu, LEE, Juyeon, *et al.* Systematic analysis of the role of bacterial Hfq-interacting sRNAs in the response to antibiotics. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 2015, vol. 70, no 6, p. 1659-1668. DOI 10.1093/jac/dkv042.
- 557. LALAOUNA, David, CARRIER, Marie-Claude, SEMSEY, Szabolcs, *et al.* A 3' external transcribed spacer in a tRNA transcript acts as a sponge for small RNAs to prevent transcriptional noise. *Molecular cell*, 2015, vol. 58, no 3, p. 393-405. DOI 10.1016/j.molcel.2015.03.013.
- 558. MOON, Kyung et GOTTESMAN, Susan. A PhoQ/P-regulated small RNA regulates sensitivity of Escherichia coli to antimicrobial peptides. *Molecular microbiology*, 2009, vol. 74, no 6, p. 1314-1330. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06944.x.
- 559. ACUÑA, Lillian G., BARROS, M. José, PEÑALOZA, Diego, *et al.*A feed-forward loop between SroC and MgrR small RNAs modulates the expression of eptB and the susceptibility to polymyxin B in Salmonella Typhimurium. *Microbiology*, 2016, vol. 162, no 11, p. 1996-2004. DOI 10.1099/mic.0.000365.
- 560. NISHINO, Kunihiko, YAMASAKI, Seiji, HAYASHI-NISHINO, Mitsuko, *et al.* Effect of overexpression of small non-coding DsrA RNA on multidrug efflux in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 2010, vol. 66, no 2, p. 291-296. DOI 10.1093/jac/dkq420.
- 561. PARKER, Ashley et GOTTESMAN, Susan. Small RNA regulation of TolC, the OM component of bacterial multidrug transporters. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2016, p. JB. 00971-15. DOI: 10.1128/JB.00971-15.
- 562. KHAN, Muna A., GÖPEL, Yvonne, MILEWSKI, Slawomir, *et al.*Two small RNAs conserved in Enterobacteriaceae provide intrinsic resistance to antibiotics targeting the cell wall biosynthesis enzyme glucosamine-6-phosphate synthase. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 2016, vol. 7, p. 908. DOI 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00908.
- 563. SERRA, Diego O., MIKA, Franziska, RICHTER, Anja M., *et al.*The green tea polyphenol EGCG inhibits E. coli biofilm formation by impairing amyloid curli fibre assembly and downregulating the biofilm regulator CsgD via the σE-dependent sRNA RybB. *Molecular microbiology*, 2016, vol. 101, no 1, p. 136-151. DOI 10.1111/mmi.13379.
- 564. GUTIERREZ, A., LAURETI, L., CRUSSARD, S., *et al.* β-Lactam antibiotics promote bacterial mutagenesis via an RpoS-mediated reduction in replication fidelity. *Nature communications*, 2013, vol. 4, p. 1610. DOI 10.1038/ncomms2607.
- 565. PULVERMACHER, Sarah C., STAUFFER, Lorraine T., et STAUFFER, George V. The small RNA GcvB regulates sstT mRNA expression in Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, 2009, vol. 191, no 1, p. 238-248. DOI 10.1128/JB.00915-08.
- 566. LALAOUNA, David et MASSÉ, Eric. The spectrum of activity of the small RNA DsrA: not so narrow after all. *Current genetics*, 2016, vol. 62, no 2, p. 261-264. DOI 10.1007/s00294-015-0533-7.

- 567. FRÖHLICH, Kathrin S., PAPENFORT, Kai, BERGER, Allison A., *et al.* A conserved RpoS-dependent small RNA controls the synthesis of major porin OmpD. *Nucleic acids research*, 2011, vol. 40, no 8, p. 3623-3640. DOI 10.1093/nar/gkr1156.
- 568. TRIMBLE, Michael J., MLYNÁRČIK, Patrik, KOLÁŘ, Milan, *et al*.Polymyxin: alternative mechanisms of action and resistance. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, 2016, p. a025288. DOI 10.1101/cshperspect.a025288.
- 569. MILEWSKI, Slawomir, CHMARA, Henryk, et BOROWSKI, Edward. Antibiotic tetaine—a selective inhibitor of chitin and mannoprotein biosynthesis in Candida albicans. *Archives of microbiology*, 1986, vol. 145, no 3, p. 234-240.
- 570. URBAN, Johannes H. et VOGEL, Jörg. Two seemingly homologous noncoding RNAs act hierarchically to activate glmS mRNA translation. *PLoS biology*, 2008, vol. 6, no 3, p. e64. DOI 10.1371/journal.pbio.0060064.
- 571. HOLT, Robert A. et JONES, Steven JM. The new paradigm of flow cell sequencing. *Genome research*, 2008, vol. 18, n° 6, pp. 839-846. DOI 10.1101/gr.073262.107.
- 572. NAGALAKSHMI, Ugrappa, WANG, Zhong, WAERN, Karl, *et al.*The transcriptional landscape of the yeast genome defined by RNA sequencing. *Science*, 2008, vol. 320, n° 5881, pp. 1344-1349. DOI 10.1126/science.1158441.
- 573. CLOONAN, Nicole, FORREST, Alistair RR, KOLLE, Gabriel, *et al.* Stem cell transcriptome profiling via massive-scale mRNA sequencing. *Nature methods*, 2008, vol. 5, n° 7, pp. 613. DOI 10.1038/nmeth.1223.
- 574. BARBAZUK, W. Brad, EMRICH, Scott J., CHEN, Hsin D., *et al*.SNP discovery via 454 transcriptome sequencing. *The plant journal*, 2007, vol. 51, n° 5, pp. 910-918. DOI 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03193.x.
- 575. MORTAZAVI, Ali, WILLIAMS, Brian A., MCCUE, Kenneth, *et al*.Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. *Nature methods*, 2008, vol. 5, n° 7, pp. 621. DOI 10.1038/nmeth.1226.
- 576. WANG, Zhong, GERSTEIN, Mark, et SNYDER, Michael. RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nature reviews genetics*, 2009, vol. 10, n° 1, pp. 57. DOI 10.1038/nrg2484.
- 577. GARBER, Manuel, GRABHERR, Manfred G., GUTTMAN, Mitchell, *et al.* Computational methods for transcriptome annotation and quantification using RNA-seq. *Nature methods*, 2011, vol. 8, no 6, p. 469. DOI 10.1038/nmeth.1613.
- 578. BEISEL, Chase L. et STORZ, Gisela. Base pairing small RNAs and their roles in global regulatory networks. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 2010, vol. 34, no 5, p. 866-882. DOI 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2010.00241.x.
- 579. MANDIN, Pierre et GOTTESMAN, Susan. Integrating anaerobic/aerobic sensing and the general stress response through the ArcZ small RNA. *The EMBO journal*, 2010, vol. 29, no 18, p. 3094-3107. DOI 10.1038/emboj.2010.179.
- 580. BONOMO, Robert A. et SZABO, Dora. Mechanisms of multidrug resistance in Acinetobacter species and Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 2006, vol. 43, no Supplement_2, p. S49-S56. DOI 10.1086/504477.

- 581. HAO, Min, YE, Meiping, SHEN, Zhen, *et al.* Porin Deficiency in Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacter aerogenes Strains. *Microbial Drug Resistance*, 2018. DOI 10.1089/mdr.2017.0379.
- 582. NONAKA, Gen, BLANKSCHIEN, Matthew, HERMAN, Christophe, *et al.* Regulon and promoter analysis of the E. coli heat-shock factor, σ 32, reveals a multifaceted cellular response to heat stress. *Genes & development*, 2006, vol. 20, no 13, p. 1776-1789. DOI 10.1101/gad.1428206.
- 583. HOMMAIS, Florence, KRIN, Evelyne, LAURENT-WINTER, Christine, *et al.* Largescale monitoring of pleiotropic regulation of gene expression by the prokaryotic nucleoid-associated protein, H-NS. *Molecular microbiology*, 2001, vol. 40, no 1, p. 20-36. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02358.x.
- 584. SHEN, J. L. et FANG, Y. P. Detection of drug-resistance mechanism of Pseudomonas aeruginosa developing from a sensitive strain to a persister during carbapenem treatment. *Genet Mol Res*, 2015, vol. 14, no 2, p. 6723-6732. DOI 10.4238/2015.June.18.16.
- 585. HOWDEN, Benjamin P., BEAUME, Marie, HARRISON, Paul F., *et al.* Analysis of the small RNA transcriptional response in multidrug resistant Staphylococcus aureus after antimicrobial exposure. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2013, p. AAC. 00263-13. DOI 10.1128/AAC.00263-13.
- 586. JEEVES, Rose E., MARRIOTT, Alice AN, PULLAN, Steven T., *et al.* Mycobacterium tuberculosis is resistant to isoniazid at a slow growth rate by single nucleotide polymorphisms in katG codon Ser315. *PLoS One*, 2015, vol. 10, no 9, p. e0138253. DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0138253.
- 587. MOLINA-SANTIAGO, Carlos, DADDAOUA, Abdelali, GÓMEZ-LOZANO, María, *et al.* Differential transcriptional response to antibiotics by P seudomonas putida DOT-T1E. *Environmental microbiology*, 2015, vol. 17, no 9, p. 3251-3262. DOI 10.1111/1462-2920.12775.
- 588. MATHIEU, Aurélie, FLEURIER, Sébastien, FRÉNOY, Antoine, *et al.* Discovery and function of a general core hormetic stress response in E. coli induced by sublethal concentrations of antibiotics. *Cell reports*, 2016, vol. 17, no 1, p. 46-57. DOI 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.09.001.
- 589. MITOSCH, Karin, RIECKH, Georg, et BOLLENBACH, Tobias. Noisy response to antibiotic stress predicts subsequent single-cell survival in an acidic environment. *Cell systems*, 2017, vol. 4, no 4, p. 393-403. e5. DOI 10.1016/j.cels.2017.03.001.
- 590. BAHAROGLU, Zeynep et MAZEL, Didier. Vibrio cholerae triggers SOS and mutagenesis in response to a wide range of antibiotics: a route towards multiresistance. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2011, vol. 55, no 5, p. 2438-2441. DOI 10.1128/AAC.01549-10.
- 591. LAURETI, Luisa, MATIC, Ivan, et GUTIERREZ, Arnaud. Bacterial responses and genome instability induced by subinhibitory concentrations of

antibiotics. *Antibiotics*, 2013, vol. 2, no 1, p. 100-114. DOI 10.3390/antibiotics2010100.

- 592. ZHANG, Aixia, ALTUVIA, Shoshy, TIWARI, Anita, *et al.* The OxyS regulatory RNA represses rpoS translation and binds the Hfq (HF-I) protein. *The EMBO journal*, 1998, vol. 17, no 20, p. 6061-6068. DOI 10.1093/emboj/17.20.6061.
- 593. SEDLYAROVA, Nadezda, SHAMOVSKY, Ilya, BHARATI, Binod K., *et al.* sRNAmediated control of transcription termination in E. coli. *Cell*, 2016, vol. 167, no 1, p. 111-121. e13. DOI 10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.004.
- 594. PAPENFORT, Kai, ESPINOSA, Elena, CASADESÚS, Josep, *et al.* Small RNA-based feedforward loop with AND-gate logic regulates extrachromosomal DNA transfer in Salmonella. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2015, vol. 112, no 34, p. E4772-E4781. DOI 10.1073/pnas.1507825112.
- 595. MAJDALANI, Nadim, HERNANDEZ, David, et GOTTESMAN, Susan. Regulation and mode of action of the second small RNA activator of RpoS translation, RprA. *Molecular microbiology*, 2002, vol. 46, no 3, p. 813-826. DOI 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03203.x.
- 596. YAMADA, Junko, YAMASAKI, Seiji, HIRAKAWA, Hidetada, *et al*.Impact of the RNA chaperone Hfq on multidrug resistance in Escherichia coli. *Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, 2010, vol. 65, no 5, p. 853-858. DOI 10.1093/jac/dkq067.
- 597. KULESUS, Richard R., DIAZ-PEREZ, Karen, SLECHTA, E. Susan, *et al.* Impact of the RNA chaperone Hfq on the fitness and virulence potential of uropathogenic Escherichia coli. *Infection and immunity*, 2008, vol. 76, no 7, p. 3019-3026. DOI 10.1128/IAI.00022-08.
- 598. MIYAKOSHI, Masatoshi, CHAO, Yanjie, et VOGEL, Jörg. Cross talk between ABC transporter mRNAs via a target mRNA-derived sponge of the GcvB small RNA. *The EMBO journal*, 2015, p. e201490546. DOI 10.15252/embj.201490546.
- 599. EL-MOWAFI, Shaima A., ALUMASA, John N., ADES, Sarah E., *et al.* A Cell-Based Assay to Identify Inhibitors of the Hfq-sRNA Regulatory Pathway. *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 2014, p. AAC. 03311-14. DOI 10.1128/AAC.03311-14.
- 600. CHILDS-DISNEY, Jessica L. et DISNEY, Matthew D. Small molecule targeting of a microRNA associated with hepatocellular carcinoma. *ACS chemical biology*, 2015, vol. 11, no 2, p. 375-380. DOI 10.1021/acschembio.5b00615.